
 
 

 
 
Committee: 
 

PEOPLE AND ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

Date: 
 

THURSDAY, 13 JULY 2023 

Venue: 
 

LANCASTER TOWN HALL 

Time: 6.10 P.M. 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1. Apologies for absence  
 
2. Appointment of Vice-Chair  
 
 To appoint a Vice-Chair for the duration of the 2023/24 municipal year.   
  
3. Minutes (Pages 3 - 11) 
 
 Minutes of the meetings of Personnel Committee held on 9th and 21st March 2023 

attached.    
  
4. Declarations of Interest  
 
 To receive declarations by Councillors of interests in respect of items on this Agenda.  

 
Councillors are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 2011, they are 
required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests which have not already been 
declared in the Council’s Register of Interests. (It is a criminal offence not to declare a 
disclosable pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting).   
 
Whilst not a legal requirement, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 9 and in the 
interests of clarity and transparency, Councillors should declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests which they have already declared in the Register, at this point in the meeting.   
 
In accordance with Part B Section 2 of the Code Of Conduct, Councillors are required to 
declare the existence and nature of any other interests as defined in paragraphs 8(1) or 
9(2) of the Code of Conduct.   

  
5. Items of Urgent Business authorised by the Chair  
 
6. Chief Executive Appraisal Process (Pages 12 - 288) 
 
 Report of the Chief Officer - People and Policy.   
  
7. HR Policy Development and Review (Pages 289 - 338) 
 
 Report of the Chief Officer - People and Policy.  (Published on 06.07.23).   
  



 

8. Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 
 The Committee is recommended to pass the following recommendation in relation to the 

following item:- 
 
“That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the press 
and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business, on the 
grounds that it could involve the possible disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 1 of Schedule 12A of that Act.”   
 
Members are reminded that, whilst the following item has been marked as exempt, it is for 
the Committee itself to decide whether or not to consider this in private or in public.  In 
making the decision, Members should consider the relevant paragraph of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972, and also whether the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  In considering their 
discretion Members should also be mindful of the advice of Council Officers.   

  
9. Proposed Voluntary Redundancy requests (Pages 339 - 348) 
 
 Report of the Chief Officer - People and Policy.   
  
ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
(i) Membership 

 
 Councillors Prof Chris Harris (Chair), Mandy Bannon, Paul Hart, Caroline Jackson, 

Paul Newton, Sue Penney and Jason Wood 
 

 
(ii) Substitute Membership 

 
 Councillors Alan Greenwell, Sam Riches and Sue Tyldesley 

 
 
(iii) Queries regarding this Agenda 

 
 Please contact Stephen Metcalfe, Democratic Services - email 

sjmetcalfe@lancaster.gov.uk. 
 

(iv) Changes to Membership, substitutions or apologies 
 

 Please contact Democratic Support email democraticsupport@lancaster.gov.uk.  
 
 
 

MARK DAVIES, 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE, 
TOWN HALL, 
DALTON SQUARE, 
LANCASTER, LA1 1PJ 
 
Published on Wednesday, 5th July, 2023.   

 

mailto:democraticsupport@lancaster.gov.uk


 PERSONNEL COMMITTEE  
6.10 P.M.  9TH MARCH 2023 
 
 
PRESENT:- Councillors Jason Wood (Vice-Chair in the Chair), Fabiha Askari, 

Mel Guilding, Caroline Jackson and Paul Stubbins 
   
  
 Apologies for Absence:- 
  
 Councillors Paul Anderton (Chair) and Roger Dennison 
  
 Officers in attendance:-  
   
 Mark Davies Chief Executive 
 Alex Kinch Head of Human Resources 
 Dawn Bradley 

Clare Brown 
OD Manager 
Corporate Services Training and Project Delivery 
Lead 

 Stephen Metcalfe Principal Democratic Support Officer 
 
23 MINUTES  
 
 The minutes of the meeting held on 22nd November 2022 were approved as a correct 

record.   
  
24 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 There were no declarations of interest.   
  
25 ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS AUTHORISED BY THE CHAIR  
 
 There were no items of urgent business.   
  
26 PEOPLE PLAN 2023-2026  
 
 The Organisational Development Manager submitted a report to update the Committee 

of the development of a new People Plan 2023-2026.   
 
It was reported that a three year People Plan has been developed as a strategy to 
support the council’s priorities from a people management perspective. 
 
Given the context of OBR and the impact of budget constraints, it is more important than 
ever to ensure that employees are effective at delivering positive outcomes for our 
residents and communities.  It is therefore critical that employees are developed and 
lead well, thereby increasing capacity, to ensure the continued success of Lancaster 
City Council.  The People Plan will set out how this will be delivered. 
 
The People Plan has drawn on the expertise and knowledge of a wide range of 
stakeholders in the organisation to ensure that it is relevant to current and future needs, 
including senior managers, Staff Ambassadors, We’re Listening Forum colleagues 
(representing front line colleagues based at White Lund Depot), the workforce as a 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



PERSONNEL COMMITTEE 9TH MARCH 2023 
 

whole, Trade Unions and Investors In People. 
 
Resolved:- 
 
That the new draft People Plan 2023-2026, appended to the report, is noted by the 
committee.   
 
Note:  Please note that this is the strategic work plan for the Human Resources Team 
and does not require formal approval. 

  
27 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY - DISABILITY EQUALITY  
 
 The Projects Delivery Lead submitted a report that informed on the progress of Disability 

Equality Initiatives and planned work.   
 
The Equality Act 2010 provides legislative protection for those with a disability noting it 
as a protected characteristic and placing a responsibility on employers to make 
reasonable adjustments for disability both prior to employment at the recruitment and 
selection stages, and during employment itself. 
 
The council’s Equality and Diversity Policy in operation also states that we will tackle any 
inequality arising from several protected characteristics, one of which is disability. It also 
states, in line with legislation, that we will ensure that recruitment and selection is carried 
out fairly and effectively and that we will make reasonable adjustments in line with our 
legal duties. 
 
The council has also operated a guaranteed interview scheme for those who meet the 
essential criteria for a role for several years. This is part of our commitment to the 
Department for Works and Pensions ‘Two Ticks’ Disability Scheme which was replaced 
by the Disability Confident Scheme in November of 2016. There are three levels to this 
scheme, committed, employer and leader.  The council is currently at Disability 
Confident Level 1 - Committed which means that we have signed up to several 
commitments with regards to both our recruitment and employment practices. 
 
The report highlighted the work undertaken in the following key areas.   
 

 Disability and Carers Network; 
 

 Hidden Disabilities; 
 

 Access Audit Checklists; 
 

 Disability Passports; 
 
Future Plans to develop our commitment to disabled applicants and employees were 
also set out in the report.   
 
Members asked if HR could provide a modified version of the Disability Passport to be 
shared with the Head of Legal and Head of Democratic Services so that this can be 
included as part of the Councillor induction pack and induction processes.   
 
 

Page 4



PERSONNEL COMMITTEE 9TH MARCH 2023 
 

Resolved: - 
 
That Committee notes the progress made regarding disability equality initiatives and 
plans for further development work.   

  
28 THE FAIR WORK CHARTER AND FOUNDATION LIVING WAGE ACCREDITATION  
 
 The Projects Delivery Lead submitted a report that informed on the progression of the 

Fair Work Charter and detail information on the Foundation Living Wage Accreditation 
process, and to seek a decision on the implementation of these within our own 
organisation.  
 
In line with the commitment under Plan 2030 to Fair Work and an inclusive prosperous 
economy, the Council is undertaking a project to seek to implement a Fair Work Charter 
in the district to assist in addressing labour market inequalities and encourage good 
employment practices. 
 
It was agreed by Cabinet on 17th January 2023 that, following internal consultation, the 
final internal draft of the charter would now progress to external engagement and 
consultation and would be further developed through a partnership model with the plan 
to launch this later in the year to local business. A copy of the final internal version of the 
charter was appended to the report.  
 
In conclusion it was reported that commitment to our own Fair Work Charter Journey, 
and a commitment to become Foundation Living Wage accredited, ensures that the 
Council is settling an example as the local authority in continuing to lead as a Fair 
Employer and is highlighting best practice. It also enhances our employer brand and 
supports our ambition to become an employer of choice.  
 
The options available to the Committee were: 
 

 The options available to the committee are to approve our commitment to our own 
fair work charter journey and the Real Living Wage Accreditation or to reject the 
recommendations and to maintain our current position as an employer.  

 

 The risk of rejecting the proposals are that Cabinet would likely need to review the 
decision to externally consult and develop a partnership for the Fair Work Charter 
as we would not be supporting our own initiative. 

 
Members were advised that the JCC had been consulted and had advised that this was 
a good piece of work and were in support of the proposals.   
 
It was moved by Councillor Caroline Jackson, seconded by Councillor Mel Guilding and 
agreed as follows.   
 
Resolved: - 
 
That: 
 

 The committee agrees that the Council as an employer will commit to the Fair 
Work Charter Journey.  

 The committee approves the Council’s commitment to achieving and maintaining 

Page 5



PERSONNEL COMMITTEE 9TH MARCH 2023 
 

Foundation Living Wage Accreditation.  
 
Taking into consideration: 
 

 The required uplift for our own staff in line with the new real living wage rate 
(£10.90).  

 The required commitment to advocating payment of the RLW to third party 
contracted staff within procurement processes. 

 The annual fee required to retain Real Living Wage status.  
  
29 ORGANISATIONAL CHANGE MANAGEMENT  
 
 The Head of HR and OD submitted a report that sought the Committee’s approval on a 

set of agreed principles for the management of organisational change and the related 
policy amendments in connection with these.   
 
The Council is embarking on a period of organisational change due to Outcome Based 
Resourcing (OBR) decisions taken to address the budget deficit. The budget decisions 
for 2023/2024 will have staff implications and therefore the processes and procedures 
that guide the management of change have been reviewed to ensure that they are 
robust and fit for purpose. 
 
A great deal of work has been undertaken in conjunction with Members and Trade 
Unions to ensure that the organisation is prepared as we embark on organisational 
change, and this work is described in section 2.0 of the report. In addition to existing 
policies which relate to organisational change, it was also agreed to formalise a set of 
key principles for management of change. This ensures clarity for all and means that 
any future restructuring is done so in a consistent, fair and transparent manner. 
 
There are two policies which are relevant in managing organisational change;  
 
The Council’s Early Termination of Employment Policy 
The Council’s Redeployment Policy.  
 
Personnel Committee are asked to comment on the approach to management of 
restructuring and organisational change and approve the key principles document. 
 
Thereafter, Personnel Committee are asked to consider and approve the proposals 
made to the Redeployment Policy and the Early Termination Policy. 
 
The amendments to the policies were set out in the report as follow: 
 
Proposed amendment as follows to the section 1 of the Redeployment Policy: 
 

‘It is not intended that this Policy will apply to employees who apply for voluntary 
redundancy. Nor will the voluntary redundancy scheme be available to an 
employee who has sought redeployment under this Policy. Should employees 
wish to be considered for voluntary redundancy, but also be considered for 
redeployment as an alternative to redundancy, they should speak to their 
manager ‘ 
 

 

Page 6



PERSONNEL COMMITTEE 9TH MARCH 2023 
 

 
Proposed amendment as follows to the section 8 of the Redeployment Policy: 
 

‘If at the end of their redeployment period the employee has been unsuccessful 
in obtaining alternative employment within the Council, their employment will 
terminate on compulsory redundancy grounds, unless otherwise agreed earlier in 
the process.’   

 
Proposed amendment as follows to section 10.8 of the Early Termination Policy: 
 

The terms of the Redeployment Policy will not apply to any employee who 
applies for VR and does not express an interest in redeployment. Further, an 
employee who has unsuccessfully sought redeployment in a redundancy 
situation will not subsequently be eligible to apply for voluntary redundancy.  

 
Re- employment of Chief Officers 
 
 A review of relevant policies and procedures has also led to the proposal that 

section 17 of the Early Termination Policy is re-worded. This currently states: 
 

Re-employment with Lancaster City Council 

17.1     Any employee, up to and including Chief Officer, who: 

·       was dismissed on redundancy grounds, and has received a voluntary 
(enhanced) redundancy payment, or 

·       has received any payment in relation to the termination of their employment 

may be considered for re-employment by the Council after a period of one 
calendar year has elapsed since the date of termination of employment. 

Proposed amendment as follows to section 17.1 of the Early Termination Policy: 
 

It is the Council’s policy not to re-employ any Chief Officer who was previously 
made redundant from the authority, or later engage them under a contract for 
service or interim contract except under exceptional circumstances. 

Any employee, up to and including Chief Officer, All other employees, who: 

·       were dismissed on redundancy grounds, and have received a voluntary 
(enhanced) redundancy payment, or 

·       have received any payment in relation to the termination of their 
employment 

may be considered for re-employment by the Council after a period of one 
calendar year has elapsed since the date of termination of employment. 

Page 7



PERSONNEL COMMITTEE 9TH MARCH 2023 
 

This is proposed on a value for money basis. 

 
The Committee was also informed of consultation undertaken with the JCC.  Trade 
Union representatives had sought clarification on the wording of the key principles to 
ensure both employees and unions are referred to in reference to consultation.   
 
It was moved by Councillor Mel Guilding, seconded by Councillor Paul Stubbins and 
agreed as follows.   
 
Resolved: - 
 

(1) That Committee approves the appended document outlining the principles that will 
be applied to organisational change to ensure consistency and bring clarity on how 
organisational change will be managed throughout the Council.  
 

(2) That, after the agreement of these principles, the committee approves the 
suggested changes to the related policies and procedures which have also been 
reviewed in line with the principles document.   

  
30 PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2023/24  
 
 The Head of HR and OD submitted a report that requested the Committee to consider 

and recommend to Full Council the Pay Policy Statement for 2023-2024 as required by 
the Localism Act 2011.   
 
It was moved by Councillor Jason Wood, seconded by Councillor Mel Guilding and 
agreed as follows.   
 
Resolved: - 
 
That the Pay Policy Statement 2023 - 24 be recommended to Council for approval.   

  
31 GENDER PAY GAP REPORTING  
 
 The Head of HR and OD provided a report that enabled the Committee to consider the 

Gender Pay Gap report, and the comparison between figures for 2021 and 2022. 
 
Resolved: - 
 
That the gender pay gap report and the figures provided for 2022 be noted.   

  
  

 Chair 
 

(The meeting ended at 7.49 p.m.) 
 

Any queries regarding these Minutes, please contact 
Stephen Metcalfe, Democratic Services - email sjmetcalfe@lancaster.gov.uk 

Page 8



PERSONNEL COMMITTEE 9TH MARCH 2023 
 

 

 

 

Page 9



 PERSONNEL COMMITTEE  
6.10 P.M.  21ST MARCH 2023 
 
 
PRESENT:- Councillors Paul Anderton (Chair), Fabiha Askari, Roger Dennison, 

Mel Guilding, Caroline Jackson and Paul Stubbins 
   
  
 Apologies for Absence 
  
 Councillors Jason Wood (Vice-Chair) 
  
 Officers in attendance:-  
   
 Mark Davies Chief Executive 
 Alex Kinch 

Stephen Metcalfe 
Head of Human Resources & OD 
Principal Democratic Support Officer 

 
32 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 There were no declarations of interest.   
  
33 ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS AUTHORISED BY THE CHAIR  
 
 There were no items of urgent business.   
  
34 APPOINTMENT OF CHIEF OFFICER  
 
 The Head of HR and OD submitted a report that enabled the Committee to make an 

appointment to the role of Chief Officer – Sustainable Growth.   
 
It was reported that Personnel Committee on 22nd November 2022 had approved a 
leadership restructure proposal that included an explanation for the slotting criteria to be 
applied, as per the redeployment policy. It was stated that where slotting did not apply, 
or where there was more than one member of staff eligible for a new role, a competitive 
process would be required and appointment of Chief Officers under these circumstances 
is via Personnel Committee to include at least one Cabinet member (rule 4).   
 
Consultation had ended on Monday 13th February 2023 and the outcome had resulted in 
the need for a formal recruitment and selection process to appoint a Chief Officer – 
Sustainable Growth. All other roles had been slotted.  The new leadership structure 
would be live from 1st April 2023.   
 
The outcome of consultation resulted in one candidate ringfenced for the new role of 
Chief Officer – Sustainable Growth.   
 
A broadly gender balanced panel comprising the Chief Executive, Head of HR and OD, 
and invitees from the Personnel Committee conducting the recruitment process on 
Friday 10th March 2023, which had included a presentation question and panel interview.   
 
It was proposed by Councillor Mel Guilding and seconded by Councillor Caroline 
Jackson:- 

Page 10



PERSONNEL COMMITTEE 21ST MARCH 2023 
 

 

“That Jonathan Noad be appointed as Chief Officer – Sustainable Growth, on the basis 
described within the report, in order that a formal offer of employment can be made.”   
 
A vote was taken on the proposition, which was carried unanimously.   
 
Resolved: 
 

That Jonathan Noad be appointed as Chief Officer – Sustainable Growth, on the basis 
described within the report, in order that a formal offer of employment can be made.   
 
The Committee requested that its best wishes for the future be passed on to Mr Noad, in 
his new position as Chief Officer – Sustainable Growth.   

  
35 CHAIR'S REMARKS  
 
 The Chair thanked all Members of the Committee and in particular the Vice-Chair 

Councillor Jason Wood for their support over the last municipal year.   
  

  

 Chair 
 

(The meeting ended at 6.15 p.m.) 
 

Any queries regarding these Minutes, please contact 
Stephen Metcalfe, Democratic Services - email sjmetcalfe@lancaster.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Page 11



PEOPLE AND OD COMMITTEE  

 
 

Chief Executive Appraisal Process 
Thursday 13th July 2023 

 
Report of Chief Officer – People and Policy 

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To update People and OD Committee on the process for the performance management of the 
Chief Executive and to enable Committee to appoint a sub-committee panel. 
 

This report is public.  

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

(1) The Committee is asked to appoint a panel of three from the 
Committee, including at least one Cabinet member, to act as an 
appraisal panel for the Chief Executive. 
 

 
1.0 Introduction   
 
1.1 The constitution (People and OD Committee Terms of Reference at 4.2 section 

e) states that People and OD Committee will appoint a Panel of (usually of 
three) from the Committee, including at least one Cabinet member, assisted by 
one independent adviser, to act as an appraisal panel for the Chief Executive. 
 

1.2 This process is required by the JNC Conditions of Service for Chief Executives. 
 
1.3 Appraisals should take place on a pre-determined date annually, with 

monitoring meetings throughout the year, and a mid-year review.  
 
2.0 Overview 
 
2.1 In June 2022 an appraisal panel was appointed by the then Personnel 

Committee to appraise the Chief Executive. Due to this timing, it was agreed 
that the appraisal process would run from June 2022 to June 2023.  
 

2.2 The appraisal was held on 25th July 2022, with a mid-year review held in 
February 2023. North West Employers facilitated the appraisal meeting. 

 
2.3 It is proposed that, once appointed, the appraisal panel conducts an end of year 

appraisal review and set objectives for 2023/2024.This is normal practice. 
 
2.4 Appointed sub-committee Members carrying out the appraisal should draw on 

information from their group and feed back to them, so that they draw on and 

Page 12Agenda Item 6



inform the wider views of Members. It is advisable for the Leader to form part 
of the three-person Member panel. 

 
2.5 As per the Pay Policy statement, grade 18 is limited to one spinal column point 

and therefore has no incremental progression attached to it.  
 
 
3.0 Recommendation 
 
3.1 It is recommended that Committee agrees on a minimum of three People and 

OD Committee Members to join a sub-committee responsible for appraising the 
Chief Executive. 

 
4.0 Conclusion  
 
4.1 The Committee is asked to approve the recommendation. 
 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, 
Sustainability and Rural Proofing) 
 
N/A 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
The responsibility for appraising the Chief Executive lies with senior elected members. It is a 
contractual obligation on the part of both the Chief Executive and the employing council to 
engage in a regular process of appraisal. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
The general fund revenue budget includes budgetary provision for the Chief Executive on 
grade 18 within the Council’s pay and grading structure.   
 

OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
Human Resources: 
None. 
 
Information Services: 
None. 
 
Property: 
None. 
 
Open Spaces: 
None. 
 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
The section 151 officer has no further comments to add to this report. 

Page 13



MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
The Monitoring Officer has no further comments to add to this report. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Lancaster City Council constitution  
Pay Policy Statement 23/24 
 

Contact Officer: Alex Kinch 
Telephone:  01524 582083 
E-mail: akinch@lancaster.gov.uk 
 

 
 

Page 14



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 1 

 
 

 
 
 

  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LANCASTER CITY 

COUNCIL CONSTITUTION V2.0 

 
 
Version 1  6 May 2019 
V1.2   30 May 2019 
V1.2   October 2019 
V1.3   September 2020 
V1.4  June 2021 
V1.5  July 2021 
V1.6  August 2021 
V1.7  June 2022 
V1.8  October 2022 
V1.9  January 2023 
V2.0  May 2023 
V2.1  June 2023  

Page 15



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 2 

CONTENTS 
Part 1 Summary and Explanation …………………………………………………4 

Part 2 Responsibility for Functions ................................................................ 13 

 2.1 Officer Management Structure ... Error! Bookmark not defined.4 

 2.2 Council Functions ..................................................................... 15 

 2.3 Local Choice Functions ............................................................ 18 

 2.4 Executive Arrangements and the Cabinet ................................ 19 

 2.5 Committees of the Council ........................................................ 23 

 2.6 Joint Arrangements .................................................................. 46 

 2.7 Scheme of Delegation to Officers ............................................. 50 

 2.8 Proper Officer Arrangements .................................................... 71 

Part 3 Rules of Procedure ............................................................................... 77 

 3.1 Council Procedure Rules .......................................................... 79 

 3.2 Cabinet Procedure Rules.......................................................... 99 

 3.3 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules ................................ 106 

 3.4 Access to Information Procedure Rules................................ 1164 

 3.5 Budget and Policy Framework Rules  ..................................... 125 

 3.6 Officer Employment Procedure Rules .................................... 129 

 3.7 Financial Procedure Rules ...................................................... 135 

 3.8  Contract Procedure Rules .................................................... 1578 

Part 4 Codes and Protocols........................................................................... 174 

 4.1 Officers Code of Conduct  ...................................................... 175 

 4.2 Councillors’ Code of Conduct  ................................................ 194 

 4.3 Arrangements for dealing with alleged breaches of the 

Code 2043 

 4.4 Protocol on Councillor/Officer Relations ............................... 2154 

 4.5 Press and Media Guidelines ................................................. 2232 

 4.6 Protocol on Planning  ............................................................. 233 

 4.7 Protocol on Licensing Procedure ............................................ 245 

Part 5 Councillors’ Allowances Scheme ...................................................... 252 

Page 16



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 3 

Part 6 Glossary of Terms ............................................................................... 264 

 

  

Page 17



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 4 

 
 
 

 
 

PART 1 
 
 

SECTION 1 - SUMMARY AND 
EXPLANATION 

  

Page 18



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 5 

Summary and Explanation 
 

1 The Council’s Constitution 

1.1 Lancaster City Council (usually referred to in this Constitution as simply "the Council") 
has agreed this Constitution which sets out how the Council operates, how decisions 
are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, 
transparent and accountable to local people.  Some of these processes are required 
by the law, while others are a matter for the Council to choose. 

1.2 Generally speaking the Council will exercise its powers and duties in accordance with 
the Constitution, unless the law requires the Council to do something else or the 
relevant provisions are waived.  

1.3 Hyperlinks to other documents/sites are included where this will be helpful. All 
hyperlinks are coloured blue like this and are underlined. 

2 What is in the Constitution? 

2.1 The Constitution has six parts: 

Part 1 is this summary and explanation. 

Part 2 sets out which parts of the Council are responsible for carrying out the various 
functions of the Council. 

Part 3 contains the various Procedure Rules which govern how the Council 
conducts its business, including how it makes decisions and how meetings are 
conducted.  

Part 4 includes codes and protocols that govern how members of the Council (also 
known as “Councillors”) and Officers of the Council must behave in performing their 
duties. 

Part 5 is the Councillors Allowance Scheme, which sets the level of financial 
allowances which Councillors receive for performing their duties.  

Part 6 is a Glossary which explains some of the terminology used in this document. 
Terms in the Glossary and Parts of the constitution are shown in bold. 

2.2 There are a number of other codes, protocols and policy documents which govern how 
the Council operates which do not form part of this Constitution. Where this document 
refers to these documents, they will be made available on the Council's website via a 
hyperlink.  

3 Councillors and the Council 

3.1 The Council is made up of 61 Councillors.  Councillors are elected by and are 
democratically accountable to residents of their Ward.  The overriding duty of 
Councillors is to the whole community, but they have a special duty to their 
constituents, including those who did not vote for them.  Only registered voters of the 
District or people living or working here are eligible to stand to be elected as a 
Councillor. 

3.2 The regular election of Councillors is usually held on the first Thursday in May every 
four years, for all Councillors at once. The term of office of Councillors starts on the 

Page 19



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 6 

fourth day after being elected and will finish on the fourth day after the date of the next 
regular election (except for the Mayor and Deputy and the Leader and Deputy whose 
term of office continues until the following Annual Meeting even if they are not re-
elected). 

3.3 A full list of Councillors’ names, contact information, term of office, and their 
membership of political groups is available here on the Council's website along with 
details of the Committees and bodies on which they serve. 

3.4 Councillors have the following roles and functions: 

(a) Collectively deciding the Council's Budget and Policy Framework and carrying out 
a number of other strategic functions; 

(b) Initiating and scrutinising policy; 

(c) Representing their communities and bringing their views into the Council's 
decision-making process, i.e. becoming the advocate of and for their communities; 

(d) Contributing to the good governance of the area and encouraging community 
participation; 

(e) Dealing with individual casework and acting as an advocate for constituents in 
resolving particular concerns or grievances; 

(f) Balancing different interests identified within the Ward and representing the Ward 
and the Council as a whole; 

(g) Maintaining the confidentiality of confidential and exempt information and assisting 
to ensure transparency of information that is publicly available (otherwise there 
may be a breach of the Councillors’ Code of Conduct); 

(h) Being involved in decision-making; 

(i) Being available to represent the Council on other bodies; and 

(j) Promoting and maintaining the highest standards of conduct and ethics. 

3.5 Councillors have agreed to follow a Code of Conduct to ensure high standards in the 
way they undertake their duties.  The Standards Committee and Monitoring Officer 
advise Councillors on the Code of Conduct; promote high standards of behaviour; and 
monitor standards of conduct. The Council maintains a register of interests declared 
by Councillors which is open to inspection by members of the public and available on 
the Council's website. 

3.6 All Councillors meet together as members of the Council.  Councillors approve the 
Constitution, any significant amendments to the Constitution, and the Council’s overall 
policies.  Councillors set the budget each year.  A range of Committees is established 
to deal with regulatory functions such as Planning and Licensing. Meetings of the 
Council and other decision-making bodies are normally open to the public, except 
where personal or confidential matters are being discussed. Meetings are held in 
accordance with the Procedure Rules in Part 3. Further information about the different 
types of decisions and how they are made are set out in paragraphs 4 (Decision–
Making and the Cabinet) and paragraphs 9 (Decision-Making) below. 

Page 20

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/councillors
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/register-of-interests


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 7 

3.7 There are three different types of Council meeting: 

 The Annual Meeting of the Council, which will usually be held in May; 

 Ordinary meetings; and 

 Extraordinary meetings, which will be called as and when required in 
accordance with the Council Procedure Rules. 

You can find details of the calendar of Full Council and other meetings on the Council’s 
website. 

3.8 Councillors are entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the Councillors’ 
Allowances Scheme set out in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

3.9 The Council has adopted an executive form of governance comprising a Leader and 
Cabinet, responsible for certain decisions such as policy matters outside the Budget 
and Policy Framework, housing matters, land and property and economic 
regeneration. In the case of Cabinet members, their portfolio areas of responsibility are 
available here. 

3.10 The Council elects the Mayor and the Leader and agrees the representation on Council 
Committees, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Budget and Performance 
Panel, with representation on each Committee allocated in accordance with the 
Council’s political balance rules.  

4 Decision Making and the Cabinet 

4.1 The Cabinet (also known as the "Executive") is the part of the Council, which is 
responsible for taking executive decisions and implementing the Council’s Budget and 
Policy Framework. 

4.2 The Leader appoints the Cabinet, of up to 9 additional Councillors, who do not have to 
be appointed in political balance. The Council has decided that it will re-elect the 
Leader of the Council every two years, rather than every four years usually starting 
and ending at the Annual Council meeting. This is subject to a Leader resigning or 
being disqualified from office as a Councillor, or a vote of Full Council to remove the 
incumbent, which may happen before the end of the two year term.  

4.3 Executive decisions may also be taken by the Leader, a committee of Cabinet, 
individual Cabinet Members or by Officers under the Scheme of Delegation. 

4.4 The Cabinet has to make decisions that are in accordance with the Council’s overall 
policies and budget.  If it wishes to make a decision that is outside the Budget or Policy 
Framework, this must be referred to Full Council to decide.  

4.5 Where Cabinet intends to discuss any matter in private, a notice will usually be 
published 28 days before the meeting and a further notice will be published when the 
agenda for the meeting becomes available. 

4.6 When "Key Decisions" are to be discussed or made (executive decisions usually 
involving expenditure of over £250,000 by the Leader, Cabinet, or a Cabinet member 
and affecting two or more Wards) then special notice procedures must be followed – 
usually 28 days’ public notice is given (although there are special rules where this is 

Page 21

https://committeeadmin.lancaster.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?bcr=1
https://committeeadmin.lancaster.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/about-the-council/council-structure


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 8 

not possible). These are set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 
3 - Section 4.  

4.7 Some decisions, as a matter of law, are not executive decisions.  These decisions 
include Planning, Licensing and Personnel matters.  The Council has standing 
regulatory and other Committees to deal with these matters. 

5 Overview and Scrutiny 

5.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Budget and Performance Panel support 
the work of the Cabinet and the Council as a whole and may be supported by Task 
Groups.  Any of these meetings may be referenced as Overview and Scrutiny meetings 
in this Constitution.  They allow the public to have a greater say in Council matters by 
holding public reviews/inquiries into matters of local concern.  Individual Councillors 
may ask for items related to Council functions to be placed on the agenda of such 
bodies. These lead to reports and recommendations that advise the Cabinet and the 
Council as a whole on its policies, budget and service delivery. 

5.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee also monitors the decisions of the Cabinet.  
Non-Cabinet members can ‘Call-in’ a decision that has been made by the Leader or 
Cabinet, but not yet implemented.  This enables the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
to consider whether the decision is appropriate.  The Committee may recommend that 
the Cabinet reconsider its decision. 

5.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Budget and Performance Panel and Task 
Groups may also be consulted by the Cabinet or the Council on forthcoming decisions 
and the development of policy.  

6 The Council’s Staff 

6.1 The Council employs Officers to give advice, implement decisions and manage the 
day-to-day delivery of its services.  Some Officers are employees; others may be 
appointed under a contract for services; or through an agency. 

6.2 Some Officers have a specific duty to ensure that the Council acts within the law and 
uses its resources wisely.  A Council must have at least three Statutory Officers: a 
Head of Paid Service responsible for the Council’s Officers (in Lancaster this is the 
Chief Executive); a Chief Finance Officer, responsible for the proper administration of 
the Council’s financial affairs; and a Monitoring Officer responsible for reporting upon 
illegality and maladministration. 

6.3 A protocol governs the relationship between Officers and Councillors (in Part 4 of this 
Constitution). 

7 The Role of the Mayor 

7.1 The Mayor is the first citizen of the City of Lancaster.  The civic and ceremonial role of 
the Mayor is non-political.  The Mayor serves for a one-year term of office. He/she has 
the following roles and functions (which in his/her absence shall be carried out by the 
Deputy Mayor). The Mayor will: 

(a) promote public involvement in the Council’s activities; 

Page 22



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 9 

(b) promote the Council as a whole, acting as a focal point for the community, 
attending such civic and ceremonial functions and fulfilling such civic duties as 
the Council and he/she determine to be appropriate; 

(c) preside over meetings of the Council so that Council business can be carried 
out efficiently and with regard to the rights of Councillors and the interests of 
the community, including deciding the order of business; 

(d) ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters of concern 
to the local community and the place at which Councillors who are not on the 
Cabinet are able to hold the Cabinet and Committee Chairs to account; 

(e) keep order at Council meetings and ensure that Councillor behaviour is of the 
highest standard and does not bring the Council into disrepute; 

(f) exercise a second or casting vote in the event of a tie; 

(g) uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and, subject to the advice 
and guidance of the Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer during Council 
meetings, interpret the Constitution as and when necessary;  

(h) when in debate or question time read the sense of the meeting and when in the 
Mayor's belief debate or questions already put shall have represented the 
views of the Council, the Mayor shall intervene to move to the next business 
under the Procedure Rules in Part 3; and 

(i) produce a review of the year report usually submitted to Council towards the 
end of the municipal year (normally at the April Council which precedes the 
Annual Council in May). 

7.2 The Mayor is a member of the Council elected by Councillors at the Annual Meeting of 
the Council. 

7.3 Selection of the Mayor of the City is undertaken on the basis of seniority and the 
longest serving Councillor (determined in accordance with paragraphs 7.5 to 7.7 
below) who is  invited to be Mayor providing that the Councillor has not previously 
declined the offer of being Mayor on more than one previous occasion. The invitation 
shall be made not later than the Council meeting held in the February before Annual 
Council. 

7.4 A Councillor who has declined the offer made above shall, unless otherwise agreed by 
Council, not be eligible to be re-offered the Office of Mayor for a period of five years 
and shall be replaced accordingly in the list of seniority. 

7.5 Seniority is determined by the date of a Councillor's election to the Council.  Where 
Councillors are elected upon the same day, the question of seniority shall be 
determined by ballot (to which the persons interested shall have notice to attend). 

7.6 Where a Councillor has already been Mayor, then that Councillor shall not be offered 
a second term of office until all other Councillors with equal seniority have been offered 
an opportunity to be Mayor. 

7.7 Where a Councillor, whose seniority has already been determined, ceases to be a 
member of the Council and is then re-elected, their seniority shall be based on total 
service as a City Councillor, notwithstanding there may have been a break. 

Page 23



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 10 

7.8 The Deputy Mayor is selected by the Mayor and appointed by Council. 

8 Rights of Members of the Public 

8.1 Members of the public, service users and residents have a number of rights in their 
dealings with the Council.  Some of these are legal rights, whilst others depend on the 
Council’s own processes.  Citizens’ Advice can advise on individuals’ legal rights. 

8.2 Where members of the public use specific Council services, for example as a Council 
tenant, they have additional rights.  These are not covered in the Constitution. 

8.3 Members of the public have the right to: 

(a) vote at local elections if they are registered on the electoral roll; 

(b) stand for election as a Councillor if they live or work in the Council’s area; 

(c) present petitions in accordance with the Council's Rules (including petitioning 
to request a referendum on an elected Mayoral form of executive); 

(d) contact their local Councillors about any matters of concern to them relating to 
functions of the Council; 

(e) attend surgeries held by Ward Councillors; 

(f) be consulted as individuals on certain changes to service delivery, where 
invited, although the Council is not always obliged to consult on service 
changes. The Council may have a duty to consult under specific legislation; or 
to consult representatives of the public and service users in connection with 
the Council’s overall approach to the way services are delivered under the 
Council’s Best Value duty. Usually there is also a meeting that members of the 
public can attend to discuss the Council’s draft budget and sometimes the 
budget for the County Council too. 

8.4 Members of the public can access information in the following ways: 

(a) Attend meetings of the Council, Cabinet or Committees except for that part of 
a meeting where confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed, 
and the meeting is therefore held in private; 

(b) Find out from the notices of forthcoming Key Decisions what Key Decisions 
will be taken by the Cabinet and when; 

(c) See reports and background papers, and any records of decisions made by the 
Council and the Cabinet (except where those reports and papers contain 
confidential or exempt information); and 

(d) Inspect the Council's accounts and make their views known to the External 
Auditor. 

8.5 Members of the Public may participate in meetings, under the direction of the Chair 
and in accordance with the Procedure Rules set out in Part 3, in the following ways: 

(a) Addressing meetings of Full Council. Members of the public may ask questions 
in Council under Rule 11 of Part 3 – Section 1 of this Constitution if prior notice 
is given; 

Page 24

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/petitions


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 11 

(b) Addressing meetings of Cabinet under Rule 19 of Part 3 – Section 2 of this 
Constitution if prior notice is given; 

(c) In Planning Regulatory Committee in accordance with the Committee’s rules 
on public speaking.   

(d) Making representations to the Licensing Committee as applicants or objectors 
in respect of individual applications; and speaking at Licensing Committee 
meetings on certain items in accordance with the Committee’s rules on public 
speaking.   

(e) Contributing to research or reviews undertaken by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and Budget and Performance Panel;  

(f) Where invited, participating in Advisory Group meetings; and 

(g) Reporting on the proceedings at open meetings of the Council, Cabinet and 
Committees by filming, photographing, audio-recording or by any other means, 
and providing written commentaries during a meeting and oral commentaries 
outside of a meeting.  

8.6 Anyone may make a complaint to: 

(a) The Council (under the Council's Complaints Policy); 

(b) The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman after having first used the 
Council’s own complaints procedure and given the Council a chance to respond 
to the complaint. The Ombudsman will normally allow the Council 8 to 12 weeks 
for a response, but the Ombudsman may get involved earlier if there are 
extenuating circumstances; or 

(c) The Monitoring Officer about an alleged breach of the Councillors’ Code of 
Conduct (in Part 5) by a Councillor. 

8.7 The Council welcomes participation by the public, service users and residents.  
However, individuals must not be violent, abusive or threatening to Councillors or 
Officers and must not wilfully harm them or things owned by the Council, Councillors 
or Officers. Further information about public participation, can be obtained from the 
Senior Manager, Democratic Support and Elections at Lancaster Town Hall or email 
democracy@lancaster.gov.uk. 

9 Decision Making 

9.1 The Local Government Act 2000 (“the 2000 Act”) divides functions of the Council into 
two categories; executive and non-executive.  Non-executive functions (or Council 
functions) are specified in Regulations issued under the 2000 Act and include functions 
such as those relating to Officers, Planning and Licensing.  Non-executive functions 
may be delegated to Committees, Sub-Committees or Officers under Section 101 of 
the Local Government Act 1972 (“the 1972 Act”).  Unless specified as a non-executive 
function, a function is presumed to be an executive function. 

9.2 Decisions on executive functions may be taken by the Leader, the Cabinet or 
delegated to a Committee of Cabinet, a portfolio holder or an Officer, under the Local 
Government Act 2000. 

Page 25

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/speak-to-the-planning-committee
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/speak-to-the-planning-committee
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/meetings-and-minutes/public-speaking-at-council-meetings
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/meetings-and-minutes/public-speaking-at-council-meetings
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/information/complaints-comments-and-questions/how-to-make-a-complaint
mailto:democracy@lancaster.gov.uk


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 12 

9.3 The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of what part of the Council or 
individual has responsibility for particular types of decision or decisions relating to 
particular areas or functions.  This record is set out in Part 2 of this Constitution, along 
with schemes of further delegation maintained by the Council's Chief Officers. 

9.4 Where a function is delegated under this Constitution, that does not prevent the person 
or body that has delegated the function from exercising the function concurrently, for 
example in the absence of a delegatee making a decision. 

9.5 Decisions will usually be made in accordance with the following principles: 

(a) Proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome); 

(b) Due consultation where required and based on professional advice from 
Officers; 

(c) Respect for human rights and equality of opportunity; 

(d) A presumption in favour of openness;  

(e) A clear explanation of aims and desired outcomes; and 

(f) A summary of what options have been considered giving reasons for the 
decisions. 

9.6 The City Council supports transparency of decision-making in the public interest.  
When decisions are taken, the decision record and/or minutes must be produced which 
will include the following information: 

(a) who took the decision (the person or body); 

(b) the details of the decision including the date it was made; 

(c) the reasons for the decision; 

(d) a summary of any alternative options considered and rejected by the Officer, 
Councillor or decision-making body when the decision was made; 

(e) details of any conflict of interest relating to the matter declared by any member 
of the decision-making body or by a Councillor who is consulted by the Officer 
or Councillor who made the decision; and 

(f) in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of any dispensation 
granted by the Monitoring Officer or Standards Committee. 

10 DUTY TO MONITOR AND REVIEW THE CONSTITUTION  

10.1 Full Council adopts the Constitution. 

10.2 The Monitoring Officer will monitor and review the operation of the Constitution on a 
regular basis, in order to ensure that it is up-to-date and is empowered to make 
changes to ensure that: 

(a) legislative references are updated;  

(b) it reflects the Council’s structures and decision-making requirements;  

Page 26



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 13 

(c) consequential amendments are made as a result of Council decisions; and  

(d) any other required changes are made as appropriate. 

10.3 The Leader may amend and/or update the Executive arrangements at any time and 
shall notify the Monitoring Officer of any changes. 

10.4 The Monitoring Officer will inform all Councillors when changes are made to the 
Constitution.  

10.5 Audit Committee and Council Business Committee may amend parts of the 
Constitution, as set out in their Terms of Reference in Part 2 and the table below. 

10.6 The above powers to amend the Constitution are summarised in the table below. 

Parts of the Constitution Who has the power to amend 

Financial Procedure Rules in Part 3 Audit Committee 

Contract Procedure Rules in Part 3 Audit Committee 

Executive arrangements Leader of the Council 

Responsibility for non-executive functions Council  

Non-executive arrangements and procedures Council or Council Business Committee 

As per 10.2 (a) – (d) above Monitoring Officer 

 

11 SUSPENSION OF THE CONSTITUTION 

11.1 Any part of the Constitution may be waived or suspended by Full Council (or the 
Cabinet in relation to Executive functions) to the extent permitted within the Procedure 
Rules in Part 3 and the law. 

12 PUBLICATION 

12.1 Copies of the Constitution are available to view on the Council's website (which is the 
definitive version) or from Democratic Support, or by email to 

democracy@lancaster.gov.uk 

  

Page 27

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/constitution
mailto:democracy@lancaster.gov.uk


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 14 

 

PART 2 
 
 

RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 
  

  

Page 28



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 15 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Officer Management Structure can be found online HERE  (Scroll down the webpage) 
  

Page 29

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/about-the-council/council-structure


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 16 

 
Part 2 – Section 2  
 
The Council 
 
1 Functions of Full Council 

1.1 The following functions are the responsibilities of the Council and will be discharged 
by Full Council (all Councillors meeting together) unless delegated to a Committee, 
Sub-Committee or an Officer.  Non-executive functions may still be exercised by the 
Council even where delegated to a Committee, Sub-Committee, body or Officer 
elsewhere in this Constitution, subject to specific exceptions (for example Licensing 
Sub-Committee).  

1.2 The Full Council is the body responsible for: 

(a) Electing the Mayor and appointing the Deputy Mayor;  

(b) Electing every two years the Leader of the Council; 

(c) Appointing the Chair for each Council Committee;  

(d) Appointing the Father/Mother of the Council; 

(e) Agreeing and/or amending the Terms of Reference for Committees and the 
Budget and Performance Panel, deciding on their composition (and, where 
required, their political balance); 

(f) Agreeing the basis on which appointments to outside bodies should be made 
and appointing to outside bodies except where appointment to those bodies is 
a Cabinet function or has been otherwise delegated; 

(g) Adopting the Constitution and making significant changes to the Constitution; 

(h) Approving and adopting the Budget and Policy Framework; 

(i) Making decisions about any matter in the discharge of a Cabinet function where 
the Cabinet is minded to make the decision contrary to the Policy Framework 
or not wholly in accordance with the Budget (subject to urgency procedures in 
Part 3); 

(j) Determining any matter which is referred to it for determination by a Committee 
or Sub-Committee;  

(k) Adopting a Councillors’ Allowances Scheme following a report from the 
Independent Remuneration Panel; 

(l) Changing the name of the area, and conferring the title of Honorary Alderman 
or Freedom of the City (as an Honorary Freeman); 

(m) Approving the Annual Pay Policy Statement; 

(n) Exercising certain functions in relation to Parishes and Parish Councils, 
including making Orders pursuant to Community Governance Reviews; 

Page 30



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 17 

(o) Making payments or providing other benefits in cases of maladministration 
under Section 92 of the Local Government Act 2000; 

(p) Designating a post as the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive), appointing 
the post-holder and providing staff under Section 4(1) of the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989; 

(q) Appointing an Officer with responsibility for the proper administration of 
financial affairs under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972; 

(r) Designating a post as the Monitoring Officer and providing staff under Section 
5(1) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989; 

(s) Dismissing the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer; 

(t) Appointing the Electoral Registration Officer and Returning Officer and 
exercising all other functions relating to elections including under the 
Representation of the People Act 1983; 

(u) Exercising all functions relating to local government boundaries; 

(v) Designating areas where public drinking may be restricted under the Local 
Authorities (Alcohol Consumption in Designated Public Places) Regulations 
2007; 

(w) Designating streets for street trading under the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982; 

(x) Determining whether functions which are classified as “Local Choice” functions 
should be reserved to the Council or exercised by Cabinet; 

(y) Making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting byelaws and promoting 
or opposing the making of local legislation or personal Bills; and 

(z) All other matters which, by law, are reserved to the Council. 

1.3 Where Full Council delegates functions to Committees, Sub-Committees and decision-
making bodies under this Constitution, nominations to those Committees, and changes 
to such nominations, shall be notified by the relevant Group Leader or Group Whip in 
writing or by email to the Senior Manager, Democratic Support and Elections and shall 
thereafter be published on the Council’s website. Such nominations shall be in 
accordance with the relevant political balance and numerical allocations determined 
by Council in relation to the body in question. 

2 Budget And Policy Framework 

Budget Framework 

2.1 The Budget Framework includes the allocation of financial resources to different 
services and projects, the setting of virement limits (that is the transfer of funds 
between budget heads) and carry forward limits for budgets, proposed contingency 
funds and other provisions and reserves, Council Tax setting and other local taxation 
matters and decisions relating to the Council’s treasury management activities 
including investments, borrowing limits and the control of capital expenditure. The 
Budget Framework is set out in the following:  

Page 31



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 18 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy; 

 Treasury Management Framework (including relevant policies and 
strategies); and 

 Capital and Investment Strategies. 

Policy Framework 

2.2 By law, the Council must have a Policy Framework. This is a list of plans and strategies 
which are relevant to the Council’s functions and are required by law to be decided by 
the Full Council, usually on the recommendation of the Cabinet, supplemented by other 
plans and strategies that the Council wishes to add. 

2.3 The Policy Framework comprises: 

(a) The Council Plan; 

(b) The Lancashire Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy and Community Safety 
Agreement; supported by the Lancaster District Community Safety Partnership; 

(c) The Local Development Plan and Development Plan Documents; 

(d) The Statement of Licensing Policy; 

(e) The Statement of Gambling Policy; and 

(f) Any other plan or strategy (whether statutory or non-statutory) in respect of 
which the Council from time to time determines that the decision on its adoption 
or approvals should be taken by Full Council rather than the Cabinet.  

Page 32



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 19 

Part 2 – Section 3 

Local Choice Functions 
 
3 Allocation of Local Choice Functions  

3.1 Schedule 2 of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) 
Regulations 2000 (the 2000 Regulations) makes provision for certain functions, known 
as “local choice functions” to be either executive or non-executive functions. The 
Council has determined that the responsibilities shall be allocated as follows: 

Functions to be the responsibility of the Leader and Cabinet Further delegation 

The determination of an appeal against any decision made by or on behalf 
of the Cabinet 

Chief Officers in accordance with Council 
procedures 

Any function related to contaminated land that arises in connection with 
executive functions 

Chief Officers 

The discharge of any function relating to the control of pollution or the 
management of air quality  

Chief Officer Environment and Place 

The service of an abatement notice in respect of a statutory nuisance Chief Officer Environment and Place 

The passing of a resolution that Schedule 2 to the Noise and Statutory 
Nuisance Act 1993 should apply in the Council’s area 

None 

The inspection of the Council’s area to detect any statutory nuisance Chief Officer Environment and Place 

The investigation of any complaint as to the existence of a statutory nuisance Chief Officer Environment and Place 

The obtaining of particulars of persons interested in land under Section 16 of 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

Chief Officers 

The appointment of any individual to any office or outside body where the 
appointment is made by virtue of the individual’s membership of Cabinet or 
relating to an executive function (and revocation) 

None 

The making of agreements with other local authorities for the placing of staff 
at the disposal of those authorities 

Chief Officers 

Local Act functions other than a function specified or referred to in Regulation 
2 or Schedule 1 to the 2000 Regulations other than any other function where 
the power relates to the granting of a consent, licence, permission registration 
or similar function. 

Chief Officers 

Functions to be the responsibility of the Council and its Committees Further delegation 

The determination of an appeal against any non-executive decision made by 
or on behalf of the Council 

Chief Officers in accordance with Council 
procedures 

Any function related to contaminated land that arises in connection with non-
executive functions 

Chief Officers 

Obtaining information under section 330 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as to interests in land 

 Chief Officers 

The appointment of any individual to any office other than an office in which 
he/she is employed by the Council, or to any outside body where the 
appointment is a non-executive function (and revocation)  

Council Business Committee 

Page 33



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 20 

Part 2 – Section 4 
 
Executive Arrangements and the Cabinet 
 

1 Role of Cabinet 

The Leader and Cabinet will carry out the Council’s executive functions. Functions that 
are not stated in the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) Regulations 
2000 or in other legislation to be non-executive functions are, by default, executive 
functions. 

2 Form and Composition 

2.1 The Cabinet comprises the Leader of the Council together with up to nine other 
Councillors, all appointed by the Leader.  

2.2 Neither the Leader nor any member of the Cabinet may be appointed to the Budget 
and Performance Panel nor any Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Panel or Task 
Group established by a Committee. 

2.3 Neither the Mayor nor the Deputy Mayor may be elected as Leader or appointed to the 
Cabinet. 

2.4 The Leader and members of the Cabinet can sit on any Committees of the Council 
(with the local exception that the Leader shall not sit on the Standards Committee), but 
members of the Cabinet should not be in a majority.  Subject to 2.2 above Members of 
the Cabinet can chair any Committees of the Council. –  

2.5 The Leader decides the executive scheme of delegation and may authorise a 
Committee of Cabinet, Portfolio Holders, or Officers to exercise executive functions 
from time to time. 

3 Functions of the Cabinet 

3.1 The functions of the Cabinet shall be as follows: 

(a) Within the Budget and Policy Framework set by Full Council, the Procedure 
Rules and the Financial Regulations, to discharge the Council’s executive 
powers, duties and responsibilities. 

(b) On an annual basis, to draw up proposals for the City Council’s Revenue 
Budget, Capital Programme, Treasury Management Policy and Council Tax 
levels and in doing so to consult with the Budget and Performance Panel for 
consideration and determination by Full Council. 

(c) To prepare draft Budget and Policy Framework documents and in so doing to 
consult with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and to include in its 
submission to the Full Council a statement of views received and the Cabinet 
response to those views. 

(d) To approve or adopt non-development plan documents prepared under the 
Local Development Framework and to modify, revise, revoke or withdraw a 
Development Plan Document where such modification, revision, revocation or 
withdrawal is required to give effect to a direction of the Secretary of State 
under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004; is recommended by 

Page 34



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 21 

a person carrying out an independent examination under Section 20 of the 
2004 Act; or is authorised by a determination made by Full Council when 
approving or adopting the Development Plan Document. 

(e) To be responsible for promoting the economic, social and environmental well-
being of the area. 

(f) To refer to the Full Council for determination all matters which are not in 
accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework adopted by the Full Council, 
except matters of urgency which shall be dealt with in accordance with the 
procedures set out in Part 3 section 4. 

(g) To undertake a continuing review of the City Council’s broad policy objectives 
and priorities over the whole range of its functions and to secure a continuous 
review and evaluation of the effectiveness of services and demonstrate that the 
City Council is delivering those services in accordance with the principles of 
Best Value, calling upon the overview and scrutiny function to assist in that 
process as it considers appropriate. 

(h) To report to the Full Council, at each scheduled meeting, on the proceedings 
of the Cabinet, including a summary of all Key Decisions taken. 

(i) To report to the Full Council, where appropriate, on any matters which Council 
or Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Budget and Performance Panel have 
requested. 

(j) The Leader and each member of the Cabinet will present a business progress 
report annually in writing to Council usually at the meeting preceding Annual 
Council. 

(k) To take any urgent action necessary in the event of a civil emergency and to 
determine general policy matters at such times. 

(l) To consider all Bills introduced into Parliament and all Acts passed, which affect 
the interests of the City Council, and pursue any changes in the law which it 
feels appropriate and make recommendations to the Full Council involving 
significant policy issues. 

(m) To delegate executive functions, as appropriate, to Cabinet Committees, Joint 
Committees, other authorities, Portfolio Holders or Officers. 

4 LEADER 

4.1 The Leader will be a Councillor elected for a two year term to the position of Leader by 
simple majority of the Council.  In the event that only one nomination is put forward, a 
vote will still be taken. 

4.2 The Leader will hold office until he or she: 

(a) resigns from the office; or 

(b) is disqualified or otherwise no longer a Councillor; or 

(c) is removed from office by motion of Full Council that requires the support of a 
simple majority of those Councillors present; or 

Page 35



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 22 

(d) Annual Council two years after the term begins, when the position of Leader is 
elected by simple majority for the next two years. 

4.3 If the Council passes a resolution to remove the Leader, the Council shall elect another 
Councillor as Leader at the meeting at which the Leader is removed from office, or at 
a subsequent meeting of the Council. If there is a vacancy in the office of Leader for 
any other reason, the Council shall elect another Councillor as Leader at the first 
Council meeting after the vacancy occurs.  

4.4 A Cabinet member will hold office until he or she: 

(a) resigns from the office; or 

(b) is disqualified or is otherwise no longer a Councillor; or 

(c) is removed from office, either individually or collectively, by the Leader. 

5 RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE LEADER 

5.1 The Leader shall: 

(a) Nominate a Deputy Leader. 

(b) Determine the size of, appoint Councillors to, preside over and provide 
leadership and direction to the Cabinet. 

(c) Exercise any executive functions and determine how the executive functions of 
the Council are to be exercised in the Scheme of Delegation, including to 
Portfolio Holders. 

(d) Represent the Council as Leader of the Council. 

(e) Co-ordinate the decision-making process of the Cabinet and its Committees 
within the Budget and Policy Framework agreed by the Council. 

(f) Co-ordinate the Cabinet’s preparation of draft proposals to amend or update 
the Budget and Policy Framework. 

(g) Co-ordinate the preparation of the Annual Budget. 

(h) Co-ordinate the continuous review and evaluation of the effectiveness of 
service provision within the Council and request the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or Budget and Performance Panel to assist where appropriate. 

(i) Liaise with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Budget and 
Performance Panel. 

(j) Report to each Full Council meeting on the proceedings of the Cabinet.  The 
report shall include a summary of all Key Decisions taken by the Cabinet, its 
Committees and Officers. 

(k) Prepare a quarterly report to Full Council setting out decisions taken under the 
general exception and special urgency procedures in Part 3 -Section 4. 

(l) Answer questions at Full Council in accordance with the Council’s procedures 
for Question Time. 

Page 36

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/about-the-council/council-structure


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 23 

(m) Present a Business Progress Report annually in writing to the Council.  

6 Meetings of the Cabinet and its Committees 

6.1 Each decision-making meeting of the Cabinet and its Committees will meet in public 
except for those parts of items that are exempt or of a confidential nature. 

6.2 The Cabinet and its Committees may meet informally in private, with or without Officers 
present, to consider options to bring forward to decision-making meetings. 

7 Proceedings of the Cabinet 

 Proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the Cabinet Procedure 
Rules set out in Part 3 - Section 2 of this Constitution. 

 
8 Individual Cabinet Member Decisions 

8.1 Cabinet members shall have the responsibilities as determined by the Leader from 
time to time. 

8.2 Individual Cabinet members shall have delegated authority to take Key Decisions 
within their portfolio, in accordance with the Cabinet Procedure Rules set out in Part 3 
- Section 2 of the Constitution. 

8.3 Details of current Cabinet members and their portfolios are available on the Council’s 
website. 

  

Page 37

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/about-the-council/council-structure


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 24 

Part 2 – Section 5 

Committees of the Council 
 
The Council has the following Committees: 

1 Licensing Committee  

2 Licensing Sub-Committee(s)   

3 Planning Regulatory Committee  

4 People and Organisational Development Committee  

5 Appeals Committee  

6 Audit Committee  

7 Standards Committee  

8 Council Business Committee   

9 Overview and Scrutiny Committee   

10 Budget and Performance Panel   

11 Independent Persons Panel 

12 Independent Remuneration Panel 

13 Joint Committee for Revenues and Benefits 

Notes:  

1. Committees may appoint Sub-Committees and delegate functions to Sub-
Committees or Officers. 

2. The Chair of each Committee is usually appointed by the Council and the Vice 
Chair is appointed by the Committee at its first meeting each municipal year.  The 
Chair of a Sub-Committee may be appointed by the Committee or Sub-Committee. 

3. All Councillors shall undertake mandatory induction training to include:  

 equalities;  

 promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct;  

 information governance and General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR); 

 safeguarding/child sexual exploitation; 

 local government finance; and  

 any specific training required for being appointed to particular staffing or 
regulatory committees.  
 

4. Councillors who have not undertaken mandatory training shall not be eligible to be 
counted in the quorum nor be eligible to vote. A list of Councillors having 
undertaken mandatory induction training shall be maintained by Democratic 
Support. 

Page 38



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 25 

5. Changes to the representation on all Committees and Sub-Committees can be 
made during the course of the year by notice in writing from the relevant group. 

1 Licensing Committee 

Composition: 10 Councillors in political balance. Chair appointed by Council 
annually. 

 
All members of the Committee must: 
 
(a)  have undertaken mandatory training on the relevant law 

and procedures which relate to the Committee’s work, to 
include an annual early hours visit with the Licensing 
Team; and 

 
(b)  undertake further mandatory training, on an ad hoc 

basis, when there are changes to procedure or relevant 
legislation that are deemed significant by the relevant 
Chief Officer. 

 
Terms of Reference: 

1.1 To exercise licensing and registration functions, grant permissions, issue permits, 
make variations (including rescinding licences), make orders or notices and undertake 
such other regulatory functions as may be required, along with authorising associated 
enforcement action, including in connection with: 

(a) Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle, Operator and Driver licences under 
the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976; 

(b) Caravan Site licensing development/control and moveable dwellings/camping 
sites; 

(c) Sex shops and sex cinemas under the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982; 

(d) Acupuncture, tattooing, semi-permanent skin colouring, piercing, electrolysis 
and other health and beauty treatments; 

(e) Pleasure boats and pleasure vessels; 

(f) Markets and Street Trading licences and consents; 

(g) Permissions under Section 115E and Notices under Section 115G of the 
Highways Act 1980 for the provision of services, amenities, recreation and 
refreshment facilities on pedestrianised areas; 

(h) Food supply, preparation, hygiene including restaurants, mobile and take-away 
food shops (including Closing Orders); 

(i) Game licensing and food legislation including functions relating to meat, fish, 
shellfish, dairy, poultry, eggs, butchering and food safety; 

(j) Scrap Metal Dealers and motor salvage operators; 

Page 39



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 26 

(k) Zoos, animals, pets, dog breeding and slaughterhouses; 

(l) Street collections, charitable activities and house to house collections; 

(m) Loudspeakers, noise and statutory nuisances; 

(n) Second-hand goods dealers under the County of Lancashire Act 1984; 

(o) Employment of children; 

(p) Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 functions including premises 
related functions;  

(q) Gaming and Lotteries and Amusement Act responsibilities; 

(r) Public Place Protection Orders  

(s) Alcohol Disorder Zones; and 

(t) Pavement Licences under the Business and Planning Act 2020. 

1.2 To impose any condition, limitation or other restriction on any approval, consent, 
licence, permission, order, notice or registration issued or granted, which is the 
responsibility of the Committee, and to determine any other terms to which it is subject; 

1.3 To set the levels of any fee for an approval, licence, consent, permit, notice, order or 
registration which is the responsibility of the Committee; 

1.4 To amend, vary, modify or revoke any approval, consent, licence, permission, order, 
notice or registration which is the responsibility of the Committee or any condition, 
limitation or term thereof; 

1.5 To discharge any non-executive functions relating to contaminated land, control of 
pollution, management of air quality or statutory nuisance; 

1.6 To develop Licensing and Gambling Policies for consideration by the Cabinet and Full 
Council;  

1.7 To appoint the Chairs of ad-hoc Licensing Sub-Committees as required from time to 
time and draw members from the Licensing Committee for those Sub-Committees; and 

1.8 To delegate licensing functions to Sub-Committees as required and to exercise any 
functions of the Licensing Sub-Committees that may be appropriate from time to time. 

  

Page 40



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 27 

2 Licensing Sub-Committee 

Composition: Three members of the Licensing Committee. 
 
 The Licensing Committee will appoint its Chair, Vice Chair and two 

further Councillors, who are members of the Licensing Committee, 
to act as Chairs of the Sub-Committees. 

 
 Each Sub-Committee will comprise a Chair and two other 

members of the Licensing Committee and will be empanelled ad-
hoc by the Senior Manager, Democratic Support and Elections 
(political balance is not required and the two members may 
comprise other Licensing Sub-Committee appointed Chairs). 

 
 
Terms of Reference: 
 
2.1 To determine applications under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005, 

grant licences, permissions, issue permits, make variations (including rescinding 
licences), make orders or notices and undertake such other regulatory functions as 
may be referred from time to time, where objections or representations are received, 
including the following: 

Matters to be dealt with Sub Committee Officer 

Application for personal licence If a police objection If no objection made 

Application for personal licence with unspent convictions All cases  

Application for premises licence/club premises certificate If a relevant 

representation made 

If no relevant 

representation made 

Application for provisional statement If a relevant 

representation made 

If no relevant 

representation made 

Application to vary premises licence/club premises 

certificate 

If a relevant 

representation made 

If no relevant 

representation made 

Application to vary designated premises supervisor If a police objection All other cases 

Request to be removed as designated premises 

supervisor 

 All cases 

Application for transfer of premises licence If a police objection All other cases 

Applications for interim authorities If a police objection All other cases 

Application to review premises licence/club premises 

certificate 

All cases  

Decision on whether a representation is irrelevant 

frivolous vexatious etc. 

 All cases 

Decision to object when local authority is a consultee and 

not the relevant authority considering the application 

All cases  

Determination of an objection to a temporary event notice All cases  

Determination of application to vary premises licence at 

community premises to include alternative licence condition 

If a police objection All other cases 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 41



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 28 

Decision whether to consult other responsible authorities on 

minor variation application 

 All cases 

Determination of minor variation application 
 

All cases 

 

2.2 To give consents for striptease, and to make objections to cinema advertisements and 
to prohibit films in accordance with former standard public entertainment licence 
conditions incorporated in premises licences. 

2.3 Determine matters relating to hypnotism performances. 

2.4 To determine applications for pavement licenses under the Business and Planning Act 
2020 where adverse representations have been made and not withdrawn or other 
reasons why the Licensing Manager considers it relevant to refer the matter to the 
Licensing Sub-Committee. 

 

 
  

Page 42



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 29 

3 Planning Regulatory Committee 

 
Composition: Fifteen Councillors in political balance. Chair appointed by 

Council annually. 
 
Cabinet members should leave the Committee meeting for items 
directly related to those which have been previously considered at 
Cabinet (whether they attended the Cabinet meeting to consider 
that particular item or not).  

 
All members of the Committee and Councillors attending as 
substitutes must: 
 
(a)  have undertaken mandatory training in the relevant law and 

procedures which relate to the Committee’s work; and 
 
(b)  undertake further mandatory training, on an ad hoc basis, 

when there are changes to procedure or relevant legislation 
that are deemed significant by the relevant Chief Officer. 

 
Terms of Reference: 
 
3.1 To exercise the Council’s functions relating to town and country planning and 

development control, highways, footpaths and other rights of way.  

3.2 To determine applications for planning permission under the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, Listed Building Consent, Conservation Area Consent and related 
matters and any other planning legislation including granting planning permission for 
development already carried out and without compliance with conditions previously 
attached 

3.3 To decline to determine applications for planning permission. 

3.4 To determine applications for planning permission made by a local authority, alone or 
jointly with another person, including for the Council itself. 

3.5 To make determinations, give approvals and agree other matters relating to the 
exercise of permitted development rights, in so far as not delegated to Officers. 

3.6 To authorise:  

(a) entering into agreements regulating the development or use of land; 

(b) issuing certificates of existing or proposed lawful use or development; 

(c) granting consents for the display of advertisements; 

(d) entry onto land; 

(e) the discontinuance of a use of land; 

(f) service of a Planning Contravention Notice, Breach of Condition Notice, 
Building Preservation Notice, Enforcement Notice, Stop Notice, Demolition 

Page 43



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 30 

Notice, Completion Notice, Repairs Notice or any other Notice and take any 
other related action; and 

(g) applications for injunctions restraining a breach of planning control. 

3.7 To determine applications for Hazardous Substance Consent and related powers. 

3.8 To require proper maintenance of land and buildings. 

3.9 To apply for an injunction in relation to a Listed Building and/or execute urgent works 
in respect of Listed Buildings and buildings in Conservation Areas. 

3.10 To exercise powers for the preservation of trees; relating to the protection of important 
hedgerows; control of high hedges; control advertisements and to make Limestone 
Pavement Orders. 

3.11 To exercise the Council's functions under the Highways Act 1980, other than the power 
to grant permissions under Section 115E and publish Notices under Section 115G of 
the Highways Act 1980 for the provision of services, amenities, recreation and 
refreshment facilities on pedestrianised areas (which is a function of the Licensing 
Committee) including the power to authorise Notices, Orders and enforcement action, 
consent to or licence activities or take action. 

3.12 Power to authorise action to deal with public rights of way, footpaths and bridleways 
including authorising stopping-up or diversion of any highway, footpath, bridleway or 
extinguishing any public rights of way (including in respect of land held for planning 
purposes). 

Pre-Application Advice for Applicants 

Level 1 Advice 

Level 1 advice involves a desk-based assessment of proposals.  It provides a quicker service 
but is likely to only be suitable for proposals that require an ‘in principle’ answer to the 
prospects of development.  To apply for Level 1 advice, applicants will need to submit a Pre-
Application Advice Form PRE-A (DOC,207KB), together with a site location plan and payment 
of the relevant fee.  Applicants can choose to include further supporting information should 
they wish. 

Level 2 Advice 

Level 2 advice constitutes ‘detailed advice’ and the response will include a site visit.  It will 
provide a more comprehensive appraisal of the likelihood of obtaining planning permission 
and, where necessary, include suggestions of how to improve proposed development 
schemes.  For Level 2 advice, applicants will need to submit a Pre-Application Advice Form 
PRE-A (DOC, 207KB), a location plan, an accurate site survey, an indicative site layout plan, 
as specified in the advice guide (DOCX, 129KB) and payment of the relevant fee.  If chosen, 
Level Two advice offers an opportunity for follow-up meetings, after the advice has been 
provided, although an additional fee will apply.   

Level 3 Councillor Engagement Forum Pre-Planning Application  

Page 44

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/planning/planning-advice/will-i-get-permission
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/planning/planning-advice/will-i-get-permission
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/planning/planning-advice/will-i-get-permission
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/planning/planning-advice/will-i-get-permission
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/planning/planning-advice/will-i-get-permission


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 31 

The Forum facilitates the new Level 3 Pre-Application Process for major planning 
applications, which commenced on 1 May 2017, and provides developers with: 

1. A site visit by a Case Officer; 
2. A written assessment by the Case Officer, highlighting the findings of the site visit 

and the main issues; 

3. An (optional) follow-up meeting between the developer and the Officer; 

4. Presentation by the developer to the Councillor Engagement Forum.  

Pre-application advice is not mandatory and nor does it bind the Council to approve or 
refuse a planning application, but developers find it useful to improve the quality of 
planning applications and their likelihood of success. 

It sets out the Council’s opinion, discusses matters of policy, provides suggestions for 
improvement (where possible) and a list of all documents that are required to 
accompany the planning application. 

The Councillor Engagement Forum is an integral part of the planning process as it 
provides Councillors with the opportunity to ask questions of developers, share local 
knowledge and contribute practical suggestions to any possible problems within their 
proposed planning application. 

By nature the meetings are ad-hoc and typically held within four weeks of submission 
by the developer. 

Membership of the Forum is as follows: 

 One representative from each political group on the Planning Regulatory 
Committee (they can send a substitute, but the Substitute must also be a 
member of the Planning Regulatory Committee) 

 Relevant Ward Councillor(s) 

 Parish Council/Civic Society Representative 

 Developers/Applicants 

 Relevant Officers 

 
  

Page 45

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/planning/planning-advice/will-i-get-permission


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 32 

4 People and Organisational Development  Committee 

Composition: Seven Councillors in political balance. Chair appointed by Council 
annually. Where the Committee meets to appoint a Chief 
Executive, or Chief Officer  (also known as JNC Chief Officers) or 
appoints a Sub-Committee/Panel to deal with disciplinary, 
grievance, capability matters or appeals, the Committee will 
include at least one Cabinet member. 

 
All members of the Committee and Councillors attending as 
substitutes must: 

 
(a)  have undertaken mandatory training on the relevant law 

and procedures that relate to the Committee’s work; and 
must 

 
(b)  undertake further mandatory training, on an ad hoc basis, 

when there are changes to procedure or relevant legislation 
that are deemed to be significant by the relevant Chief 
Officer. 

 
Terms of Reference: 
 
To deal with the appointment of JNC Chief Officer level posts and to determine the terms and 
conditions on which staff are employed. In particular the Committee will: 
 
4.1 Develop and review Council policy in respect of human resources, staff and conditions 

of service including: 

(a) Recruitment and retention; 

(b) The “Raising Concerns” Whistleblowing, disciplinary, capability, grievance and 
harassment; 

(c) Redeployment, redundancy, early retirement and severance; 

(d) Sickness absence; 

(e) Employee and organisational development, apprentices; and 

(f) Health and Safety and welfare. 

4.2 The People and Organisational Development Committee will also: 

(a) Consider and recommend to Council the Annual Pay Policy Statement. 

(b) Appoint a Panel (usually of three) from the Committee including at least one 
Cabinet member to consider appeals against dismissal, grading and 
grievances by JNC Chief Officers (except that there shall be no appeal against 
dismissal for the Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer). 

(c) Appoint to and make decisions in respect of redundancy and redeployment for 
JNC Chief Officer posts. 

Page 46



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 33 

(d) Consider and deal with requests for voluntary severance, including early 
retirement and/or voluntary redundancy. 

(e) Appoint a Panel of (usually of three) from the Committee, including at least one 
Cabinet member, assisted by one independent adviser, to act as an Appraisal 
Panel (as required by the JNC Conditions of Service for Chief Executives and 
Chief Officers) for the Chief Executive; 

(f) Appoint, when required, an “Investigation and Disciplinary Committee” referred 
to in the JNC Conditions of Service for Chief Executives and Chief Officers; 
with power to appoint an independent investigator and independent advisors, 
if required; and to suspend the Chief Executive, if considered appropriate. 
Where the Investigation and Disciplinary Committee makes a recommendation 
to Full Council to dismiss a Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring 
Officer then the Independent Persons Panel must meet and consider the matter 
and prepare a report for Council before any decision to dismiss is considered 
by Full Council;  

(g) Consider and respond to consultation requests in respect of national pay 
negotiations and determine pay awards; 

(h) Determine any other personnel or HR matter that is not delegated to officers. 

4.3 The seven members of the People and Organisational Development  Committee shall 
represent Lancaster City Council on the Joint Consultative Committee (JCC)   as the 
employer representatives. 

  

Page 47

https://committeeadmin.lancaster.gov.uk/documents/s25604/Consitution%20Appendix%201%20public.pdf


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 34 

5 Appeals Committee  

Composition: Seven Councillors in political balance. Chair appointed by Council 
annually.  

 
 All members of the Committee and Councillors attending as 

substitutes, must have attended a training session on determining 
appeals. 

 
 Members of the Planning Regulatory Committee must not sit on 
the Appeals Committee to decide formal objections to Tree 
Preservation Orders if they have previously considered a directly-
related planning application.  
 

 
Terms of Reference: 
 
5.1 The determination of an appeal against any decision made by, or on behalf, of the 

Council, which does not fall within the Terms of Reference of any other Committee. 

  

Page 48



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 35 

6 Audit Committee  

 
Composition: Seven Councillors in political balance. Chair appointed by Council 

annually. 
 
 The Chair and Vice Chair must not be a member of the Cabinet or 

an Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
 The Committee has the right of access to all the information it 

considers necessary in connection with the work of the Committee 
and may consult directly with Internal and External Auditors.  

 
Governance 

6.1 The terms of reference should set out the committee’s position in the governance 
structure of the authority.  

 
Statement of Purpose 

 
6.2 The audit committee is a key component of Lancaster City Council’s corporate 

governance. The committee’s purpose is to provide independent high-level focus on 
the adequacy of governance, risks and control arrangements. Its role in ensuring there 
is sufficient assurance over governance, risk and control gives greater confidence to 
all those charged with governance that those arrangements are effective.  

 
6.3   

It oversees internal and external audit, together with the financial and governance 
reports, helping to ensure that there are adequate arrangements in place for both 
internal challenge and public accountability.  

 
Core Functions 
 
Governance, Risk and control 

6.4 To review the council’s corporate governance arrangements against the good 
governance framework, including the ethical framework and consider the local code of 
governance. 

6.5 To review the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) and consider whether it properly 
reflects the risk environment and supporting assurances, taking into account the head 
of audit’s annual audit opinion.  

6.6 To consider whether the annual evaluation for the annual governance statement fairly 
concludes that governance arrangements are fit for purpose, supporting achievement 
of the authority’s objectives. 

6.7 To consider the reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and monitor the 
implementation of agreed actions.  

6.8 To consider the reports on the effectiveness of the financial management 
arrangements, including compliance with CIPFA’s Financial Management Code. 

6.9 To consider the council’s arrangements to secure value for money and review 
assurances and assessment on the effectiveness of these arrangements.  

6.10 To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in the council 
and monitor progress in addressing risk-related issues reported to the committee.  

Page 49



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 36 

6.11 To monitor counter fraud, actions and resources and review the assessment of fraud 
risks and potential harm to the council from fraud and corruption.  

6.12 To monitor the counter fraud strategy, actions and resources. 

 

6.13 To review the governance and assurance arrangements for significant partnerships or 
collaborations.  

 Arrangements for audit and assurance 

6.14 To consider the Councils framework of assurance and ensure that it adequately 
addresses the risks and priorities of the Council 

 

Internal Audit 

6.15 To approve the internal audit charter. 

6.16 To review proposals made in relation the appointment of external providers of internal 
audit services and to make recommendations on their effectiveness.  

6.17 To approve the risk-based internal audit plan, including resource requirements and the 
approach to using other sources of assurances and any work required to place reliance 
upon those other sources. 

6.18 To make appropriate enquiries of both management and internal audit to determine if 
there are any inappropriate scope or resource limitations.  

6.19 To consider any impairments to the independence or objectivity of internal audit arising 
from additional roles or responsibilities outside of internal auditing and to approve and 
periodically review safeguards to limit such impairments. 

6.20 To approve significant interim changes to the risk-based audit plan and resource 
requirements. 

6.21 To consider reports from internal audit on the performance during the year, including 
the performance of external providers of internal audit services These will include: 

 Updates on the work of internal audit, including key findings, issues of concern 
and action in hand as a result of internal audit work. 

 Regular reports on the results of Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 
(QAIP) 

 Reports on instances where the internal audit function does not conform with 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and Local Government 
Application Note (LGAN), considering whether the non-conformance is 
significant enough that it must be included in the AGS 

  

6.22 To consider the head of internal audit’s annual report including 

 The statement of the level of conformance with the PSIAS and LGAN and the 
results of the QAIP that support the statement(these will indicate the reliability 
of the conclusions of internal audit) 

 The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s 
framework of governance, risk management and control, together with the 
summary of the work supporting the opinion (these will assist the committee in 
reviewing the AGS) 

6.23 To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested. 

Page 50



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 37 

6.24 To receive reports outlining action taken where internal audit has concluded that 
management has accepted a level of risk that may be unacceptable to the authority or 
there are any concerns about progress with the implementation of agreed actions.
  

6.25  To contribute to  the QAIP and in particular the external quality assessment of internal 
audit that takes place at least once every five years. 

6.26 To consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support the AGS where 
required to do so by the accounts and audit regulations. 

6.27 To provide free and unfettered access to the audit committee chair for the head of 
internal audit, including the opportunity for a private meeting with the committee.   

External Audit 

6.28 To support the independence of External Audit through consideration of any External 
Auditor’s annual assessment of its independence and review of any issues raised by 
PSAA or the authority’s auditor panne; as appropriate. 

6.29 To receive and comment upon the scope and depth of the External Auditor work, 
considering the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it gives value for 
money.  

6.30 To monitor the External Auditor’s progress with the Annual Plan. 

6.31 To consider the external auditors’ annual letter, relevant reports and the report to those 
charged with governance.   

6.32 To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor.  

6.33 To advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between internal and 
external audit and other inspection agencies or relevant bodies.  

6.34 To provide free and unfettered access to the audit committee chair for the external 
auditors, including the opportunity for a private meeting with the committee.   

6.35 To consider periodically whether the Auditors appointed to carry out the External Audit 
function remain independent and objective and, that their judgement in carrying out 
that role has not been impaired as a consequence of their participation in any non-
audit reviews, services or advice provided to the Council.  

6.36 To consider additional commissions of work from external audit. 

  

Financial Reporting 

6.37 To monitor the arrangements and preparations for financial reporting to ensure that 
statutory requirements and professional standards can be met. 

6.38 To review the annual Statement of Accounts on behalf of full Council in accordance 
with the relevant Accounts and Audit Regulations 2022 Specifically to consider whether 
appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether there are concerns 
arising from the financial statements or from the audit that need to be brought to the 
attention of the Council. 

6.39 To consider the external auditor’s report to those charged with governance on issues 
arising from the audit of the accounts.  

6.40 To consider and endorse amendments to the Council’s Financial Regulations and 
Contract Procedure Rules and, on behalf of full Council, give any instructions to the 
Section 151 Officer as may be appropriate. 

 Accountability Arrangements 

Page 51



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 38 

6.41 To report to those charged with governance on the committee’s findings, conclusions 
and recommendations concerning the adequacy and effectiveness of their 
governance, risk management and internal control frameworks, financial reporting 
arrangements and internal and external audit functions. 

To prepare an annual report to full Council setting out the committee’s work and 
performance during the year in relation to the terms of reference and to refer to Council 
and the effectiveness of the committee in meeting its purpose.  

6.42 To publish an annual report on the work of the committee, including a conclusion on 
the compliance with the CIPFA Position Statement. 

To review any issue referred to it by the Chief Executive or any Council body.  

Other core functions 

6.43 To consider any matters referred to it by the Monitoring Officer in accordance with 
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 12. 

6.44 With the Monitoring Officer to monitor and review the operation of the Constitution to 
ensure the aims and principles of the Constitution are given full effect.  

6.45 To undertake the annual review of the council’s use of the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000 (RIPA), ensuring compliance with the Code of Practice 

6.46 With the exception of those parts of the Constitution, which are assigned specifically 
to the Council Business Committee, to consider and propose to Council any other 
amendments to the Constitution as necessary. 

 

  

Page 52



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 39 

7 Standards Committee  

 
Composition: Seven Councillors in political balance.  Chair appointed by Full 

Council annually. 
   
  The Vice Chair to be appointed by the Committee, and to be from a 

different political group from the Chair. 
 
Terms of Reference: 
 
7.1 To assist the Council in fulfilling its duty under the Localism Act 2011 to promote and 

maintain high standards of conduct by members and co-opted members of the Council. 

7.2 To advise the Council on the adoption or revision of its Code of Conduct. 

7.3 To monitor and advise the Council about the operation of its Code of Conduct in the 
light of best practice and any changes in the law. 

7.4 To approve the arrangements for dealing with allegations that a Councillor or a Parish 
Councillor within the District has failed to comply with the relevant Councillors’ Code 
of Conduct. 

7.5 To determine whether a Councillor or Parish Councillor has failed to comply with the 
relevant Code of Conduct. 

7.6 Where the Committee finds that a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct has 
occurred, to determine what action, if any, to take and to apply the sanction or 
recommend to Council to apply an appropriate sanction. 

7.7 To assist the Council with the appointment of Independent Persons as required by the 
Localism Act 2011. 

7.8 To determine any request for a dispensation under Section 33 of the Localism Act 
2011, where not determined by the Monitoring Officer or to appeal against a 
determination by the Monitoring Officer. 

7.9 To advise the Council on, and review as necessary, the arrangements for dealing with 
complaints or any local protocols regulating the conduct of Councillors and to deal with 
allegations of breach of any such protocol. 

7.10 To consider reports referred by the Monitoring Officer, including the Annual 
Governance Statement submitted to the Audit Committee. 

7.11 To respond, on behalf of the Council, to national reviews and consultations on 
standards related issues. 

7.12 To consider and make recommendations to the Council on any other matter that may 
be referred to the Standards Committee relating to the conduct of Councillors. 

7.13 To ensure decisions are politically neutral. 

  

Page 53

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/information/complaints-comments-and-questions/complaining-about-a-councillor
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/information/complaints-comments-and-questions/complaining-about-a-councillor


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 40 

8 Council Business Committee 

 
Composition: Seven Councillors in political balance. Chair appointed by Council 

annually. 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
8.1 To make appointments to Committees and outside bodies (other than those made at 

Annual Council) or by Cabinet. 

8.2 To determine the method of response and, where necessary, agree responses, on 
behalf of the Council, to requests for responses to consultations made to the Council. 

8.3 To agree the annual timetable of Lancaster City Council meetings and any other 
timetabling issues which may arise. 

8.4 To take urgent decisions on issues which fall within the Terms of Reference of Council, 
for example regarding Parish Councils, where it would not be practical to convene Full 
Council and is not prohibited by statute. 

8.5 To agree amendments to all parts of the Constitution, on a referral from the Audit 
Committee or Monitoring Officer, other than the Responsibility for Functions – (non-
executive function changes are reserved to Council and executive functions are 
decided by the Leader), Financial Regulations and Procedures, Contract Procedure 
Rules (reserved to Audit Committee) and minor constitutional amendments which are 
within the responsibility of the Monitoring Officer (see the table at paragraph 10.6 in 
Part 1). 

8.6 To manage issues relating to Councillors, including monitoring training and 
development undertaken. 

8.7 To agree civic and ceremonial matters in consultation with the Mayor. 

8.8 To determine seniority in relation to making an invitation for a Councillor to be proposed 
as a future Mayor. 

  

Page 54



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 41 

9 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Composition:  Nine Councillors in political balance. 

  Members of the Committee shall not be members of the Cabinet. 

The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be 
appointed by Council annually.  However, only non-Cabinet 
Councillors are entitled to vote for the Chair. 

The Chair and Vice Chair shall not be members of the largest 
political group which has Councillors on the Cabinet.  

Terms of Reference 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has overall responsibility for the performance of all 
Overview and Scrutiny functions (under the Local Government Act 2000) on behalf of the 
Council and for ensuring its effectiveness, including: 

9.1 To consider and Call-in decisions relating to the discharge of Cabinet functions before 
those decisions are put into effect. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee can ask the 
Cabinet to reconsider any such decision (or, exceptionally, refer it to Council under the 
Procedure Rules in Part 3). 

9.2 To scrutinise decisions relating to the discharge of the Cabinet functions after they are 
put into effect. 

9.3 To consider the notices of forthcoming Key Decisions and comment as appropriate 
to the decision-maker on Key Decisions (before they are taken by the Leader, 
Cabinet, Portfolio Holders or Officers). 

9.4 To conduct reviews of policy, services and aspects of services where there is an 
identifiable need, by itself or through setting up a Task Group. 

9.5 To make suggestions on the development of policies and suggest new policies where 
appropriate. 

9.6 To work with or appoint representatives to work with other local authorities and 
organisations to carry out joint scrutiny. 

9.7 Together with Budget and Performance Panel, to assist the Cabinet in the 
development of the Budget and Policy Framework and, where appropriate, establish 
Task Groups, or identify topics for scrutiny. 

9.8 To receive and consider the Cabinet’s work in response to external inspection and 
review. The Committee may refer a particular external review or inspection to the 
Budget and Performance Panel or a Task Group for consideration. 

9.9 To create Task Groups and set their Terms of Reference, in order to fulfil the Overview 
and Scrutiny requirements of the Council and the Annual Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programme. 

9.10 To receive reports, presentations and updates in order to scrutinise the Cabinet’s 
priorities for and its performance in the year. 

Page 55



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 42 

9.11 To review and scrutinise the performance of the Cabinet, Cabinet Committees and 
appropriate Officers both in relation to individual decisions and over time (provided 
such matters are not excluded by regulations such as individual Planning or Licensing 
decisions). 

9.12 To approve an Annual Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme, including the power 
to request and receive the Work Programme of the Budget and Performance Panel 
and Task Groups it appoints so as to ensure that their time is effectively and efficiently 
utilised and that the potential for duplication of effort is minimised. 

9.13 To produce a unified Annual Report for the whole scrutiny process, with sections 
provided by the Budget and Performance Panel and each of the Task Groups. 

9.14 To allocate money from any approved Overview and Scrutiny budgets for its own use, 
and upon request to support the Budget and Performance Panel and Task Groups in 
meeting their objectives and furthering the Overview and Scrutiny work programme 
and development. 

9.15 To consider matters arising from a Councillor Call for Action (CCfA) under the Local 
Government Act 2000. 

9.16 To undertake the functions of the Council’s crime and disorder committee for the 
purposes of Section 19 of the Police and Justice Act, including consideration of a CCfA 
relating to crime and disorder matters. 

 

  

Page 56



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 43 

10 Budget and Performance Panel 

 
Composition: Nine Councillors in political balance. 
 

Members of the Committee shall not be members of the Cabinet. 
 

The Chair of Budget and Performance Panel will be appointed by 
Council annually.  Only non-Cabinet members are entitled to vote 
for the Chair. 
 
The Chair and Vice Chair shall not be members of the largest 
political group which has Councillors on the Cabinet. 

 
Terms of Reference 
 
10.1 To scrutinise the Council’s arrangements and performance in relation to financial 

planning, including budget / target setting, e.g. items within the Budget Framework 
including reviewing the effectiveness of the: 

(a) budget setting process;  

(b) contents of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS); 

(c) Capital Investment Strategy; and  

(d) financial targets in the Council Plan. 

10.2 To review the management of resources by scrutinising the Council’s financial 
performance in year against agreed budgets or other targets. e.g.: 

(a) capital and revenue spending against approved budgets;  

(b) specific activities including treasury management, generation of revenue and 
capital income targets; and  

(c) monitoring of financial savings/efficiency targets (including within the MTFS). 

(d) monitor the delivery and effectiveness of Service Level Agreement targets;  

(e) assess performance against key performance indicators and benchmarks; and 

(f) assess whether services are delivering their expected outcomes. 

10.3 To review the effectiveness of the Council’s overall performance management 
arrangements in relation to partnership working and to scrutinise the performance of 
the Council’s major partnerships. 

10.4 To scrutinise the Council’s policies and procedures and other supporting arrangements 
for securing value for money (i.e. economy, efficiency, effectiveness) e.g.:  

(a)  value for money strategy;  

(b)  procurement practices; 

(c)  income management and collection arrangements;  

Page 57



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 44 

(d)  asset management practices; and 

(e)  insurance arrangements.  

10.5 To consider risk management issues in reviewing and scrutinising performance. 

10.6 To make recommendations, as appropriate, in respect of the above.  

Page 58



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 45 

11 Independent Remuneration Panel  

 

Composition: A minimum of three Independent members 
appointed by the Council from time to time, ideally 
four. 

Where appropriate the Independent Remuneration 
Panel may meet concurrently with or form a joint 
Independent Remuneration Panel with a 
neighbouring Council or the County Council. 

Terms of Reference  

11.1 The role of the Independent Remuneration Panel is to consider, and keep under 
review, aspects of the Councillors' Allowance Scheme and, as and when appropriate, 
to submit reports (containing recommendations) to the Cabinet and Full Council, 
regarding: 

11.2 The responsibilities or duties in respect of which the following should be available:  

(a) special responsibility allowance;  

(b) travel and subsistence allowance; 

(c) co-optees’ allowance; 

11.3 The amount of such allowances and as to the amount of basic allowance;  

11.4 Whether an amount in respect of the care of children and a dependants’ carers’ 
allowance should be payable to Councillors, and if so, recommendations as to the 
amount of such allowances;  

11.5 Whether, in the event that the scheme is amended at any time so as to affect an 
allowance payable for the year in which the amendment is made, to recommend 
whether payment of allowances should be backdated in accordance with the 
Regulations; and 

11.6 Whether adjustments to the level of allowance may be determined according to an 
index and, if so, which index and how long that index should apply, subject to a 
maximum of four years, before its application is reviewed. 

 

  

Page 59



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 46 

12 Independent Persons Panel 

Composition:  Two Independent Persons (minimum) 

 All of the Council's Independent Persons appointed pursuant to 
Section 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011 shall be invited to attend and, if 
at the relevant time there are fewer than two such Persons who are 
able to attend, then the Independent Persons appointed by another 
neighbouring Council shall be invited to attend. 

  The Panel shall be appointed from those Independent Persons who 
have accepted an invitation to be considered for appointment, in 
accordance with the following priority order: 

a) an Independent Person who has been appointed by the 
Council and who is a local government elector in the 
Council’s area; 

b) any other Independent Person who has been appointed by 
the Council; 

c) an Independent Person who has been appointed by another 
local authority or local authorities. 

Independent Persons must have undertaken appropriate training. 

Terms of Reference  

12.1 The Independent Persons Panel is an advisory committee appointed by the Council 
under Section 102(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 for the purpose of advising 
on matters relating to the dismissal of the Officers designated as the Chief Executive, 
the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer (the "Statutory Officers”) in 
accordance with Schedule 3 to The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
Regulations 2001, as amended. 

12.2 The Independent Persons Panel will: 

(a) hear, consider, ask questions and comment in respect of Statutory Officer 
discipline or grievance that could lead to dismissal; and 

(b) make a report and recommendation to Full Council in accordance with the 
Council’s policies and Employment Procedure Rules. 

12.3 The Independent Persons Panel may meet concurrently with the Investigation and 
Disciplinary Committee where a hearing or meeting could result in a recommendation 
to Full Council for the dismissal of a Statutory Officer; or may meet separately. 

12.4 The Panel shall have access to external legal and professional advice as necessary, 
via the Monitoring Officer (or Deputy as appropriate). 

  

Page 60



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 47 

Part 2 – Section 6 
 
Joint Arrangements 

The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more local authorities and/or their 
Cabinets to exercise functions jointly, or advise the Council.  The Council and/or the Cabinet 
are able to enter into various forms of joint arrangements. Such arrangements may involve 
the delegation of functions to another local authority, an Officer of another local authority or 
the establishment of a Joint Committee with another local authority or a number of local 
authorities. 

Where three or more Councillors are appointed to a non-executive function Joint Committee, 
those Councillors must be appointed in political balance.  Subject to below, the Cabinet may 
only appoint Cabinet members to a Joint Committee that exercises executive functions and 
those members need not reflect the political composition of the local authority.  

Where a Joint Committee involves mixed functions then there is no need for political balance 
but both Cabinet and Council must approve the arrangements. 

The Cabinet may appoint Councillors to a Joint Committee from outside the Cabinet in the 
following circumstances: 

(a) the Joint Committee has functions for only part of the area of the Council.  In such 
cases, the appointees to the Joint Committee may include any Councillor who 
represents a Ward which is wholly or partly contained within the area; and 

(b) the Joint Committee is discharging a function in relation to five or more local 
authorities; or the function which the Joint Committee is discharging is a function 
which is required by statute to be discharged by a Joint Committee. 

In these cases the political balance requirements do not apply to such appointments. 

Where arrangements provide for the discharge of functions by a Joint Committee and one or 
more, but not all, of the functions to be discharged by the Joint Committee are the responsibility 
of the Cabinet, then: 

(a) where only one Councillor is a member of the Joint Committee, that person may 
be, but need not be, a member of the Cabinet; and  

(b) where more than one Councillor is a member of the Joint Committee, at least one 
member of the Cabinet must be a member of the Joint Committee. 

Details of joint arrangements including any delegations to Joint Committees are set out below: 

Joint Committee for Revenues and Benefits 

Composition: Two Cabinet members of Lancaster City Council (to be appointed 
by the Leader) and Cabinet members of Preston City Council, with 
the remaining members of each Cabinet able to act as substitute 
members. 

Terms of Reference 

 
The Joint Committee is responsible for: 

Page 61



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 48 

(a) The delivery of those delegated functions relating to Revenues and Benefits 
set out below that Lancaster City Council and Preston City Council have 
agreed to be delivered through the Joint Committee within the budget and to 
the agreed standards; 

(b) Ensuring that Lancaster City Council and Preston City Council remain fully 
informed and engaged. 

1 Functions Delegated To The Joint Committee 

1.1 The following functions are delegated to the Joint Committee to be carried out on 
behalf of the Councils, subject to the terms of the Shared Service Agreement between 
the Councils: 

(a) Maintenance of databases in administering Revenues and Benefits; 

(b) Billing, collection and recovery of Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates; 

(c) Administration, assessment and payment of Benefits; 

(d) Securing the gateway to Benefits and the identification of fraud and error, 
including investigation and determination of sanctions (save for prosecutions); 

(e) Recovery of arrears or repayment of Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit 
Overpayment; 

(f) Compilations of returns to Central Government relating to Revenues and 
Benefits (to be signed off by the Chief Finance Officer); 

(g) Provision of administration and support services relating to Revenues and 
Benefits when appropriate; 

(h) Approval of discretionary housing payments; 

(i) Approval of applications for mandatory relief, discretionary relief for Non-
Domestic Rates and Council Tax, including hardship and partial occupation; 

(j) Recommendation and administration of any write-offs of bad debts within the 
scope of the write-off policies established by each Council; 

(k) Preparation of benefit subsidy claims; 

(l) Any additional functions that may be conducive to carrying out the shared 
service for Revenues and Benefits; and 

(m) Responding to all requests for information in accordance with the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 in respect of the functions delegated to the Joint 
Committee (whether such requests are addressed to the Joint Committee or 
any Partner Council). 

1.2 The functions delegated to the Joint Committee shall be exercised subject to any 
proposed expenditure being contained in the annual Revenues and Benefits budget 
approved by the Councils and any proposed activities being within the Business Plan 
approved by the Councils provided that it complies with the relevant Financial 
Procedure Rules of the Joint Committee. 

Page 62



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 49 

 

Functions retained by each Council  
 

1.3 The following functions and matters shall be reserved to and decided by each Council 
from time to time; all decisions and policies on such matters shall be notified to the 
Joint Committee, as necessary, as soon as reasonably practicable after any such 
decision is made, and the Joint Committee shall give effect to all such policies and 
decisions of the Councils in the exercise of the functions delegated to it: 

(a) Approving and setting of Council Tax; 

(b) Calculation of Council Tax Base; 

(c) Collection fund accounting; 

(d) Approval of benefit subsidy claims; 

(e) Determination of policy for second and empty homes; 

(f) Determination of policy for write-off of bad debts and approval of any write-offs 
within the scope of that policy; 

(g) Setting the level of, and the receipt of, enforcement fees; 

(h) Approval of discretionary relief policies in relation to Non-Domestic Rates and 
Council Tax; 

(i) Agreement of rating assessments for Council owned properties; and 

(j) Authorisation and prosecution of benefit fraud cases. 

2. Tenants’ Forum 

Composition:  Tenants and Councillors.  Councillors sit as non-voting 
members of the Forum. Councillor representation comprises the Cabinet 
member with responsibility for Housing plus five other Councillors invited by 
the Cabinet member. 

The Tenants’ Forum (see Cabinet minute 3rd June 2008) is established to: 

(a) promote the interests of all Council tenants of the District, and to assist 
in maintaining good relations between all members of the community. 

(b) promote Council tenants’ rights and the maintenance and improvement 
of housing conditions, amenities, and the environment. 

(c) ensure that all tenants have effective opportunities to participate in the 
management of their homes and neighbourhoods. 

(d) promote change in response to tenants’ needs and aspirations. 

(e) act as a consultative group on all issues concerning tenants at District-
wide level. 

(f) work towards the elimination of all forms of discrimination within the 
community by encouraging all tenants to participate in the management 
of their homes and neighbourhoods. 

Page 63



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 50 

Full Terms of Reference are available from the Chief Officer Housing and Property. 

Page 64



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 51 

Part 2, Section 7 
 
Scheme of Delegation to Officers 

 
It is acknowledged that the role of Officers is to take operational decisions in the manner that 
they consider is most appropriate given their managerial and professional expertise, and that 
no specific delegations are required in order for Officers to carry out the administration of the 
services for which they are responsible. 
 
The purpose of this Scheme of Delegation is rather to provide clarity for the undertaking of 
activities that for governance reasons require formal authorisation. 
 
Formal delegations have been approved by the relevant Council body with responsibility for 
the particular function, and this may be Council, a Regulatory or other Committee of Council, 
or, in the case of executive functions, the Leader or Cabinet. 
 
All the delegations within this Scheme are to be undertaken within: 
 

 The policies and strategies of the Council within the Policy Framework; 

 Any legal constraints imposed on the Council; 

 The financial provision authorised by the Cabinet and the Council; 

 Any relevant provisions within the Constitution. 
 
This Scheme of Delegation should be read in conjunction with the Council’s Financial 
Regulations, including the Contract Procedure Rules, and the Treasury Management 
Framework.  
 
Any reference to any Act of Parliament includes references to Regulations and other 
subordinate legislation made thereunder and to any EU legislation on which the UK legislation 
is based. References to any Act, Regulation, Order or Byelaw shall be construed as including 
any re-enactment or re-making of the same, whether or not with amendments. 
 
Subject to any express instruction to the contrary from the delegating body, any power to 
approve also includes power to refuse, power to impose appropriate conditions and power to 
amend decisions. 
 
Generally, any power delegated to a Chief Officer may be exercised by the Chief Executive, 
and any power delegated to any other Officer may be exercisable by the Officer’s Chief Officer 
or the Chief Executive.   However, it should be noted that this is subject to any specific statutory 
restrictions.  For example, under Health and Safety legislation, some powers may only be 
exercised by qualified “inspectors”. 
 
Any delegation to the Chief Executive may in his/her absence be exercised by a Chief Officer.  
Formal urgent decisions will be taken in consultation with the appropriate elected Councillor(s) 
in accordance with the Constitution. It is anticipated that the delegated authority would be 
exercised (taking account of any comments from the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance 
Officer), by the most appropriate Chief Officer given the subject matter for decision, or, in the 
absence of that Chief Officer or where the decision is general in nature, by any Chief Officer 
or Senior Emergency Officer on duty at the time. 
 
This Scheme of Delegation covers both executive and non-executive functions and is subject 
to the ‘cascade’ principle and, unless excluded by statute, bestows the power for the Chief 
Executive and Chief Officers to further delegate in writing all or any of these functions to other 
Officers (described by post title) either fully or in part and subject to such limitations as 

Page 65



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 52 

considered reasonable by the delegating Officer.  Any such delegation must be evidenced in 
writing, dated and signed by the Officer delegating the authority, with a copy supplied to the 
Senior Manager, Democratic Support and Elections. The Officer delegating the function 
remains responsible for ensuring that delegated decisions are properly taken by sufficiently 
senior and experienced Officers and for the decisions taken. 
 
The cascade principle under which the Scheme of Delegation operates means that any Officer 
given powers under the Scheme can further delegate those powers to other Officers either:- 

 

 through a Local Scheme of Delegation (which sets out all the standing delegations 
given to specific Officers in defined areas of the Council's service areas). A full list of 
the Local Schemes of Delegation can be viewed.  Any of the schemes can be looked 
at in detail; or  

 through a Specific Delegation in relation to an individual decision which must be 
evidenced in writing using the agreed standard form, dated and signed by the Officer 
delegating the power with a copy supplied to the Senior Manager, Democratic Support 
and Elections. 
 

A Specific Delegation does not need to be given where an Officer is given delegated powers 
to action a particular decision by Council, Cabinet or a Committee or Sub Committee. 
  
All Local Schemes of Delegation (and any changes to them) must be agreed by the Monitoring 
Officer. The Monitoring Officer shall be authorised to amend the Scheme of Delegation to 
reflect re-organisations, changes in job titles and vacancies (where such changes result in 
redistributing existing delegations), to reflect legislative changes and to effect Councillor 
decisions. Any post specifically referred to in the Scheme of Delegation shall be deemed to 
include any successor post, and shall include any Officer acting up or seconded. 
 
Where a function has been delegated to an Officer (including where sub-delegated through 
the Cascade principle), the person or body making the delegation may at any time exercise 
the function concurrently or take back responsibility for the function and may therefore 
exercise the function (make the decision) despite the delegation. 
 
Equally an Officer may consider a decision to be of such importance or sensitivity that their 
delegated authority should not be exercised in any particular case and may refer the matter 
back to the delegating body for decision. 
 
Where an Officer is authorised or designated by virtue of this Scheme of Delegation as an 
authorised Officer for the purposes of any legislation, that authorisation (unless it specifically 
states to the contrary) shall be deemed to authorise that Officer to undertake all the powers 
and duties of an authorised Officer as are specified in that legislation.  These may include (but 
are not restricted to) the power to enter on land, undertake inspections, serve notices 
(including the issue of fixed penalty notices), take samples and remove goods. 
 
Where a power or duty is delegated to an Officer, either directly under the Scheme of 
Delegation or through designation as an authorised Officer, and the exercise of that power or 
duty is contingent upon the opinion of the Council that particular conditions or factual 
circumstances exist, then the Officer in question has the power to determine whether or not 
those circumstances exist or whether those conditions have been fulfilled in the name of and 
with the authority of the Council. 
 
Functions, matters, powers, authorisations, delegations, duties and responsibilities within this 
Scheme shall be construed in a broad and inclusive fashion, and shall include the doing of 
anything which is calculated to facilitate or is conducive or incidental to the discharge of 
anything so specified. 

Page 66



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 53 

 
Where a power or duty delegated under this Scheme includes at source a power to take 
enforcement action, and/or to recover costs, fees or charges, the delegation shall include the 
power to take all necessary action to recover such fees costs or charges by way of civil debt 
or otherwise.  
 
An Officer, in exercising delegated powers, may consult the relevant Portfolio Holder or 
Committee Chair if he/she considers it appropriate to do so. 
 
DELEGATIONS TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
Matters of Urgency 
 
To authorise any action reasonably necessary to protect the health, safety or welfare of 
individuals or the safety of property. 
 
Where it is necessary for any function to be discharged and it is impracticable or impossible 
by reason of urgency for the matter to be considered by the Cabinet (or by the relevant 
Portfolio Holder), to take such action as they consider appropriate, in consultation, so far as 
practicable with the Leader and relevant Portfolio Holder(s); and where there is no Leader and 
Cabinet all executive functions shall vest in the Chief Executive who shall be able to exercise 
all executive functions or authorise Officers to exercise such functions. 
 
Where it is necessary for any function of the Council or one of its Committees to be discharged 
and it is impracticable or impossible, by reason of urgency, for the matter to be considered by 
the Council or such Committee, to take such action as they consider appropriate, in 
consultation, so far as practicable, with the Mayor and Group Leaders in respect of a Council 
function or the relevant Committee Chair in respect of a matter within the Terms of Reference 
of a Council Committee. 
 
Where action is taken under the above, the Chief Executive shall submit a report to the next 
Cabinet, Council or Committee meeting recording the urgent circumstances which made the 
action necessary and detailing the action taken. 
 
Other Functions 
 
To make applications to the Home Secretary for consent to make orders under the Public 
Order Act 1986 in response to an application from the Chief Constable, and to make the 
appropriate Order following the receipt of the Home Secretary’s consent. 
 
To determine matters arising from the Commission for Local Administration in England (the 
Local Government Ombudsman) and the Housing Ombudsman in whatever manner is 
appropriate, including the making of local settlements. 
 
To seek planning permission for the Council’s own development or development on Council-
owned land. 
 
To grant authorisations for the purposes of Sections 28 and 29 of the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (subject to the requirement for each authorisation to be 
approved by the Magistrates’ Court). 
 

Page 67



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 54 

Delegations from the People and Organisational Development  Committee  
 
In respect of all posts, except JNC Chief Officer posts, to establish new posts and approve 
minor structural re-organisations, and to assimilate members of staff on fixed term or 
temporary contracts or in casual work situations into the permanent establishment. 
 
To determine the terms and conditions of service of Council Officers within the policy set by 
the People and Organisational Development Committee.   
 
To determine applications for regrading. 
 
To determine applications made by JNC Chief Officers in accordance with the provisions of 
the Council’s Family Leave Scheme and Flexible Working Hours Scheme.  
 
To apply the Council’s Redeployment Policy including declaration of a redundancy situation 
and redeployment of staff. 
 
To approve the payment of acting up and honorarium payments (whilst in employment) and 
termination payments, including voluntary severance, early retirement and/or voluntary 
redundancy, within Council policy, up to £50,000. 
 
To approve special severance payments below £20,000. 
 
To approve special severance payments of £20,000 and above but below £100,000, with a 
clear record of the Leader’s approval. Special severance payments over £50,000 and below 
£100,000 should be reviewed by the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer who may 
refer a final decision to Full Council if felt necessary. Special severance payments of £100,000 
and above must be approved by a vote of Full Council, as set out in the Localism Act 2011.   
 
To approve extensions to full or half sick pay. 
 
To approve release of preserved pension benefits in accordance with relevant pension 
legislation, including Certificates of Material Change. 
 
To determine requests for late transfers into the Local Government Pension Scheme. 
 
To suspend and to determine disciplinary, capability and grievance matters in relation to 
Officers except appeals against dismissal by JNC Chief Officers. 
 
In accordance with the Model Disciplinary Procedure contained in the JNC Handbook for Chief 
Executives, Investigation and Disciplinary Committee meetings shall be convened by the Chief 
Executive who will filter out and deal with allegations which are clearly unfounded, trivial or 
can best be dealt with under some other procedure relating to the Monitoring Officer (in 
consultation with the Chair of People and Organisational Development Committee).  
 
General Delegations from Council, Committees and Cabinet to the Chief Executive and 
Chief Officers  
 
To be responsible for and to exercise all functions that may fall within their job role from time 
to time including matters set out below. 
 
To sign statements of truth in connection with legal proceedings on behalf of the Council. 
 
To serve notices under Section 16 of the Local Government Act (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
1976. 

Page 68



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 55 

 
With regard to finance and contractual matters, to exercise any relevant authority set out in the 
Financial Regulations and Contract Procedure Rules for Works, Goods and Services. 
Designation as a Responsible Spending Officer or Contract Manager will be deemed to be 
designation in writing by a Chief Officer for this purpose.  
 
In accordance with relevant legislation and any charging policy set by Council, Committees or 
Cabinet, to set fees and charges for services and activities. 
 
To take all necessary actions (including the preparation of any documentation, letting of 
contracts, undertaking statutory processes and incurring expenditure) to implement decisions 
of Cabinet, Council or any other Councillor body. 
 
To issue, serve and withdraw any notices or take any other enforcement or other action. 
 
To attest the affixing of the Common Seal to documents. 
 
To determine matters arising from the Commission for Local Administration in England (the 
Local Government Ombudsman) in whatever manner is appropriate, including the making of 
local settlements. 
 
To seek planning permission for the Council’s own development or development on Council-
owned land. 
 
To grant authorisations for the purposes of Sections 28 and 29 of the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (subject to the requirement for each authorisation to be 
approved by the Magistrates’ Court). 
 
To institute, defend, settle or compromise any claim or participate in any legal proceedings in 
any case where such action is necessary to give effect to a decision of the Council, Cabinet 
or Committee or in any case where he/she considers that such action is necessary to protect 
the Council’s interests. 
 
To do all such things as are necessary in relation to all routine matters of day to day 
administration and management of the Council. 
 
To designate authorised Officers, who may then act on behalf of the Council, to serve notices, 
apply for warrants, exercise power of entry/seizure and take action and make decisions under 
any Act, statutory instrument, order or regulations that provides the Council with a power/duty 
to act in accordance with their designation as an authorised Officer. 
 
DELEGATIONS TO THE SENIOR CHIEF OFFICER  
 
Functions delegated by Licensing Committee 
 
To investigate and enforce contraventions of Food Safety and hygiene legislation (including 
the Food Safety Act 1990) and regulations made under the European Communities Act 1972 
(including the Food Safety and Hygiene (England) Regulations 2013. 
 
To serve notices and to exercise all powers under Food Safety and hygiene legislation. This 
includes the service of improvement notices, prohibition notice, entry to food business 
premises, seizure, requests for information from FBOs and applications for warrants under the 
Food Safety and Hygiene (England) Regulations 2013. 
 

Page 69



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 56 

To serve notices and to act on behalf of the Council under any applicable environmental 
legislation (and any subordinate legislation, regulations or orders made under the primary 
acts), and to designate authorised Officers who may then act on behalf of the Council (whether 
under primary legislation, any subordinate legislation, regulations or orders made under the 
primary acts) in accordance with their designation as authorised Officer. 
 
To designate authorised Officers for the purposes of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, 
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 and the Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 
1978, who may then act on behalf of the Council under the relevant legislation in accordance 
with their designation as authorised Officer. 
 
To appoint Proper Officers for the purposes of the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984, 
the Public Health (Infectious Diseases) Regulations 1988 and under the National Assistance 
Act 1948, Regulations 2 and 3 of the Health Protection (Notification) Regulations 2010, 
Sections 84 and 85 of the Public Health Act 1936, and Section 37 of the Public Health Act 
1961. 
 
To serve notices and to act on behalf of the Council under the Health Act 2006 and to 
designate authorised Officers who may then act on behalf of the Council under the legislation 
in accordance with their designation. 
 
 
DELEGATIONS TO ANY OFFICERS DESIGNATED BY THE SENIOR CHIEF OFFICER IN 
WRITING 
 
Under the cascade principle (above) the Senior Chief Officer may authorise other suitably 
qualified and experienced Officers to undertake any of the functions set out above. 
 
 
CHIEF OFFICER ENVIRONMENT AND PLACE 
 
 
To designate authorised Officers for the purposes of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, 
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 and the Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 
1978, who may then act on behalf of the Council under the relevant legislation in accordance 
with their designation as authorised Officer. 
 
To approve requests for the lighting of the Ashton Memorial in recognition of national or 
international charity campaigns.  
 
To serve notices and to act on behalf of the Council under any applicable environmental 
legislation (and any subordinate legislation, regulations or orders made under the primary 
acts), and to designate authorised Officers who may then act on behalf of the Council (whether 
under primary legislation, any subordinate legislation, regulations or orders made under the 
primary acts) in accordance with their designation as authorised Officer. 
 
 
Under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014: 
 
(a) to be an authorised person for the purposes of Section 53, with authority to issue a 
Community Protection Notice (Section 43), and/or a Fixed Penalty Notice for breach of a 
Community Protection Notice (Section 48) and to authorise other Officers to act; 
 
(b) to be authorised to issue notices under Sections 47 and 49 in respect of Community 
Protection Notice works in default and to authorise such work in default to be carried out; 

Page 70



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 57 

 
(c) to be an authorised person for the purposes of Sections 63 and Section 68 
(enforcement of Public Spaces Protection Orders); and 
 
(d) to be authorised to issue a Closure Notice for a period of up to 24 hours.  
 
For the avoidance of doubt the Chief Officer Environment and Place can designate persons 
who have entered into a contract with the Council for the provision of litter services as 
authorised Officers under Section 88(10) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, subject to 
satisfactory safeguards being set out in the contract to ensure notices are issued in 
accordance with the law and the Council is covered by a suitable indemnity. 
 
 
To appoint Proper Officers for the purposes of the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984, 
the Public Health (Infectious Diseases) Regulations 1988 and under the National Assistance 
Act 1948, Regulations 2 and 3 of the Health Protection (Notification) Regulations 2010, 
Sections 84 and 85 of the Public Health Act 1936, and Section 37 of the Public Health Act 
1961. 
 
To determine applications in respect of chimney heights under the Clean Air legislation. 
 
The discharge of any function relating to the control of pollution or the management of air 
quality (including the enforcement of the provisions of the Clean Air Act 1993). 
 
 
 
To issue notices and take other relevant action in relation to the control of horses in 
accordance with the Animal Act 1971 (as amended) and the Control of Horses Act 2015. 
 
To issue notices and take all other relevant action under the Criminal Justice and Public Order 
Act 1994. 
 
 
To approve requests for the lighting of the Ashton Memorial in recognition of national or 
international charity campaigns.  
 
 
DELEGATIONS TO ANY OFFICERS DESIGNATED BY THE CHIEF OFFICER 
ENVIRONMENT AND PLACE IN WRITING 
 
Under the cascade principle (above) the Chief Officer Environment and Place may authorise 
other suitably qualified and experienced Officers to undertake any of the functions set out 
above. 
 
DELEGATIONS TO THE CHIEF OFFICER GOVERNANCE 
 
Non-Executive functions delegated by Licensing Committee 
 
In consultation with the Chair or Vice Chair to suspend or revoke an operator’s licence under 
Section 62 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
 
In consultation with the Chair or Vice Chair to suspend or revoke a hackney carriage or private 
hire vehicle licence under Section 60 or Section 68 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 and to suspend or revoke a driver’s licence under Section 61, including 
authority to suspend or revoke a licence with immediate effect in the interests of public safety. 

Page 71



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 58 

 
To grant and issue any licence, registration or other permission under any legislation within 
the terms of reference of the Licensing Committee, unless there are any adverse 
representations or other reasons why the Officer considers it appropriate to refer the matter to 
the Committee.  This does not include authority to refuse a licence, save that the Chief Officer 
Governance and the Licensing Manager are authorised to refuse new applications for hackney 
carriage or private hire driver licences, where satisfied that the applicant is not a fit and proper 
person to hold a licence.  
 
To approve any matters within the conditions of licences, registrations or other permissions 
under any legislation within the terms of reference of the Licensing Committee, which require 
the approval or consent of the Council. 
 
To issue licences, registrations, permissions, orders, notices and consents and take 
enforcement action in relation to any regulatory function of the Licensing Committee, unless 
there are any adverse representations or other reasons why the Officer considers it 
appropriate to refer the matter to the Committee. 
 
To advertise, grant, issue and enforce street trading licences or consents under the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, and to set the appropriate fee or charge. 
 
To grant, renew and vary site licences and collectors’ licences under the Scrap Metal Dealers 
Act 2013, and to enter and inspect premises licensed under the Act. 
 
 
Non-Executive Functions Delegated by the Licensing Sub-Committee 
 
Licensing Act 2003 
 
To determine applications for Personal Licences, including with relevant Unspent Convictions 
provided no Police representation has been made. 
 
To determine applications for Premises Licences/Club Premises Certificates provided no 
representation has been made. 
 
To determine applications for Provisional Statements provided no representation has been 
made. 
 
To determine applications to vary Premises Licences/Club Premises Certificates provided no 
representation has been made. 
 
To determine applications to vary Designated Premises Supervisor Licences. 
 
To determine any request to be removed as a Designated Premises Supervisor. 
 
To determine applications for transfer of Premises Licences provided no police objection has 
been received. 
 
To determine applications for interim authorities provided no police objection has been 
received. 
 
To determine whether any representation is irrelevant, trivial, frivolous or vexatious etc. 
 
To agree the appropriate scale of plans required to be submitted by an applicant. 
 

Page 72



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 59 

To dispense with a hearing in accordance with Regulation 9 of the Licensing Act 2003 
(Hearings) Regulations 2005. 
 
To extend time limits in accordance with Regulation 11 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) 
Regulations 2005. 
 
To identify points on which clarification may be required at a hearing, in accordance with 
Regulation 7 (1) (d) of the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005. 
 
To acknowledge receipt of a Temporary Event Notice under Section 102 of the Licensing Act 
2003 and, where appropriate, to serve counter-notice under Section 107 of the Act. 
 
To determine applications for minor variations to Premises Licences/Club Premises 
Certificates. 
 
In consultation with the Chair of the Licensing Committee or in his/her absence the Vice Chair, 
authority to authorise applications for hypnotism subject to the standard conditions approved 
by the Committee. 
 
Gambling Act 2005 
 
To determine applications for permits for 3 or 4 gaming machines in premises licensed under 
the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
To determine applications for premises licences under the Gambling Act 2005 where no 
representations have been received or representations have been withdrawn. 
 
To determine applications for a variation to a licence under the Gambling Act 2005 where no 
representations have been received or representations have been withdrawn. 
 
To determine applications for a transfer of a licence under the Gambling Act 2005 where no 
representations have been received from the Gambling Commission. 
 
To determine applications for a provisional statement under the Gambling Act 2005 where no 
representations have been received or representations have been withdrawn. 
 
To determine applications for club gaming/club machine permits under the Gambling Act 2005 
where no objections have been made or objections have been withdrawn. 
 
To determine applications for other permits under the Gambling Act 2005 where no 
representations have been made. 
 
To cancel licensed premises gaming machine permits. 
 
To grant a temporary use notice under the Gambling Act 2005 where no representations have 
been made. 
 
In consultation with the Chair of the Licensing Committee to determine film classification 
restrictions where there has been no classification by the British Board of Film Classification; 
save that, where the Licensing Manager considers it appropriate in view of the nature of the 
particular film, the matter shall be referred to the Committee. 
 
To act on behalf of the Licensing Authority as Responsible Authority when required under the 
Licensing Act 2003. 
 

Page 73



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 60 

To suspend licences and club premises certificates for non-payment of annual fees in 
accordance with the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
To designate authorised persons as defined in Section 13(2)(a) of the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
To designate authorised persons as defined in Section 304(2) of the Gambling Act 2005. 
 
General delegations 
 
To authorise Officers to appear on behalf of the Council in Courts inquiries and Tribunals, as 
appropriate. 
 
To certify resolutions and documents as being true copies. 
 
To determine whether or not confidential or exempt Cabinet reports, minutes or background 
papers are required to continue to be treated as confidential or exempt.  
 
To sign official certificates of search in the register of local land charges and set the fee for a 
local search and related inquiries in respect of land. 
 
To approve expenditure from the Councillors’ conferences budget in consultation with the 
relevant Cabinet member. 
 
To approve duties for inclusion in the list of Approved Duties for the purposes of the 
Councillors’ Allowances Scheme. 
 
To make orders under the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 where there are no objections to the 
proposed closure from either the highway authority or the police. 
 
To determine requests for review under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 
 
To determine listing and compensation reviews in respect of assets of community value under 
Part 5 Chapter 3 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
To be the Proper Officer as required by any legislation save where another Officer has been 
so designated. 
 
To authorise Officers of the Council to appear in any court or tribunal as appropriate. 
 
To institute, defend and be responsible for the conduct of any legal proceedings in any civil or 
criminal court or tribunal, on behalf of the Council, and to make appropriate arrangements for 
such matters to be dealt with by the Council’s Legal Service.  
 
To instruct Counsel or external solicitors to advise and/or represent the Council, through the 
Council’s Legal Service. 
 
To settle or compromise any claim against the Council or legal proceedings to which the 
Council is a party, in consultation with the relevant Chief Officer. 
 
To take all steps incidental to completing or obtaining the confirmation of any Order or other 
formal proceedings made by the Council. 
 
To determine nominations for inclusion in the Council’s list of assets of community value, and 
to determine requests from an asset owner for compensation under Part 5 of the Localism Act 
2011. 

Page 74



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 61 

 
 
DELEGATIONS TO ANY OFFICERS DESIGNATED BY THE CHIEF OFFICER 
GOVERNANCE IN WRITING 
 
Under the cascade principle (above) the Chief Officer Governance may authorise other 
suitably qualified and experienced Officers to undertake any of the functions set out above. 
 
 
DELEGATIONS TO THE CHIEF OFFICER RESOURCES 
 
Authorised to exercise the General Delegations from Council, Committees and Cabinet set 
out above in relation to the Chief Executive. 
 
To institute, defend, settle or compromise or participate in any legal proceedings in any case 
where such action is necessary to give effect to a decision of the Council or in any case where 
he/she considers that such action is necessary to protect the Council’s interests. 
 
Where any contract or document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on behalf 
of the Council it will be signed by the Chief Officer Resources or other Officer authorised by 
him/her unless any enactment otherwise authorises or requires differently, or the Council has 
given requisite authority to some other person. 
 
To arrange insurance cover for the Council, including the taking out and renewal of policies. 
To undertake borrowing and investment decisions and related/supporting operational activity 
in accordance with the Council’s approved Treasury Management Framework. 
 
To sign any documentation on behalf of the Council in accordance with any approved role as 
“accountable body”.  
 
To update the Council’s financial systems and records as necessary to bring into effect a 
decision of the Council or Cabinet. 
 
To exercise the Council’s statutory functions and responsibilities in respect of Council Tax, 
National Non-Domestic Rates, and Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support and to support 
the Joint Committee with Preston Council. 
 
To authorise Officers to represent the Council in the Magistrates’ Court in recovery and 
enforcement proceedings for Council Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR). 
 
To grant relevant reliefs, discounts and exemptions and support awards associated with 
Council Tax, National Non-Domestic Rates, and Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support 
(made available either through locally determined or national policies). 
 
To authorise the commencement of civil proceedings for the recovery of sums owed to the 
Council. 
 
To sign certificates under Regulation 53(5) of the Council Tax (Administration and 
Enforcement) Regulations 1992 and Regulation 21(5) of the Non-Domestic Rating (Collection 
and Enforcement (Local Lists) Regulations 1989.  
 
 

Page 75



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 62 

DELEGATIONS TO ANY OFFICERS DESIGNATED BY THE CHIEF OFFICER 
RESOURCES IN WRITING 
 
Under the cascade principle (above) the Chief Officer Resources may authorise other suitably 
qualified and experienced Officers to undertake any of the functions set out above. 
 
DELEGATIONS TO THE CHIEF OFFICER PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE  
 
To determine applications under the Building Regulations, and to serve notices and issue 
certificates under the Building Regulations 2000 (as amended). 
 
To exercise the Council’s powers under the Building Act 1984 and Building Regulations and 
under the Planning Acts including the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
To approve Home Loss and Disturbance payments. 
 
To be the Proper Officer for the purposes of Section 93(1)(a) and to authorise Officers to sign 
documents in accordance with Section 93(1)(b) of the Building Act 1984. 
  
To designate authorised Officers for the purposes of Section 95 of the Building Act 1984. 
 
To set fees and charges for Building Regulation services, in accordance with the provisions of 
the Building (Prescribed Fees) Regulations 1994. 
 
 
In consultation with the Chief Executive, to instruct Counsel to advise and/or represent the 
Council. 
 
To designate authorised Officers for the purposes of Sections 196A, 196B, 214B, 214C, 219, 
324 and 325 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Sections 88 and 88A of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, who may then act on behalf of 
the Council under the relevant legislation in accordance with their designation as authorised 
Officer. 
 
To set fees and charges for pre-planning application activity,  planning applications, s106 
monitoring costs and any other services provided under the Terms of Reference of the 
Planning Regulatory Committee. 
 
To determine applications under the provisions of Part III and VIII of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 and Part I of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990, having regard to the approved Development Plan and any relevant approved statement 
of policy, including proposals affecting Listed Buildings or in Conservation Areas EXCEPT for 
the following categories of development: 
 

(a) Applications in the major category as defined by the Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities (or any other Government Ministry or Department 
superseding this),which are recommended for approval and are the subject of any 
objections; 

(b) Applications recommended for approval which are departures from the Development 
Plan; 

(c) Applications made by the City Council or major applications made by the County 
Council; 

(d) Applications by Councillors or Council Officers and other parties where considerations 
of probity indicate that a Committee decision is required; 

Page 76



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 63 

(e) Any application which the Chief Officer Planning and Climate Changeconsiders should 
be determined by the Committee; and 

(f) Any application which a Councillor asks to be referred to the Committee. This request 
must be made to the Case Officer within twenty-one days of the application appearing 
on the Weekly List of Applications; it must be submitted on the requisite form (which can 
be emailed); and the request cannot be made on a resubmitted application (an 
application submitted within twelve months of a refusal or withdrawal of an application 
with the same or similar description, unless the initial application was referred to 
Committee within its 21 day period before it was withdrawn). 

 
Where a Ward Councillor submits a request, for an application to be referred to the Committee 
and where the Ward Councillor is also a member of the Planning Regulatory Committee, that 
Councillor would be expected to register to speak at the Planning Regulatory Committee 
meeting.  In those circumstances, the Ward Councillor could either choose to send a substitute 
member to take their place on the Committee for the duration of the Committee meeting; or 
they could alternatively choose to register to speak as a Ward Councillor on that single item, 
in the knowledge that (as a speaker) they couldn’t participate in debate or voting on that 
particular item.  The Ward Councillor would however, be permitted to return to the Committee 
benches to be able to participate in debate and vote on other items on the Committee agenda. 
 
To secure compliance with associated conditions or legal agreements in respect of any 
planning permission granted, to vary such conditions or agreements and to discharge any 
requirements of such agreements. 
 
To respond to consultations under the provisions of Sections 42 and 43 of the Planning Act 
2008 with the exception of responding formally to the Infrastructure Planning Commission or 
its successors in title under Sections 55 and 60 with the Council’s view on Statements of 
Community Involvement and Local Impact Reports. 
 
To decline to determine applications for planning permission pursuant to Section 70A of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
To determine requests for amendments to submitted or determined planning applications or 
other development related consents. 
 
To advertise and consult on advertising of planning and other like applications. 
 
In conjunction with the Chief Executive to contest appeals regarding matters within the Terms 
of Reference of the Planning Regulatory Committee. 
 
To serve notices for the preservation/repair of Listed Buildings or buildings/structures worthy 
of listing under the provisions of Sections 3, 48 and 54 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 
To serve, pursuant to planning legislation, including the Town and Planning Act 1990, Planning 
Contravention Notices, Breach of Condition Notices, Building Preservation Notices, 
Enforcement Notices, Stop Notices, Demolition Notices, Completion Notices, Repair Notices 
or any other Notice and to take any other related action.  
 
To investigate and enforce breaches of planning control, planning condition or planning 
legislation.   
 
To make and enforce Tree Preservation Orders and related provisions. 
 

Page 77



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 64 

To determine applications for Certificates of Lawful Use or Lawful Development under the 
provisions of Section 191- 94 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
To issue a screening opinion or a scoping opinion under the Provisions of the Town and 
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 
1999. 
 
To waive the charge for the making of Revocation and Modification Orders in appropriate 
cases. 
 
To serve statutory notices in respect of any highway matter within the terms of reference of 
the Planning Regulatory Committee. 
 
To make observations on development and development plans proposed by neighbouring 
authorities. 
 
To exercise all planning and development control functions including entering into planning 
agreements such as agreement under section 106 Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  
 
To serve notices or take any action in relation to hedgerows legislation including the 
Environment Act 1995. 
 
DELEGATIONS TO ANY OFFICERS DESIGNATED BY THE CHIEF OFFICER PLANNING 
AND CLIMATE CHANGE IN WRITING  
 
Under the cascade principle (above) the Chief Officer Planning and Climate Change may 
authorise other suitably qualified and experienced Officers to undertake any of the functions 
set out above. 
 
DELEGATIONS TO THE CHIEF OFFICER HOUSING AND PROPERTY  
 
 
To waive the repayment, or to reduce the level of repayment, of right to buy discount under 
Section 185 of the Housing Act 2004. 
 
To serve any statutory notice, counter-notice or document in respect of a dwelling house or 
under the Mobile Homes Act 1983 let by the Council and which is to be served in connection 
with the exercise of the functions of the local housing authority. 
 
To serve notice and commence legal action to seek an order of possession in respect of a 
dwelling house or under the Mobile Homes Act 1983 let by the Council under various different 
tenancy arrangements or to authorise others to take such decisions and to review any decision 
to seek an order for possession of a dwelling. 
 
Under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014: 
 
(a) to be an authorised person for the purposes of Section 53, with authority to issue a 
Community Protection Notice (Section 43), and/or a Fixed Penalty Notice for breach of a 
Community Protection Notice (Section 48) and to authorise other Officers to act; 
 
(b) to be authorised to issue notices under Sections 47 and 49 in respect of Community 
Protection Notice works in default and to authorise such work in default to be carried out; 
 
(c) to be authorised to commence anti-social behaviour injunction proceedings under 
Section 1. 

Page 78



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 65 

 
 
To award discretionary points and exercise any other discretion that may be appropriate to 
allocate council housing stock, and to undertake any review under the Housing Allocation 
Policy. 
 
To nominate tenants to Housing Associations. 
 
To serve statutory notices, directions, orders and other documents, to exercise statutory 
powers of entry and to undertake inspections and take enforcement action in connection with 
unfit, defective or otherwise substandard dwellings, or overcrowding or to address otherwise 
unsatisfactory conditions. 
 
To investigate and take enforcement action in respect of unlawful eviction or tenant 
harassment or any offence under Housing legislation. 
 
To determine applications for the licensing of houses in multiple occupation under the Housing 
Act 2004 including the granting, refusal and variation of licences and the issuing of temporary 
exemptions in appropriate cases as defined in the Act. 
 
To determine applications in respect of grants in respect of dwellings, including disabled 
facilities grants and to waive or relax the conditions and/or requirements of approved grants. 
 
To take action to secure the restoration or continuation of the supply of water, gas or electricity 
to tenanted property. 
 
To exercise the statutory functions of the Council with regard to homelessness, including the 
undertaking of reviews of decisions.  To administer and operate any loan/grant/other schemes 
intended to prevent homelessness or support care in the community. 
 
 
Under the Redress Schemes for Lettings Agency Work and Property Management Work 
(Requirement to Belong to a Scheme etc) (England) Order 2014 to set and impose a penalty 
charge (to a maximum of £5000); to undertake the service and signing of notices; to consider 
and determine representations and objections; to recover the monetary penalty through a 
certificate signed by the Chief Officer Resources  
 
To appoint, in writing, suitably qualified officers to act on behalf of the Council under the Animal 
Welfare Act 2006 and the Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals (England) 
Regulations 2018. 
 
To issue notices and take other relevant action in relation to the Control of Horses Act 2015 
(Animals Act 1971 as amended by Control of Horses Act 2015). 
 
Under the Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 to act an 
Inspector; to undertake the service and signing of notices; to set and impose a penalty charge 
(to a maximum of £5000); to authorise remedial work; to consider and determine 
representations and objections; to recover a monetary penalty through a certificate signed by 
the Chief Officer Resources and to designate authorised Officers who may then act on behalf 
of the Council under the legislation in accordance with their designation. 
 
To serve notices and to act on behalf of the Council under any applicable environmental 
legislation (and any subordinate legislation, regulations or orders made under the primary 
acts), and to designate authorised Officers who may then act on behalf of the Council (whether 

Page 79



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 66 

under primary legislation, any subordinate legislation, regulations or orders made under the 
primary acts) in accordance with their designation as authorised Officer. 
 
To designate authorised Officers for the purposes of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, 
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 and the Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 
1978, who may then act on behalf of the Council under the relevant legislation in accordance 
with their designation as authorised Officer. 
 
To appoint Proper Officers for the purposes of the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984, 
the Public Health (Infectious Diseases) Regulations 1988 and under the National Assistance 
Act 1948, Regulations 2 and 3 of the Health Protection (Notification) Regulations 2010, 
Sections 84 and 85 of the Public Health Act 1936, and Section 37 of the Public Health Act 
1961. 
 
To issue notices and take other relevant action in relation to the control of horses in 
accordance with the Animal Act 1971 (as amended) and the Control of Horses Act 2015. 
 
 
 
Functions delegated by Licensing Committee 
 
To grant and issue any licence, registration or other permission under any legislation within 
the terms of reference of the Licensing Committee, unless there are any adverse 
representations or other reasons why the Officer considers it appropriate to refer the matter to 
the Committee.  This does not include authority to refuse a licence, save that the Chief Officer 
Governance and the Licensing Manager are authorised to refuse new applications for hackney 
carriage or private hire driver licences, where satisfied that the applicant is not a fit and proper 
person to hold a licence.  
 
To approve any matters within the conditions of licences, registrations or other permissions 
under any legislation within the terms of reference of the Licensing Committee, which require 
the approval or consent of the Council. 
 
Executive Functions 
 
To approve the terms and conditions for the disposal or acquisition of freehold land, and the 
granting or taking of a lease of property, where the consideration or premium or annual rent is 
at market value and does not exceed £150,000 subject to Ward Councillors being consulted 
about the principle of the sale/acquisition or, if the property has not previously been leased, 
the principle of leasing. 
 
To approve the terms and conditions of any other lettings, sub-lettings, concessions or 
licences to occupy any Council land or premises, where the rent / fee is at market value. 
 
To grant peppercorn leases of land for potential new allotment sites (provided that such land 
would not be capable of achieving a market rent exceeding £6000 per annum for alternative 
use) subject to the approval of the Chief Officer of the relevant managing Service.  
 
To approve the terms of rent or service charge reviews, licences to assign, deeds of variation 
and surrenders. 
 
To appropriate land and properties between purposes. 
 
To terminate or forfeit leases, sub-leases and licences. 
 

Page 80



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 67 

To approve the payment of compensation due under the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954. 
 
To grant and accept wayleaves and easements and to approve the consideration payable to 
or by the Council. 
 
To approve the disposal of council houses and flats and subsequent assignments under the 
statutory Right to Buy provisions. 
 
To approve the naming of streets and numbering of properties. 
 
To serve or to authorise the service of notices under the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954. 
 
DELEGATIONS TO ANY OFFICERS DESIGNATED BY THE CHIEF OFFICER HOUSING 
AND PROPERTY IN WRITING 
 
Under the cascade principle (above) the Chief Officer Housing and Property may authorise 
other suitably qualified and experienced Officers to undertake any of the functions set out 
above. 
 
 
DELEGATIONS TO THE CHIEF OFFICER SUSTAINABLE GROWTH 
 
 
To administer residents’ parking schemes and add properties to the Register of Excluded 
Properties established by Cabinet in December 2005 in respect of residents’ parking schemes. 
 
To authorise the making of Car Park Orders and Notices and the closure of Council owned 
public land and car parks where required to do so for operational or health and safety 
purposes. 
 
To approve the terms and conditions of market lettings.  
 
To allocate permits for street collections unless there are more applications than permits 
available.  
 
In consultation with the relevant Cabinet portfolio holder, to approve grants and other financial 
assistance to businesses and community enterprises, in accordance with the eligibility criteria 
and other terms and conditions applicable to the relevant approved grant aid schemes. 
 
In accordance with relevant legislation and any charging policy set by Cabinet, to set fees and 
charges for services and activities. 
 
DELEGATIONS TO ANY OFFICERS DESIGNATED BY THE CHIEF OFFICER 
SUSTAINABLE GROWTH IN WRITING 
 
Under the cascade principle (above) the Chief Officer Sustainable Growth may authorise other 
suitably qualified and experienced Officers to undertake any of the functions set out above. 
 
 
DELEGATIONS TO THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER AND TO THE DEPUTY CHIEF 
FINANCE OFFICER(S) 
 
Executive Functions 
 

Page 81



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 68 

To determine the Council’s tax bases and Collection Fund balances in respect of local 
taxation, together with related matters, in accordance with the Local Government Act 1992, 
the Local Government Act 2003 and other associated legislation. 
 
To sign any documentation required to be signed by the Council’s Chief Finance Officer. 
 
To determine the Council’s banking arrangements. 
 
Non-Executive Functions 
 
To be responsible for the proper management of the Council's financial affairs and the 
accounting arrangements of the Council, including (but not limited to) the following: 

 All Officer decisions on borrowing, investment or financing in accordance with the 
approved Treasury Policy Statement and Investment Strategy. 

 The investment of the Council’s funds in accordance with such policy as the 
Council may from time to time approve and with a view to achieving such 
enhanced returns as is consistent with security and liquidity. 

 To adjust, where necessary, the authorised and operational limits agreed each 
year for external debt, and to effect movement between the separately agreed 
figures for borrowing and long-term liabilities. Any such changes to be reported to 
the Council at its next meeting following the change. 

 Management of the Collection Fund, General and other funds and accounts and 
the disbursement of monies therefrom. 

 Raising of finance including leasing of vehicles, plant and equipment where the 
acquisition of the item concerned has all necessary approvals. 

 Administration and recovery of Housing Benefits, Council Tax Benefits, Business 
Rates (NNDR) and to write off sums outstanding as irrecoverable. 

 The grant of rate relief to charities within principles laid down by the Council. 

 To write off all types of debtor accounts up to the level stated in financial 
regulations. 

 To make mortgage advances to applicants fulfilling conditions set by the Council. 

 Approve any individual loan or loan scheme. 

 Make applications for funding, receive grants and act as accountable Officer.  

 Act in receivership of the property of the mentally ill. 

To authorise Officers to initiate and conduct legal proceedings in the Magistrates and County 
Courts on behalf of the Council in connection with the Council's finance and benefit functions. 

The Chief Finance Officer (Section 151) will nominate a deputy in writing. 
 
DELEGATIONS TO THE MONITORING OFFICER 
 

Page 82



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 69 

(a) Advise whether Cabinet decisions are within the Budget and Policy Framework 
- The Monitoring Officer will advise whether decisions of the Cabinet are in accordance 
with the Budget and Policy Framework. 
 

(b) Provide advice – The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers 
and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and 
Budget and Policy Framework issues to all Councillors. 
 

(c) Ensure lawfulness and fairness of decision making – After consulting with the 
Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring Officer will report to the 
Cabinet in relation to an executive function or Full Council in respect of a non-executive 
function if they consider that any proposal, decision or omission would give rise to 
unlawfulness or if any decision or omission has given rise to maladministration.  Such 
a report will have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being implemented 
until the report has been considered. 

 
(d) Maintain the Constitution – The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version 

of the Constitution and will ensure that it is widely available for consultation by 
Councillors, staff and the public and shall keep it up to date making minor amendments 
or implementing amendments decided by others. 

 
(e) Be the Proper Officer for access to information – The Monitoring Officer will ensure 

that decisions, together with the reasons for those decisions, and relevant Officer 
reports and background papers, are made publicly available as soon as possible. 
 

(f) To institute, defend, or participate in and be responsible for the conduct of any legal 
proceedings in any civil or criminal court or tribunal, on behalf of the Council, and to 
make appropriate arrangements for such matters to be dealt with by the Council’s 
Legal Service. 
 

(g) To instruct Counsel or external solicitors to advise and/or represent the Council, 
through the Council’s Legal Service. 
 

(h) To settle or compromise any claim against the Council or legal proceedings to which 
the Council is a party, in consultation with the relevant Chief Officer 

 
(i) The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place within the custody of the 

Monitoring Officer. A decision of the Council, or any part of it, will be sufficient authority 
for sealing any document necessary to give effect to the decision. The Common Seal 
will be affixed to those documents which, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, 
should be sealed. The affixing of the Common Seal will be attested by a Chief Officer  
 

Non-Executive Functions Delegated by the People and Organisational Development 
Committee 
 
In accordance with the Model Disciplinary Procedure contained in the JNC Handbook for Chief 
Executives, Investigation and Disciplinary Committee meetings shall be convened by the 
Monitoring Officer who will, filter out and deal with allegations which are clearly unfounded, 
trivial or can best be dealt with under some other procedure relating to the Chief Executive 
and the Chief Finance Officer (in consultation with the Chair of People and Organisational 
Development  Committee).  
 
Non-Executive functions delegated by the Standards Committee 
 

Page 83



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 70 

The Monitoring Officer will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of 
conduct through provision of support to the Standards Committee. 
 
Conduct investigations – To determine, in accordance with the Standards Committee’s 
arrangements under the Localism Act 2011, whether an allegation of breach of the Councillors’ 
Code of Conduct should be investigated, whether there should be local resolution or no action 
taken. 
 
The Monitoring Officer will conduct investigations and may appoint an investigating Officer as 
appropriate. 
 
Make arrangements for any hearings as appropriate. 
 
To authorise the granting of dispensations pursuant to Section 33 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
The Monitoring Officer will nominate a deputy or deputies in writing in accordance with 
Section 5(7) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 
 
DELEGATIONS TO THE SENIOR MANAGER, DEMOCRATIC SUPPORT AND 
ELECTIONS 
 
Non-Executive functions delegated by the Licensing Committee 
 
To empanel ad hoc Sub-Committees from the pool of ten Licensing Committee members. 
 
DELEGATIONS TO THE LICENSING MANAGER 
 
Non-Executive functions delegated by Licensing Committee 
 
To be an authorised Officer for the purposes of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 and Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1982, who may act on behalf of the Council under the Acts. 
 
To designate authorised Officers for the purposes of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976, who may then act on behalf of the Council under the Act in accordance 
with their designation as authorised Officer. 
 
To designate authorised Officers for the purposes of Schedule 3 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, who may then act on behalf of the Council under the Act 
in accordance with their designation as authorised Officer. 
 
To allocate permits for street collections unless there are more applications than permits 
available.  
 
To suspend or revoke a driver’s licence under Section 61 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, including authority to suspend or revoke a licence with 
immediate effect in the interests of public safety. 
 
To suspend or revoke an operator’s licence under Section 62 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
 
To suspend or revoke a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence under Section 60 or 
Section 68 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
 

Page 84



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 71 

To grant and issue any licence, registration or other permission under any legislation within 
the terms of reference of the Licensing Committee, unless there are any adverse 
representations or other reasons why the Officer considers it appropriate to refer the matter to 
the Committee.  This does not include authority to refuse a licence, save that the Chief Officer 
Governance and the Licensing Manager are authorised to refuse new applications for hackney 
carriage or private hire driver licences, where satisfied that the applicant is not a fit and proper 
person to hold a licence.  
 
To approve any matters within the conditions of licences, registrations or other permissions 
under any legislation within the Terms of Reference of the Licensing Committee, which require 
the approval or consent of the Council. 
 
To designate authorised persons as defined in Section 13(2)(a) of the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
To designate authorised persons as defined in Section 304(2) of the Gambling Act 2005. 
 
To exercise any other functions that may be delegated by a Chief Officer or the Licensing 
Committee from time to time. 
 
DELEGATIONS TO ALL CHIEF OFFICERS IN RESPECT OF OFFICERS WITHIN THEIR 
SERVICE  
 
Non-Executive functions  
 
To extend the term of any fixed term or temporary contract. 
 
To change the designation of a post. 
 
To recruit to established permanent or temporary posts (below JNC Chief Officer level), and 
determine commencing salary and subsequent granting or withholding of incremental 
progression. 
 
To determine applications and approve arrangements in accordance with the provisions of the 
Council’s Attendance Management Policies and Family Leave Scheme, Parental Leave 
Scheme and Flexible Working Scheme. 
 
To determine applications for car loans. 
 
To determine ex gratia payments. 
 
To terminate employment in accordance with Council policy, and on grounds of permanent ill 
health. 
 
To determine action in sickness absence cases lasting six months or more. 
 
To take disciplinary action in accordance with Council policy (except JNC Chief Officers) and 
deal with grievances, capability or other staffing issues. 
 
To authorise attendance of staff at appropriate courses, and the granting of financial 
assistance in accordance with the National Scheme of Conditions of Service. 
 
The award of a maximum of two merit increments for examination success and in other 
appropriate cases provided that the award is within the approved establishment grade of the 
post-holder.  
 

Page 85



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 72 

DELEGATIONS TO ALL LINE MANAGERS IN RESPECT OF OFFICERS THEY LINE 
MANAGE 
 
To approve non-contentious terminations of employment (employee resignations or standard 
retirements), not including ill-health retirements or early access to pension as a result of 
redundancy within Council policy. 
 
To manage Officers and take action as required by, and in accordance with, the terms of 
Council employment policies and procedures, including determining commencing salary for 
new appointees. 
  

Page 86



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 73 

Part 2 – Section 8 
 
Proper Officer Arrangements 
 

2 ARRANGEMENTS FOR PROPER OFFICER FUNCTIONS 

2.1 Many legislative provisions require the appointment of a "Proper Officer" to undertake 
formal responsibilities on behalf of the Council.  

2.2 The Chief Executive shall be the Proper Officer of the Council for the purposes of the 
Local Government Act 1972, the Local Government Act 2000 and for all other statutory 
purposes unless: 

 such designation is given by the Council to any other Officer or 

 the Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service, exercising the powers given to 
him/her by this Constitution, appoints another Officer of the Council to be the 
Proper Officer for a specific service area or function.  

2.3 A table of designated Proper Officers is set out below: 

 

 Function Legislative Provision Proper Officer Deputy  

Reference in legislation to 
the "Clerk"  

Any legislation before 
October 1972 

Chief Officer 
Governance 

Senior 
Manager, 
Democratic 
Support and 
Elections 

Appointment as Parish 
Trustee with Chair of Parish 
as body corporate for a 
Parish Meeting; 
The Officer responsible for 
convening newly created 
Parish Councils 

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 13(3) 

Chief Executive  

Witness and receipt of 
declaration of acceptance of 
office 

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 83 
 

Chief Executive  

Receipt of notice of 
resignation by councillor 

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 84 

Chief Executive  

Declare any vacancy in office  Local Government Act 1972 
Section 86 

Chief Executive  

Convening a meeting of 
Council to fill casual vacancy 
in office of Chair 

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 88(2) 

Chief Executive  

Receipt of notice of casual 
vacancy from two local 
government electors  
(Also for Parish and 
Community Councils) 

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 89(1)(b) 
Local Elections (Parishes 
and Communities) 
(England and Wales) Rules 
2006/3305 

Chief Executive  

Signature of summons to 
council meetings 

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 99 & Schedule 12 
Para.4(1A)(b) 

Chief Executive  

Page 87



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 74 

Exclusion of reports, etc. 
from inspection 
 
 

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 100B Schedule 12A 

Monitoring Officer  

Written Summary where 
minutes would disclose 
exempt information 

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 100C 

Chief Officer 
Governance 

 

Compilation of list of 
background papers 

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 100D 

Chief Officer 
Governance 

Senior 
Manager, 
Democratic 
Support and 
Elections 

Exclusion from production to 
Councillors of documents 
disclosing exempt 
information 

Local Government Act 1972  
Section 100F 

Monitoring Officer  

Receipt of money due from 
Officers 

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 115(2) 

Chief Finance 
Officer 

 

Declarations and certificates 
with regard to securities  

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 146(1)(a) 

Chief Finance 
Officer 

 

The Officer having 
responsibility for the proper 
administration of the financial 
affairs of the Council. 

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 151 
Also Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 Sections 
112-116 and any reference in 
legislation before October 
1972 to the "Treasurer" of a 
local authority 
 

Chief Finance 
Officer 

Deputy Chief 
Finance 
Officer 

Functions with respect to 
ordnance survey 

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 191 

Chief Officer 
Planning and 
Climate Change 

 

Charity functions Local Government Act 1972 
Section 210 

Chief Finance 
Officer  

 

Authorise Officers to appear 
in legal proceedings  

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 223 
(Also Section 60 County 
Courts Act 1984) 

Chief Officer 
Governance 

Senior 
Solicitor 

Deposit of documents 
pursuant to the Standing 
Orders of either Houses of 
Parliament or to any 
enactments/instruments and 
any action as may be 
directed 

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 225(1) 

Chief Executive  

Certification of photographic 
copies of documents 

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 229(5) 

Chief Officer 
Governance 

Senior 
Solicitor 

Authentication of documents Local Government Act 1972 
Section 234(1) 

Chief Officer 
Governance 

Senior 
Solicitor 

Sending confirmed byelaws 
to the Proper Officer of every 
Parish and Community 
Council to which they apply 

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 236 

Chief Executive  

Page 88



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 75 

Certification of byelaws Local Government Act 1972 
Section 238 

Chief Executive  

Keeping of roll of Freemen Local Government Act 1972 
Section 248 

Chief Executive  

Officer to whom Councillors 
shall give notice of address 
desiring Council summonses 
to be sent where not place of 
residence 

Local Government Act 1972 
Schedule 12 Para.4(3) 

Chief Executive  

Certification of resolutions 
under paragraph 25 applying 
or dis-applying provisions 
under the Public Health Acts 
1875 onwards 

Local Government Act 1972 
Schedule 14 Para.25(7) 

Chief Officer 
Governance 

 

Authentication of documents 
and issue of notices 
 
 
 
 

Various including: 
(a) Statutory notices 
under the Public Health 
Acts 1936 and 1961, the 
Control of Pollution Act 
1974, the Housing Acts 
1957 and 1988 and the 
Local Government Act 1989 
(other than for Council 
Houses), the Local 
Government Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 
(except as specified in the 
next paragraph), the 
Prevention of Damage by 
Pests Act 1948, the Food 
Safety Act 1990 and the 
Environmental Protection 
Act 1990 (as it relates to 
statutory nuisances) 
 
(b) Notices under the 
Building Regulations and the 
Building Act 1984 and under 
the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976 with regard to 
dangerous trees and 
excavations  
 
(c) any other matter 

Chief Officer 
Environment and 
Place 

 

Receipt on deposit of lists of 
buildings of special 
architectural or historical 
interest and Building 
Preservation Notices 

Town and Country 
Planning Act 1971 Sections 
54 & 58 

Chief Officer 
Planning and 
Climate Change  

 

Officer having responsibility 
for the storage and charge of 
cemetery records  

Local Authorities’ 
Cemeteries Order 1977  
Article 12 

Chief Officer 
Environment and 
Place 

 

Page 89



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 76 

Officer having responsibility 
for the signature of grants 
under Paragraph 1 of Part II 
of Schedule 2 of that Order 
and the granting of 
permission for the various 
matters referred to in 
Paragraph 1 of Part I of that 
Schedule 

Local Authorities’ 
Cemeteries Order 1977  
Paragraph 1 of Parts I & II of 
Schedule 2 

Chief Officer 
Environment and 
Place 

 

The Registration Officer for 
any constituency of part of a 
constituency coterminous or 
situated in the District. 

Representation of the 
People Act 1983 
Section 8 and 52 

Chief Executive  

The Returning Officer for 
elections of Councillors of the 
District and for elections of 
Councillors of Parishes within 
the District and to receive 
declarations of Election 
expenses  

Local Government Act 1972 
Section 35(1)  
 
 
 
Local Government Act 1972 
Section 82 

Chief Executive  

Receipt from Returning 
Officer of: the names of 
persons elected to the 
Council; and election 
documents. 
Retention of election 
documents and making them 
available for public 
inspection. 

Local Elections (Principal 
Areas) (England and 
Wales) Rules 2006/3304  

Chief Executive  

Publication of Ombudsman 
reports. 
 

Local Government Act 1974 
Part 3 - Section 30 

Chief Executive Monitoring 
Officer 

(a) Various purposes with 
regard to drainage, water 
supply, sanitary 
accommodation. 
(b) Purposes relating to 
building control other than 
those comprised in (a) above  
(c) authorise action in relation 
to dangerous structures 
under Section 78 
 

Building Act 1984 Chief Officer 
Planning and 
Climate Change 

 

To determine applications for 
exemption from the list of 
Politically Restricted Posts  
 
Maintain a list of Politically 
Restricted Posts 
 

Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 
Section 3A 
 
Section 2 

Chief Executive Monitoring 
Officer 

Receipt of Notice re changes 
to Political Groups 

Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989  
Sections 15,16 & 17 

Chief Executive Senior 
Manager, 
Democratic 

Page 90



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 77 

Receipt of Notice of 
Cessation of Membership of 
Political Groups 
To accept wishes of Political 
Groups in respect of 
proportionality  
To notify Political Groups of 
allocations  
 

Local Government Political 
Groups) Regulations 1990 
Paras 9, 10, 13 & 14 

Support and 
Elections 

Discharging the functions for 
dealing with stray dogs 

Environmental Protection 
Act 1990 
Sections 149 - 151 

Chief Officer 
Environment and 
Place 

 

Service of notices requiring 
details of any interests in 
land. 
 

Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976  
Sections 16  

Chief Officer  

Certification of copies of 
resolutions, minutes and 
other documents 
 

Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976 Section 41 

Chief Officer 
Governance 

 

Duty of local authority to 
supply forms to doctors for 
purposes of Section 48 - 
Removal of dead body to 
mortuary for burial. 
Section 58 - authentication of 
documents  
Section 60 - Service of 
notices and other documents  

Public Health Act 1936 
Sections 11, 48, 58 & 60 
Public Health (Control of 
Disease) Act 1984 

Senior Chief 
Officer 

 

The local registrar within the 
meaning of the Land 
Registration Act 2002 and 
Local Land Charges Act 
1975 who shall register any 
Matters specified by these 
Acts affecting land situate 
within the District. 

Land Registration Act 2002 
and  
Local Land Charges Act 
1975 

Chief Officer 
Governance 

Senior 
Solicitor 

Entertainments, licensing 
control of sex shops and 
public health 

Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1982 

Licensing Officer  

Licensing and gambling 
functions 

Licensing Act 2003 
Gambling Act 2005 

Licensing Officer  

Non-disclosure where 
potential to prejudice the 
effective conduct of public 
Affairs 

Freedom of Information Act 
2000 
Section 36 

Chief Executive Monitoring 
Officer 

Scrutiny Officer Local Government Act 2000 
Section 9FB see 9FB (5) 
discretionary for DC 

Chief Officer 
Governance 

Senior 
Manager, 
Democratic 
Support and 
Elections 

Proper Officer Functions for 
petitions and referenda 

Local Authorities 
(Referendums) (Petitions) 

Chief officer 
Governance 

Senior 
Manager, 
Democratic 

Page 91



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 78 

(England) Regulations 
2011/2914 

Support and 
Elections 

29 – Establish and maintain a 
register of 
Councillors' and co-opted 
Councillors' interests 
30 – 31 – Receipt of 
Councillors and co-opted 
Councillors' declarations of 
interests and 
changes to those interests 
within twenty-eight days 
32 – Sensitive Interests 
33 – Dispensations from 
restrictions under Section 
31(4) 

Localism Act 2011  
Sections 29 - 33 

Monitoring Officer Deputy 
Monitoring 
Officer 

Proper Officer functions in 
relation to referenda 

Local Authorities (Conduct 
of Referendums) (England) 
Regulations 2012 

Chief Officer 
Governance 

 

Proper Officer functions anti-
social behaviour and 
community protection 

Anti-Social Behaviour Act 
2003 and Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014 

Chief Officer 
Environment and 
Place 

 

Proper Officer for notification 
to deal with objections by 
Cabinet to appointments or 
dismissals of Chief and 
Deputy Chief Officers 

Local Authorities (Standing 
Orders) (England) 
Regulations 2001/3384 

Chief Officer 
People and Policy 

 

Data Protection Officer 
(under the GDPR) 

Data Protection Act 2018; 
General Data Protection 
Regulation 

Information 
Governance 
Manager 

 

Making a report to Council 
where a Key Decision has 
been made without a Key 
Decision Notice nor in 
compliance with the Cabinet 
Procedure Rules. 

Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012/2089 

Monitoring Officer Senior 
Manager, 
Democratic 
Support and 
Elections 

Any other provisions for 
which arrangements are not 
made above or in the 
scheme of delegation to 
Officers (whether made 
before or after this list was 
last updated) requiring a 
Proper Officer or authorised 
Officer from time to time – 
either to nominate a Proper 
Officer or exercise the 
functions.  

Any Chief Officer 
Governance 

 

 
  

Page 92



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 79 

 
 
 

PART 3 
 
 

RULES OF PROCEDURE  
 

  

Page 93



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 80 

PART 3 SECTION 1 
 

Council Procedure Rules 
 

1 RULE 1 - ANNUAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 

In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the Annual Meeting will 
take place within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing Councillors.  In any other 
year, the Annual Meeting will take place in May.  The Annual Meeting will: 

 
(a) elect a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor of the Council are 

not present; 
 
(b) elect the Mayor of the Council; 
 
(c) appoint the Deputy Mayor of the Council; 
 
(d) approve the Minutes of the previous Ordinary meeting; 
 
(e) receive any announcements from the Mayor and/or Chief Executive; 
 
(f) elect the Leader of the Council should the post be vacant; 
 
(g) note the Executive Arrangements and delegation of Executive and other 

functions 
 

(h) determine the Committees and allocation of seats and substitutes to political 
groups in accordance with the political balance rules; 
 

(i) receive nominations of Councillors to serve on each Committee and outside 
bodies; and appoint to those Committees and outside bodies except where 
appointment to those bodies has been delegated by the Council or is 
exercisable only by the Cabinet (as set out in Part 2, of this Constitution); 

 
(j) appoint a Chair for each Committee of Council; 
 
(k) appoint to the Council’s Veterans Champion Role; 

 
(l) consider any business set out in the notice convening that meeting. 

   
2 RULE 2 - ORDINARY MEETINGS 

2.1 Ordinary meetings of the Council will take place in accordance with a programme 
decided by the Council.  Ordinary meetings will: 

(a) elect a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are not present; 
 
(b) approve the Minutes of the last meeting of the Council (whether Ordinary or 

Annual); 
 
(c) consider items of urgent business authorised by the Mayor; 
 
(d) receive any declarations of interest from Councillors; 
 

Page 94



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 81 

(e) receive any announcements from the Mayor or Chief Executive, or any 
Councillor, with the permission of the Mayor; 

 
(f) receive questions on notice from the public, which have been submitted in 

accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11, and provide answers to those 
questions; 

 
(g) receive petitions and addresses from the public, which have been submitted 

in accordance with the Council’s petition process and Council Procedure Rule 
13 on public speaking; 
 

(h) deal with any business from the last Council meeting; 
 
(i) receive a report from the Leader and subsequent questions and, on an annual 

basis from the Mayor, each Cabinet Member, the Audit Committee, the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Budget and Performance Panel; 

 
(j) receive reports and referred items from Cabinet and any Council Committee; 
 
(k) receive reports about and receive questions and answers on the business of 

joint arrangements and external organisations; 
 
(l) consider motions on notice;  
 
(m) receive reports from the Council’s Statutory Officers or any other Officer with 

the permission of the Chief Executive or at the request of the Chair of any 
Council Committee; 

 
(n) receive written questions on notice from Councillors and subsequent answers; 

 
(o) receive Cabinet minutes; 

 
(p) consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting, 

including appointments to Committees and outside bodies. 
 

2.2 At an Ordinary meeting preceding the Annual Meeting the Council will approve a 
programme of Ordinary meetings for the next municipal year. 

3 RULE 3 - EXTRAORDINARY MEETINGS 
 

3.1 Calling Extraordinary Meetings 

Those listed below may request the Chief Executive to call a Council meeting in 
addition to Ordinary Meetings: 

 
(i) the Council by resolution; 
 
(ii) the Mayor of the Council or Deputy in the Mayor’s absence; 
 
(iii) any statutory Officer of Council;  
 
(iv) five Councillors if they have signed a requisition presented to the Mayor. 

 

Page 95



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 82 

The Chief Executive will call a meeting within seven days of the presentation of the 
requisition, (to be held at an appropriate time and date), unless the requisition is 
rejected on one or more of the following grounds, that it: 
 

(a) is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility or 
which affects the District; 

 
(b) is potentially defamatory, vexatious, frivolous or offensive; 

 
(c) refers to applications for, or objections to, planning permission or any 

licence, notice or order issued, served or made by the Council; 
 

(d) is substantially the same as a motion which has been put to a meeting 
of the Council in the past six months; or 

 
(e) relates to individual staffing matters or the personal information of 

Councillors or Officers. 
 

3.2 Business 

An Extraordinary Meeting of the Council may only consider that item or those items 
specifically listed in the reasons for calling the Extraordinary Meeting. 

 
4 RULE 4 - APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS OF ALL COMMITTEES  

 
4.1 Allocation 

For each Committee (save for the Licensing Committee) each Group may appoint a 
maximum of two named substitutes.  For all Committees, except Overview and 
Scrutiny meetings, Groups may change such appointment at any time by giving 
notice to the Senior Manager, Democratic Support and Elections in writing or by 
electronic mail (from a known or recognised source).  Any such temporary changes 
must be made at least 30 minutes before the commencement of the first meeting for 
which the change will apply. 

 
4.2 Powers and Duties 

Substitute members will have all the powers and duties of any ordinary member of 
the Committee, but will not be able to exercise any special powers or duties 
exercisable by the person for whom they are substituting. 

 
4.3 Substitution 

(a) Substitute members, having first undertaken the appropriate mandatory 
training required for the Committee, may attend meetings in that capacity only 
to take the place of the ordinary member for whom they are substituting and 
where the ordinary member will be absent for the whole of the meeting;  
 

(b) Substitute members are not permitted on the Licensing Committee; 
 

(c) Temporary substitutes, having first undertaken the appropriate mandatory 
training required for the Committee, may attend as required by Groups after 
notifying the Senior Manager, Democratic Support and Elections in writing or 
by electronic mail (from a known or recognised source) at least thirty minutes 
before the commencement of the meeting.  The use of temporary substitutes 

Page 96



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 83 

is not permitted at Overview and Scrutiny and Budget and Performance Panel 
meetings. 

 
 
 

 
5 RULE 5 - TIME AND PLACE OF MEETINGS 

 
The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Council at an Ordinary 
Meeting preceding the Annual Meeting of the Council. 

 
6 RULE 6 - NOTICE OF AND SUMMONS TO MEETINGS 

 
The Chief Executive will give notice to the public of the time and place of any meeting 
in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules.  At least five days 
before a meeting, the Chief Executive will send a summons signed by them or her by 
electronic mail to every Councillor or, on request, by post or by leaving it at their usual 
place of residence.  The summons will give the date, time and place of each meeting 
and specify the business to be transacted and will be accompanied by such reports 
as are available. 

 
7 RULE 7 - CHAIR OF THE MEETING 

 
The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the Chair.  
Where these rules apply to Committee meetings, reference to the Chair is also to 
include the Chair of Committees. 

 
8 RULE 8 - QUORUM 

 
The quorum of a meeting of the Full Council will be one quarter of the whole number 
of Councillors.  Committees, Sub-Committees and Task Groups have a quorum of 
one quarter (rounded up if necessary) with a minimum quorum of three.  The quorum 
for a meeting of the Cabinet is four. If a quorum is not present 15 minutes after the 
published start time, the meeting will be abandoned. 
 
During any meeting, if the Chair counts the number of Councillors present and 
declares there is not a quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn immediately.  
Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Chair.  If they 
do not fix a date, the remaining business will be considered at the next Ordinary 
Meeting. 

 
9 RULE 9 - DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND OTHER INTERESTS 

 

9.1 Subject to 9.2 and 9.3 below, if a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest as 
defined in paragraph 1 of Part B of the Councillor’s Code of Conduct in Part 4 or 
an “other” interest as defined in paragraph 12(1) of Part B of the Code of Conduct in 
any matter to be considered, or being considered at the meeting, then the Councillor 
should declare that interest to the meeting and should leave the room during the 
consideration of the whole item and until after the vote takes place. 

9.2 If a dispensation has been granted to a Councillor in relation to a disclosable 
pecuniary interest then, subject to the terms of the dispensation, the Councillor may 
be relieved from the above restrictions but must declare the interest and the 
dispensation to the meeting. 

Page 97



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 84 

9.3 If a Councillor has an “other” interest to which paragraph 12(1) of the Councillor’s 
Code of Conduct applies, the Councillor may attend a meeting but only for the 
purposes of making representations, answering questions or giving evidence relating 
to the business, provided that the public are also allowed to attend the meeting for 
the same purpose, whether under a statutory right or otherwise, and provided that 
the Councillor leaves the room where the meeting is held immediately after making 
representations, answering questions or giving evidence. 

 

10 RULE 10 - DURATION OF MEETING 
 

Interruption of the Meeting 

The meeting shall adjourn after periods of two and four hours for breaks of 10 and 30 
minutes respectively, save that the Chair, at their discretion, may waive the 
adjournment if it is likely that the business can be finished shortly.  

 
11 RULE 11 - QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC 

 
11.1 General 

Members of the public may ask questions of members of the Cabinet or the Chair of 
a Committee at Ordinary meetings of the Council. 

 
11.2 Order of Questions 

Questions will usually be asked in the order that notice of them was received, except 
that the Chair may group together similar questions. 

 
11.3 Notice of Questions 

A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it in writing or by 
electronic mail to the Chief Executive no later than midday three days before the day 
of the meeting.  Each question must give the name and address of the questioner 
and must name the member of the Cabinet or Chair to whom it is to be put. 

 
11.4 Number of Questions 

At any one meeting no person may submit more than one question and no more than 
two questions may be asked on behalf of one organisation. 

 
11.5 Scope of Questions 

The Chief Executive may reject a question if it: 
 

(a) is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility or which 
affects the District; 
 

(b) is potentially defamatory, vexatious, frivolous or offensive; 
 

(c) refers to applications for or objections to planning permission or any licence, 
notice or order issued, served or made by the Council; 
 

Page 98



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 85 

(d) is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of 
the Council in the past six months;  
 

(e) relates to individual staffing matters or the personal information of Councillors 
or Officers; or  
 

(f) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 
 

Notice will be given of the reason for rejecting a question. 
 

 
11.6 Record of Questions 

The Senior Manager, Democratic Support and Elections will enter each question in a 
book open to public inspection and will immediately send a copy of the question to 
the Councillor to whom it is to be put. 

 
11.7 Asking the Question at the Meeting 

The Chair will invite the questioner to put the question to the Councillor named in the 
notice.  If a questioner who has submitted a written question is unable to be present, 
they may ask the Chair to put the question on their behalf.  The Chair may ask the 
question on the questioner’s behalf, indicate that a written reply will be given back or 
decide, in the absence of the questioner, that the question will not be dealt with.  The 
asking of the question must take no longer than two minutes. 

 
11.8 Supplementary Question 

A questioner who has put a question in person may also put one supplementary 
question without notice to the Councillor who has replied to their question.  A 
supplementary question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply 
and will be restricted to two minutes duration. The Chair may reject a supplementary 
question on any of the grounds in Rule 11.5 above. 

 
11.9 Response 

Responses to questions shall be limited to a maximum of three minutes. 
 
11.10 Written Answers 

Any question which cannot be dealt with during public question time, either because 
of lack of time or because of the non-attendance of the Councillor to whom it was to 
be put, will be dealt with by a written answer. 

 
11.11 Reference of Question to the Cabinet or a Committee  

Unless the Chair decides otherwise, no discussion will take place on any question, 
but any Councillor may move that a matter raised by a question be referred to the 
Cabinet or the appropriate Committee.  Once seconded, such a motion will be voted 
on without discussion. 

 
11.12 Duration of Public Question Time 

Public question time should not exceed 30 minutes in duration and will be conducted 
in accordance with the procedures set out in 11.1 to 11.11 above. 

Page 99



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 86 

 
12 RULE 12 - QUESTIONS BY COUNCILLORS 

 

12.1 On Reports and Minutes of the Cabinet or Committees  

(a) A Councillor may ask a member of the Cabinet or the Chair of a Committee 
or Overview and Scrutiny meeting any question without notice upon an item 
of the report or minutes of the Cabinet or Committee when that item is being 
received or under consideration by the Council.  Questions are limited to two 
minutes duration, with the following exceptions: 

 
i. Only Councillors who are not Cabinet members, shall be allowed to 

ask Cabinet members questions on the Leader’s Report and 
Cabinet minutes, to enable Council to hold the Cabinet to account. 

 
ii. Cabinet members may only question the Leader on any matters 

contained within the Leader’s Report which have not previously 
been considered at Cabinet. 

 
iii. Questions must take no longer than two minutes. 

 
(b) The Mayor shall have discretion to ensure that the questions asked under 

Rule 12.1 (a) are representative of the views of Councillors, and where, in the 
Mayor’s belief, the questions that have already been put shall have 
represented the views of the Councillors, the Mayor shall intervene to limit 
further questions in order not to impede proper attention to further business. 

 
12.2 Questions on Notice at Council 

Subject to Rule 12.4, a Councillor may ask: 
 

(a) the Chair; 
 

(b) a member of the Cabinet; 
 

(c) the Chair of any Committee;  
 

a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or 
which affects the District.  Asking the question must take no longer than two minutes 
and questions shall be limited to three questions per Councillor. 

 
12.3 Question on Notice at Committees  

Subject to Rule 12.4, a member of a Committee may ask the Chair of the Committee 
a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or 
which affect the District and which falls within the Terms of Reference of that 
Committee. 

 
12.4 Notice of Questions 

A Councillor may only ask a question under Rule 12.2 or 12.3 if: 
 

(d) notice has been given no later than midday three days before the meeting in 
writing or by electronic mail (from a known or recognised source) of the 
question to the Chief Executive; or 

Page 100



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 87 

 
(e) the question relates to urgent matters, they have the consent of the Chair to 

whom the question is to be put, and the content of the question is given in 
writing or by electronic mail (from a known or recognised source) to the Chief 
Executive by midday on the day of the meeting or one hour before the 
commencement of the meeting, whichever is the earlier; and 
 

(f) The Chief Executive does not reject the question on the following grounds, 
that it: 

 
i. is not about a matter for which the local authority has a 

responsibility or which affects the District; 
 

ii. is potentially defamatory, vexatious, frivolous or offensive; 
 

iii. refers to applications for or objections to planning permission or 
any licence, notice or order issued, served or made by the 
Council; 

 
iv. is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a 

meeting of the Council in the past six months; or 
 

v. relates to individual staffing matters or the personal information 
of Councillors or Officers. 

 
12.5 Right of Appeal to the Mayor 

A Councillor who has given notice of a question to Council as required under Rule 
12.4 and whose question is rejected by the Chief Executive shall have the right of 
appeal to the Mayor. The Mayor will then make the decision on whether the question 
may be asked at the meeting. 

 
12.6 Response 

An answer may take the form of: 
 

(a) a direct oral answer, limited to a maximum of three minutes; 
 

(b) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other 
published work, a reference to that publication; or 
 

(c) where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer 
circulated later to the questioner and all members of the Council. 

 
12.7 Supplementary Question 

A Councillor asking a question under Rule 12.1, 12.2 or 12.3 may only ask one further 
supplementary question without notice of the Councillor to whom the first question 
was asked.  The supplementary question must arise directly from the original 
question or the reply and will be restricted to two minutes duration. 

 
13 RULE 13 - PUBLIC SPEAKING 
 
13.1 At a meeting of the Council, a person who lives, works or studies in the area of the 

Council may address Council on any item on the agenda for the meeting, or on any 

Page 101



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 88 

matter in relation to which the Council has functions, or which affects the area of the 
Council or part of it, or the inhabitants of that area, or some of them.  

13.2 The provision outlined in 13.1 does not extend to applications for, or objectors to:- 

(a) planning permission; 
 

(b) any licence, notice, permission or order issued, served, granted or made by the 
Council 

 
(see the Council’s arrangements for public participation in Planning Regulatory 
Committee and Licensing Committee meetings, as outlined in the leaflet on public 
speaking available from Democratic Support democracy@lancaster.gov.uk ). 

 
13.3 An address may only be presented at Council if notice has been given by delivering 

it in writing or by electronic mail to the Chief Executive no later than midday 3 days 
before the day of the meeting and the notice includes the wording of the address. 
Late requests to address Council will not be considered. The Chief Executive shall 
not accept the notice unless he/she is satisfied that the address is proper to be 
presented. If a period of 8 days’ or more notice is given, the address will form part of 
the published agenda.  

13.4 In presenting an address, the person may speak for not more than five minutes. The 
speech shall reflect the wording referred to in Rule 13.3 above, and shall not 
constitute a personal attack upon any person.  The person or persons making the 
address shall be heard in silence. Following the presentation of an address, the 
appropriate Cabinet Member or Committee Chair will be given the opportunity to 
respond to the submission for not more than five minutes. 

13.5 Addresses shall be presented in order in which notice of them is received by the Chief 
Executive. There will be a maximum of 10 speakers allowed per Council meeting on 
a first come, first served basis. Groups of persons with similar views should elect a 
spokesperson to speak on their behalf to avoid undue repetition of similar points. 
Spokespersons should identify in writing on whose behalf they are speaking as part 
of the registration process. The Chief Officer Governance to be authorised to ask 
speakers to consolidate their views if there are more than three speakers in the group. 

13.6 Where the subject matter of an address received is within the terms of reference of 
Council, it shall be referred to the next convenient meeting of the relevant Council 
body within whose terms of reference it falls.  

13.7 Where an address is referred to a meeting of a Council body, that meeting shall either 
report upon the subject matter to the next meeting of the Council or Committee, or 
include their views upon the subject matter in their next report to the Council or 
Committee. 

13.8 Members of the public may present petitions to Council in accordance with procedure 
rule 27 below – for more information see the Council's petition process. 

14 RULE 14 - HEARING OF ADDRESSES BY COUNCILLORS 
 
14.1 At a meeting of the Council, any Councillor may present an address which is relevant 

to some matter in relation to which the Council has functions, or which affects the 
area of the Council, or part of it, or the inhabitants of the area, or some of them. 

Page 102

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/meetings-and-minutes/public-speaking-at-council-meetings
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/meetings-and-minutes/public-speaking-at-council-meetings
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/petitions


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 89 

14.2 The provision outlined in 14.1 above does not extend to applications for or objectors 
to:- 

(a) planning permission; 
 

(b) any licence, notice, permission or order issued, served, granted or made by 
the Council. 

 
14.3 At least seven days before the meeting at which the address is to be presented, the 

Councillor wishing to present it shall give notice of their intention to do so to the Chief 
Executive, in writing or by electronic mail, and shall show the address to the Chief 
Executive.  The Chief Executive will not accept the notice unless he or she is satisfied 
that the address is appropriate to be presented. 

14.4 In presenting an address, the person may speak for not more than five minutes. 
These remarks shall relate to the matter indicated when the request was made and 
shall not constitute a personal attack upon any person.  The Councillor making the 
address shall be heard in silence. 

14.5 Addresses shall be presented in the order in which notice of them is received by the 
Chief Executive. 

14.6 Where the subject matter of an address received is within the Terms of Reference of 
the Cabinet or relevant Committee, it shall be referred to the next convenient meeting 
of the Cabinet or relevant Committee within whose Terms of Reference it falls.  If any 
question arises as to the Cabinet or Committee to which the subject matter is to be 
referred, it shall be determined by the person presiding. 

14.7 Where an address is referred to a meeting of the Cabinet or Committee, the Cabinet 
or Committee shall either report upon the subject matter to the next meeting of the 
Council or include their views upon the subject matter in their next report to the 
Council. 

14.8 Councillors may present petitions to Council in accordance with the procedure in rule 
27 below and the Council's petition process. 

15 RULE 15 - MOTIONS ON NOTICE 
 

15.1 Notice 

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under rule 16, written notice 
of every motion, from at least two Councillors, must be delivered to the Chief 
Executive not later than 10 days before the date of the meeting in writing or by 
electronic mail (from a known or recognised source).  This can be collective 
notification for Councillors of the same political group.  These will be entered in a 
book open to public inspection. 

 
15.2 Motion Set Out in Agenda 

Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the order in 
which notice was received, unless the Councillors who have given notice state, in 
writing, that they propose to move it to a later meeting or withdraw it. 

 
15.3 Officer Briefing Note 

Page 103

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/petitions


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 90 

Where a motion for which notice has been given is included on the agenda, an Officer 
briefing note will be included on the agenda to accompany that motion setting out, in 
particular, any key risks and potential financial and legal implications for the Council, 
should the proposed motion be carried. 
 

15.4 Scope 

Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or which 
affect the area or residents, workers or visitors to the District and must not:  

 
(a) be potentially defamatory, vexatious, frivolous or offensive; 

 
(b) refer to applications for, or objections to, planning permission or any 

licence, notice or order issued, served or made by the Council; or 
 

(c) relate to individual staffing matters or the personal information of 
Councillors or Officers 

 
or be ruled out of order by the Chief Executive for other reasons. 

 
15.5 Questions on Motions 

A Councillor may ask a question of the proposer of a motion on notice, provided that 
the question is clearly related to the motion on notice and not potentially defamatory, 
vexatious or offensive.   
 
Questions shall be asked after the motion has been moved and seconded and after 
the proposer has introduced and explained the motion; before the motion is opened 
up for debate and before any amendments are moved. Asking the question must take 
no longer than two minutes and only one question per Councillor shall be permitted 
on a motion.   
 

15.6 Closure of Debate 

Debate on any motion for which notice has been given may be closed after 45 
minutes, when the Mayor may move to the summing up and vote on any amendment 
then being debated and then on the substantive motion without further debate or 
amendment. 

 
16 RULE 16 - MOTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE 

 
The following motions may be moved without notice: 

 
(a) to appoint a Chair of the meeting at which the motion is moved; 

 
(b) in relation to the accuracy of the minutes; 

 
(c) to change the order of business in the agenda; 

 
(d) to refer something to an appropriate body or individual; 

 
(e) to appoint a Councillor to a Committee, Board or other body arising from an 

item on the summons for the meeting; 
 

Page 104



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 91 

(f) to receive reports or approve recommendations of the Cabinet, Committees 
or Officers and any resolutions following from them; 
 

(g) to withdraw a motion; 
 

(h) to amend a motion; 
 

(i) closure motions as set out in 17.11 below; 
 

(j) to suspend a particular Council Procedure Rule; 
 

(k) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules; 
 

(l) to not hear further a Councillor named under Rule 22.3 or to exclude them 
from the meeting under Rule 22.4; and 
 

(m) to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by the Chair. 
 

17 RULE 17 - RULES OF DEBATE 
 

17.1 No Speeches Until Motion Seconded 

No speeches may be made until after the mover has moved a proposal and explained 
the purpose of it until the motion has been seconded. 

 
17.2 Right to Require Motion in Writing 

Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Chair may require it to be 
written down and handed to him/her before it is discussed. 

 
17.3 Seconder’s Speech 

When seconding a motion or amendment, a Councillor may reserve their speech until 
later in the debate. 

 
17.4 Content and Length of Speeches 

Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a personal 
explanation or point of order.  No speech may exceed five minutes without the 
consent of the Chair.  The mover of a motion may speak for no longer than five 
minutes. 

 
17.5 When a Councillor May Speak Again 

A Councillor who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the subject 
of debate, except: 

 
(a) to speak once on an amendment moved by another Councillor; 
 
(b) to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since they last 

spoke; 
 

Page 105



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 92 

(c) if his/her speech was on an amendment moved by another Councillor, to speak 
on the main issue (whether or not the amendment on which they spoke was 
carried); 
 

(d) in the exercise of a right of reply as the mover of the original motion or an 
amendment; 

 
(e) on a point of order; or 
 
(f) by way of personal explanation. 

 
17.6 Amendments to Motions 

(a) An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and will either be: 
 

(1) to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for consideration 
or reconsideration; 

(2) to leave out words; 
(3) to leave out words and insert or add others; or 
(4) to insert or add words 

 
as long as the effect of (2) to (4) is not to negate the motion. 

 
(b) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time.  No further 

amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion has been 
disposed of. 
 

(c) If the proposer and seconder of a motion are in agreement, an amendment may 
be accepted as a ‘friendly’ amendment and be incorporated in the original 
motion as an alteration. 
 

(d) If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may 
be moved. 
 

(e) If an amendment is carried, the motion, as amended, takes the place of the 
original motion.  This becomes the substantive motion to which any further 
amendments are moved. 
 

(f) After an amendment has been carried, the Chair will read out the amended 
motion before accepting any further amendments, or if there are none, put it to 
the vote. 

 
17.7 Alteration of Motion 

(a) A Councillor may alter a motion of which they have given notice with the 
consent of the meeting.  The meeting’s consent will be signified without 
discussion. 
 

(b) A Councillor may alter a motion which they have moved without notice with the 
consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be 
signified without discussion. 
 

(c) Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made. 
 
17.8 Withdrawal of Motion 

Page 106



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 93 

A Councillor may withdraw a motion which they have moved with the consent of both 
the meeting and the seconder.  The meeting’s consent will be signified without 
discussion.  No Councillor may speak on the motion after the mover has asked 
permission to withdraw it unless permission is refused. 

 
17.9 Right to Reply 

(a) The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the 
motion, immediately before it is put to the vote. 
 

(b) The mover of the amendment has a right of reply to the debate on his/her 
amendment. 
 

(c) If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has the right of 
reply at the close of the debate on the amendment, but may not otherwise 
speak on it. 

 
17.10 Motions Which May be Moved During Debate 

  When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except the following 
procedure motions: 

 
(a) to withdraw a motion; 

 
(b) to amend a motion; 

 
(c) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information 

Procedure Rules; 
 

(d) not to hear further a Councillor named under rule 22.3 or to exclude that person 
from the meeting under rule 22.4; 
 

(e) closure motions as set out in 17.11 below. 
 

17.11 Closure Motions 

(a) A Councillor, who has not already spoken in the debate, may move, without 
comment, the following motions at the end of a speech of another Councillor: 

 
(1) to proceed to the next business; 

 
(2) that the question be now put; 

 
(3) to adjourn a debate; or 

 
(4) to adjourn a meeting. 

 
(b)  If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and the Chair thinks the 

item has been sufficiently discussed, the Chair will give the mover of the original 
motion a right of reply and then put the procedural motion to the vote. 
 

(c)  If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and the Chair thinks the 
item has been sufficiently discussed, the Chair will put the procedural motion to 
the vote.  If it is passed the mover of the original motion shall have a right of 
reply before putting the motion to the vote. 

Page 107



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 94 

 
(d) If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is seconded and the 

Chair thinks the item has not been sufficiently discussed and cannot reasonably 
be so discussed on that occasion, the Chair will put the procedural motion to 
the vote without giving the mover of the original motion the right of reply. 

 
17.12 Duties of the Mayor or Person Presiding 

  Where, in the Mayor’s belief, any debate shall already have represented the views of 
Councillors, the Mayor shall, notwithstanding that no closure motion has been moved 
under rule 17.11, have discretion to intervene to limit any further debate in order not 
to impede proper attention to further business. 

 
17.13 Point of Order 

A Councillor may raise a point of order at any time.  The Chair will hear them 
immediately.  A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these Council 
Procedure Rules or the law.  The Councillor must indicate the rule or law and the way 
in which they consider it has been broken.  The ruling of the Chair on the matter will 
be final. 

 
17.14 Personal Explanation 

A Councillor may make a personal explanation at any time.  A personal explanation 
may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the Councillor which 
may appear to have been misunderstood in the present debate.  The ruling of the 
Chair on the admissibility of a personal explanation will be final. 

 
18 RULE 18 - PREVIOUS DECISIONS AND MOTIONS 

 
18.1 Motion to Rescind a Previous Decision 

A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council within 
the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion is signed by at least 
15 Councillors, being a quorum of the Council. 

 
18.2 Motion Similar to One Previously Rejected 

A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected at a meeting 
of Council in the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion or 
amendment is signed by at least 15 Councillors, being a quorum of the Council.  Once 
the motion or amendment is dealt with, no one can propose a similar motion or 
amendment for six months. 

 
19 RULE 19 - VOTING 

 
19.1 Majority 

Unless the law provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a simple majority of 
those Councillors voting and present in the room at the time the question was put. 

 
19.2 Chair’s Casting Vote 

Page 108



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 95 

If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Chair will have a second or 
casting vote.  There will be no restriction on how the Chair chooses to exercise a 
second or casting vote. 

 
19.3 Show of Hands 

Unless a recorded vote is demanded under Rule 19.4, the Chair will take the vote by 
show of hands, or if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting. 

 
19.4 Recorded Vote 

If 10 Councillors present at the meeting or in the case of a Committee one sixth of 
those present, rounded up if necessary with a minimum number of three, indicate 
their support for a recorded vote by standing (or if unable to stand, by otherwise 
indicating), the Proper Officer shall take the vote by calling the names of Councillors 
and recording whether they vote for or against the motion or amendment or abstain 
from voting in writing and this shall be entered into the Minutes.  

 
19.5 Right to Require Individual Vote to be Recorded 

Where any Councillor requests their individual vote to be recorded, immediately after 
the vote is taken, their vote will be so recorded in the Minutes to show whether they 
voted for or against the motion or abstained from voting. 

 
19.6 Voting on Appointments  

If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled and there is 
not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then the name of the person with 
the least number of votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken.  If there is a 
tie in respect of the person with the least number of votes, a re-vote should be taken, 
and if there is still a tie, lots should be drawn. The process will continue until there is 
a majority of votes for one person. 

 
19.7 Recorded Votes for Budget Meetings 

Where votes are taken at a budget meeting of Full Council on any decision relating 
to the making of a Council Tax calculation, estimates or the issuing of a precept, 
including any amendment motion, there must be recorded in the minutes of the 
proceedings of that meeting the names of the persons who cast a vote for the 
decision, against the decision, and who abstained from voting.  The Proper Officer 
shall take the vote by calling the names of Councillors and recording how or whether 
they voted. 

 
20 RULE 20 - MINUTES 
 
20.1 Distribution 

Minutes shall be published as soon as practicable after the meeting. 
 
20.2 Signing the Minutes 

The Chair will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next suitable meeting.  The 
Chair will move that the minutes of the previous meeting be signed as a correct 
record.  The only part of the minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy. 

 

Page 109



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 96 

20.3 No Requirement to Sign Minutes of Previous Meeting at Extraordinary Meeting 

Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing the 
minutes is a meeting called under Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12 to the Local 
Government Act 1972 (an Extraordinary Meeting), then the next following meeting 
(being a meeting called otherwise than under that paragraph) will be treated as a 
suitable meeting for the purposes of Paragraph 41(1) and (2) of Schedule 12 relating 
to signing of minutes. 

 
20.4 Form of Minutes 

  Minutes will contain all motions and amendments in the exact form and order that the 
Chair put them in. 

 
21 RULE 21 - EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC 

 
Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance with the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 3 - Section 2 of this Constitution or 
Rule 23 (Disturbance by Public). 

 
22 RULE 22 - COUNCILLORS’ CONDUCT 

 
22.1 Standing to Speak 

When a Councillor or Officer speaks at Council they must stand (unless unable to do 
so) and address the meeting through the Chair.  If more than one Councillor stands, 
the Chair will ask one to speak and the others must sit.  Other Councillors must 
remain seated whilst a Councillor is speaking unless they wish to make a point of 
order or a point of personal explanation. 

 
22.2 Chair Standing 

When the Chair stands during a debate (or, if unable to stand, otherwise indicates), 
any Councillor speaking at the time must stop and sit down.  The meeting must be 
silent. 

 
22.3 Councillor not to be Heard Further 

If a Councillor persistently disregards the ruling of the Chair by behaving improperly 
or offensively or deliberately obstructs business, the Chair may move that the 
Councillor be not heard further.  If seconded, the motion will be voted on without 
discussion. 

 
22.4 Councillor to Leave the Meeting 

If the Councillor continues to behave improperly after such a motion is carried, the 
Chair may move that either the Councillor leaves the meeting or that the meeting is 
adjourned for a specified period.  If seconded, the motion will be voted on without 
discussion. 

 
23 RULE 23 - DISTURBANCE BY PUBLIC 

 
23.1 Removal of Member of the Public 

Page 110



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 97 

  If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chair will warn the person 
concerned.  If they continue to interrupt, the Chair will order their removal from the 
meeting room. 

 
23.2 Clearance of Part of Meeting Room 

   If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, 
the Chair may call for that part to be cleared. 

 
23.3 General Disturbance 

  If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the Chair may 
adjourn the meeting for as long as he/she thinks necessary. 

 
24 RULE 24 - FILMING PHOTOGRAPHY AND RECORDING AT COUNCIL 

MEETINGS 
  

24.1 In accordance with the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, the 
reporting (including filming and recording) of meetings that are open to the public is 
permitted.  

24.2 Whilst no prior permission is required, it is advisable that any person wishing to film 
or audio-record a meeting should contact the Communications and Media Relations 
Manager, in accordance with the Council’s Media Guidelines, so that necessary 
arrangements can be made. 

24.3 The Council understands that some members of the public attending its meetings 
may not wish to be filmed. The Chair of the meeting will facilitate this preference by 
ensuring that any such request not to be filmed is respected. 

24.4 Any activity, arising from the reporting of a meeting which disrupts the conduct of the 
meeting, (for example excessive noise or intrusive lighting or flash photography), may 
be dealt with under Rule 23 above. 

25 RULE 25 - SUSPENSION AND AMENDMENT OF COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
 

25.1 Suspension 

  All of these Council Procedure Rules, except Rule 19.5, 21, 23 and 24 may be 
suspended by motion on notice or without notice if at least one half of the whole 
number of Councillors are present.  Suspension can only be for the duration of the 
meeting. 

 
25.2 Amendment 

  Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Procedure Rules will, when 
proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary 
meeting of the Council. 

 
26 RULE 26 - APPLICATION TO COMMITTEES  

 
26.1 All of the Council Procedure Rules apply to meetings of Council.  Only Rules 9, 10 

and 16-25 (but not Rule 22.1) apply to meetings of the Cabinet and Committees. 

Page 111

http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/assets/attach/5088/Media%20Guidelines.pdf


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 98 

26.2 Where the Planning Regulatory Committee or the Licensing Committee is considering 
an individual application, any Councillor who represents the Ward to which the 
application relates may address the relevant Committee to express views in favour 
or against the application; for a maximum of three minutes. Ward Councillors wishing 
to speak must register with Democratic Support before midday on the Thursday 
before the Committee meets and must state on whose behalf they will be speaking 
(i.e. their own, on behalf of their Ward or on behalf of a group of residents) and 
whether they intend to speak in opposition or support or are neutral to the Planning 
application or Licensing matter.  

27 RULE 27 - PETITIONS 
 

(a) Petitions regarding matters affecting the area or the functions of the Council or 
relating to consultation exercises or pursuant to specific legislation may be 
accepted at the start of an Ordinary Council meeting. Petitions will not be 
considered at the Annual Meeting of Council or at an Extraordinary Meeting of 
Council unless the Extraordinary Meeting is convened to consider the subject 
matter of the Petition. 
 

(b) Petitions must be 'signed' (in person or by name, if electronic) and contain the 
name, email address and contact details of the 'petition organiser', who should 
live, work or study in the area. 
 

(c) A Petition may be presented to and received by a meeting of the Council.  
Where it contains at least 500 signatories or petitioners, the appropriate Chief 
Officer will prepare a report which, together with the Petition, will be presented 
to Full Council. Council may debate the Petition and/or refer the Petition to the 
appropriate decision-making body for further consideration. 

 
(d) Petitions which have fewer than 500 signatories will be presented to but not 

debated at a meeting of the Council and shall be referred to the relevant Chief 
Officer(s). 

 
(e) Petitions that are considered by the Monitoring Officer to be vexatious, 

frivolous, abusive, potentially defamatory or otherwise inappropriate will not be 
accepted, nor Petitions that relate to confidential or exempt information or 
individual employee matters, including appointments, dismissals, pay, 
superannuation, complaints, grievances, or other personnel or confidential 
matters, including complaints, grievances or other such related matters 
regarding Councillors. 

 
(f) Any Petition that raises issues of competence or misconduct of Officers will be 

referred to the Chief Executive (or to the Monitoring Officer, in respect of the 
Chief Executive) or to the Monitoring Officer regarding allegations of Councillor 
incompetence or misconduct and will be considered under the City Council’s 
Standards Committee procedures, and not under this Petitions Procedure Rule. 

 
(g) Any request to speak in relation to the Petition must be made by midday at least 

three days before the meeting and include the details of the Petition and the 
speaker’s contact details and whether they live work or study in the area. 

 
(h) If the Petition applies to a Planning or Licensing application, is a statutory 

Petition (for example requesting a referendum on having an elected mayor), or 
on a matter where there is already an existing right of appeal, such as Council 
Tax banding and non-domestic rates, then other procedures will apply. Further 

Page 112



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 99 

information on all these procedures and how views can be expressed are 
available on the Council’s website www.lancaster.gov.uk and from Customer 
Services (customerservices@lancaster.gov.uk). 

  

Page 113

http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 100 

PART 3 – SECTION 2 

Cabinet Procedure Rules 

 Rule 1 - How the Executive Operates and Who May Make Executive Decisions 

The Leader determines the arrangements for the discharge of executive functions. The 
arrangements may provide for executive functions to be discharged by: 

(a) The Leader; 

(b) Cabinet as a whole; 

(c) Individual Cabinet members; 

(d) a Committee of the Cabinet; 

(e) Officers of the Council; 

(f) if and when established - joint arrangements with other local authorities; or 

(g) another local authority;  

Rule 2 - Delegation by the Leader 

(a) At the Annual Meeting of the Council, the Leader will present to the Council the 
names of the people appointed to the Cabinet by the Leader (including the name 
of the Deputy Leader), and their portfolios. 

(b) At the Annual Meeting of the Council or as soon as practicable thereafter, the 
Leader will present to the Council a written record of: 

(i) The detailed remits of the portfolios of the Cabinet members. 

(ii) Any delegations made by the Leader in respect of the discharge of the 
Council’s executive functions.  

(c) The document presented by the Leader will contain the following information about 
Executive functions in relation to the coming year, and these shall then be included in the 
Council's Constitution: 

(i) The extent of authority of the Cabinet as a whole; 

(ii) The extent of any authority delegated to Cabinet members 
individually, including details of the limitation on their authority; 

(iii) the terms of reference and constitution of such Cabinet Committees 
as the Leader or Cabinet appoints and the names of Cabinet members 
appointed to them; 

(iv) the nature and extent of any delegation of executive functions to area 
committees, any other authority or any joint arrangements and the 
names of those Cabinet members appointed to any joint committee or 
outside body for the coming year; and 

Page 114

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/about-the-council/council-structure


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 101 

(v) the nature and extent of any delegation to Officers with details of any 
limitation on that delegation, and the post title of the Officer to whom 
the delegation is made. 

Rule 3 - Sub-Delegation of Executive Functions 

(a) Where the Leader delegates an executive function to the Cabinet, then unless 
the Leader directs otherwise, the Cabinet may delegate further to a Committee of 
the Cabinet, an individual Cabinet member, a joint arrangement or to a Council 
Officer. 

(b) Where the Leader delegates an executive function to a Committee of the Cabinet 
or to an individual member of the Cabinet then unless the Leader directs 
otherwise, a Committee of the Cabinet or an individual member of the Cabinet 
may delegate further to a Council Officer. 

(c) Where executive functions have been delegated under (a) or (b) above, this does 
not prevent the discharge of delegated functions by the person or body who made 
the delegation. 

(d) Any decision by an individual Cabinet Member over £100,000 requires 
consultation with the relevant Chief Officer or Chief Executive. 

Rule 4 - The Executive’s Scheme of Delegation 

(a) Subject to (b) below the Executive’s Scheme of Delegation will be reported to 
Council. It will contain a description of the requirements set out in Rule 2 above. 

(b) The Leader may amend the Scheme of Delegation relating to executive functions 
at any time during the year. To do so, the Leader must give written notice to the 
Chief Officer Governance and to the person, body or Committee concerned. The 
notice must set out the extent of the amendment to the Scheme of Delegation, 
and whether it entails the withdrawal of delegation from any person, body, 
Committee or the Cabinet as a whole. The Leader will present a report to the next 
Ordinary meeting of the Council setting out the changes they have made. 

(c) Where the Leader seeks to withdraw delegation from a Cabinet Committee, 
notice will be deemed to be served on that Committee when the Leader has 
served it on its Chair. 

(d) Currently the Leader has delegated a financial limit of £200,000 to the Chief 
Executive and £100,000 to the Chief Officers. Any decision over £50,000 should 
be taken in consultation with relevant Cabinet member. 

Rule 5 - Conflicts of Interest 

(a) Where the Leader or any member(s) of the Cabinet and its Committees have a 
conflict of interest, this should be dealt with as set out in the Councillors’ Code of 
Conduct in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

(b) If every member of the Cabinet or its Committees has a conflict of interest, this 
may be dealt with by way of dispensations granted by the Monitoring Officer or 
the Standards Committee (or a decision taken by the Chief Executive). 

Page 115



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 102 

(c) If the exercise of an executive function has been delegated to an Officer and 
should a conflict of interest arise, then the function will be exercised in the first 
instance by the person by whom the delegation was made and otherwise as set 
out in the Councillors’ Code of Conduct in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

Rule 6 - Cabinet Meetings – When and Where? 

The Cabinet will usually meet monthly on dates and at times to be agreed by the Leader. 
The Leader may agree to hold additional meetings as required. In determining the time 
for the meeting, regard should be had to maximising the accessibility of the public. 

Rule 7 - Meetings of the Cabinet 

All decision-making meetings of the Cabinet will be in public except for that part of an 
item of business where exempt or confidential information is to be discussed. 

Rule 8 - Quorum 

The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet shall be four members of the Cabinet. For 
meetings of Cabinet Committees, a quorum will be 40% (rounded up) or three, 
whichever is the greater. 

Rule 9 - How are Decisions to be taken by the Cabinet? 

(a) Executive decisions which have been delegated to the Cabinet as a whole will be 
taken at a meeting convened in accordance with the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules in Part 3 Section 4 of this Constitution. 

(b) Where executive decisions are delegated to a Committee of the Cabinet, the rules 
for taking decisions shall be the same as those applying to the Cabinet. 

Rule 10 - Urgent Decisions 

(a) When an executive decision which is the responsibility of the Cabinet is needed 
prior to the next scheduled meeting, and it is not intended that the decision is 
made by the Leader, the procedures set out in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules 14 and 15 must be followed (in Part 3 Section 4). 

(b) Decisions taken under this procedure must be reported into the next scheduled 
meeting of Cabinet. 

Rule 11 - Agendas 

Cabinet members will take responsibility and ownership of Cabinet reports in their 
portfolio area of responsibility.  

 Rule 12 - Chairing Meetings 

(a) The Leader of the Cabinet will preside. In the absence of the Leader, the Deputy 
Leader, will preside. In both the Leader and Deputy Leader’s absence, then a 
person will be appointed to preside by those present. 

(b) The Leader will preside at any meeting of a Committee of the Cabinet at which 
they are present, or may appoint another person to do so. In the absence of the 

Page 116



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 103 

Cabinet Committee’s Chair, then a person will be appointed to preside by those 
present. 

Rule 13 - Who may attend to observe? 

Any Councillor and any member of the public may attend any Cabinet meeting or a 
meeting of its Committees held in public. All decision making meetings of the Cabinet and 
its Committees will be in public except for items of business where exempt or confidential 
information is to be discussed.  

Advisory Group meetings are not formal meetings of Cabinet or Committees and so the 
usual public notice provisions and the Access to Information Procedure Rules do not 
apply. 

Rule 14 - Business of the Meeting 

At each meeting of the Cabinet the following business will be conducted: 

(a) consideration of the minutes of the last meeting; 

(b) declaration of interests, if any; 

(c) urgent business agreed by the Leader, or in the absence of the Leader, by the 
Deputy Leader or Chair of the meeting; 

(d) matters set out in the agenda for the meeting for decision including registered 
Ward Councillors and registered members of the public wishing to speak in 
accordance with Rule 18 below; 

(e) consideration of reports from Cabinet Committees; 

(f) consideration of reports from Overview and Scrutiny meetings; 

(g) matters referred to the Cabinet (whether by Overview and Scrutiny or by the 
Council) for reconsideration by the Cabinet in accordance with the provisions 
contained in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules or the Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedures Rules as set out in this Constitution; and 

(h) reports from the Chief Executive or Chief Officers. 

Rule 15 - Consultation 

All reports to Cabinet from any member of the Cabinet or an Officer on proposals relating 
to the Budget and Policy Framework must contain details of the nature and extent of 
consultation with Overview and Scrutiny Committees and stakeholders (if any) and the 
outcome of that consultation. Reports about other matters will set out the details and 
outcome of any consultation undertaken as appropriate. The level of consultation 
required will be appropriate to the Council’s obligations in law and the nature of the 
matter under consideration. 

Rule 16 - Cabinet Agenda Items 

The Leader may put on the agenda of any Cabinet meeting any matter which they wish, 
whether or not authority has been delegated to the Cabinet, a Committee or any member 
of Cabinet or an Officer in respect of that matter. 

Page 117

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/meetings-and-minutes/public-participation-at-council-meetings


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 104 

Any Councillor may ask the Leader to put an item on the agenda of a Cabinet meeting 
for consideration, and if the Leader agrees, the item will be considered at the next 
available meeting of the Cabinet. The notice of the meeting will give the name of the 
Councillor who asked for the item to be considered and that Councillor may, at the 
discretion of the Leader, be invited to attend the meeting, and with the consent of the 
Cabinet, to speak. 

The Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer (the Council’s 
Statutory Officers) may include an item for consideration on the agenda of a Cabinet 
meeting and the Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer may require the Chief 
Executive to call such a meeting in pursuance of their statutory duties. Where any two 
of the statutory Officers are of the opinion that a meeting of the Cabinet needs to be 
called to consider a matter that requires a decision, they may jointly include an item on 
the agenda of a Cabinet meeting. If the matter requires an Extraordinary meeting, the 
relevant Statutory Officer(s) can require that a meeting be convened at which the matter 
will be considered. 

Rule 17 – Chair’s Discretion regarding Questions on Reports 

The Chair, at their discretion, may allow non-Cabinet Councillors in attendance at the 
meeting to ask questions on reports as they are introduced. 

Rule 18 - Right of Councillors to Address Cabinet 

Where, following an Overview and Scrutiny meeting, a report is submitted to Cabinet, a 
nominee of that meeting may and will normally present the report to Cabinet. Any 
Councillor, at the discretion of the Chair, may address Cabinet on Ward matters where 
this is relevant to a report on the agenda, subject to giving three days’ notice and shall 
be subject to a five minute time limit. 

Rule 19 - Rights of the Public to Speak at Cabinet 

(a) Members of the public are permitted to speak on issues included on the Cabinet 
agenda, with questions or comments from the public prior to the commencement 
of each item. 

(b) Notice of the wish to speak must be registered with Democratic Support in writing 
or by telephone before midday on the Thursday before Cabinet meets. 

(c) It is the responsibility of the person wishing to speak to find out the appropriate 
date that Cabinet will consider the item of business that they wish to speak on. 
This information can be obtained from Democratic Support. Late requests to 
speak at Cabinet will not be considered. 

(d) Any request to speak must include the person’s name, address and contact 
telephone number, together with details of the item they wish to speak on. A written 
version of their speech or questions must be supplied at the time of registration 
(unless there are special circumstances). 

(e) Persons who have registered to speak should be in attendance 30 minutes prior 
to the commencement of the meeting to enable a list of speakers present to be 
passed to the Chair. Any latecomers who have not confirmed their intention to 
speak on the morning of the meeting will only be allowed to speak at the discretion 
of the Chair. 

Page 118



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 105 

(f) Democratic Support, having received notice from persons wishing to speak will 
re-order the agenda to enable items with public participation to be considered 
first. 

(g) There will be a maximum of ten speakers per Cabinet meeting on a first come 
first served basis with a maximum of five minutes per speaker. 

(h) There will be a maximum of three speakers on each item of business on a first 
come first served basis. 

(i) Any group of persons with similar views should elect a spokesperson to speak on 
their behalf to avoid undue repetition of similar points. Spokespersons should 
identify in writing on whose behalf they are speaking as part of the registration 
process. The Chief Officer Governance is authorised to ask speakers to 
consolidate their views if there are more than three persons in the group. 

(i) Speakers must be prepared to respond to questions from Cabinet members at 
the meeting if necessary. 

Rule 20 - Access to Information 

The rules that determine how the Cabinet will conduct its meetings in respect of the 
following are set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 3 Section 4 of 
this Constitution: 

i. Key Decisions and Key Decision notices 
ii. Exempt and Confidential Business 

iii. Agendas, Reports, Minutes and Background Papers 

The rules relating to urgent business procedures are set out in rules 14 and 15 of Part 
3 Section 4. 

Rule 21 - Advisory Groups 

 
(a)  Advisory Groups are informal bodies that may be created by Cabinet. They are purely 

consultative and not decision-making. They will be chaired by a member of Cabinet, and 
may be co-chaired between cabinet members, or a cabinet member and a member of 
the group and there is no restriction on size although the group must be limited to what 
is manageable and effective for their purpose. They may be time limited or of longer 
standing, again depending on their purpose. 

 
(b)  The participants in the Group will be by invitation of the Chair and can be made up from 

any or all of the following: 
 

 Other members of Cabinet  

 Others from outside the Council 

 Other members of Council not on Cabinet  

 Council officers 
 
(c)  Terms of Reference: Their Terms of Reference are to facilitate meaningful engagement 

and discussion with communities and stakeholders, with each group reflecting on focus 
areas role in: 

 responding to the climate emergency; 

 contributing to community wealth-building; 

Page 119



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 106 

 taking an approach of asset-based community development; and 

 strengthening community engagement. 
 
Further terms of reference may be agreed upon by each Advisory Group, within the 
terms of the broad topic area, and observing the focus areas above. 

 
(d)  Specific outcomes from their meetings may generate requests for pieces of work to be 

undertaken by Officers or partner bodies, or Overview and Scrutiny committee to set up 
a Task Group to undertake a specific piece of work, or a specific report to Cabinet, 
Committees of Cabinet, individual Cabinet members, or other Committees of Council 
recommending action for determination 

  

Page 120



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 107 

PART 3, SECTION 3 

Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

1. Rule 1 - Form and Composition of Overview and Scrutiny 

The Council will have an Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Budget and 
Performance Panel as set out in Part 2 of this Constitution. 

In addition, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may appoint Task Groups of no 
more than 9 Councillors for a fixed period, on the expiry of which they shall cease to 
exist. The number of Task Groups active at any one time will be kept under review 
by the parent Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

Overview and Scrutiny meetings shall as a general principle meet in public, unless 
considering information classed as ‘exempt’ or confidential under the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules. This does not preclude but encourages flexible and 
innovative working, such as the delegation of tasks to a Councillor or a small informal 
working group of Councillors meeting out of the public arena, consultations or any 
other form of working. Such working will be reported back to the relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny meeting. 

In these Procedure Rules the terms ‘Overview and Scrutiny’ and ‘Overview and 
Scrutiny meeting’ shall be used to refer to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
Budget and Performance Panel and Task Groups collectively. 

2. Rule 2 - Task Groups 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will decide whether a Task Group should be: 

(a) formal (subject to proportionality and Access to Information Procedure 
Rules) and report directly to Cabinet or Council; or,  

(b) informal (not subject to proportionality and Access to Information 
Procedure Rules); and  

they shall report back to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

Named substitutes appointed at the establishment of the Task Group will be 
permitted. 

Task Groups may be established to undertake specific project work, policy 
development, a specific task, consultation, review investigation or similar activity. 
Task Groups would normally only make one final report during their lifetime. 

At the first meeting of each new Task Group, the Group will carry out a stakeholder 
analysis exercise to determine who should be involved with their work and who 
should give evidence and who should be consulted. The stakeholder analysis will 
also highlight potential co-optees. 

Task Groups may appoint any number of people (excluding staff and other 
Councillors) as non-voting co-optees to assist in any item of business, as they deem 
appropriate. Officers and other Councillors cannot be co-opted. 

Page 121



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 108 

Each Task Group will also be required to agree a detailed Work Programme to enable 
them to complete their task within the agreed timescale. 

3. Rule 3 - Who May Sit on Overview and Scrutiny? 

All Councillors with the exception of members of the Cabinet may be appointed to 
one or more of Overview and Scrutiny bodies. No Councillor may be involved in 
scrutinising a decision in which they have been directly involved. 

Each Group may appoint up to two named substitutes for each Overview and Scrutiny 
meeting (excluding Task Groups) for the Municipal Year.  Substitute Councillors will 
have all the powers and duties of any ordinary member of the meeting.   

Substitutes for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will not be able to exercise any 
special powers or duties exercisable by the person they are substituting, such as 
counting as members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with regard to the 
quorum needed to trigger a Call-in request.  No temporary substitutions will be 
allowed.   

4. Rule 4 - Involvement with Overview and Scrutiny 

Any person including Councillors and Officers may be invited to attend, present 
evidence or share their expertise with any Overview and Scrutiny meeting in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 15 (Attendance by Others). Requests for staff to 
attend should be made through the Chief Executive. 

5. Rule 5 - Meetings of Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Budget and 
Performance Panel 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Budget and Performance Panel will meet 
regularly on dates to be determined by Council on an annual basis. 

They may agree to hold additional meetings as required. 

6. Rule 6 - Meetings of Task Groups 

Each Task Group shall determine the frequency, times and venues of their own 
meetings, in accordance with the timetable for the completion of their task as set out 
in their Terms of Reference. 

7. Rule 7 - Quorum 

The quorum for all Overview and Scrutiny meetings is three voting members. 

8. Rule 8 - Who Chairs Meetings? 

(a) The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Budget and 
Performance Panel will be appointed by Council, with only Non-Cabinet 
Councillors entitled to vote. 

(b) The Chair of Task Groups will be appointed by the Task Groups, from amongst 
their number and may be from any political group. 

Page 122



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 109 

(c) The Chair and Vice Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Budget 
and Performance Panel shall not be members of the largest political group 
which has Councillors serving on the Cabinet. 

(d) In the event of a change of numbers in the political groups so that a different 
political group becomes the largest political group which has members serving 
on the Cabinet, the Chair or Vice Chair who is a member of that Group shall 
remain Chair or Vice Chair until the next meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee following the change of numbers. 

9. Rule 9 - Work Programme 

(a) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Budget and Performance Panel 
will be responsible for setting their own Annual Work Programme within the 
Terms of Reference set out in Part 2, Section 5, 9 and 10 of this Constitution. 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall write to all Councillors and the 
Chief Executive and ask the public for issues that should be considered for 
inclusion in the Scrutiny Work Programme. A meeting to be arranged with the 
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Chair of Budget and 
Performance Panel, the Pre-Scrutiny Champion and members of the Council’s 
Leadership Team. This meeting will allow a preliminary prioritisation of 
submissions to be conducted and report back to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. This being subject to the arrangements for consulting on future 
Work Programme items as set out in the Constitution continuing and the Work 
Programme being finally agreed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

(b) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall meet in its capacity as crime and 
disorder committee no less than once in every twelve month period. 

10. Rule 10 - Agenda Items 

(a) Any member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Budget and 
Performance Panel shall be entitled to give notice to the Chief Executive that 
they wish an item relevant to the Terms of Reference of the meeting of which 
they are a member to be included on the agenda for the first available meeting. 
The meeting will determine whether the issue should be included in its Work 
Programme based on its relevance as compared to the priorities as set out in 
the Scrutiny Work Programme. 

(b) Any Councillor may refer to the Committee under the Councillor Call for Action 
(CCfA) any local government or crime and disorder matter which is relevant to 
the functions of the Committee. 

(c) Any Councillor may give written notice to the Chief Executive that they wish an 
item to be considered for inclusion in the Scrutiny Work Programme. If the Chief 
Executive receives such a notification, then they will refer the request to the first 
available meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee who will determine 
if, when and how the item will be considered, based on its relevance as 
compared to the priorities as set out in the Scrutiny Work Programme, and 
inform Democratic Support accordingly so that it can be included in the Work 
Programme. 

(d) The Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall respond, as soon as their work 
programme permits, to requests from the Council and Cabinet to undertake a 

Page 123



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 110 

piece of work on their behalf in line with the procedure in (b) above. Where 
they do so, the Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall report their findings 
and any recommendations back to the Cabinet or Council. Council or Cabinet 
shall consider any report of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its first 
available meeting. 

11. Rule 11 - Policy Review and Development 

(a) The role of Overview and Scrutiny Committees in relation to the development 
of the Council’s existing Budget and Policy Framework is set out in detail in 
the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules in Part 3, Section 5 of the 
Constitution. 

(b) In relation to the development of the Council’s approach to other matters not 
forming part of the Budget and Policy Framework, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and the Budget and Performance Panel may hold enquiries and 
investigate the available options for future direction in policy development and 
may appoint advisers and assessors to assist them in this process. They may 
go on site visits, conduct public surveys, hold public meetings, commission 
research and do all other things that they reasonably consider necessary to 
inform their deliberations, subject to finance being available. They may invite 
witnesses to attend to address them on any matter under consideration. 

(c) Once it has formed recommendations on proposals for policy development, an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee will prepare a formal report for 
consideration by the Cabinet or Council. 

(d) Cabinet or Council shall consider any report of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at their first available meeting. 

(e) The Overview and Scrutiny Committees will have access to the notices of 
forthcoming Key Decisions, and will be able to respond in the course of the 
Cabinet’s consultation process in relation to any Key Decision. 

12. Rule 12 - Process for Overview and Scrutiny Reports to be Considered by the 
Cabinet or Council 

Any final report of Overview and Scrutiny Committees or Budget and Performance 
Panel will be forwarded to the Monitoring Officer, who will allocate it either to the 
Cabinet, Council or Audit Committee, according to whether the contents of the report 
are within or contrary to the Council’s existing Budget and Policy Framework. 

13. Rule 13 - Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Members to Documents 

(a) The additional rights of members of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
regarding access to documents are set out in the Access to Information 
Procedures Rule in Part 3 Section 4 of this Constitution. 

(b) Nothing prevents more detailed liaison between the Cabinet and Overview and 
Scrutiny as appropriate depending on the particular matter under 
consideration. 

14. Rule 14 - Members and Officers Giving Account 

Page 124



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 111 

(a) Any Overview and Scrutiny meeting may scrutinise and review decisions 
made, or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any Council 
functions within its Terms of Reference. As well as reviewing documentation, 
in fulfilling the scrutiny role, it may require any Member(s) of the Cabinet, Chair 
of a Committee, Chief Executive and/or Chief Officers  to attend before it to 
explain, answer questions, or give evidence in relation to matters within their 
remit regarding: 

(1) any particular decision or series of decisions; 

(2) the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy; and/or 

(3) their performance 

it is the duty of the persons referred to in paragraph 14 (a) above to attend, if 
so required. 

(b) Where any member of the Cabinet, Chief Executive or Chief Officers are 
required to attend an Overview and Scrutiny meeting under this provision, the 
Chair of that meeting will inform the Head of Paid Service. This power may be 
exercised by the Chair of an Overview and Scrutiny meeting in advance of a 
meeting. The Head of Paid Service shall inform the Cabinet member and/or 
appropriate Chief Officer in writing, giving at least five days’ notice of the 
meeting at which they are required to attend. The notice will state the nature 
of the item on which they are required to attend to give account and whether 
any papers are required to be produced. Where papers are required to be 
produced, then the Cabinet member, or appropriate Chief Officer concerned, 
will be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that documentation. 

(c) Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Cabinet member or Chief Executive 
or Chief Officer  is unable to attend on the required date, then the Overview 
and Scrutiny meeting shall, in consultation with the Cabinet member or 
appropriate Chief Officer, arrange an alternative date for attendance or, in the 
case of Chief Officers request a suitable replacement to be agreed by the Chief 
Executive. 

15. Rule 15 - Attendance by Others 

(a) The Chair of any Overview and Scrutiny meeting may invite any person to 
address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions. It may for 
example wish to hear from residents, stakeholders and representatives from 
other parts of the public sector and Ward Councillors when considering 
Councillor Call for Action requests and shall invite such people to attend. 
Attendance under this paragraph is entirely optional. 

(b) Power to issue an invitation may be exercised by the Chair of an Overview and 
Scrutiny meeting in advance of a meeting. 

(c) As a general principle Overview and Scrutiny meetings, including the 
consideration of Call-in decisions, should be open to any interested Councillor 
or group of Councillors such as a relevant Task Group and their attendance 
encouraged and contributions welcomed at the discretion of the Chair. 

(d) When exercising its functions as crime and disorder committee, the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee may require the attendance before it of another Officer 

Page 125



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 112 

or employee of a responsible authority or of a co-operating person or body, as 
defined in the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (and Regulations) in order to 
answer questions. 

16. Rule 16 - Call-In Arrangements 

Call-in should only be used in exceptional circumstances. ‘Exceptional circumstances’ 
are where members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee have evidence which 
suggests that the decision in question will not be, or has not been made, in accordance 
with the decision making principles set out in Part 1, or where due diligence has not 
been followed, provided that the reasons are specified in full on the form requesting 
the Call-in. 

(a) When a decision is made by the Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet, portfolio 
holder or a Key Decision is made by an Officer with delegated authority from 
the Cabinet, or a Committee or under joint arrangements, the decision shall be 
published, by electronic means and shall be available on the Council website 
and at the main offices of the Council normally within 2 days of being made. 
Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be sent copies of the 
records of all such decisions within the same timescale by the person 
responsible for publishing the decision. 

(b) That notice will bear the date on which it is published and will specify that the 
decision will come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of 5 
days after the publication of the decision, unless there are objections to it and 
it is Called in. 

(c) During that period, the Chief Executive shall Call-in a decision for scrutiny by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee if so requested in writing or by email from a 
known or recognised source, by exactly five non-Cabinet members, not all of the 
same political group, of whom two must be members of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, and shall then notify the decision-maker of the Call-in. This 
can be a collective notification from two or more Councillors of the same political 
group. The decision shall be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee within ten days of the decision to Call-in and, if necessary, this may 
be dealt with as an item of urgent business at a scheduled meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee within that period. 

(d) If, following a request to Call-in, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee does 
not meet within ten working days, or does meet but does not refer the matter 
back to the decision making person or body, the decision shall take effect on 
the date of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting, or the expiry of the 
ten day period, whichever is the earlier. 

(e) If, having considered the decision, a majority of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is still concerned about it, then it may refer it back to the decision-
making person or body for further consideration, setting out in writing the 
nature of its concerns, or refer the matter to Council. 

(f) In the case of Individual Cabinet member and Officer delegated decisions 
these will be referred to Cabinet for reconsideration. 

(g) If the matter is referred by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to Council 
and the Council does not object to a decision which has been made, then no 

Page 126



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 113 

further action is necessary, and the decision will be effective in accordance 
with the provision in paragraph (h) below. However, if the Council does object, 
it has no locus to make decisions in respect of a Cabinet decision unless it is 
contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary to, or not wholly consistent with, 
the budget. Unless that is the case, the Council will refer any decision to which 
it objects back to the decision-making person or body, together with the 
Council’s views on the decision. In the case of Individual Cabinet member and 
Officer Delegated Decisions these will be referred to Cabinet for 
reconsideration. Cabinet shall then choose whether to amend the decision, or 
not, before reaching a final decision and implementing it. The matter will be 
reconsidered no later than the next scheduled meeting of the Cabinet after the 
referral from Full Council. Following the reconsideration of the decision, the 
outcome must be publicised within two days and can be implemented with 
immediate effect. 

(h) If the Council does not refer the decision back to the decision-making body or 
person, the decision will become effective on the date of the Council meeting 
at which the Overview and Scrutiny Committee referral was considered. 

(i) The only exception to these Call-in arrangements is that contained in Rule 17 
below. 

17. Rule 17 - Call-in and Urgency 

(a) The Call-in procedure, set out above, shall not apply where the decision being 
taken is urgent. A decision will be urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the 
Call-in process would seriously prejudice the Council’s or the publics interests. 
The record of the decision and notice by which it is made public shall state, 
whether in the opinion of the decision-making person or body, the decision is 
an urgent one and, therefore, not subject to Call-in. The Chair of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee must be consulted and the Chief Executive agree both 
that the decision proposed is reasonable, in all the circumstances, and to it 
being treated as a matter of urgency. In the absence of the Chair, the Vice Chair 
shall be consulted and, in their absence, the Mayor. In the absence of all three, 
the Deputy Mayor, or in his/her absence, the Chief Executive’s consent shall 
suffice. Decisions taken as a matter of urgency must be reported to the next 
available meeting of the Council, together with the reasons for urgency. 

(b) The operation of the provisions relating to Call-in and urgency shall be monitored 
annually and a report submitted to Council with proposals for improvement if 
necessary. 

18. Rule 18 - Call-in Procedure 

In considering a Call-in decision, the following procedure will be followed: 

(a) The Councillors who have made the Call-in request (who shall be seated 
together) will outline the reasons for the Call-in; 

(b) The relevant decision-maker(s), with support from the appropriate Officer(s) (who 
shall be seated together), will outline the reasons for their decision and the issues 
that they took into account; 

(c) Councillors who are signatories to the Call-in request will have the opportunity to 
question the decision-maker; 

Page 127



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 114 

(d) Other members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will have the opportunity 
to question the decision-maker; 

(e) At the discretion of the Chair, other Councillors present may have the opportunity 
to question the decision-maker; 

(f) Before forming a decision, the Chair may decide to adjourn the meeting in order 
to allow the Call-in signatories to reflect on the evidence received and to consider 
any recommendations they wish the Committee to consider. 

(g) The meeting then moves to forming a decision in accordance with the Council 
Procedure Rules. 

19. Rule 19 - Councillor Call for Action 

19.1 Councillor Call for Action (CCfA) is a process where a Councillor can act on 
behalf of the residents of their Ward to resolve a local issue of concern through 
a mechanism utilizing the scrutiny process. Councillors may use this to try to 
bring about specific solutions for local problems. It is designed as a ‘long stop’, 
to be used when all other attempts at resolution have failed. 

19.2 This is not a substitute for other means of problem resolution. It is a means of 
last resort if other methods have not been successful. As such, it is expected 
that it will be used sparingly. 

19.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s objective, when considering a CCfA 
is to recommend a resolution of the issue raised. 

19.4 A CCfA will only be discussed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee if the 
Committee is satisfied that: 

(a) the Councillor has made all reasonable efforts to resolve the matter via 
direct liaison with Council Officers and /or relevant partners; and 

(b) the issue of concern is a matter in respect of which the Council has a power 
or duty to deal with and which is not precluded by adopted Council policy or 
legislation; 

(c) the issue of concern has a significant impact on a part or the whole of that 
Councillor’s Ward; and 

(d) meets the requirements of the Councillor Call for Action checklist. 

19.5 A CCfA will not be included on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee agenda 
if the request relates to: 

 
(a) any matter relating to a Planning decision; 
(b) any matter relating to a Licensing decision; 
(c) any matter relating to an individual or entity in respect of which that 

individual has a right of recourse to a review or right of appeal conferred 
by or under any enactment, or through the Council’s Complaints 
Procedures; 

(d) any matter which, following the advice of the Monitoring Officer, is 
considered to be potentially defamatory, vexatious, offensive, frivolous 
or discriminatory. 

19.6 The issue raised by the CCfA will be the subject of a report from the relevant 
Officer, as designated by the Chief Executive, with such supporting information 
and evidence as is reasonably available. If the matter also, or exclusively, 
entails consideration of information held by another public body or partner, an 

Page 128



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 115 

appropriate representative shall be invited to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to provide that information, make representations and answer 
questions. 

19.7 The CCfA will be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 
public, unless consideration of the issues involves the disclosure of exempt or 
confidential information as defined by the Council’s Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (Part 3, Section 4). 

19.8 The Councillor who raised the CCfA will be invited to attend the meeting and 
may address the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

19.9 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may, at the Chair’s discretion, consider 
representations from any residents of the Ward affected by the issue subject 
to Call for Action. 

19.10 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall, after considering the CCfA, 
decide whether to accept and proceed with the CCfA. If the Committee decides 
not to proceed with the CCfA it will provide written reasons for its decision and 
will request Officers to advise the Ward Councillor(s) of the decision in writing. 

19.11 If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee decides to proceed with the CCfA the 
Committee shall decide whether to deal with this issue itself, or alternatively 
form a Task Group to investigate the matter using, if appropriate, witnesses to 
gather evidence as necessary. A final report recommending a resolution to the 
issue raised will then be produced, a copy of the final report will be forwarded 
to the Monitoring Officer, in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rule 12, if this is a Council issue. A copy of the final report may also be 
submitted to any appropriate external organisation or partnership, if this is 
appropriate. 

19.12 It should be noted that a CCfA relating to crime and disorder matters will be 
considered by the Committee in its capacity as crime and disorder committee, 
but following the procedures set out above. 

20. Rule 20 - The Party Whip 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Budget and Performance Panel and Task Group 
members will not be subject to a Party Whip.  

21. Rule 21 - Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Meetings 

(a) Matters for discussion at meetings will reflect the Scrutiny Work Programme 
or in the case of Task Groups, their Terms of Reference, but each meeting 
shall consider the following business: 

(1) minutes of the last meeting; 
(2) declarations of interest; 
(3) urgent business; 
(4) consideration of any decision that has been Called-in;* 
(5) consideration of any requests for Councillor CCfA (in accordance with 

the process),*  
(6) responses from the Cabinet or Council to Overview and Scrutiny 

reports and Call-ins;* 
(7) items raised by members of the Overview and Scrutiny meeting; 

Page 129



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 116 

(8) the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting. 

* only applies to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

(b) Where Overview and Scrutiny Committees conduct investigations, the Chair 
may invite people to attend to give evidence. These meetings are to be 
conducted in accordance with the following principles: 

(1) that the investigation be conducted fairly and all members of the 
Overview and Scrutiny meeting given the opportunity to ask questions 
of attendees and to contribute and speak; 

(2) that those assisting by giving evidence be treated with respect and 
courtesy; and 

(3) that the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency 
of the investigation or analysis. 

(c) Following any investigation or review, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
shall prepare a report for submission to Cabinet, Council, external body or 
partnership, as appropriate, and shall make its report and findings public. 

22. Rule 22 - Matters within the remit of more than one Overview and Scrutiny 
Meeting 
 

Where a matter for consideration by an Overview and Scrutiny Committee falls within 
the remit of more than one meeting, the decision as to which meeting will consider it 
will be resolved by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

  

Page 130



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 117 

PART 3 – SECTION 4 
 

Access to Information Procedure Rules 
 

1. RULE 1 - SCOPE 
 

With the exception of Rules 10.1 and 10.2, Rules 1 to 11 apply to all meetings of 
Council and its Committees, Cabinet and its Committees, and Overview and Scrutiny 
meetings (including formally constituted Task Groups). Rules 10.1 and 10.2 apply to 
all meetings of the Cabinet and its Committees.  

 
2. RULE 2 - ADDITIONAL RIGHTS TO INFORMATION 
 

These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained elsewhere 
in the Constitution or the law. 

 
3. RULE 3 - RIGHTS OF THE PUBLIC TO ATTEND MEETINGS 
 

Members of the public may attend all meetings subject only to the exceptions in these 
rules. 

 
4. RULE 4 - NOTICES OF MEETINGS 
 

The Council will give at least five clear days’ notice of any meeting by posting details 
of the meeting at Lancaster Town Hall and Morecambe Town Hall and on the Council's 
website. 

 
5. RULE 5 - ACCESS TO AGENDA AND REPORTS BEFORE THE MEETING 
 

The Council will publish copies of the agenda and reports open to the public on its 
website and make them available for inspection at Lancaster and Morecambe Town 
Halls at least five clear days before the meeting.  If an item is added to the agenda 
later, the revised agenda will be published and open to inspection from the time when 
the item was added to the agenda.  Where reports are prepared after the summons 
has been sent out, the Senior Manager Democratic Support shall make each such 
report available to the public as soon as the report is completed and sent to Councillors. 

  
6. RULE 6 - SUPPLY OF COPIES TO THE PUBLIC 
 

The Council will supply copies of: 
 

(a) any agenda, reports and background papers which are open to public 
inspection; 

  
(b) any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of the 

items in the agenda; and 
 
(c) if the Proper Officer thinks fit, copies of any other documents supplied to 

Councillors in connection with an item 
 

to any person on payment of a charge for postage and any other costs. 
 
7. RULE 7 – PUBLIC ACCESS TO MINUTES ETC. AFTER THE MEETING 
 

Page 131

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/meetings-and-minutes/public-speaking-at-council-meetings
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/meetings-and-minutes/public-speaking-at-council-meetings


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 118 

The Council will make available copies of the following for six years after a meeting: 
 

(a) the minutes of the meeting, or records of decisions taken, for all meetings of 
the Council, excluding any part of the minutes of proceedings when the meeting 
was not open to the public or which disclose exempt or confidential information; 

 
(b) a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the minutes open 

to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and coherent record; 
 
(c) the agenda for the meeting; and 
 
(d) reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 

 
8. RULE 8 - BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
8.1 List of Background Papers 
 

Every report will include a list of those documents (called background papers) relating 
to the subject matter of the report which, in the opinion of the writer of the report: 

 
(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

report is based; and  
 
(b) which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report 
 
but does not include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential 
information (as defined in Rule 10) and, in respect of Cabinet reports, the advice of a 
political advisor. 

 
8.2 Public Inspection of Background Papers 
 
 Background papers will remain available for public inspection for four years after the 

date of the meeting. Background papers for meetings of the Cabinet and its 
Committees will be published on the Council’s website when the agenda is published 
and copies will be made available at Lancaster Town Hall and Morecambe Town Hall 
or by email from democracy@lancaster.gov.uk 

 
9. RULE 9 - SUMMARY OF THE PUBLIC’S RIGHTS 
 
 A written summary of the public’s rights to attend meetings and to inspect and copy 

documents will be kept at and available to the public at Lancaster Town Hall and 
Morecambe Town Hall and can be accessed there. 

 
10. RULE 10 - EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO MEETINGS 
 
10.01 Notice of Private Meetings of Cabinet  
 

When the public are to be excluded from a meeting, or part of a meeting of the Cabinet 
or its Committees, a notice of intention to hold a meeting in private will be published 
on the Council’s website at least 28 clear days before the date of the private meeting. 
The notice will also be made available at Lancaster and Morecambe Town Halls.  
 
The notice will state the reasons why the meeting is to be held in private and how to 
make representations about holding the meeting in public.  
 

Page 132

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/meetings-and-minutes/public-speaking-at-council-meetings


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 119 

At least five clear days before the meeting, a further notice will be published of the 
intention to hold a private meeting. This notice will include a statement of the reasons 
why the meeting is to be held in private, details of any representations made about 
holding the meeting in public, and the response to those representations. 
 

10.02 Urgent Private Meetings of Cabinet 
 

If the urgency of a decision makes compliance with Rule 10.01 impracticable, the 
decision-maker or decision making body will seek agreement from the Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee that the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably 
be deferred. In the absence of the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the 
Mayor shall be asked for their agreement and, in their absence, the Deputy Mayor. If 
agreement is granted, a notice will be published on the Council’s website and made 
available at Lancaster and Morecambe Town Halls, setting out why the meeting is 
urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. 
 

10.03 Confidential Information – Requirement to Exclude the Public 
 

Subject to Rules 10.01 and 10.02 above, the public must be excluded from any 
meetings whenever it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or 
the nature of the proceedings, that confidential information would be disclosed. 

 
10.04 Exempt Information – Discretion to Exclude the Public 
 

 Subject to Rules 10.01 and 10.02 above, the public may be excluded from any 
meetings whenever it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or 
the nature of the proceedings, that exempt information would be disclosed. 

 In determining whether information is to be treated as exempt, Councillors will consider 
the extent to which, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

  Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely 
affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights 
establishes a presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private 
hearing is necessary for one of the reasons specified in Article 6. 

 
10.05 Meaning of Confidential Information 
 

Confidential information means information given to the Council by a Government 
Department on terms which forbid its public disclosure, and information the public 
disclosure of which is prohibited by Court Order, or by virtue of any enactment. 

 
10.06 Meaning of Exempt Information 
 

Exempt information means information falling within the following categories:  
 

Description of Exempt 
Information 

Qualification 

All categories (1-7) of otherwise 
exempt information 

Information is not exempt information if it relates to 
proposed development for which the local planning 
authority may grant itself planning permission 
pursuant to Regulation 3 of the Town and Country 
Planning General Regulations 1992.* 

Page 133



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 120 

1. Information relating to any 
individual 

Exempt information if and so long, as in all the 
circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information. 

2. Information which is likely to 
reveal the identity of an 
individual. 

Exempt information if and so long, as in all the 
circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information.  

3. Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information) 

Exempt information if and so long, as in all the 
circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information. 

Information falling within paragraph 3 is not exempt 
information by virtue of that paragraph if it is required 
to be registered under: 

(a) the Companies Act 2006 

(b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974 

(c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992 

(d) the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014 

(e) the Building Societies Act 1986 

(f) the Charities Act 2011 

4. Information relating to any 
consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or 
negotiations, in connection with 
any labour relations matter 
arising between the authority or 
a Minister of the Crown and 
employees of, or office holders 
under, the authority.  

Exempt information if and so long, as in all the 
circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information.  

5. Information in respect of which 
a claim to legal professional 
privilege could be maintained in 
legal proceedings.  

Exempt information if and so long, as in all the 
circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information.  

6. Information which reveals that 
the authority proposes:- 

(a) to give under any enactment a 
notice under or by virtue of 
which requirements are 
imposed on a person; or  

(b) to make an order or direction 
under any enactment.  

Exempt information if and so long, as in all the 
circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information.  

 

Page 134



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 121 

7. Information relating to any 
action taken or to be taken in 
connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of 
crime.  

Exempt information if and so long, as in all the 
circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information.  

 
 
11. RULE 11 - EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO REPORTS 
 

 If the Proper Officer thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the public to reports 
which, in their opinion, relate to items during which, in accordance with Rule 10, the 
meeting is likely not to be open to the public.  Such reports will be marked “exempt 
from publication”, together with the category of information likely to be disclosed.  

  
12. RULE 12 - PROCEDURE BEFORE TAKING KEY DECISIONS 
 
 Subject to Rule 14 (general exception) and Rule 15 (special urgency), a Key Decision 

may not be taken unless: 
 

(a) a Notice (called here a Key Decision Notice) has been published in connection 
with the matter in question at least 28 clear days before the date when the 
decision is to be taken; and 

 
(b) where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet or its Committees, 

notice of the meeting has been given in accordance with Rule 6 (notice of and 
summons to meetings). 

 
13. RULE 13 - KEY DECISION NOTICE 
 
13.1 Content of the Key Decision Notice 
 
 A Key Decision Notice will contain details of:  
 
 (a) a brief explanation of the matter in respect of which a decision is to be made; 
 

(b) where the decision taker is an individual, his/her name, title, if any and where 
the   decision taker is a body, its name and details of membership; 
 
(c) the date on which or the period within which the decision will be taken; 
 
(d) a list of the documents submitted to the decision taker for consideration in 

relation to the matter and how to obtain copies of such documents; 
 
(e) a statement that other documents may be taken into account by the decision 

taker and how to obtain copies of any such documents. 
 
14. RULE 14 - GENERAL EXCEPTION – URGENT BUSINESS 
 

Subject to Rule 16, where a matter which is a Key Decision requires an urgent 
decision and the required 28 days’ notice has not been given, the decision may still be 
taken if: 

 
(a) The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or, if there is no such 

person, each member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, has been 

Page 135



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 122 

informed by notice in writing of the matter about which the decision is to be 
made; 

 
(b) a Key Decision Notice has been published and made available for inspection 

by the public; and 
 
(c) five clear days have elapsed following the day on which the Key Decision 

Notice was published and made available.  
 
15. RULE 15 - SPECIAL URGENCY 
 

If, by virtue of the date by which a decision must be taken, Rule 14 (general exception) 
cannot be followed, then the decision can only be taken if the decision taker (if an 
individual) or the Chair of the body making the decision, obtains the agreement of the 
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee that the taking of the decision is urgent 
and cannot reasonably be deferred.  If the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is unable to act, then the agreement of the Mayor will suffice, or, in the 
absence of the Mayor, the agreement of the Deputy Mayor.  

 
16. RULE 16 - REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
16.01 Report to Council when the Key Decision Procedure is Not Followed 
 

If an executive decision has been made and was not treated as a Key Decision, and 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is of the opinion that the decision should have 
been treated as a key decision, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may require the 
Cabinet to submit a report to the Council within such reasonable time as the Committee 
specifies.  The report must include details of the decision and the reasons for the 
decision, the decision maker, and if the Cabinet is of the opinion that the decision was 
not a Key Decision, the reasons for that opinion. The power to require a report rests 
with the Committee, but is also delegated to the Proper Officer, who shall require such 
a report on behalf of the Committee when so requested by the Chair or any three 
Councillors.  Alternatively, the requirement may be raised by resolution passed at a 
meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
16.02 Quarterly reports on special urgency decisions 
 

In any event the Leader will submit quarterly reports to the Council on the Cabinet 
decisions taken in the circumstances set out in Rule 15 (special urgency) in the 
preceding three months.  The report will include the number of decisions so taken and 
a summary of the matters in respect of which those decisions were taken.  

 
17. RULE 17 - RECORD OF DECISIONS 
 

After any meeting of the Cabinet or any of its Committees, whether held in public or 
private, the Proper Officer or, where no Officer was present, the person presiding at 
the meeting, will produce a record of every decision taken at that meeting as soon as 
practicable.  The record will include a statement of the reasons for each decision, any 
alternative options considered and rejected at that meeting and any conflict of interest 
relating to the matter decided which is declared by any member of the decision-making 
body which made the decision. 

 

Page 136



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 123 

18 RULE 18 - MEETINGS OF THE CABINET AND ITS COMMITTEES RELATING TO 
MATTERS WHICH ARE NOT KEY DECISIONS  

 
The Cabinet will meet in public for all its decisions, except for decisions based on those 
parts of any document that contain exempt or confidential information. In such cases 
Rules 10.01 and 10.02 will apply. 

 
19. RULE 19 - ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF ACCESS FOR COUNCILLORS 
 
19.01 Material relating to business to be transacted at a public meeting of Cabinet  
 

All Councillors will be entitled to inspect any document which is in the possession or 
under the control of the Cabinet or its Committees and contains material relating to any 
business to be transacted at a public meeting, and any such document must be 
available for inspection for at least five clear days before the meeting. 
 

19.02  Members of the Council 
 
A member of the Council may attend any part of a meeting except where the Councillor 
seeking to attend has a disclosable pecuniary interest or another interest within 
paragraph 12(1) of Part B of the Councillor's Code of Conduct, in the item of business.  
  

19.03 Other Material relating to business transacted  
 

Subject to 19.04 below, all Councillors will be entitled to inspect any document which 
is in the possession or under the control of Cabinet and contains material relating to 
any business transacted at a private meeting of Cabinet, or any decision made by an 
individual Cabinet member or an Officer, within 24 hours after the meeting concludes 
or after the decision has been made. 

 
19.04  Exceptions 
 

Regulation 16(6) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and 
Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 provides that a document is not 
required to be available for inspection under Rules 19.01 or 19.03 if it contains exempt 
information as set out in Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, unless the 
information falls within paragraph 3 (except to the extent that the information relates to 
any terms proposed or to be proposed by or to the Council in the course of contract 
negotiations), or paragraph 6 of Schedule 12A.  
 
A document is not required to be available for inspection if advice provided by a political 
adviser or assistant would be disclosed. 
 

19.05 Nature of Rights 
 
However, Council has resolved that all members of the Council should have access to 
all exempt reports, background papers and minutes save where the report, background 
paper or minute relates to an individual officer (other than the Chief Executive or a 
Chief Officer ), an individual Member of the Council, or an individual third party, or 
where the Member seeking to attend has a disclosable pecuniary interest or another 
interest within paragraph 12(1) of Section 2 of Part B of the Code of Conduct, in the 
item of business.  
 

Page 137



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 124 

19.06  Confidential Information 
 
Councillors must not disclose confidential information or exempt information. 
Councillors must only use information in accordance with the law, Regulations on 
Disclosure and Confidentiality including those referred to at the end of this Section and 
the Councillors’ Code of Conduct in Part 4. 
 

20. RULE 20 - OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY’S ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS 
 
20.01 Regulation 17 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and 

Access to Information) (England) (Regulations) 2012 provides that within ten clear 
days of so requesting, a member of a relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
meeting will be entitled to copies of any document which is in the possession or control 
of the Leader or Cabinet and which contains material relating to:  

 
(a) any business that has been transacted at a meeting of a decision-making body of 

the Council; 
(b) any decision that has been made by an individual Cabinet member in accordance 

with executive arrangements; or 
(c) any decision that has been made by an Officer of the Council in accordance with 

executive arrangements; 
 
except for documents, or parts of documents, which contain: 
 
(a) advice provided by a political adviser; or 
 
(b) exempt or confidential information, unless that information is relevant to: 

 
(i) an action or decision that the Councillor is reviewing or scrutinising; or  
(ii) any review contained in the work programme of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee or Budget and Performance Panel. 
 

Overview and Scrutiny will not be entitled to any document which is in draft form. 
 
Where the Cabinet determines that a member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
is not entitled to a copy of a document or part of a document for a reason set out in (a) 
or (b) above, it will provide the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with a written 
statement setting out its reasons for that decision. 
 

21  RULE 21 - PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 

The Council supports transparency in the public interest. 

The Council's rules on public participation in meetings are available on the Council’s 
website or from democracy@lancaster.gov.uk  
 

  

Page 138

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/meetings-and-minutes/public-speaking-at-council-meetings
mailto:democracy@lancaster.gov.uk


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 125 

 
 

REGULATIONS GOVERNING THE DISCLOSURE AND CONFIDENTIALITY OF 
INFORMATION 

 
 
 
1. The Local Government Act 1972, s100, deals with the admission of the public and 

press to local authority committee meetings and the categories of exempt and 
confidential information which are set out in Schedule 12A and the Council's Access 
to Information Procedure Rules. 

 
2. The Local Government Planning and Land Act 1980, s2, requires local authorities to 

publish certain categories of information in accordance with codes of recommended 
practice and any statutory regulations made by the Secretary of State (section 3).  This 
includes (s.3(5)) information about the number of employees or the number of any 
description of their employees. The Government has also issued a number of 
Transparency Codes that local authorities are expected to follow. 

 
3. The Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to 

Information) Act 1985, requires principal councils to maintain a list, open to public 
inspection, specifying those powers of the Council which are exercisable from time to 
time by Officers of the Council in pursuance of its duties under statutory powers.  Any 
person having custody of documents to which right of access applies would commit an 
offence by obstructing that right. 

 
4. The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England) 

Regulations 2012 make provision in respect of executive decisions and Key 
Decisions. 
 

5. The Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information Regulations 
2004 for disclosure of information. 
 

6. The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018. 
 

7. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require details of all remuneration and 
severance payments, including pension strain, paid to senior Officers to be itemised in 
the Council's accounts. 
 

8. Part 2 of the Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of Local Authority 
Constitution and Conditions of Service, which deals with official conduct of Chief 
Officers and the National Joint Council for local authority employees Green Book which 
covers the pay and conditions for other officers.  
 

 

  

Page 139



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 126 

PART 3 – SECTION 5 
 

Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
 
1. Rule 1 - The Framework for Cabinet Decisions 
 

The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its Budget and Policy Framework, 
as set out Part 2, Section 2 of this Constitution.  Once the Budget and Policy 
Framework is in place, it will be the responsibility of the Cabinet to work within and 
implement it.  Any amendment to the Budget and Policy Framework can only be 
agreed by Council unless otherwise specified in Financial Regulations (e.g. through 
virement of funds). 
 

2. Rule 2 - Process for Developing the Framework 
 

The process by which the Budget and Policy Framework shall be developed is: 
 
(a) At an appropriate period before a new plan/strategy/budget needs to be 

adopted, that is not included in the Budget and Policy Framework, the 
Cabinet will publish initial proposals for inclusion or amendments to the 
Budget and Policy Framework, having first canvassed the views of local 
stakeholders, as appropriate, and in a manner suitable to the matter under 
consideration.  Representations made to the Cabinet during any consultation 
process shall be taken into account in formulating the initial proposals and 
will be reflected in any report dealing with them.  If the matter is one where 
Overview and Scrutiny has carried out research into a new policy initiative, 
then the outcome of that review will be reported to the Cabinet and 
considered in the preparation of their initial proposals. 

 
(b) The Cabinet’s initial proposals may be referred to or requested by the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee for further consideration by inclusion in 
their Work Plans.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may canvass the 
views of local stakeholders if it considers it appropriate in accordance with 
the matter under consideration, but should have particular regard not to 
duplicate any consultation carried out by the Cabinet.  The Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee shall report to the Cabinet on the outcome of its 
deliberations within an appropriate timescale agreed with Cabinet.  The 
timescale for each matter considered will depend on the particular issue at 
stake. 

 
(c) Each year, Cabinet will review the Council’s existing Budget and Policy 

Framework plans and strategies in line with the approved timetable for 
preparing the Budget and Policy Framework.  The Budget and Performance 
Panel may also scrutinise existing budgets and policies and, where 
appropriate, may prepare a report for consideration by Cabinet. 

 
(d) In both instances where either a new or existing plan/strategy/budget is 

being considered, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Budget and 
Performance Panel will have an opportunity to comment.  If it considers it 
appropriate, Cabinet may then amend its proposals before submitting them 
to Council for consideration.  It will also report to Council on how it has taken 
into account any recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or Budget and Performance Panel.  The report should be 

Page 140



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 127 

completed within the agreed timescale for preparing the Annual Budget and 
updating the Policy Framework.  

 
(e) The Council will consider the proposals of the Cabinet and if it does not adopt 

the proposals as presented, it must inform the Leader of any objections 
which it has to the draft plan or strategy and must give to him/her instructions 
requiring the executive to reconsider, in the light of those objections, the draft 
plan or strategy submitted within a period of at least 5 working days: 

 
- Cabinet will then meet within the timescale set by Council and will: 

 
- submit to Council a revision of the draft proposals as amended by 

Cabinet with reasons for any amendments; 
 

Council will then meet, and after taking into account Cabinet’s response, 
will either amend, approve or adopt the proposed plan, strategy or 
budget as appropriate. 

 
(f) The procedures set out in (e) above will apply to all Cabinet proposals in 

respect of: 
 
- any draft plan, policy or strategy for inclusion in the Policy Framework; 
 
- any proposed amendments to existing plans and strategies included in 

the Policy Framework 
 
- any budget proposals for the following financial year. 
 
- and will be undertaken in accordance with the approved Budget and 

Policy Framework time-table. 
 
(g) In approving the Budget and Policy Framework, the Council will also specify 

the extent of virement within the budget in accordance with paragraph 5 of 
these Rules.  Any other changes to the Budget and Policy Framework can 
only be approved by Council unless otherwise specified in Financial 
Regulations. 
 

(h) Where, before 8th February in any financial year, Cabinet submits to the 
Council for its consideration in relation to the following financial year— 

 
i. estimates of the amounts to be aggregated in making a calculation 

(whether originally or by way of substitute) in accordance with any of 
sections 34 to 36A, 42A, 42B, 45 to 49, 52ZF, 52ZJ, of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992; 

ii. estimates of other amounts to be used for the purposes of such a 
calculation; 

iii. estimates of such a calculation; or 
iv. amounts required to be stated in a precept under Chapter IV of Part 

I of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, 
 
and if, following consideration of those estimates or amounts the Council has 
any objections to them, it must provide the Leader with a period of at least 
five working days to:  
 

Page 141

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/ext/app/document?sp=ukbevbr-1&src=doc&linktype=ref&context=11&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I7A13DA90208B11E1859CFE691AC2A626
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/ext/app/document?sp=ukbevbr-1&src=doc&linktype=ref&context=11&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I7C1131C0E44C11DA8D70A0E70A78ED65
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/ext/app/document?sp=ukbevbr-1&src=doc&linktype=ref&context=11&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I7A15AF50208B11E1859CFE691AC2A626
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/ext/app/document?sp=ukbevbr-1&src=doc&linktype=ref&context=11&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I7C281521E44C11DA8D70A0E70A78ED65
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/ext/app/document?sp=ukbevbr-1&src=doc&linktype=ref&context=11&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I9437BE93368F11E184E1E430DEF099D2
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/ext/app/document?sp=ukbevbr-1&src=doc&linktype=ref&context=11&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I943F5FB0368F11E184E1E430DEF099D2
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/ext/app/document?sp=ukbevbr-1&src=doc&linktype=ref&context=11&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I5FE06260E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/ext/app/document?sp=ukbevbr-1&src=doc&linktype=ref&context=11&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I5FE06260E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/ext/app/document?sp=ukbevbr-1&src=doc&linktype=ref&context=11&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I17736C90E4A811DA9407CBB86AE37856
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/ext/app/document?sp=ukbevbr-1&src=doc&linktype=ref&context=11&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I17736C90E4A811DA9407CBB86AE37856
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/ext/app/document?sp=ukbevbr-1&src=doc&linktype=ref&context=11&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I5FE06260E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 128 

i. submit a revision of the estimates or amounts as amended by the 
Cabinet  (“revised estimates or amounts”), which have been 
reconsidered in accordance with the Council's requirements, with the 
Cabinet's reasons for any amendments made to the estimates or 
amounts, to the Council for the Council's consideration; or 

ii. inform the Council of any disagreement that the Cabinet has with any 
of the Council's objections and the Cabinet's reasons for any such 
disagreement.  

 
 The Council must then meet and agree the estimates, calculations and 
budget as set out above in the manner envisaged at (e) and (f) above, taking 
into account the views of the Leader and Cabinet. 

 
3. Rule 3 - Decisions Outside the Budget or Policy Framework 
 

(a) Subject to the provisions of paragraph 5 (virement) and 6 (in year changes 
to Budget and Policy Framework) the Cabinet, and any of its Committees, 
any Officers, or joint arrangements discharging executive functions may only 
take decisions which are in line with the Budget and Policy Framework.  If 
any of these bodies or persons wish to make a decision which is contrary to 
the Policy Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 
budget approved by Council, then that decision may only be taken by the 
Council subject to paragraph 4 below (urgent decisions outside the Budget 
and Policy Framework). 

 
(b) If the Cabinet and any of its Committees, any Officers, or joint arrangements 

discharging executive functions wish to make such a decision, as set out in 
3(a) above, or are uncertain if an issue requiring a decision is inside or 
outside the Budget and Policy Framework, they shall take advice from the 
Monitoring Officer as to whether the decision they wish to make would be 
contrary to the Policy Framework, and from both the Monitoring Officer and 
Chief Finance Officer in circumstances where the matter in question may be 
contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget.  If the advice of 
either of those Officers is that the decision would not be in line with the 
existing budget and /or Policy Framework, then the decision must be 
referred by that body or person to the Council for decision, unless the 
decision is a matter of urgency, in which case the provisions of paragraph 4 
(urgent decisions outside the Budget and Policy Framework) shall apply. 

 
(c) Application of (b) above does not circumvent the monitoring of each Officer’s 

statutory reporting responsibilities that they would normally exercise. 
 
4. Rule 4 - Urgent Decisions outside the Budget or Policy Framework 
 

The Cabinet or any of its Committees, Officers, or joint arrangements discharging 
executive functions may take a decision which is contrary to the Council’s Policy 
Framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with, the budget approved by 
Full Council if the decision is a matter of urgency.  However, the decision may only 
be taken: 
 
(a) if it is not practical, in the opinion of the Chief Executive, to convene a 

quorate meeting of the Council; and 
 

(b) the Chief Executive, after consultation with the Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, agrees that the decision is a matter of urgency. 

Page 142



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 129 

 
The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the Council and 
the reasons for the decision being taken as a matter of urgency must be noted on 
the record of the decision.  In the absence of the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, consultation with the Vice Chair, and in the absence of both, the Mayor 
will be sufficient. 

 
5. Rule 5 - Virement 
 

Steps taken by the Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet, or Officers, or joint 
arrangements discharging executive functions to implement Council policy shall not 
exceed those budgets allocated to each budget head unless otherwise authorised 
in the Financial Regulations in Part 3, Section 7 of this Constitution. 

 
6. Rule 6 - In-Year Changes to the Budget and Policy Framework 
 

The responsibility for agreeing the Budget and Policy Framework lies with the 
Council and decisions discharging executive functions must be in line with it.  No 
changes to any policy and strategy that make up the Policy Framework may be 
made in-year without Council’s approval. 
 
Financial Regulations do allow for minor amendments to be made in year to agreed 
budgets.  The details of this are included in Part 3 Section 7 of this Constitution. 

 
7. Rule 7 - Challenging Decisions Outside the Budget or Policy Framework 
 

(a) Where the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is of the opinion 
that a Cabinet decision is, or if made would be, contrary to the Policy 
Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Council’s 
budget, then the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall seek 
advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 3(b) above. 

 
(b) In respect of functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet, in 

responding to the matter raised by the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, the Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer shall report 
to the Cabinet with a copy to the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  In the event that the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance 
Officer conclude that the decision was a departure from the Budget and 
Policy Framework, the Cabinet must meet to decide what action to take in 
respect of the report regardless of whether the decision is delegated or not.  
The Cabinet must then report to Council on its preferred course of action, 
and include the Statutory Officers’ comments.  If the Monitoring Officer or 
the Chief Finance Officer conclude that the decision was not a departure, 
Cabinet will report directly back to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
(c) In such cases, where the Cabinet will report to Council, no further action will 

be taken in respect of the decision or its implementation until the Council has 
met and considered the matter.  The Council shall meet within 10 days of 
receiving the Cabinet report.  At the meeting, it will receive a report of the 
decision or proposals and the advice of the Monitoring Officer and/or the 
Chief Finance Officer.  The Council may either: 

 
(1) approve that the decision or proposal of the Cabinet falls within the 

existing Budget and Policy Framework.  In this case, no further action 

Page 143



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 130 

is required, save that the decision of the Council be minuted and 
circulated to all Councillors in the normal way; or 

 
(2) amend the Council’s Budget or Policy concerned to encompass the 

decision or proposal and agree to the decision with immediate effect.  
In this case, no further action is required, save that the decision of 
the Council be minuted and circulated to all Councillors in the normal 
way; or 

 
(3) where the Council accepts that the decision or proposal is contrary 

to the Policy Framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance 
with the budget and does not amend the existing framework to 
accommodate it, approve a decision contrary to the Cabinet’s 
recommendations in accordance with the advice of either the 
Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer. 

  

Page 144



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 131 

PART 3 – SECTION 6 

Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

1. RULE 1 - RECRUITMENT AND APPOINTMENT 

(a) Declarations 

(i) The Council will draw up a statement requiring any candidate for 
appointment as an Officer to state in writing whether they or their partner 
are the parent, grandparent, child, stepchild, adopted child, grandchild, 
brother, sister, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece of or in a continuing close 
personal relationship with an existing Councillor or Officer of the Council; 
or of the partner of such persons. 

(ii) No candidate so related to a Councillor or an Officer will be appointed 
without the authority of the relevant Chief Officer or an Officer nominated 
by them. 

(b) Seeking support for appointment 

(i) Subject to sub-paragraph (iii), the Council will disqualify any applicant who 
directly or indirectly seeks the support of any Councillor or Officer for any 
appointment with the Council. The content of this paragraph will be 
included in any recruitment information 

(ii) Subject to sub-paragraph (iii), no Councillor will seek support for any 
person for any appointment as an Officer with the Council. 

(iii) Nothing in sub-paragraphs (i) and (ii) will preclude a Councillor or Officer 
from giving a written reference for a candidate for submission with an 
application for appointment 

2. RULE 2 - RECRUITMENT OF HEAD OF PAID SERVICE AND CHIEF OFFICERS 

(1) Where it is proposed to appoint the Head of Paid Service or a Chief Officer and 
it is not proposed that the appointment be made exclusively from among 
existing Officers, the Council will: 

(a) draw up a statement specifying: 

(i) the duties of the Officer concerned (the job description); and 

(ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be 
appointed (the person specification); 

(b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is 
likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for 
it; and 

(c) make arrangements for a copy of the statements mentioned in sub-
paragraph (a) above to be sent to any person on request. 

(2) Where a post has been advertised as provided in sub-paragraph (1)(b) above, 
all qualified applicants for the post shall be interviewed, or a short list of such 

Page 145



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 132 

qualified applicants shall be selected, and those included on the short list shall 
be interviewed. 

(3) Where no qualified person has applied, further arrangements shall be made for 
advertisement in accordance with sub-paragraph 1(b) above 

 
3. RULE 3 - APPOINTMENT OF HEAD OF PAID SERVICE AND DISMISSAL OF HEAD 

OF PAID SERVICE, CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER AND MONITORING OFFICER 

(a) In making arrangements for the appointment of the Head of Paid Service, the 
Council will on each occasion designate an appropriate ad hoc Committee, 
constituted with regard to proportional representation, and including at least one 
member of Cabinet, to make a recommendation to Council on the appointment. 
The Council will approve the appointment of the Head of Paid Service following 
the recommendation of such Committee, and the Council must approve the 
appointment before an offer of appointment is made. In addition, in formulating 
the arrangements for the appointment, Council may request the involvement of 
the Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the People and 
Organisational Development  Committee at any stage of the process. 

(b) The dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring 
Officer must be approved by the Council, following the recommendation of such 
dismissal by the People and Organisational Development  Committee. The 
Committee when making such a recommendation must include at least one 
member of the Cabinet. The Council must approve the dismissal before notice 
of dismissal is given. 

 
4. RULE 4 - APPOINTMENT AND DISMISSAL OF CHIEF OFFICERS 

(a) The appointment of a Chief Officer will be made by the People and 
Organisational Development Committee, which, when making such 
appointment must include at least one member of the Cabinet. 

(b) Subject to paragraph 3(b) above, the dismissal of a Chief Officer is the 
responsibility of the People and Organisational Development Committee. The 
Committee when dismissing a Chief Officer must include at least one member 
of the Cabinet. 

 
5. RULE 5 - OTHER OFFICERS 

(a) The function of appointment and dismissal of, and taking disciplinary action 
against any Officer other than the Head of Paid Service or a Chief Officer is the 
responsibility of the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) or his/her nominee, 
and, (save in respect of Deputy Chief Officers as defined in Section 2(8) of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989), may not be discharged by 
Councillors. This is a requirement of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 
(England) Regulations 2001. 

(b) Any disciplinary action will be taken in accordance with the Council’s 
Disciplinary Policy and Procedure, as adopted from time to time. 

(c) Nothing in sub-paragraph (a) above shall prevent a person from serving as a 
member of any Committee or Sub-Committee established by the Council to 
consider an appeal by an Officer against any decision relating to the dismissal 
of, or taking disciplinary action against that Officer. 

Page 146



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 133 

(d) In relation to political assistants: 

i. no appointment to any post allocated to a political group shall be made until 
the Council has allocated a post to each of the groups which qualify for 
one; 

ii. there shall be no allocation of a post to a political group which does not 
qualify for one;  

iii. the allocation of more than one post to any one political group shall be 
prohibited; and 

iv. any appointment of an assistant to a political group shall be made in 
accordance with the wishes of that political group. 

 
6. RULE 6 - CONSULTATION WITH CABINET MEMBERS 

No offer of an appointment or notice of dismissal in relation to the Head of Paid Service, 
a Chief Officer or a Deputy Chief Officer (as defined in Section 2(8) of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989) shall be given by the appointor or dismissor until: 

(a) the appointor or dismissor has notified the Chief Officer Governance of the name 
of the person to be appointed or dismissed and any other particulars relevant to 
the appointment or dismissal and the period within which any objection is to be 
made by the Leader on behalf of the Cabinet; and 

(b) the Chief Officer Governance  has notified every member of the Cabinet of the 
name of the person to be appointed or dismissed, and any other particulars 
relevant to the appointment or dismissal which the appointor or dismissor has 
notified to the Chief Officer Governance , and the period within which any 
objection to the appointment or dismissal is to be made by the Leader on behalf 
of the Cabinet to the Chief Officer Governance ; and 

(c) either 

(i) the Leader has, within the period specified in the notice under sub-
paragraph (b) notified the Chief Officer Governance  that neither he/she 
nor any other member of the Cabinet has any objection to the 
appointment or dismissal; 

(ii) the Chief Officer Governance  has notified the appointor or dismissor that 
no objection was received within that period from the Leader; or 

(iii) the appointor or dismissor is satisfied that any objection received from 
the Leader within that period is not material or is not well-founded. 

 
7. RULE 7 - INTERPRETATION 

In this paragraph and in paragraph 8 below: 

(a) “the 2011 Act” means the Localism Act 2011; 

(b) “Chief Officer” includes a Deputy Chief Officer,  

Page 147



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 134 

(c) "Chief Finance Officer", “disciplinary action”, “Head of Paid Service” and 
“Monitoring Officer” have the same meaning as in regulation 2 of the Local 
Authorities (Standing Order) (England) Regulations 2001; 

(d) “independent person” means a person appointed under section 28(7) of the 
2011 Act; 

(e) “local government elector” means a person registered as a local government 
elector in the register of electors in the Council’s area in accordance with the 
Representation of the People Acts; 

(f) “The Panel” means a committee appointed by the Council under section 102(4) 
of the Local Government Act 1972 for the purposes of advising the Council on 
matters relating to the dismissal of a relevant Officer (the Independent Persons 
Panel); 

(g) “relevant meeting” means a meeting of the Council to consider whether or not 
to approve a proposal to dismiss a relevant Officer; and 

(h) “relevant Officer” means the Chief Finance Officer, Head of Paid Service or 
Monitoring Officer, as the case may be. 

 
8. RULE 8 - DISCIPLINARY ACTION – HEAD OF PAID SERVICE, MONITORING 

OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 

(a) A relevant Officer may not be dismissed by the Council unless the procedure 
set out in this Rule 8 is complied with. 

(b) The Council must invite relevant independent persons to be considered for 
appointment to the Panel, with a view to appointing at least two such persons to 
the Panel. 

(c) In sub-paragraph (b) above, “relevant independent persons” means any 
independent person who has been appointed by the Council or, where there are 
fewer than two such persons, such independent persons as have been 
appointed by another authority or authorities as the Council considers 
appropriate. 

(d) Subject to sub-paragraph (e) below, the Council must appoint to the Panel such 
relevant independent persons who have accepted an invitation issued in 
accordance with subparagraph (b) above in accordance with the following 
priority order: 

(i) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by the Council and 
who is a local government elector; 

(ii) any other relevant independent person who has been appointed by the 
Council; 

(iii) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by another 
iauthority or authorities 

(e) The Council is not required to appoint more than two relevant independent 
persons in accordance with sub-paragraph (d), but may do so. 

Page 148



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 135 

(f) The Council must appoint any Panel at least 20 working days before the relevant 
meeting. 

(g) Before the taking of a vote at the relevant meeting on whether or not to approve 
such a dismissal, the Full Council must take into account, in particular: 

(i) any advice, views or recommendations of the Panel 

(ii) the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed dismissal; and 

(iii) any representations from the relevant Officer. 

(h) Any remuneration allowances or fees paid by the Council to an independent 
person appointed to the Panel must not exceed the level of remuneration, 
allowance or fees payable to that independent person in respect of that person’s 
role as an independent person under the 2011 Act. 

 
9. RULE 9 - DISCIPLINARY ACTION – HEAD OF PAID SERVICE AND CHIEF 

OFFICERS 

Subject to Rule 8 above, the People and Organisational Development Committee has 
delegated authority to take disciplinary action against the Head of Paid Service and 
Chief Officers, and to dismiss Chief Officers on disciplinary grounds 

(a) Any proposal to dismiss the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer or the 
Chief Finance Officer must be approved by Full Council. 

(b) Where the People and Organisational Development Committee meets to 
consider the taking of disciplinary action against the Head of Paid Service or a 
Chief Officer, the Committee must include at least one member of the Cabinet. 

(c) The Investigation and Disciplinary Committee for the purposes of the JNC 
Conditions of Service shall be drawn from the People and Organisational 
Development Committee. That Committee must include at least one member 
of the Cabinet. 

(d) In accordance with the Model Disciplinary Procedure in the JNC Handbook for 
Chief Executives, Investigation and Disciplinary Committee meetings shall be 
convened by the Monitoring Officer (in consultation with the Chair of the People 
and Organisational Development  Committee) and the Monitoring Officer shall, 
in consultation with the Chair of the People and Organisational Development  
Committee, filter out and deal with allegations that are clearly unfounded, trivial 
or can best be dealt with under some other procedure. Where allegations 
involve the Monitoring Officer, this role shall be fulfilled by the Chief Executive.  

 
10. RULE 10 - NO DIRECTIONS TO BE GIVEN TO PERSONS MAKING APPOINTMENTS 

OR TAKING DISCIPLINARY ACTION 

Save as specifically provided for elsewhere in these Rules neither the Council nor the 
Cabinet or its Committees or Overview and Scrutiny meeting or individual Councillor, 
nor any other person shall directly or indirectly: 

(i) give directions to any person taking any step in relation to an appointment to a 
post in the paid service of the Council as to the identity of the person to be 
appointed; 

Page 149



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 136 

(ii) give directions about the taking of any disciplinary action in relation to a person in 
the paid service of the Council; or 

(iii) otherwise interfere with the making of such an appointment or the taking of 
disciplinary action. 

  

Page 150



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 137 

PART 3 – SECTION 7 
 

Financial Procedure Rules  
 

Section 1 - Introduction 
 
1 Scope and Objectives 

1.1 The overriding objective of the Financial Regulations is to provide a clear and effective 
framework for managing the Council’s financial affairs, as a contribution to high 
standards of governance, probity and public accountability. The Regulations set the 
foundations for all aspects of the Council’s financial practices, directing and guiding 
Councillors and Officers in their financial duties, and they play a key role in securing a 
positive External Audit opinion on the Council’s accounts and arrangements to secure 
value for money.  

1.2 The Financial Regulations are an integral part of the Council’s Constitution, to establish 
the Council’s financial governance arrangements. In case of any conflict, other parts 
of the Constitution take precedence over these Regulations, unless any legislative or 
regulatory requirement determines otherwise. 

1.3 These Regulations are grouped into five main areas: 

- Section 2 - Financial Standards 

- Section 3 - Financial Planning and Annual Budget Setting 

- Section 4 – Management of Budgets 

- Section 5 - Financial Records and Reporting 

- Section 6 – Control of Resources 

1.4 The Regulations apply to every Councillor and Officer of the Authority and anyone 
acting on its behalf. 

1.5 In particular, the Regulations identify the financial responsibilities of Full Council, the 
Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny, the Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer, the 
Chief Finance Officer and other Chief Officers. 

1.6 The Regulations are subject to review at least annually, or sooner if circumstances 
warrant it. 

Section 2 – Financial Standards  
 
2 General Principles 

2.1 The Financial Regulations mirror and support the expected standards of conduct set 
out in both the Council’s Officers’ Code of Conduct and the Councillors’ Code of 
Conduct. All of these documents seek to ensure the highest standards of conduct and 
to protect the public, the Council and its Councillors and Officers. 

2.2 Section 10 of the Officers’ Code of Conduct (Use of Financial Resources) sets out the 
overall expectations of Officers in managing finances, the expected standard being 
expressed as “Officers must strive to ensure that they use public funds entrusted to 

Page 151



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 138 

them in a responsible and lawful manner, and seek to secure value for money in the 
provision of their services.” 

2.3 In relation to financial matters, Officers should also be aware of the following sections 
in the Officers’ Code of Conduct: 

(a) Corruption (section 2); 

(b) Standards of conduct (section 3); 

(c) Personal interests and personal relationships (section 6); 

(d) Gifts and hospitality (section 8); 

(e) The selection of developers, consultants or contractors (section 11); 
and 

(f) Separation of roles during tendering (section 12) 

2.4 All Councillors and Officers have a duty to abide by the highest standards of probity, 
or “correctness”, in dealing with financial issues. 

2.5 It follows therefore that all Councillors and Officers have a general responsibility for 
taking action to provide for the security of the assets and any other resources under 
their control, and for ensuring that the use of these resources is legal, properly 
authorised, in accordance with relevant policies and other internal controls, and 
provides value for money. 

3 Legislative Requirements 

3.1 The Chief Finance Officer has statutory duties in relation to the financial administration 
and stewardship of the Council. The primary source (that informs the title) of this 
Officer’s duties is Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which requires the 
Council to “…make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs 
and … secure that one of its Officers has responsibility for the administration of those 
affairs.” 

3.2 Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the Chief Finance 
Officer to report to Full Council and the External Auditors of the Council or one of its 
Officers: 

(a) has made, or is about to make, a decision which involves incurring 
unlawful expenditure; 

(b) has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful action which has resulted 
or would result in a loss or deficiency to the Council; 

(c) is about to make an unlawful entry in the Council’s accounts; and 

(d) if the books do not balance. 

3.3 Section 114 of the 1988 Act also requires the Chief Finance Officer to nominate 
properly qualified member(s) of staff to deputise should he/she be unable to perform 
the duties under Section 114 personally, and also requires the Council to provide the 
Chief Finance Officer with sufficient staff, accommodation and other resources to carry 
out the duties under Section 114. 

Page 152



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 139 

3.4 The Chief Finance Officer has nominated a Deputy 

3.5 The Local Government Act 2000 determines the governance arrangements available 
to local authorities, (i.e. Mayor/Leader and Cabinet or Committee based systems), and 
establishes where accountability lies for money and other resources. Under the 
Council’s arrangements, the Cabinet is responsible for proposing the Policy 
Framework and budget to Full Council and ultimate financial accountability lies with 
Full Council. 

3.6 The Local Government Finance Act 1992 and the Local Government Act 2003 set out 
various provisions and powers in the following areas, amongst others: 

(e) Capital financing, borrowing and investment (treasury management); 

(f) Proper practices in accounting; 

(g) Budget calculations, monitoring and the maintenance of reserves; 

(h) Non-domestic rates and Council Tax; and 

(i) Council housing finance (the Housing Revenue Account). 

3.7 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the Council to make arrangements 
to provide: 

(a) adequate and effective financial management; 

(b) sound internal control and risk management; 

(c) an Annual Statement of Accounts;  

(d) Annual Governance Statement; and 

(e) an adequate and effective Internal Audit in accordance with proper 
practices. 

3.8 The 2015 Regulations also build on the Chief Finance Officer’s responsibilities by 
making him/her responsible for determining and maintaining the Council’s accounting 
records, form of accounts and accounting control systems, including various specific 
provisions, such as the writing off bad debts. 

3.9 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 makes provision for the appointment of 
External Auditors and for the conduct and regulation of local authority audits. 

3.10 The above sections outline the key legislative provisions that form the backbone of the 
local government financial framework, which is supported in turn by numerous other 
legislative and regulatory requirements. 

4 Proper Practices 

4.1 Proper practices in accountancy and treasury management, as provided for in the 
Local Government Act 2003, are those issued by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). 

Page 153



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 140 

4.2 The Council has adopted professional best practice standards regarding the role of the 
Chief Finance Officer as the benchmark for the Council’s arrangements. Accordingly, 
the Chief Finance Officer: 

(a) is a key member of the Senior Leadership Team, helping it to develop 
and implement strategy and to resource and deliver the Council’s 
strategic objectives sustainably and in the public interest; 

(b) must be actively involved in, and able to bring influence to bear on, all 
material business decisions to ensure that immediate and longer term 
implications, opportunities and risks are fully considered, and align 
with the Council’s financial strategy; and 

(c) must lead the promotion and delivery by the whole Council of good 
financial management so that public money is safeguarded at all times 
and used appropriately, economically, efficiently and effectively. 

4.3 Proper practices in Internal Audit, as provided for in the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 are those adopted and issued by CIPFA. 

4.4 The Council has also adopted professional best practice standards regarding the role 
of Internal Audit. 

4.5 Provisions relating to the proper practices and the role of Internal Audit are 
incorporated in the Internal Audit Charter, which is approved by the Council’s Audit 
Committee.  

5 Responsibilities for Financial Standards and the Financial Regulations 

5.1 Establishing and maintaining the highest possible financial standards requires clarity 
in roles and responsibilities and the understanding and commitment of everyone 
involved. The Financial Regulations are the documentary cornerstone of the Council’s 
financial management culture, setting out the fundamental rules, responsibilities and 
expectations. 

5.2 The Audit Committee may, on behalf of Full Council, give any reasonable instructions 
regarding the Financial Regulations to the Chief Finance Officer, as may be 
appropriate. 

5.3 In accordance with legislative requirements and proper practice standards, the Chief 
Finance Officer is responsible for: 

(a) reviewing, updating and promoting the Financial Regulations; 

(b) reporting any updates made to Financial Regulations to the Audit 
Committee for its subsequent consideration and endorsement; 

(c) developing, approving the adoption of, and promoting supporting 
instructions, procedures and guidance; 

(d) developing and actively promoting financial skills and competencies, 
assessing training needs at a corporate level and ensuring that 
appropriate training is made available to meet all identified needs; and 

Page 154



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 141 

(e) providing relevant, appropriate impartial advice that relevant parties 
must have regard to. 

5.4 The Chief Finance Officer may delegate certain responsibilities to other appropriate 
Responsible Officers, subject to any legal or other regulatory constraints. 

5.5 Every Councillor and Officer of the Council, and anyone acting on its behalf, is required 
to abide by the Financial Regulations and act in accordance with the supporting 
instructions, guidance, systems and procedures. That is unless, as part of joint 
working, a partner organisation’s Financial Regulations or equivalent have been 
formally adopted, following consideration by the Chief Finance Officer. 

5.6 Chief Officers  are responsible for ensuring that all Officers in their services have 
access to, and are aware of the existence and content of, the Council’s Financial 
Regulations and other internal regulatory documents and that they comply with them. 

5.7 Chief Officers  should maintain clear, accessible records of where decision-making has 
been delegated to members of their staff, including seconded staff, taking account of 
any appropriate legislative, other external or internal constraints, and the advice of the 
Chief Finance Officer. In circumstances where decisions have been delegated or 
devolved to other Responsible Officers, references in the regulations to the Chief 
Officers should be read as referring to other such Responsible Officers. 

5.8 Chief Officers   are responsible for identifying training needs for the staff within their 
service areas, taking advice from the Chief Finance Officer as appropriate. 

6 Procedure for Handling Breaches of the Regulations 

6.1 Chief Officers are responsible for reporting to and consulting with the Chief Finance 
Officer on any breach of Financial Regulations and for taking appropriate remedial 
action, including disciplinary action where necessary. 

6.2 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for reporting, as appropriate, breaches of the 
Financial Regulations to Full Council and/or to the Cabinet and/or Audit Committee 
members. 

Section 3 Financial Planning and Annual Budget Setting 
 
1 What this covers: 

(f) In general terms, financial planning is the task of determining whether 
the Council can afford its strategic goals and objectives, and what 
might need to change in order for them to be affordable, achievable 
and financially sustainable. It comprises the policies, practices and 
procedures that the Council will adopt to direct and manage its 
application of financial resources in the long-, medium- and short-term. 

(g) For the Council, the key financial planning elements are the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and the budget. 

(h) In essence, the budget is the financial expression of the Council’s 
plans and policies. 

2 Why this is important: 

Page 155



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 142 

(a) The Council is a complex organisation responsible for delivering a 
wide variety of services, operating in an ever-changing environment, 
but typically it cannot afford or deliver all that it might want to. It needs 
to forecast, prioritise and challenge its allocation of resources, 
therefore, in view of its Council Plan and service business plans, to 
help ensure that any objectives set are achievable from a financial 
point of view. 

(b) Sound financial planning is fundamental to the Council being able to 
fulfil its legislative duties and satisfy required professional standards 
with regard to the efficient and effective management of public funds. 
The Council’s Constitution sets out other requirements and controls 
regarding budgetary matters. In overall terms, it is unlawful for a 
Council to budget for a deficit. 

(c) More specifically, in terms of capital expenditure (on assets with a 
long-term value to the Council), this helps shape the way services are 
delivered over that long term and creates financial commitments for 
the future in the form of financing costs and revenue running costs. 
The capacity of the Council to finance capital is constrained. This 
means that capital expenditure and financing plans also need to form 
part of overall financial planning, and must be carefully prioritised in 
order to maximise the benefit of scarce resources. 

(d) Furthermore, as part of the planning process it is important for the 
Council to decide the level of provisions, reserves and balances it 
wishes to maintain before it determines the level of Council Tax. 
Provisions, reserves and balances are maintained as a matter of 
prudence, enabling the Council to provide for unexpected events and 
recognised future commitments, and thereby helping to protect it from 
overspending. 

3 Components 

3.1 Financial Strategy (Known as the Medium Term Financial Strategy or MTFS) 

3.2 The MTFS considers the Council’s financial outlook and its risk profile, setting out how 
it will seek to balance its corporate and financial objectives and manage the key 
financial risks it faces. 

3.3 The MTFS is a key element of the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, which is 
proposed by the Cabinet and approved by Full Council. 

3.4 In approving the MTFS, Council sets the financial strategy and boundaries within which 
Councillors and Officers must operate. 

3.5 The MTFS will therefore contain any limits/parameters/other constraints within which 
the schemes for the treatment of virements between budget headings and year end 
under- and overspendings are to operate.  

3.6 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for preparing a draft MTFS on a three-yearly 
rolling basis, for consideration by the Cabinet, before submission to Full Council. 

4 Annual Budget Process 

Page 156



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 143 

4.1 Format of the budget: 

(a) The general format of the budget will be determined by the Chief 
Finance Officer in accordance with legislative/regulatory requirements 
and having regard to any specific needs of Cabinet or Full Council. 
The draft budget will include resources allocated to different services 
and projects, proposed taxation levels and any contingency funds and 
will cover the following: 

(b) The General Fund Annual Revenue Budget and Five-Year Capital 
Programme. 

(c) Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Annual Revenue Budget (for 
Council Housing) and its Five-Year Capital Programme. 

(d) Collection Fund accounts. 

(e) Any other statutory accounts. 

5 Budget Preparation and Resource Allocation 

5.1 In approving the MTFS, the Council sets the budget methodology for the period 
covered. 

5.2 The Cabinet is responsible for providing the direction to enable full Budget and Policy 
Framework proposals to be developed for consideration by Full Council. 

5.3 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for: 

(a) issuing Councillors and Officers with budget preparation guidelines in 
accordance with the MTFS; 

(b) ensuring that a budget covering the elements in 4.1 above is prepared 
on an annual basis, and providing due support; 

(c) developing, maintaining and advising on resource allocation 
processes that ensure due consideration is given to the Budget and 
Policy Framework and associated options arising; 

(d) advising Cabinet and Full Council on: 

(i) prudent levels of provisions, reserves and balances for the 
Council; 

(ii) the robustness of the estimates in the budget; 

(iii) the affordability of spending plans, with particular regard to 
capital investment; 

(iv) any legal or Governmental policy constraints on the levels of 
Council Tax; and 

(v) expected levels of external funding, including the retention of 
business rate income, and any constraints regarding their use. 

Page 157



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 144 

5.4 Chief Officers  are responsible for developing budget estimates that reflect proposed 
service plans and have been prepared in line with guidelines issued by the Chief 
Finance Officer, and for developing Budget and Policy Framework options in line with 
Cabinet’s directions. 

6 Annual Budget Approval 

6.1 Cabinet is responsible for proposing the draft MTFS and budget to Full Council. 

6.2 Full Council is responsible for approving the MTFS and budget. Full Council may 
amend the budget or ask the Cabinet to reconsider it before approving it. 

Section 4 Management of Budgets 
 
What this covers: 

Management of budgets includes arrangements for: 

(a) the incidence, monitoring, review and internal management reporting 
of budget activity; and 

(b) procedures to enable the in-year variation of budgets (i.e. virements) 
and the treatment of year end under or overspendings. 

Why this is important: 

6.1 Budget management ensures that once the budget has been approved by Full Council, 
resources allocated are used for their intended purposes, are properly accounted for, 
and value for money is achieved. Budgetary control is a continuous process, enabling 
the Council to review and adjust its budget targets during the financial year. It also 
provides the mechanism that calls to account Councillors and Officers for defined 
elements of the budget. 

6.2 By continuously identifying and explaining variances against approved budgets, the 
Council can identify changes in trends and resource requirements at the earliest 
opportunity. The Council itself operates within an annual budget limit, approved when 
setting the overall budget. To ensure that the Council in total does not overspend, each 
service is required to manage its own expenditure within the budget allocated to it. 

Components 

Managing Income and Expenditure: Budgetary Control 

6.3 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for providing appropriate financial information 
and advice to enable budgets to be monitored and controlled effectively. This includes 
maintaining an up to date, detailed approved budget during the year, and agreeing the 
levels at which budgetary control is to be exercised. He/she must monitor the overall 
position and report to Cabinet and the Budget and Performance Panel on a regular 
basis, and Council as necessary. 

6.4 Chief Officers and any Officer designated by them as a Responsible Spending Officer 
are: 

(a) authorised to incur expenditure in accordance with the revenue 
estimates that make up the approved budget, subject to any further 

Page 158



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 145 

specific conditions or requirements that may be attached. In short, it is 
the existence of an approved budget that confers authority to spend; 

(b) responsible for collecting budgeted income, and maximising such 
income in accordance with relevant policies; 

(c) responsible for the accurate recording of transactions at a detailed 
level against relevant cost centres and budgets; 

(d) responsible for agreeing in-year virements within delegated limits, in 
consultation with the Chief Finance Officer; and 

(e) responsible for achieving value for money in the use of resources, both 
collectively at a corporate level, and individually within their own 
service areas. 

6.5 In summary, Chief Officers  are responsible for controlling income and expenditure 
within their area and for monitoring performance, taking account of financial 
information provided by the Chief Finance Officer. They should report as necessary on 
variances within their own areas, take appropriate action to avoid exceeding their 
budget allocation, and alert the Chief Finance Officer to any problems. 

6.6 Nothing in these Regulations prevents the Chief Executive, the Chief Finance Officer 
or duty Senior Emergency Officer from authorising expenditure essential to meet any 
immediate needs created by a civil emergency or disaster, or related to major structural 
damage threatening the fabric of a building. If such a situation arises, the actions must 
be reported by the relevant Officer to the next Cabinet meeting (for referral on to Full 
Council if the consequences fall outside of the Budget and Policy Framework). 

In-Year Budget Changes 

6.7 Full Council is responsible for: 

(a) approving any proposed budget change that falls outside of the Budget 
and Policy Framework, normally on referral from Cabinet; and 

(a) through the budget virement scheme included within the MTFS, setting 
the limits and constraints on the extent to which the Cabinet and/or 
Officers may reallocate budget funds from one service to another; and 

(b) through the carry forward of year-end over- and underspendings 
scheme as included within the MTFS, setting the limits and constraints 
on the extent to which the Cabinet and/or Officers may reallocate 
budget funds from one year to another (for revenue or capital). 

6.8 Within the limits and constraints set by Full Council, Cabinet is responsible for: 

(a) giving prior approval for any proposed budget change that involves the 
transfer or redirection of resources on an ongoing basis from one 
service, function or activity to another; and 

(b) giving prior approval for any proposed budget change that would 
deliver in-year savings above the Key Decision thresholds. 

Page 159



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 146 

6.9 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for administering the schemes for the 
treatment of year end under or overspendings and the virement scheme, within the 
parameters set by Full Council in the MTFS. 

6.10 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for advising Cabinet, Full Council and Officers 
on whether any particular circumstance or proposal falls within or outside of the 
approved budget framework, and for challenging and supporting Councillors and 
Officers in their decision-making, especially on affordability and value for money. 
He/she is responsible for advising on the financial thresholds for Key Decisions, where 
there is a requirement to do so. 

6.11 The Chief Finance Officer has authority to update the approved budget for any 
changes that are in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework and are either: 

(c) budget/cost neutral (at least) and either below the Council’s Key 
Decision threshold, or above the Key Decision threshold, but having 
no material operational impact and no significant future resource 
implications. Note that this includes funding matters under 6.16 below; 
or 

(d) to reflect any funding awarded automatically to the Council (that is, 
without bidding) for the provision of services or for other purposes, or 

(e) as a result of the properly authorised decisions of Council, its 
Committees, the Cabinet, or as delegated through the approved 
Officer Scheme of Delegation. NB this includes funding matters under 
6.14 and 6.15 below; or 

(f) to reflect the outcome of any buy or lease options appraisals 
undertaken regarding the procurement of vehicles, plant and 
equipment, or associated financing decisions. 

6.12 The Chief Finance Officer will report significant changes retrospectively, through 
normal financial monitoring and reporting arrangements. 

6.13 Chief Officers are responsible for: 

(a) consulting with the Chief Finance Officer and obtaining relevant 
approval/s on any matter liable to affect the Council’s finances, before 
any commitments are incurred. 

(b) ensuring that relevant Councillors are advised of the financial 
implications of all proposals and that the financial implications have 
been agreed by the Chief Finance Officer. 

External Funding Arrangements 

6.14 Council is responsible for approving any external funding bid that falls outside of the 
Budget and Policy Framework, normally on referral from Cabinet. 

6.15 Cabinet is responsible for approving any external funding bid that is above the Key 
Decision threshold, and/or involves the redirection of resources between service 
areas, functions or activities on an ongoing basis, but is otherwise within the Budget 
and Policy Framework. 

Page 160



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 147 

6.16 Separately, where a proposal involves the Council acting as the “accountable body” 
for a partnership or joint venture (often, but not always, involving external funding), the 
approval lies with Cabinet, with referral on to Full Council if outside of the Budget and 
Policy Framework. 

6.17 Chief Officers  have authority, with the agreement of the Chief Finance Officer, to 
express an interest in, bid for, and accept external funds where the total value of the 
bid does not exceed the Council’s Key Decision thresholds and the proposal is (at 
least) budget neutral, subject to due diligence being demonstrated. 

6.18 Chief Officers  have authority to submit expressions of interest for external funding 
above Key Decision thresholds: 

(a) subject to consultation with the Section151 Officer and the relevant 
Portfolio holder, and additionally 

(b) the Leader and the Chief Executive, where the expression of interest 
falls outside of the Budget and/or Policy Framework. 

6.19 For clarity, an expression of interest in itself does not constitute a Key Decision. 

6.20 Should any such expression of interest be successful, 6.14 and 6.15 will apply as 
normal (as will Key Decision notice requirements). 

6.21 Chief Officers  have authority to accept funding bids approved by Cabinet and/or Full 
Council, subject to due diligence being completed and with the written consent of the 
Chief Finance Officer. 

6.22 Chief Officers  have responsibility for notifying the Chief Finance Officer of all 
expressions of interest, bids, awards, claims and all other external funding matters. 
Additionally, they are responsible for liaising with the Chief Finance Officer, as 
necessary, where it is proposed that the Council acts as accountable body in relation 
to any proposed partnership or other joint venture. 

6.23 All the above are subject to any alternative or additional authorisation as may be 
required by the external funding provider. In these instances, the Chief Finance Officer 
must have prior notice of such requirements. 

Provisions, Reserves and Balances 

6.24 Reserves and balances are to be established and operated in accordance with the 
Provisions and Reserves Policy, proposed by Cabinet and approved by Council as 
part of the MTFS. 

6.25 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for advising the Council on the level of 
reserves and balances held and for ensuring that clear protocols are in place for their 
establishment and use.  

6.26 In accordance with proper practices, the Chief Finance Officer has full authority to 
establish, manage and maintain appropriate financial provisions, as reflected in the 
approved Provisions and Reserves Policy.  

Financial Records and Reporting 

What this covers: 

Page 161



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 148 

Financial records and reporting covers the formal policies, records and documents that 
the Council is required to maintain, and the reports and returns it is required to produce 
for submission or publication to its external stakeholders. It includes the Council’s 
accounting policies as well as its formal accounts, financial returns and claims and 
other reports required by the Government and/or external partners and funding bodies. 
These requirements have increased in recent years, linked to the Government’s drive 
to increase transparency. 

Why this is important: 

6.27 The Council is accountable for millions of pounds worth of public money. Producing 
sound, accessible information supports the accountability, from the perspectives both 
of external stakeholders and the Council’s own. 

6.28 The Council has a statutory responsibility to prepare, approve and publish its accounts 
in accordance with proper practices and must ensure that the accounts present fairly 
the Council’s operations during the year. Other regulations and proper practices also 
exist to ensure that financial information is kept and presented on a consistent basis, 
to provide transparency and openness, and to aid comparison with other 
organisations. 

Components 

Accounting Policies, Records and Returns 

6.29 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for: 

(a) selecting accounting policies and ensuring that they are applied 
consistently; 

(b) the operation of the Council’s accounting controls, the form of 
accounts and the supporting financial records; 

(c) advising on the extent and format of asset records to be maintained by 
the Council in order to meet all necessary accounting requirements; 

(d) advising on and determining the establishment and operation of 
service accounting structures, cost centres and trading accounts; 
(D10) 

(e) advising on and determining the accounting and any supporting 
financial arrangements to be adopted where the Council acts as the 
“accountable body” in relation to a partnership or joint venture; and 

(f) Determining and operating any in-year external reporting 
arrangements as may be required or recommended under regulation 
or proper practices. 

6.30 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that established accounting policies and 
accounting control systems are followed and necessary accounting and asset records 
are maintained. ‘Service Reporting Code of Practice for Local Authorities’ CIPFA 
(published annually) 

Annual Statement of Accounts 

Page 162



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 149 

6.31 Full Council has delegated its responsibility for approving the Annual Statement of 
Accounts to the Audit Committee, in accordance with the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015. 

6.32 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that the Annual Statement of 
Accounts is prepared in accordance with proper practices and for meeting 
requirements relating to International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
preparation of “Whole of Government Accounts”. 

6.33 Chief Officers  are responsible for ensuring that relevant Officers liaise effectively with 
their accountant(s) to enable the efficient and accurate compilation of the Statement 
of Accounts. 

Accounting Returns and Grant Claims 

6.34 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the preparation and submission of any 
other public financial reporting or financial returns required by the Government. 

6.35 Chief Officers  are responsible for ensuring that relevant Officers liaise effectively with 
their accountant(s) and the Chief Finance Officer in compiling and submitting grant 
claims and funding returns. 

6.36 The Chief Finance Officer has general responsibility for approving the content and 
accuracy of grant claims and other funding returns, and signing off such documents, 
subject to any alternative or additional authorisation as may be required by the agency 
providing the funding.   

Section 6  Control of Resources 
 
What this covers: 

6.37 Control of resources covers the principles, processes and systems established by the 
Council to govern its activities and protect its assets and financial well-being. It 
includes: 

(a) Treasury Management and banking arrangements for the 
safeguarding and management of the Council’s monetary assets; 

(b) the establishment and operation of other secure and reliable financial 
systems; 

(c) arrangements for managing risk, including insurance; 

(d) the maintenance of a sound system of governance; 

(e) arrangements for effective independent review; and 

(f) arrangements to manage and minimise the threats from fraud, 
corruption, and other forms of financial crime. 

6.38 Effective treasury management is essential not only to safeguard the Council’s 
monetary assets and interests, but also to provide support towards the achievement 
of its business and service objectives. The Council defines its Treasury Management 
activities as: “The management of the Council’s investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the 

Page 163



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 150 

risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks”. 

6.39 The Council operates a wide range of financial systems and procedures falling within 
the following general areas/functions: 

(a) Income management (including both cash and credit income); 

(b) Ordering and paying for work, goods and services; 

(c) Payments to Officers and Councillors (including pensions); 

(d) Welfare payments; 

(e) Accounting (including Trading Accounts, Business Units and Trust 
Funds); 

(f) The management of, and accounting for, physical assets, including 
land, vehicles, plant and machinery, and stocks; and 

(g) Taxation. 

6.40 These Financial Regulations are supported by an extensive catalogue of policy, 
instructional, guidance and training documents covering the detailed operation of the 
Council’s financial systems and procedures. 

6.41 Risk is defined as ‘the probability of an event occurring and its consequences’ and the 
Council defines risk management as ‘the process by which the Council manages 
threats, enhances opportunities and creates an environment that adds value to all its 
activities’. 

6.42 Risk management (including insurance) is therefore concerned with those 
arrangements and practices aimed at identifying and managing the threats (and 
opportunities) which could influence the Council’s ability to achieve its strategic and 
operational objectives and deliver value for money, including the following: 

(a) Strategic or business risks; 

(b) Business continuity; 

(c) Health and Safety; and 

(d) Project management. 

6.43 Sound systems of governance and internal control are essential in enabling the Council 
to set and achieve its aims and objectives for the District. The Council defines its own 
governance standards in its Code of Corporate Governance. 

6.44 Internal Audit and External Audit, which are both required by legislation, provide an 
essential element of independent review of the Council’s financial management, 
governance and internal control arrangements. 

6.45 The Council is committed to protecting itself and the public from all forms of fraud, 
theft, corruption and bribery, including any irregularity and the improper use or 
misappropriation of the Council’s property or resources, and has accordingly put 
arrangements in place to combat these threats. 

Page 164



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 151 

Why this is important: 

(a) The Council is a complex organisation with a wide range of activities. 
It therefore requires a clear and sound framework of governance and 
internal control to manage and monitor its progress towards strategic 
objectives, meet its statutory obligations and fiduciary duties, and 
protect its interests and assets. 

(b) In establishing and maintaining this framework, the Council must have 
efficient and effective arrangements to: 

(i) identify and manage significant risks; 

(ii) secure its assets; 

(iii) provide an adequate and effective Internal Audit, in accordance 
with The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015; 

(iv) meet the requirements regarding External Audit of the Council’s 
accounts, its systems of governance and its arrangements for 
securing value for money; 

(v) address the threats from potentially fraudulent or corrupt activity; 
and 

(vi) ensure that due diligence is performed in the arrangement and 
execution of all financial transactions, contracts and 
negotiations.  

6.46 Sound financial systems and procedures are essential to an effective framework of 
accountability and control. The Council’s services have many systems and procedures 
relating to the control of the Council’s assets, including purchasing, costing and 
management systems 

6.47 The Council in general is increasingly reliant on technology for its financial 
management information. The information must therefore be accurate and the systems 
and procedures sound and well administered. Systems and procedures need to 
contain controls to ensure that transactions are properly processed, enabling the 
prevention and prompt detection of any errors or potential fraud, and that records can 
be reconstituted if the need arises. 

6.48 Linked to these points, the Chief Finance Officer has statutory (see Legislative 
Requirements at section 2 above) and professional (see Proper Practices at section 2 
above) responsibilities to ensure that the Council’s financial systems are sound. 

Components 

Treasury Management 

6.49 The Council has adopted proper practices in Treasury Management, as provided for 
in the Local Government Act 2003. 

6.50 Accordingly, the Council will create and maintain, as cornerstones for effective treasury 
management: 

Page 165



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 152 

(a) a treasury management policy statement, stating the policies and 
objectives of its treasury management activities; and 

(b) suitable treasury management practices (TMPs), setting out the 
manner in which the organisation will seek to achieve those policies 
and objectives, and prescribing how it will manage and control those 
activities. 

6.51 Full Council will receive reports on its treasury management policies, practices and 
activities, including, as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, 
and an annual report after its close, in the form prescribed in its TMPs. 

6.52 The Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and monitoring of its 
treasury management policies and practices to the Cabinet, and for the execution and 
administration of treasury management decisions to the Chief Finance Officer, who will 
act in accordance with the organisation’s policy statement and TMPs and, if they are 
a CIPFA member, CIPFA’s ‘Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury 
Management’. 

6.53 The Council nominates the Budget and Performance Panel to be responsible for 
ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies. 

6.54 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for: 

(a) arranging the borrowing and investments of the Council in such a 
manner as to ensure:  

(i) compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management and the Council’s treasury management policy 
statement, strategy and practices; 

(ii) that all investments of money are made in the name of the 
Council  or in the name of nominees approved by Full Council; 

(iii) that all securities that are the property of the Council or its 
nominees and the title deeds of all property in the Council’s 
ownership are held in the custody of the Chief Officer Housing 
and Property  

(iv) that all borrowings are effected in the name of the Council; and 

(v) he/she acts as the Council’s registrar of stocks, bonds and 
mortgages and maintains records of all borrowing of money by 
the Council; 

(b) reporting to Full Council on treasury management as required by these 
regulations and in accordance with the Council’s treasury 
management practices; 

(c) making recommendations to Cabinet regarding treasury management 
policies, strategies and principles, and maintaining detailed treasury 
management practices accordingly; and 

Page 166



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 153 

(d) determining in liaison with the Chief Officer Governance , and advising 
Chief officers  on, arrangements for the establishment and 
management of trust funds; 

6.55 Chief Officers  are responsible for ensuring that: 

(a) loans are not made to third parties and that interests are not acquired 
in companies, joint ventures or other enterprises without appropriate 
Councillor approval, following consultation with the Chief Finance 
Officer; and 

(b) where trust funds are held on behalf of third parties, they are managed 
in accordance with arrangements determined by the Chief Finance 
Officer and the Chief Officer Governance..   

Banking 

6.56 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for: 

(a) the opening, closing and operation of any bank accounts considered 
necessary; 

(b) determining the provision, and rules for the security, operation and 
accounting, of any cash or bank imprest accounts required to meet 
minor expenditure on behalf of the Council; 

6.57 Chief Officers  are responsible for ensuring that the instructions on banking issued by 
the Chief Finance Officer are followed 

Financial Systems 

6.58 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for: 

(a) the development and operation of the Council’s accounting systems, 
to ensure that financial transactions are recorded as soon as, and as 
accurately as, reasonably practicable; 

(b) issuing instructions, and providing advice, guidance and training on 
the operation of financial systems and procedures for Officers, 
Councillors and others acting on the Council’s behalf. Such 
instructions must identify the duties of Officers, and division of 
responsibilities in relation to significant transactions; 

(c) ensuring that uncollectable amounts, including bad debts, are only 
written off with his/her (or their nominated representative’s) approval, 
and 

(d) approving any changes proposed by Chief Officers to existing financial 
systems and procedures, or for the establishment of new systems. 

6.59 Chief Officers are responsible for: 

(a) ensuring that a proper scheme of delegation has been established 
within their areas and is operating effectively; 

(b) the proper operation of financial processes in their own service; 

Page 167



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 154 

(c) ensuring that their staff receive relevant financial training that has been 
approved by the Chief Finance Officer; 

(d) ensuring that ‘due diligence’ is performed by staff when conducting 
business involving financial transactions. In this context, due diligence 
is defined as: “That measure of prudence, responsibility, and diligence 
that is expected from, and ordinarily exercised by, a reasonable and 
prudent person under the circumstances”; 

(e) obtaining the prior approval of the Chief Finance Officer for any 
proposal to change existing financial systems (in whole or part) or to 
establish new systems (including any connections or interfaces with 
other systems). 

Risk Management 

6.60 The Audit Committee is responsible for approving the Council’s risk management 
policy statement and strategy and for reviewing their effectiveness, to help ensure that 
risk is appropriately managed; 

6.61 The Chief Officer Resources is responsible for developing and promoting the Council’s 
risk management arrangements throughout the Council, also to ensure their 
effectiveness in supporting high standards of corporate governance. 

6.62 Chief Officers  are responsible for implementing the Council’s risk management 
strategies and policies. 

Insurance 

6.63 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for: 

(a) ensuring that corporate arrangements are in place through external 
insurance and internal self-funding to provide appropriate insurance 
cover; 

(b) reporting to the Cabinet on options regarding insurance arrangements, 
where appropriate; 

(c) effecting insurance cover corporately, through external insurance and 
internal funding; and 

(d) settling claims with claimants and/or insurers, in consultation with 
other Officers, as necessary. 

6.64 Chief Officers are responsible for: 

(e) keeping timely, accurate and up to date information on insurable risks 
and for notifying the Chief Finance Officer of the scope of insurance 
cover required operationally; 

(f) notifying the Chief Finance Officer immediately of any loss, liability or 
damage that may lead to a claim against the Council, together with 
any information or explanation required by the Chief Finance Officer 
or the Council’s insurers; and 

Page 168



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 155 

(g) consulting the Chief Finance Officer and the Chief Officer Governance 
on the terms of any indemnity that the Council is requested to give. 

Internal Controls and Corporate Governance 

6.65 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for advising on effective systems of internal 
control and for reporting regularly on their appropriateness. 

6.66 Chief Officers are responsible for establishing and maintaining sound arrangements 
for planning, appraising, authorising and controlling their operations as a contribution 
to the Council achieving a positive External Audit opinion on its arrangements for 
securing value for money; 

6.67  The Chief Finance Officer, along with the Monitoring Officer and relevant Chief 
Officers , must consider the overall corporate governance arrangements and legal 
issues when developing contractual arrangements with external bodies. The Chief 
Finance Officer, Monitoring Officer and relevant Chief Officers must ensure that the 
risks have been fully appraised before agreements are entered into with external 
bodies. 

6.68 In accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Council is required 
to conduct, at least once each year, a review of the effectiveness of its system of 
internal control; and 

6.69 Following the review mentioned above the Audit Committee is responsible for 
approving an annual governance statement prepared in accordance with proper 
practices. 

Internal Audit 

6.70 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require every local authority to undertake 
an adequate and effective Internal Audit of its accounting records and of its system of 
internal control in accordance with proper practices. 

6.71 The Audit Committee is responsible for: 

(a) approving an Internal Audit Charter, drafted in accordance with proper 
practices for Internal Audit, which sets out the organisational and 
operational arrangements under which Internal Audit will be managed 
and delivered; 

(b) approving and monitoring progress with Internal Audit plans; 

(c) reviewing Internal Audit findings and ensuring that appropriate action 
is taken; and 

(d) reviewing Internal Audit’s performance, effectiveness and compliance 
with proper practices. 

6.72 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that an effective Internal Audit 
function is resourced and maintained. 

6.73 The Chief Officer Resources is responsible for organising, managing and delivering an 
effective Internal Audit function in accordance with the approved Internal Audit Charter. 

Page 169



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 156 

6.74 Chief Officers  are responsible for ensuring that Internal Audit is enabled to operate 
efficiently and effectively in accordance with the approved Internal Audit Charter. 

6.75 In accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Audit Committee is 
responsible for, at least once each year, conducting a review of the effectiveness of 
Internal Audit and for considering the findings of that review as part of the review of 
the system of internal control (see 6.68). 

External Audit 

6.76 The basic duties of the External Auditor are governed by section 15 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1982 and a Parliamentary Code.  

6.77  The Audit Committee is responsible for: 

(a) commenting on processes for the appointment of the External Auditor; 

(b) receiving, commenting on, and monitoring progress with the External 
Auditor’s plans; and 

(c) receiving and commenting on all scheduled outputs from the External 
Auditor’s work, including the annual Audit Letter. 

6.78 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for: 

(a) ensuring that External Auditors are given access at all reasonable 
times to premises, personnel, documents and assets that they 
consider necessary for the purposes of their work; 

(b) ensuring there is effective liaison between external and Internal Audit; 
and 

(c) working with the External Auditor and advising Full Council, Cabinet 
and on Chief Officers  their responsibilities in relation to External Audit. 

6.79 Chief Officers  are responsible for ensuring that: 

(a) External Auditors are given access at all reasonable times to premises, 
personnel, documents and assets which they consider necessary for 
the purposes of their work; and 

(b) ensuring that all records and systems are up to date and available for 
inspection. 

Preventing Fraud and Corruption 

6.80 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for: 

(a) the development and maintenance of an anti-fraud and anti-corruption 
policy; 

(b) maintaining adequate and effective internal control arrangements; and 

(c) ensuring that all suspected irregularities are reported to Internal Audit, 
and the Head of Paid Service and any irregularity with a significant 

Page 170



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 157 

impact is reported to the Audit Committee and any other bodies as 
appropriate. 

6.81 Chief Officers  are responsible for ensuring that: 

(a) all suspected irregularities are dealt with in accordance with approved 
response plans; 

(b) the Council’s disciplinary procedures are instigated where the 
outcome of action taken in response to a suspected irregularity 
indicates improper behaviour; and 

(c) ensuring that Officers’ pecuniary interests are recorded in the register 
of interests maintained by Democratic Support. 

6.82 Internal Audit are responsible for ensuring that: 

(a) appropriate response plans, including arrangements to consult with all 
relevant Officers, are in place to deal with any reported or suspected 
irregularity; and 

(b) where sufficient evidence exists to believe that a criminal offence may 
have been committed, the police are consulted to determine how the 
matter will be investigated and, with reference to the Crown 
Prosecution Service, whether any prosecution will take place. 

  

Page 171



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 158 

 

CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 
 
 

Introduction 

 
These Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) are intended to promote good procurement practice, 
public accountability and to deter corruption.  The CPR’s are mandatory for all Officers.  
Following them is the best defence against allegations that a purchase has been made 
unfairly, incorrectly or fraudulently.  Officers responsible for purchasing must comply with 
these CPRs. They lay down minimum requirements.  These Contract Procedure Rules have 
been written to allow social value, community wealth-building and environmental benefits to 
be included in procurement decisions.  
 
Social Value for the purpose of these contract procedure rules is taken to include Community 
Wealth-Building, Environmental and Economic benefits. 
 
Further advice on the CPRs can be sort by contacting procurement in the first instance. You 
may also need to contact Legal Services  
 
All procurement approaches, whether established and traditional or modern and innovative 
must comply with all elements of these CPR’s. 
 
All values referred to in these CPR’s are exclusive of VAT. 
  

Page 172



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 159 

Section 1: Scope of the Contract Procedure Rules  

 

1.0 Basic Principles  
1.1 All purchasing procedures must:  

 Comply with the Treaty of Rome principles of equality, transparency, non-

discrimination, Equal Treatment, Mutual Recognition and proportionality  

 Achieve value for money for all public money spent  

 Be consistent with the highest standards of integrity  

 Ensure fairness and transparency in allocating public contracts  

 Comply with UK & EU law and all legal requirements  

 Ensure that non-commercial considerations (except those allowed for in the Social 

Value Act) do not influence any contracting decision  

 Comply with the Council’s various Codes of Practice and the Council’s aims and 

policies  

 Seek to incorporate social value, community wealth-building and environmental 

benefits. 

 

2.0 Officer Responsibilities  
2.1 Officers responsible for purchasing must comply with these Contract Procedure Rules, the 

Council’s Financial Regulations, the Staff Code of Conduct, the Council’s Anti-Bribery 

policy, arrangements for declaring conflicts of interest and Council’s Scheme of Delegation 

and with all UK and European Union binding legal requirements. Officers must ensure that 

any agents, consultants and contractual partners acting on their behalf also comply. 

Officers must:  

 Have proper regard for all necessary legal, financial and professional advice  

 Declare any personal financial interest in a contract. Corruption is a criminal offence 

  Report any offers of bribes or inducements  

 Conduct any relevant value for money review  

 Ensure that there is adequate budget provision for the procurement being undertaken 

 Check whether there is an existing contract that can be used before undergoing a 

competitive process  

 Allow sufficient time for the submission of bids  

 Keep all supplier bids confidential  

 Keep records of all dealings with suppliers  

 The project manager should ensure the safe keeping of contract documentation in line 

with the Council’s document retention policy.  

 Obtain all required approvals and complete a written contract (and sealed, as required) 

before placing an order or raising a purchase order for any supplies, services or works  

 Where appropriate, not award a contract until the standstill period is over  

 Enter all purchase order information onto the Oracle financial system  

 Based on the Scheme of Delegation, identify a senior manager who is the designated 

contract owner responsible for the relationship with the supplier. In addition, a contract 

manager with responsibility for day to day issues and ensuring the contract delivers as 

intended may also be appointed  

 Ensure that contracts are legally, financially and technically capable of delivery to the 

Council  

 

Page 173



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 160 

2.2 When any employee either of the Council or of a service provider may be affected by any 

transfer arrangement, Officers must ensure that the Transfer of Undertaking (Protection of 

Employment - TUPE) issues are considered.  

2.3 Unless otherwise delegated, Chief Officers  should:  

 Keep records of all purchases and contracts valued below £100,000 

 Ensure that all signed and sealed contracts valued at £100,000 and greater are 

scanned and entered onto the Contract Register  

 Ensure that all Waivers are recorded under Rule 17  

 

3.0 Grants  
3.1 For the purposes of these Contract Procedure Rules, a grant refers to grant-in-aid and is 

the provision of funding to cover, in whole or, more likely, in part, the running costs of an 

organisation whose work complements that of the Council. The recipient will have 

discretion over the spending of that funding within the general framework of controls 

agreed between the Council and the recipient of the grant. 

3.2 The terms of a grant are likely to require the other organisation to use the money only for 

a particular project or service and might require the recipient to pay back the grant, or part 

of it, in some circumstances. The Council would still, of course, monitor the achievement 

of the proposed outcomes and any giving of a grant should be subject of a formal contract. 

3.3 The Council should determine on a case by case basis whether funding is to be considered 

as a grant or a Relevant Contract by reference to the decision making tool published by 

the National Audit Office at http://www.nao.org.uk/decision-support-toolkit/. A Relevant 

Contract is any arrangement made by, or on behalf of the Council the carrying out of works 

or for the supply of goods, materials or services.  

 

4.0 Collaboration  
4.1 In order to secure value for money, the Council may enter into a procurement arrangement 

with a Central Purchasing Body (CPB). The terms and conditions of the CPB must be fully 

complied with, including any requirement to undertake competition between providers. In 

order to secure value for money, the Council may enter into collaborative procurement 

arrangements with another local authority, government department, primary care trust, 

statutory undertaker or other contracting authority.  

4.2 In some areas, the Council may enter into a collaborative service delivery arrangement 

with one or more other ‘partner’ organisations (whether local authorities, other public 

bodies or private sector organisations).  In such circumstances, the council may wish to 

take advantage of a partner’s procurement arrangements, expertise and agreements (e.g. 

frameworks).  

 

5.0 Relevant Contracts  
5.1 All Relevant Contracts must comply with these Contract Procedure Rules. These include 

arrangements made by or on behalf of the Council for the carrying out of works or the 

supply of goods, materials or services, for:  

 The supply of goods, services and works  

 The hire, rental or lease of goods or equipment  

 Concession contracts for the supply of services and works  

 Contracts or agreements where the provider is employed on a no win/no fee basis. 

 
5.2 Relevant Contracts do not include:  

Page 174



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 161 

 Contracts of employment which make an individual a direct employee of the Council  

 Grants – see rule 3  

 Fines  

 Payment of taxes  

 Agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land (for which Financial 

Regulations shall apply)  

 Delivery of works and services by an in-house provider, including for example: 

construction, engineering, maintenance, professional services, etc 

 Contracts for the provision of any product or service that has been manufactured or 

delivered by an illegal means.  

  

Page 175



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 162 

Section 2: Common Requirements  

 

6.0 Steps Prior to Purchase  
6.1 Officers should take the following steps before beginning a procurement exercise:  

a. Determine the service, product or works output taking into account the requirements 

from any relevant value for money review and the Council’s commissioning outcomes  

b. Appraise the need for the expenditure and its priority  

c. Define the objectives of the purchase  

d. Assess the risks associated with the purchase and how to manage them  

e. Officers involved in the evaluation of tenders must complete the declarations of interest 

form prior to the evaluation criteria being developed and agreed and prior to the start 

of the evaluation process  

Officers should also consider what procurement method is most likely to achieve the 
purchasing objectives, including packaging strategies, internal or external sourcing, shared 
services, concession arrangements, partnering arrangements and collaborative procurement 
arrangements with other local authorities and government departments. Officers should also 
consider working with NHS Lancashire and South Cumbria Integrated Care Board, statutory 
undertakers and Central Purchasing Bodies.  

6.3 Officers should ensure that all procurements including method, contract standards and 

performance and user satisfaction monitoring and including any collaborative 

arrangements, are carried out using the Council’s principles of co-production and co-

delivery. Officers should also use the Council’s standard terms and conditions of contract 

where possible. 

6.4 The officer must confirm that they have the authority to spend, have obtained the required 

approval(s) for the expenditure and the purchase accords with the Scheme of Delegation.  

If the purchase is valued at £250,000 and greater, an entry onto the Council’s List of 

Forthcoming Key Decisions has been made. If the purchase is valued at £50,000 and 

greater, the relevant Cabinet Member has been consulted.  

 

7.0 Procurement Records  
7.1 Where the total value is less than £100,000, the relevant officer must ensure that the 

following records are kept:  

 Invitations to quote and quotations  

 A record of any waivers to the procurement process and the reasons for them  

 Written records of communications with the successful contractor or an electronic 

record if a written record of the transaction would normally not be produced  

 Copies of the quotes received must be appended to the relevant requisition  

6.2 Where the total value exceeds £100,000, the relevant Chief Officer must ensure that the 

following records are kept:  

 The method for obtaining bids  

 The calculation of the estimated value  

 The reason for entering into a contract  

 Any waiver under Rule 17 together with the reasons for it  

 The award criteria in descending order of importance  

 Tender documents sent to and received from tenderers  

 Pre-tender research, benchmarking and consultation information  

 All tender evaluation documentation. To include the scoring assessment sheet for each 

of the tender evaluators. Any post-tender clarification information, to include minutes 

of meetings  

Page 176



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 163 

 The contract documents  

 Contract due diligence checks, implementation and evaluation plan and any monitoring 

and management information  

 Communications with all tenderers throughout the tendering exercise and with the 

successful supplier(s) throughout the period of the contract  

 Record of Social Value offering that is to be measured and delivered through out the 

contract. 

7.3 All contracts must be entered onto the Council’s Contract Register held on the supplier 

portal.  The manager responsible for procuring the contract should ensure the safe keeping 

of contract documentation in line with Lancaster’s document retention policy.  

 

  

Page 177



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 164 

Section 3: Purchasing Rules  
 

8.0 Competition Requirements for Purchases, Partnership Arrangements 

Frameworks and Concession contracts  
8.1 Officers must calculate the total aggregate value of any contract or purchase. If in doubt, 

Officers should seek the advice of their procurement team.  

8.2 The following table shows the procedures and approval process for the Council's 

tendering activities: 

 

 Total Aggregate 
Value  

Procedure  Internal Approval  Other Essential Requirements  

A  £0.00 up to & 
including £10,000  

One Written Quote  RSO  The quote must represent 

value for money  

B  Greater than 
£10,000 & up to 
£100,000*  

One of:  

 A framework or 

dynamic 

purchasing 

system (DPS)  

 Three Written 

Quotes  

RSO  Unless a framework is 

used, 3 written quotes to 

be secured under sealed 

bid, of which, at least one 

quote from a local 

Lancaster supplier*. 

 opportunities valued at or 

greater than £25,000 

which are being openly 

advertised must, in 

addition to the supplier 

portal be advertised on 

the Contracts Finder  

 Above £50,000 relevant 

cabinet member to be 

consulted. 

*it should be noted that for 
procurements below EU 
Thresholds a restricted 
process can be permitted 
with all suppliers from the 
local area, subject to a waiver 
under Rule 17.  

C  £100,000* & up to 
and including 
£150,000*  

Formal Tendering 
through one of the 
following:  

 A Framework 

or DPS  

 Tender 

including 

advertisement 

on Lancaster’s 

supplier portal, 

Contracts 

Finder,  

Chief Officer   Pre-qualification 

Questionnaires may not 

be used to restrict 

providers below Public 

Services Contract 

Threshold.  However, 

Suitability questions are 

permitted.  

 Details on Contract 

Register  

 Contract placed under 

seal if advised by Legal 

Page 178



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 165 

 Relevant 

cabinet 

member to be 

consulted. 

D  Greater than 
£150,000 and up 
to and including 
£200,000  

 Formal 

tendering  

 Refer to EU 

rules and 

requirements. 

 

 Chief 

Executive 

 As C, above,  

 Above EU threshold pre-

qualification allowed. 

 

E  Greater than 
£200,000 

 Formal 

tendering  

 

 Chief 

Executive with 

delegated 

authority from 

Cabinet   

 As D, above  

 Above £250,000 

published on the 

Council’s List of 

Forthcoming Key 

Decisions?  

 
8.3  

a. Where a contract is valued between public services contract threshold and any higher 

applicable public contract threshold, it is possible to use a restricted tendering (two 

stage) process. 

b. Where a contract is valued between the Council’s tendering threshold and the public 

services contract threshold, a single stage process shall be used. 

c. Framework Contracts – An agreement between one or more contracting authorities 

and one or more economic operators. The term of a framework shall, save duly, 

justified and exceptional circumstances not exceed 4 years. Frameworks cannot be 

used in an improper manner that may hinder, restrict or distort competition. All terms 

and conditions of contract must set out how call-offs from the framework will be made 

and must be followed. 

d. Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) – A completely electronic system used to 

purchase commonly used goods, services or works. Unlike a traditional framework the 

process shall be open throughout the contract term allowing new suppliers to join at 

any time.  A DPS must follow the rules of restricted procedure. 

e. Concession Contracts – To grant to the provider the sole and exclusive right to 

deliver the contract and to make money from the contact. A Concession contract must 

follow the requirement of the Concession Contract Regulation and can follow a single 

or restricted procedure.    

Where two-stage process is allowed, the tender advertisement must show the number of 
suitably qualified tenderers who will be invited to submit bids.  
 

8.4 An Officer must not enter into separate contracts nor select a method of calculating the 

total value in order to minimise the application of these contract procedure rules or to avoid 

the requirements of the EU.  

Page 179



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 166 

8.5 Where extensions of time or variations in price (or both together) are made to an existing 

contract, Officers must adhere to the extension and/or variation provisions in the terms 

and conditions. Officers must compute the amount of the variation and seek approval in 

accordance with the Council's Scheme of Delegation.   

8.6 Where a contract is to be terminated before its contracted termination date, this must be 

approved by the relevant Chief Officer . 

8.7 Legal Services must be consulted where contracts to work for organisations other than the 

Council are contemplated.  

 

9.0 Pre-Tender Stage  
9.1 The Officer responsible for the purchase may consult potential suppliers prior to the issue 

of the invitation to tender in general terms about the nature, level and standard of the 

supply, contract packaging and other relevant matters, provided this does not prejudice 

any potential candidate.  Or give an unfair advantage to a potential candidate.  Officers 

are strongly advised to engage with suppliers during the tender process.  

9.2 The responsible officer must consider Responsible Procurement at this stage. Contracts 

tendered must not only achieve value for money on a whole life costing basis for the 

organisation but also for society, the economy and the environment. Steps must be taken 

to incorporate social value, community wealth-building and environmental benefits.  

For Contracts or orders over £50,000 Officers are required to engage with their Cabinet 
Member before the approval of tender has been given.  Discussions should include the 
contract's outcomes and outputs and opportunities for social value, community wealth-
building and environmental benefits.  

 

10.0 Advertising and Prequalification   
10.1 Officers should ensure that, where proposed contracts, irrespective of their total aggregate 

value, might be of interest to potential suppliers located in other member states of the EU, 

a sufficiently accessible advertisement is published.  Generally, the greater the interest of 

the contract to potential bidders from other member states, the wider the coverage of the 

advertisement should be. Advertisements for tenders should be placed as below: 

a. For procurements valued between £0.00 and up to £100,000, officers are not obliged 

to formally advertise the purchase but may do so using the Council’s supplier portal. 

b. For contracts above £25,000 and that are being openly procured, Officers must 

advertise the opportunity on Contracts Finder. 

c. Where the value exceeds the current EU thresholds for supply, service and works 

contracts, tender advertisement rules must be followed in accordance with the current 

EU Public Procurement Directive. 

d. For procurement activity of any value officers may use additional advertisements in 

national official journals, specialist trade papers or websites, if relevant and if 

affordable.  

  

Page 180



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 167 

11.0 Standards & Award Criteria  
11.1 The Officer must ascertain the relevant EU, UK, European or international standards which 

apply to the subject matter of the contract. The Officer must include those standards which 

are necessary properly to describe the required quality.  Legal Services must be consulted 

if it is proposed to use standards other than European standards.  

11.2 The Officer must define award criteria that are appropriate to the purchase and designed 

to secure an outcome giving Value for Money for the Council. The basic criteria shall be:  

a. "Most Economically Advantageous", where price and quality elements are 

considered.  All elements to be fully identified (including sub-criterion) in the 

Invitation to Tender (ITT) documentation.  Quality elements should include 

delivery of Social Value. 

b. "Highest Price" if payment is to be received for sale or disposal  

11.3 Award criteria must not include non-commercial considerations except those set out in the 

Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012, the Procurement Strategy or matters which 

discriminate against suppliers from the European Economic Area or signatories to the 

Government Procurement Agreement and must reflect the subject matter of the contract.  

11.4 Social Value outputs will be included in any contract award criteria, where the contract 

value is above £100,000.  For contracts below £100,000 officers should include Social 

Value output wherever possible.  

 

12.0 Invitations to Tender & Quotations  
12.1 The invitation to tender shall state that no tender will be considered unless it is received 

by the date and time stipulated in the Invitation to Tender.  

12.2 All Requests for Quotes or Invitation to Tenders valued at £10,000 and greater must be 

conducted online through the Supplier Portal.  Officers and suppliers will be provided with 

guidance and support on how the system works and where they can get help.  

12.3 All Invitations to tender to include the following:  

a. The requirement that all Tenders and their responses for contracts valued at £100,000 

and greater must be completed online  

b. A specification that describes the Council’s requirements. A requirement for tenderers 

to declare that the tender content, price or any other figure or particulars concerning 

the tender have not been disclosed by the tenderer to any other party (except where 

such a disclosure is made in confidence for a necessary purpose) 

c. A requirement for tenderers to complete fully and sign all tender documents including 

a form of tender and certificates relating to canvassing and non-collusion  

d. Notification that tenders are submitted to the Council on the basis that they are 

prepared at the tenderer’s expense 

e. A description of the award procedure and, a definition of the award criteria in objective 

terms and if possible, in descending order of importance 

f. The method by which any arithmetical errors discovered in the submitted tenders is to 

be dealt with; in particular, whether the overall price prevails over the rates in the tender 

or vice versa  

12.4 All Invitations to tender or quotations must specify the goods, service or works that are 

required, together with the terms and conditions of contract that will apply (see Rule 16).  

12.5 Tenders that are returned without a requested signed Form of Tender will be considered 

as non-compliant. 

12.6 All candidates invited to tender, or quote must be issued with the same information at the 

same time and subject to the same conditions. Any supplementary information must be 

given on the same basis. 

Page 181



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 168 

13.0 Shortlisting  
13.1 Any shortlisting must have regard to the financial standing, technical capacity and 

capability relevant to the contract and the award criteria. 

13.2 Where the contract value relates to the EU thresholds, Officers must adhere to specific 

shortlisting rules that apply in respect of the EU Directives.   

  

14.0 Submission, Receipt & Opening of Tenders & Quotations  
14.1 Tenders of £100,000 or greater must be returned directly using the Council’s supplier 

portal.  Further information on the e-tendering system is available from the procurement 

team. Tenders must be submitted directly to the portal.  

14.2 An electronic reverse auction should only be used following discussion with the 

Procurement Manager. The procedure enables suppliers/providers to adjust their tender 

price in the light of information from the tender prices submitted by competing 

suppliers/providers, then alterations will be accepted as permitted by the auction process.   

14.3 All submitted tenders must be opened at the same time when the period for submission 

has ended and not before the date of submission.  

14.4 Suppliers who have expressed interest or have been invited to participate in a tender must 

be given adequate period in which to prepare and submit a proper quotation or tender, 

consistent with the complexity of the contract requirement. The EU Directive on public 

procurement includes specific tendering time periods.  

14.5 Any tender that does not comply with the Council’s requirement, as set out in the tender 

invitation, should normally be excluded from consideration, with the circumstances 

recorded.  Officers may, however, seek the agreement of the Chief Officer Governance 

and procurement to relax these requirements in appropriate circumstances.  

15.0 Clarification Procedures and Post Tender Negotiation  
15.1 Providing clarification of an invitation to tender to potential or actual candidates or seeking 

clarification of a tender, in writing, is permitted. Discussions with tenderers after 

submission of a tender and before the award of a contract (post tender clarification) with 

a view to clarifying mistakes or errors in the tender submitted, operational provisions or 

terms and conditions of contract are permitted. Where post tender clarification discussions 

are to take place with a supplier, all tenderers involved in the respective exercise must be 

notified and all information must be documented by the Officers conducting the 

clarification.  

15.2 However, discussions with tenderers after submission of a tender and before the award of 

a contract with a view to obtaining adjustments in scope, price, delivery or content (i.e. 

post-tender negotiations) must be subject to the current EU/UK Public Procurement 

Directives.  

15.3 The officer may negotiate the terms of a Tender form one or all Candidates in writing or at 

a meeting, provided that: 

 The Chief Officer  is satisfied that the officer carrying out the negotiation has the skill 

and competency commensurate with the complexity and value of the contract and has 

authorised such action.  Confirmation of authorisation is to be kept as a record. 

 The Procurement Manager should be made aware of any Post Tender negotiations 

that are taking place. 

 Notes of that meeting are taken and agreed with all the parties  

 The officer seeks advice and support from the Procurement Manager 

 The officer has regard and follows the Council’s Code of Conduct for Employees at all 

times. 

Page 182



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 169 

15.4 Officers may seek authorisation to carry out negotiations on contracts that are currently 

being delivered; this may be with regard to price or quality.  Authorisation will be granted 

by the Chief Officer . 

15.5 Where post-tender clarification results in a fundamental change to the specification (or 

contract terms) the contract must not be awarded but re-tendered.  

 

16.0 Evaluation, Award of Contract & Debriefing of Candidates  
16.1 Apart from the debriefing required or permitted by these CPRs, the confidentiality of 

quotations, tenders and the identity of candidates must be preserved at all times and 

information about one candidate’s tender submission must not be given to another 

candidate.  

16.2 In accordance with Regulation 24 you must “take appropriate measures to effectively 

prevent, identify and remedy conflicts of interest arising in the conduct of procurement 

procedures so as to avoid any distortion of competition and to ensure equal treatment of 

all economic operators”.  Contracts must be evaluated and awarded in accordance with 

the award criteria and agreed evaluation methodology.  

16.3 Any evaluations that are undertaken independently should have scores determined, if 

necessary, by a tender evaluation panel during a moderation meeting. All documentation 

pertaining to the evaluation and decision including minutes, individual scores and notes 

are to be retained.  

16.4 If arithmetical errors are found in a tender or the tender submission is deemed to be 

“abnormally low” they should be clarified with the tenderer. If the rates in the tender, rather 

than the overall price, were stated within the tender invitation as being dominant, an 

amended tender price may be requested to accord with the rates given by the tenderer. 

16.5 Officers may accept quotations and tenders received in respect of proposed contracts, 

provided they have been sought and evaluated fully in accordance with these contract 

procedure rules and in respect of the Scheme of Delegation.  

16.6 Where the total value is at £100,000 and greater, both the successful and unsuccessful 

tenderers should be notified as soon after the decision as possible. 

16.7 If the contract falls within the PCR’s 2015 then the appropriate Regulations should be 

followed.  The standstill period will commence from the date the final letter is sent. The 

letters must  

a. Follow the Alcatel period as specified under Regulation 87 of the PCR 2015.  

b. In accordance with Regulation 86(2) the notice must provide the unsuccessful 

tenderers feedback to their total score, the reasons for the decision, including a 

narrative explanation of the characteristics and relative advantages of the winning 

tender.  

c. Officers must provide unsuccessful candidates with a period of at least ten 

calendar days in which to challenge the decision before the Officer awards the 

contract. If the decision is challenged by an unsuccessful candidate, then the 

Officer shall not award the contract and should immediately seek the advice of the 

Council’s Legal Services.  

d. If during the alcatel period a candidate requests in writing the reasons for a 

contracting decision, the Officer must give the reasons in writing within 15 days of 

the request.  

17.0 Waivers (Single Tender Action – Direct Award Contracts)  
17.1 For Contracts above the PCR’s 2015 thresholds it is recognised that, under exceptional 

circumstances, only one provider may be able to fulfil the needs of the Council. The Public 

Contracts Regulations do not provide a single term to cover such arrangements and 

consequently they may be referred to by various names. These will include Single Tender 

Page 183



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 170 

Action, Direct Awards, Single Sourcing, Waivers etc. All must be treated in the same 

manner.  

A Single Tender Action is the award of a contract to a single or a limited group of 
Suppliers, Service Providers or Contractors without undertaking a competitive 
tendering exercise. Such action is permitted under the EU Procurement Directives in 
the following, exceptional circumstances: 

a. Technical Reason – Only one enterprise has the expertise to do the work  

b. Exclusive Rights - only one party can perform the contract due to 

intellectual/industrial property rights e.g. patents/trademarks or copyright  

c. Artistic Rights - engaging an artist or performer  

d. Consultancy Services - follow up work to complete the assignment previously 

awarded on a competitive tendering exercise.  

17.2 For Contracts below the PCR’s 2015 threshold the Council and its Cabinet may waive any 

requirements within these CPRs for specific projects. However, consideration must be 

given to the risk of legal challenge should a decision not to advertise the requirement and 

proceed to award the contract or framework without competition be made. The Council 

may delegate that authority in line with section 8.2 of these Standing Orders and the Chief 

Officer Governance .  Normally the circumstances under which a waiver can be agreed 

include those listed in 17.1 and:  

a. Demonstrable Best Interest: it can be demonstrated that it is in the Council's best 

interest and this is clearly demonstrated in the comments section in the waiver report  

b. Emergency: There is a clear need to provide a service or product immediately in the 

instance of a sudden unforeseen crisis; the immediate risk is to health, life, property or 

environment. Normal competitive processes are not feasible  

c. Changing an Existing Contract: making significant improvements and/or changes to 

an existing contract. This will usually be captured in a contract variation waiver  

d. Urgency: there exists an unforeseen situation calling for prompt action in order to 

provide a product or service that fulfils a specific statutory obligation, e.g. health and 

safety requirements. Competitive processes may not be feasible  

e. Exigencies of a Service: there are demonstrable circumstances that are genuinely 

exceptional  

f. Extension as Waiver: where a contract extension is being sought which was not duly 

authorised in the original Officer Delegated Decision  

Single Tender Actions will not be permitted in the following circumstances: 

 time constraints through poor project planning  

 previous relationships with suppliers  

 to avoid a competitive tendering exercise.  

17.3 All waivers, the reasons and the justification for them and the period for which the waiver 

is valid must be recorded and signed off by the relevant officer and manager in accordance 

with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.  

A single tender still requires a set of Invitation to Tender documents including terms and 
conditions and scope of works to be drafted and issued, and a written formal response to 
be made by the supplier through the Council’s e-tendering portal.  

17.4 The decision-making route for waivers is as follows: Waiver  

Value Decision Maker  

£0.00 up to £150,000   Chief Officer  

Page 184



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 171 

£150,000 and greater   Monitoring Officer or Section 151 officer 

 
  

Page 185



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 172 

Section 4: Contract Documents & Other Formalities  

 

18.0 Contract Documents  
18.1 All relevant contracts should be in writing and should set out the parties’ obligations, rights 

and risk allocations.  

18.2 All relevant contracts, irrespective of value, should clearly specify:  

a. What is to be supplied (i.e. the works, materials, services, matters or things to be 

furnished, had or done)  

b. The provisions for payment (i.e. the price to be paid and when)  

c. The time, or times, within which the contract is to be performed  

d. The provisions for the Council to terminate the contract  

e. The terms and conditions to be applied to the contract 

18.3 The Council’s terms and conditions of contract should be used wherever possible rather 

than the suppliers. If you intend to use the supplier’s terms advice must be sought from 

the Legal Services.  

18.4 If the Council’s standard terms and conditions are not used, every relevant contract of 

purchase over £100,000 must also state clearly as a minimum:  

a. That the contractor may not assign or sub-contract without prior written consent  

b. How the contractor would indemnify the Council against any negligent act or omission  

c. Any insurance requirements  

d. How the contract may be ended because of non-performance or otherwise  

e. How intellectual property is dealt with  

f. How services may be varied  

g. That the contractor should pay the living wage 

h. Important performance indicators  

i. Health and safety requirements  

j. Ombudsman requirements, if relevant  

k. Data protection requirements (GDPR), if relevant  

l. That charter standards are to be met if relevant  

m. Race relations requirements  

n. Requirements under the Equalities Act 2010  

o. Anti-fraud, Corruption and Modern Slavery  

p. Freedom of Information Act requirements  

q. Where Agents are used to let contracts, that Agents must comply with the Council’s 

contract procedure rules  

r. A right of access to relevant documentation and records of the contractor for monitoring 

and audit purposes if relevant  

s. Special conditions relating to Responsible Procurement  

t. Where required Special Conditions relating to Works Contracts  

18.5 The formal advice of Legal Services must be sought for the following contracts:  

a. Where it is proposed to use a supplier's own terms  

b. Those that involve insourcing or outsourcing  

18.6 In addition to Legal advice the advice of the Procurement Manager should be sought for 

contracts: 

a. Where the total value exceeds £100,000  

b. Those involving leasing arrangements  

c. That are complex in any other way. 

18.7 Officers must arrange for the original copy of all signed contracts to be lodged with Legal 

Services as soon as the contract has been awarded. 

Page 186



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 173 

19.0 Contract Formalities  
19.1 All contracts should be concluded formally in writing before the supply, service or 

construction work begins.  

19.2 The Officer responsible for securing signature of the contract must ensure that the person 

signing for the other contracting party has authority to bind it.  

19.3 Subject to any exceptions as provided elsewhere in the Scheme of Delegation, all 

contracts to be made under seal (other than contracts for the sale and acquisition of land 

at auction, electronic e-auctions and insurance contracts) will be determined by the Chief 

Officer Governance  

19.4 Where contracts are completed by each side adding their formal seal, such contracts shall 

be attested by the Chief Executive or Chief Officer .  The seal must not be affixed without 

the proper authority. A contract must be sealed where in the opinion of the Chief Officer 

Governance : 

a. The Council wishes to enforce the contract more than six years after its end  

b. The price paid or received under the contract is a nominal price and does not reflect 

the value of the goods or services  

c. There is any doubt about the authority of the person signing for the other contracting 

party  

 

20.0 Bonds & Parent Company Guarantees  
20.1 The Officer must consult the appropriate Chief Officer  to determine whether a Parent 

Company Guarantee is necessary and at what level when a Candidate is a subsidiary of 

a parent company and:  

a. Award is based on evaluation of the parent company, or  
b. There is some concern about the stability of the candidate  

20.2 The Officer must consult the appropriate Chief Officer  about whether a Bond is needed, 

where it is proposed to make stage or other payments in advance of receiving the whole 

of the subject matter of the contract and there is concern about the stability of the 

candidate.  

 

21.0 Prevention of Corruption  
21.1 The Officer must comply with the Officer Code of Conduct and must not invite or accept 

any gift or reward in respect of the award or performance of any contract. High standards 

of conduct are obligatory. Findings of corrupt behaviour in Council officers may lead to 

dismissal.  

  

Page 187



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 174 

22.0 Declaration of Interest  
22.1 If it comes to the knowledge of a member or an employee of the Council that a contract in 

which he or she has a pecuniary interest has been or is proposed to be entered into by 

the Council, he or she shall immediately give written notice to the Chief Officer 

Governance. 

22.2 Such written notice is required irrespective of whether the pecuniary (financial) interest is 

direct or indirect. An indirect pecuniary interest is distinct from a direct pecuniary interest 

in as much as it is not a contract to which the member or employee is directly a party.  

22.3 A shareholding in a body not exceeding a total nominal value of £1,000 or 1% of the 

nominal value of the issued share capital (whichever is the less) is not a pecuniary interest 

for the purposes of this standing order.  

22.4 A record of all declarations of interests notified by Officers will be maintained.   

  

Page 188



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 175 

Section 5: Contract Management  

 

23.0 Managing Contracts  
23.1 Chief Officers are to name contract managers for all new contracts. All contracts should 

have a named Council contract owner and contract manager for the entirety of the contract.  

23.2 Contract managers must follow the procedures set out in the Council’s Contract Procedure 

Rules.  

 

24.0 Risk Assessment & Contingency Planning  
24.1 Provision for resources for the management of the contract, for its entirety, must be 

identified in the business case.  

24.2 For all contracts with a value of £100,000 and greater, the contract manager must:  

a. Maintain a risk register during the contract period  

b. Undertake appropriate risk assessments and for identified risks  

c. Ensure contingency measures and business continuity plans are in place  

 

25.0 Contract Monitoring, Evaluation & Review  
25.1 All contracts valued at £100,000 and greater are to be subject to regular formal reviews 

with the contractor.  An initial review should be done at the first 3 months of a contract start 

date and on-going reviews should then be conducted on a regular schedule.  

25.2 A formal review process must be applied to all contracts deemed to be High Risk, High 

Value, or High Profile. This process must be applied at key stages of major procurements.  

25.3 During the life of the contract, the Officer must monitor a contract in respect of:  

a. Performance and compliance with specification and contract  

b. Cost and any value for money requirements  

c. User satisfaction and risk management  

d. Equality Assessment Progress Report (including Living Wage)  

e. Supplier Financial Health Check  

f. Relevant Due Diligence clarifications including Modern Slavery  

 

  

Page 189



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 176 

 

 

PART 4 

 

 

CODES AND PROTOCOLS 
  

Page 190



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 177 

PART 4 - SECTION 1  
 
Officers' Code of Conduct  
 
(1) OBJECTIVES AND STATUS OF THE CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
1.1  The public are entitled to expect the highest standards of conduct from all employees 

who work within local government.  This Code of Conduct outlines existing laws, 
regulations and conditions of service, and provides employees with guidance to assist 
them in their day-to-day work. 

 
1.2  The purpose of the Code is to help ensure that the Council's activities, through the 

actions of its Officers, are conducted to the highest standards, as expected of Local 
Government, by: 

 
(a) detailing existing laws, regulations and conditions of service. 

(b) providing further guidance to assist employees in their day-to-day work. 

(c) specifying standards and procedures which will help protect both the Council 
and its employees from misunderstanding and undue criticism. 

1.3  The adopted Code of Conduct applies as part of the conditions of service of all Officers 
working under a Contract of Employment to the Council.  All Officers are expected to 
read, understand and accept the Code, and abide by the standards of behaviour 
expressed within it.  The standards specified should also be adhered to by Officers in 
any activities undertaken as members of companies, voluntary organisations or any 
other body and in their personal lives generally. 

 
1.4 The Code does not replace, negate or remove any of the conduct issues set out in the 

various national terms and conditions, or in legislation such as the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 and the Local Government Act 2000, but seeks to clarify and 
consolidate all such conduct issues within a locally adopted code. 

 
1.5 Officer behaviour should be consistent with the seven principles of public life laid down 

by the Committee on Standards in Public Life, as follows: 
 

(a) Selflessness 

(b)  Integrity 

(c) Objectivity 

(d) Accountability 

(e) Openness 

(f) Honesty 

(g) Leadership 

 
1.6  Officers are expected to follow the standards of behaviour set out in the Code, and 

should be aware that failure to meet these standards may lead to action being taken 
by the Council under its Disciplinary Procedure. 

Page 191



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 178 

 
(2) CORRUPTION 
 
2.1  Background 

 
 (a) The Council aims to promote the high standards of personal behaviour 

expected of all Officers in the public services.  The public has every right to 
expect the highest standards of honesty and stewardship of public money and 
resources. 

 
 (b) Under Section 117(1) of the Local Government Act 1972, Officers are required 

to notify the Council of pecuniary or personal interests in contracts which the 
Council is proposing to enter into (excluding contracts in the employee’s own 
name).  This requirement is embraced in National Conditions of Service also. 

 
 (c) Under Section 117(2) of the same Act, an employee is forbidden "under cover 

of his office or employment (to) accept any fee or reward whatsoever other than 
his proper remuneration". 

 
 (d) The acceptance of gifts by way of inducement or reward is covered by the 

Bribery Acts which provide that it is an offence for Officers corruptly to accept 
any gifts or consideration as an inducement or reward for: 

 
i. doing, or refraining from doing, anything in their official capacity; or 

ii. showing favour or disfavour to any person in their official capacity. 

iii. any money, gift or consideration received by an employee in public service 
from a person or organisation holding or seeking to obtain a contract will be 
deemed by the courts to have been received corruptly unless the employee 
proves to the contrary. 

 
2.2  Expected Standard 
 

Officers must at all times exercise due caution and care to avoid any possible 
allegation, however unfounded, that business has been conducted improperly 
or corruptly. 

 
2.3 How to Comply with the Standard 

 
 (a) You should be aware that it is a serious criminal offence to corruptly receive or 

give any gift, loan, fee, reward or advantage for doing or refraining from doing 
something, or to show favour or disfavour to any person in your official capacity.  
If an allegation is made, it is for you to demonstrate that any such rewards have 
not been corruptly given or received.  You should also be aware that this applies 
equally to bodies already holding contracts as to those seeking to secure 
contracts. 

 
 (b) You must declare any personal or pecuniary interest in contracts which the 

Council is proposing to enter into, in accordance with the procedures laid down 
in Sections 7 and 8 of the Code, and observe the procedures for dealing with 
gifts and hospitality in Section 9. 

 

Page 192



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 179 

 (c) You should be aware that any departure from these standards will be treated 
as a most serious matter, both under the terms of the Council's disciplinary 
procedures, and where necessary, through the processes of law. 

 
(3) STANDARDS OF CONDUCT 
 
3.1 Background 

 
 (a) The Code of Conduct incorporates the provisions of paragraph 2.1 of the Green 

Book (National Agreement on Pay and Conditions of Service, NJC for Local 
Government Services) which states: 

 
   "Employees will maintain conduct of the highest standard such that 

public confidence in their integrity is sustained.” 
 

  Similar provisions are incorporated in the national conditions of service of Chief 
Executives and Chief Officers  

 
3.2 Expected Standard 
 

Officers are expected to give the highest possible standard of service to 
the public, to provide appropriate advice to Councillors and fellow Officers 
with impartiality, and to promote and assist in the maintenance and 
development of the Council's services in the most efficient and 
economical manner and in accordance with the Council's stated policies 
and procedures. 

 
3.3 How to Comply with the Standard 
 
 (a) You are expected to conduct yourself at all times in a manner consistent with 

your employment status.  As a representative of local government in general 
and the Council in particular, you should be constantly mindful of a requirement 
of integrity, honesty and impartiality in your dealings with Councillors, the 
public, and fellow Officers. 

 
 (b) Officers can brief Councillors in accordance with the Councillor/Officer Protocol 

but must not provide political advice. 
 
 (c) You are advised that personal conduct outside office hours which could 

conceivably be regarded as undermining your ability to carry out your duties 
may lead to the Councillor seriously considering your suitability as an 
employee. 

 
 (d) You are expected to report any issues which contravene this Code of Conduct, 

in accordance with the Council’s Raising Concerns (formerly "Whistleblowing") 
Policy. If an employee wishes to approach someone who is not a Council 
Officer, they should be offered the choice of their Local Councillor or the 
Independent Person from the Standards Committee. 

 
(4) POLITICAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
4.1 Political Neutrality 
 
4.1.1 Background 
 

Page 193

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/assets/attach/730/Raising-Concerns.pdf
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/assets/attach/730/Raising-Concerns.pdf


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 180 

 (a) Officers are employed to serve the Council as a whole and to carry out the work 
of the Council's Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny meetings and other 
Committees through the direction of line management. 

 
 (b) No Councillor acting individually has the power to instruct an employee to take 

an action.  Councillors can instruct action only through the consent of the 
Council, the Cabinet or Regulatory Committee. 

 
 (c) Officers, other than Chief Officers , may not act on a Councillor decision unless 

instructed, or given delegated authority to do so by the Chief Executive or Chief 
officer. 

 
 (d) Officers must abide by the policies of the Council and must not allow their own 

personal or political opinions to interfere with their work or to bias their approach 
to dealings with any individual Councillor, of whatever party. 

 
 (e) Councillors of one Party have no more rights than Councillors of another Party.  

Councillors who hold formal positions within the Cabinet or as Overview and 
Scrutiny or Committee Chairs may need to be briefed on issues relevant to their 
roles as Chair of meetings. 

 
 (f) Officers will not be required to advise political groups and should not do so 

unless specifically required to do so by the Chief Executive. 
 
 (g) Officers must always treat Councillors with due respect as the directly elected 

representatives of the community, and our employers. 
 
4.1.2 Standard 
 

Officers serve the Authority as a whole. 

 
4.1.3 How to Comply with the Standard 
 
 (a) Services should only act on decisions made by the Council, the Cabinet or 

Regulatory Committees convened and minuted by the Chief Executive or by an 
Officer authorised to act on behalf of the Chief Executive, and should not act 
on the instruction of a Councillor acting individually. 

 
 (b) You should only act on decisions under the direction or instruction of your Chief 

Officer or the Chief Executive, and not that of individual Councillors. 
 
 (c) If you are in any doubt as to the legitimacy of a decision of a Councillor meeting, 

you should seek the advice of Democratic Support, Financial Services or Legal 
Services before acting on that decision. 

 
 (d) Do not allow your own personal or political opinions to interfere with your work, 

or to bias your approach to dealings with any Councillor, of whatever party. 
 

(e) Officers should not challenge the Council as an employer by writing to the 
  media. 

 
(f) Officers must not give political advice. 

 

Page 194



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 181 

You should not advise political groups unless specifically required to do so by the Chief 
Executive, or by an Officer authorised to act on behalf of the Chief Executive. 

 
4.2 Politically Restricted Posts 
 
4.2.1 Background 
 
 (a) The Local Government and Housing Act 1989, Part 1 contains provisions to 

prevent 'twin-tracking' (where a senior local authority employee is also an 
elected Councillor of another local authority), and to restrict the political activity 
of senior Officers.  Local authority Officers holding Politically Restricted Posts 
are: disqualified from membership of any local authority other than a parish or 
community council (s1(1)); disqualified from being an MP; and subject to 
prescribed restrictions on their political activity (s1(5 & 6)). 

 
 (b) Details of the definitions of posts carrying political restriction, and the substance 

of the restrictions are held by the Chief Executive, along with a list of current 
designated posts. 

 
 (c) The political restrictions are deemed to be incorporated in the contract of 

employment of every local authority employee who holds a politically restricted 
post. 

 
4.2.2 Expected Standard 
 

Officers in Politically Restricted Posts should be fully aware of, and act in 
accordance with legally prescribed restrictions on their activity. 

 
4.2.3 How to Comply with the Standard 
 
 (a) If your post is covered by the regulations, you should ensure that you are 

familiar with, and understand, the restrictions, and comply with them at all 
times.  If you are in any doubt about any issue, you should contact Human 
Resources. 

 
4.3 Relationships 
 
4.3.1 Background 
 
 (a) Mutual respect between Councillors and Officers is essential to good local 

government. 
 
 (b) Councillors and Officers are all servants of the public, and their respective roles 

depend heavily on the others.  Their responsibilities are, however, distinct.  
Councillors are responsible to the electorate and serve only so long as their 
term of office lasts.  Officers are responsible to the Council, their job being to 
give advice to the Council, and to carry out the Council's work under the 
direction and control of the Council, its Cabinet and Committees. 

 
 (c) Officers should be familiar with, and have regard at all times to the guidance 

provided in the Council’s Officer/Councillor Protocol. 
 

Page 195



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 182 

4.3.2 Expected Standard 
 

The roles and responsibilities of Councillors and Officers are distinct but heavily 
interdependent.  Officers should aim to ensure that mutual trust and respect is 
maintained and developed. 
 

 
4.3.3 How to Comply with the Standard 
 
 (a) You should be constantly aware of the importance of maintaining good 

relationships with Councillors, and especially the need for mutual respect and 
trust.  You should therefore avoid anything which could compromise the 
relationship, and/or lead others to suspect that either party could unduly benefit 
from the relationship. 

 
 (b) You must always respect Councillors and in all dealings, address them in an 

appropriate manner. 
 
 (c) You should be familiar with and must pay regard to the guidance set out in the 

Councillor/Officer Protocol. 
 

5 DISCLOSURE AND CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION 
 
5.1  Background 
 
 (a) The Council is required by law to make certain types of information available to 

Councillors, auditors, government departments, service users and the general 
public.  It can also declare other types of information as being 'open'.  Officers 
should be aware of the types of information which are, and are not open, and 
act accordingly in handling that information.  Officers may, for example, have a 
legal or professional duty to disclose information to a third party in the course 
of legal proceedings. 

 
 (b) Legislation and Regulations relevant to the disclosure and confidentiality of 

information are outlined in the Appendix to the Access to Information Procedure 
Rules in Part 3 Section 4 of the Council’s Constitution. 

 
 (c) The Council has issued a statement of Data Protection Policy which constitutes 

a part of Officers' terms and conditions of service.  Further information and 
advice on responsibilities under the Act are available from the Information 
Governance Manager, as the Council’s Data Protection Officer. 

 
5.2  Expected Standard 
 

Officers should ensure that information is used only for lawful and properly 
authorised purposes. 
 

 
5.3 How to Comply with the Standard 
 
 (a) You should not use any information obtained in the course of your work for 

personal gain or benefit, nor should you pass it on to others who might use it in 
such a way.  If you receive specific information, from whatever source, in the 

Page 196



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 183 

course of carrying out your duty, you should not divulge it, except where such 
disclosure is required or sanctioned by the law. 

 
 (b) You should not disclose, without express permission, information relating to 

exempt agenda items and reports.  No reports relating to staffing, financial, 
commercial, disciplinary, political or other confidential matters should be 
disclosed to any unauthorised person without the prior express permission of 
the Council, or the Chief Executive. 

 
 (c) You should be aware of the Council’s guidelines on dealing with the press and 

media, and should not normally make statements to the press or media.  
Councillors, Chief Officers and the Communications and Media Relations 
Manager and certain specifically nominated Officers are authorised to make 
statements on behalf of the Council. 

 
(d) You should be aware that in the course of your work, you may have access to 

personal or otherwise confidential information, some of which may fall within 
the scope of the Data Protection Act.  The Council expects you to respect the 
confidentiality of all information, both during and subsequent to a period of 
employment with the Council, in accordance with its statement of Data 
Protection Policy. 

 
  (e) The leaking of confidential or exempt information to a third party may be viewed 

as a disciplinary matter. 
 
6 PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PERSONAL RELATIONSHIPS 
 
6.1 Background 
 
  The Council wishes to ensure that its Officers are treated equitably, are protected 

against any unfounded allegations of impropriety and are able to act without 
discrimination of any kind in the conduct of their duties.  It is important, therefore that 
there is an openness in the declaration of all interests that could have an influence on 
an employee's conduct and/or decision making and that public confidence in Council 
Officers is maintained. 

 
6.2 Expected Standard: 
 

 In order that all Officers are able to act with impartiality in the conduct 
of their official business, there should be openness in the declaration 
of all personal interests and personal relationships which could, or be 
perceived to, influence their conduct. 

 

 
6.3 How to Comply with the Standard 
 
6.3.1 Personal Interests 
 

(a) A central confidential register of declared interests will be maintained by the 
Chief Officer Governance which will be accessible only by the Chief Executive, 
Chief Officers and Internal Audit, all of whom may advise Officers on questions 
of conflicts of interest, and on their inclusion or exclusion from the register 
(subject to the requirements of the Freedom of Information Act and 
Environmental Information Regulations). 

 

Page 197



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 184 

(b) Not all Officers are required to complete written declarations for inclusion in the 
register. Only the following declarations will be required from Officers: 

 
(i) Those made on a permanent basis by Officers included on the Council’s 

list of Politically Restricted Posts (PRPs) (see paragraph (c) below) 
(ii) Those on a voluntary basis by any other employee (see paragraph (c) 

below) 
(iii) Those made by any employee at the point of a potential conflict of 

interest (see paragraph (d) below). 
 

(c)  All holders of Politically Restricted Posts are required to make a written 
declaration for inclusion in the register referred to in paragraph (b) above of any 
personal interests, whether financial or otherwise, which could conceivably 
conflict with the Council's interests. Other Officers may make similar 
declarations on a voluntary basis for inclusion in the register. For those who 
wish to do so, a form will be provided by Democratic Support for such 
declarations.  

 
(d)  Any employee whether they are on the list of PRPs or not who, in the course 

of Council duties, deals with or is involved in a matter in which the employee 
has a personal interest, is required to declare that interest to their Chief Officer 
(Chief Officers to the Chief Executive) before dealing with the matter or 
participating in any discussion, advice or decision on the matter.  The employee 
should at the same time complete a form provided by Democratic Support, 
which will be kept in the confidential register referred to in paragraph (b) above. 
The employee will then take no further part in that matter. In formal meetings, 
the employee should inform the Chair of the meeting, the senior Officer present, 
and the Officer minuting the meeting, and if they feel it appropriate, the Officer 
should leave the room and take no further part in the matter. 

 
(e) for the purposes of paragraphs (c) and (d) above, personal interests include:- 

 
i. any interest in property within the Council’s area,  
ii. any outside employment; 
iii. any financial interests in outside bodies and businesses within the 

Council’s area;  
iv. membership of any charity or body directed to charitable purposes; 
v. any body whose principal purposes include the influence of public 

opinion or policy; 
vi. membership of any organisation where a candidate for membership can 

be vetoed by existing Councillors or by a selection committee. 
 
  These could include, for example: involvement with an organisation receiving 

grant aid from the Council, or involvement with a pressure group which may 
seek to influence the Council’s policies.  For the purposes of paragraph (d) 
above, an Officer should be mindful that a personal interest may include the 
interest of a close family member or friend, and that the public perception of 
propriety must be overriding. 

 
(f) Any changes to the declarations held in the central register must be notified to 

the Chief officer Governance within twenty-eight days of the change.  
 
6.3.2. Personal Relationships 
 

Page 198



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 185 

Any employee should tell the Chief Executive or the Monitoring Officer about any close 
personal relationship with a family member, partner, spouse or other continuing close 
relationship that goes beyond that of a simple friendship which might be expected to 
exist between work colleagues should such a relationship lead to an actual or potential 
conflict of interest.  The information provided will be treated in the strictest confidence 
and will be available only to managers who comprise the line management chain 
relating to the employee’s post and that of the colleague with whom the close personal 
relationship exists.  It is the employee’s responsibility to advise their line manager of 
any continuing close personal relationship with a colleague only where this may lead 
to a conflict of interest or the perception of such a conflict on the part of your colleagues, 
your employer, or a member of the public. 

 
7 OUTSIDE COMMITMENTS 
 
7.1  Background 
 
 (a) Officers on or above SCP 28 are required by their Contract of Employment to 

devote their whole-time service to the work of their council and not to engage 
in any other business or take up any other additional appointment without the 
express consent of the Council. 

 
 (b) For other Officers, the Council does not seek to restrict Officers undertaking 

additional employment, but stresses to Officers of all grades that they should 
not undertake outside work if: 

 
i. their official duties overlap in some way with their proposed work; 

ii. it causes a conflict of interest; or 

iii. it makes use of material to which the employee has access by virtue of 
his/her position (for example an architect or planner who draws up plans 
within the Council on behalf of an applicant for planning consent). 

 (c) It is irrelevant whether or not the work is paid.  Officers' attention is drawn to 
the National Conditions of Service, which state that an Officer's off-duty hours 
are his personal concern, but he/she should not subordinate his duty to his/her 
private interests to put him/her in a position where his duty and his/her private 
interests conflict.  The employing authority should not attempt to preclude 
Officers from undertaking additional employment, but any such employment 
must not, in the view of the Council, conflict with or react detrimentally to the 
Council's interests, or in any way weaken public confidence in the conduct of 
the Council's business. 

 
(d)  These provisions are applicable to all employees. 
 
7.2  Expected Standard: 
 

Officers should not undertake outside work where there is, or could 
be construed to be, a conflict of interest with their official duties 

 
7.3  How to Comply with the Standard 
 

Page 199



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 186 

 (a) If you are employed at or above the grade of SCP 28, or its equivalent, you 
should gain the permission of your Chief Officer  in writing, before undertaking 
any outside work, paid or unpaid, see 7.1 above 

 
 (b) Chief Officers should obtain permission in writing from the Chief Executive 

before undertaking any outside work or interests. 
 
 (c) If you are employed on a grade below SCP 28, you should gain permission 

from your Chief Officer  for any outside interests or activities where there could 
be any suggestion of that activity being in conflict with your work with the 
Council, or where those activities might otherwise come into conflict with other 
areas of Council business. 

 
 (d) You are not allowed to undertake outside work of any sort in Council premises, 

and the use of Council facilities for such work is forbidden (this includes for 
example: telephones; typing services; and computing facilities).  You are also 
instructed that correspondence and incoming telephone calls related to outside 
work are not permitted. 

 
 (e) You are, by agreement with your Chief Officer, permitted to use photocopying 

and printing facilities for personal purposes, subject to the payment of a suitable 
fee.  You must only undertake private printing by means of the central 
printing section, and pay for the work.  Conditions relating to private use of 
the Internet are contained within the Council’s Internet and Email Usage Policy. 
You should declare any outside interest for which these facilities are used as 
provided for in the rest of this section. 

 
  (f) If you have any doubts at all about these requirements and how they might 

affect you, you should seek advice from your Chief Officer  or the Chief 
Executive. 

 
8 GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY 
 
8.1 Background 
 
 (a) From time to time, Officers are faced with the difficulty of deciding whether or 

not to accept hospitality or gifts which arise during the conduct of business 
activities.  Whilst it is impossible to cover every set of circumstances, the 
following guidelines should provide a basis for making a decision in the majority 
of cases. 

 
 (b) Officers should generally exercise great care and caution in giving or accepting 

any form of gift or hospitality which could in any way be connected with the 
conduct of their duties.  On all occasions, both the extent and circumstances of 
the offer should be considered.  It should be remembered that the service, 
resources and opportunities you 'control' when working for the Council are not 
yours but the whole community's resources which they are entrusting to you to 
use and distribute fairly.  The acceptance of personal favours cannot be 
returned and should therefore be avoided. 

 
 (c) Hospitality extended by Officers should be justifiable as being in the public 

interest, and should be on a scale appropriate to the occasion. 
 
 (d) Officers should always refuse offers of gifts or hospitality where there could 

conceivably be a suggestion of improper influence, or where it not is on a scale 

Page 200



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 187 

appropriate to the circumstances.  Particular caution is necessary where the 
offer comes from a person or organisation having or seeking to establish 
dealings with the Council, and/or when a gift or hospitality is offered to an 
individual rather than a group of Officers. 

 
 (e) Officers will be entitled to take advantage of any Council services offered to 

them at a reduced rate, as determined by the Chief Executive.  
 
8.2  Expected Standard 
 

Officers should exercise great care in giving or accepting any form of 
gift or hospitality in order to avoid any possible suggestion, however 
unfounded, of improper influence. 

 
8.3   How to Comply with the Standard 
 
8.3.1 Acceptable and Unacceptable Gifts 
 
  (a) You may regard the following gifts, under normal circumstances, as 
acceptable: 
 

i. Gifts of a promotional nature, of the sort given to a wide range of people, 
and not offered uniquely to a particular Officer.  These will typically be gifts 
of a low intrinsic value, including, for example; calendars, pens, diaries and 
other minor items of office equipment. 

ii. Gifts generally distributed at the end of a demonstration, promotion or 
presentation, or at the conclusion of a courtesy visit.  Again these are 
normally of low value and made generally available to all those attending.  

iii. Participation in, or attendance at subsidised Council services, activities or 
events provided with the approval of the Chief Executive. 

  (b) You should regard the following as unacceptable: 
 

i. Any gift which may be deliberately and directly linked to the performance of 
your official duties, or those of employees for whom you are responsible.  

ii. Any gift which might be interpreted as having been offered in order to 
influence your conduct, or which may be interpreted as potentially 
influencing your conduct.  

iii. Any gift offered under such circumstances that acceptance may 
compromise your position. 

8.3.2 Procedure for Dealing With Gifts 
 
 (a) If you are offered, or receive a gift, you should immediately report the matter to 

your Chief Officer  (Chief Officers  should inform the Chief Executive). With the 
exception of gifts clearly falling into the categories described in paragraph 
8.3.1(a), your Chief Officer should ensure that the details are recorded in the 
register of gifts maintained by the Chief Officer Governance , which should 
include: 

 

Page 201



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 188 

i. details of who offered or presented the gift; 

ii. who received the gift; 

iii. a brief description of the gift and estimated value if possible; 

iv. details of whether the gift was accepted, returned or disposed of in some 
other way. 

 (b) Should there be any doubt as to the acceptability of a gift, you or your Chief 
Officer  should seek the advice of the Chief Executive, or alternatively the 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
 (c) You should politely decline any gifts which are unacceptable, and explain the 

reason to the person making the offer.  If it is clear to you that a deliberate 
attempt has or is being made to influence your conduct, you and/or your Chief 
Officer  should report the matter to the Monitoring Officer or to  Internal Audit 

 
 (d) If it is impossible or impractical to return a gift which is considered 

unacceptable, then it is recommended that you donate it to an appropriate 
charity.  Again, you should politely inform the organisation sending the gift of 
the action that has been taken. 

 
8.3.3 Provision of Gifts by Officers 
 
 (a) You should not issue gifts to outside contractors, suppliers, or would-be 

customers.  Similarly, you are not permitted to offer confidential information, or 
promises of preferential treatment as an inducement to trade. 

 
  (b) The distribution of small promotional items is acceptable providing that you 

make the items generally available to all would-be customers or contractors. 
 
 (c) You should never put yourself in a position where an allegation could be made 

that you have made unfair or unauthorised inducements to current or 
prospective customers or contractors in order to secure trade or contracts. 

 
8.3.4 Acceptance of Hospitality 
 
 (a) As with gifts, it is impossible to establish a conclusive list of what is, and is not 

acceptable in every situation.  You must clearly exercise caution whenever you 
are offered hospitality by a person or body having or seeking business, 
contracts or a decision from the Council, particularly where the offer is made to 
you individually. 

 
 (b) Generally, it is more acceptable for you to join in hospitality widely offered to a 

number of clients or would-be clients, than to accept offers of hospitality made 
solely to you or a group of Officers of the Council.  Accepting personal 
hospitality or favours can place you in a difficult position, and you are not able 
or authorised to return them. 

 
8.3.5 Acceptable and Unacceptable Hospitality 
 
 (a) You may regard the following as examples of acceptable hospitality: 
 

Page 202



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 189 

i. An invitation to a function where you are representing the Council (for 
example as a speaker, or to perform an opening ceremony), or to 
functions attended by virtue of your status or position in the Council.  

ii. Offers of hospitality by other non-commercial bodies.  

iii. Working lunches provided to enable you to continue discussions with 
other parties.  

iv. Meals or other hospitality at conferences and exhibitions where the 
hospitality is offered or provided to a wide range of clients.  This would 
include similar hospitality offered to you when in the company of 
Councillors. 

 (b) You should regard the following as examples of unacceptable hospitality: 
 

i. Holidays, weekend breaks.  

ii. Free access to facilities, for example the payment of golf club 
subscriptions, membership of health, fitness or social clubs.  

iii. Personal use of company flats or offers of hotel accommodation.  

iv. ALL offers of hospitality where you feel that there may be an attempt to 
exert improper influence on your professional conduct. 

 (c) The following are examples of hospitality which you should only accept with the 
Chief Executive’s permission, after consideration of all the circumstances. 

 
i. Invitations to sporting or entertainment events whether or not 

accompanied by the person offering the hospitality.  This would include, 
for example, hospitality provided in reserved boxes at race meetings, 
football or cricket matches, etc.  If you attend any such events, this must 
be in your own time, by taking annual leave, if necessary.  

ii. Tickets to events such as theatres, cabarets, concerts, and sporting 
events, especially those unconnected with the local community.  

iii. Personal invitations to occasions with representatives of persons or 
bodies having dealings with the Council, especially whilst the Council is 
actively reviewing business which might include that organisation's 
interests. 

 (d) Circumstances at the time are likely to have a considerable influence on 
whether you should regard an offer as acceptable or not.  It may be particularly 
ill advised for Officers to be seen to attend an event organised by a particular 
company at a time when that company is attempting to secure a contract with 
the Council, even when, under other circumstances, the offer might be deemed 
to be acceptable.  You should exercise equal caution when dealing with 
persons or organisations already under contract to, or having business with the 
Council. 

 
8.3.6 Procedures for Dealing with Offers of Hospitality 
 

Page 203



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 190 

 (a) With the exception of hospitality clearly falling into the categories listed in 
paragraph 8.3.5(a), you should immediately report any offer of hospitality to 
your Chief Officer  (Chief Officers should report to the Chief Executive). The 
Chief Officer Governance will maintain a register recording offers in the same 
manner as that for recording details of gifts (paragraph 8.3.2(a) refers). 

 
 (b) Initially, Chief Officers should exercise their judgement in deciding whether or 

not the offer of hospitality should be accepted.  In case of uncertainty, the 
advice of the Chief Executive or the Monitoring Officer should be sought. 

 
8.3.7 Provision of Hospitality by Officers of the Council 
 
 (a) Modest hospitality is recognised as an accepted courtesy of business 

relationships, and is an important aspect of customer care and image 
projection.  You must, however, ensure that the level of hospitality offered is 
reasonable, appropriate to the circumstances, and can be fully justified. 

 
9 SPONSORSHIP – GIVING AND RECEIVING 
 
9.1 Background 
 
 (a) Where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor a local government activity, 

whether by invitation, tender, negotiation or voluntarily, the basic conventions 
concerning acceptance of gifts and hospitality will apply.  Particular care must 
be taken when dealing with existing or potential contractors. 

 
 (b) Where the Council wishes to sponsor an event or service, neither an employee 

nor any partner, spouse or relative should benefit from such sponsorship, grant 
aid, financial or other means. 

 
9.2  Expected Standard 
 

Officers should ensure that, in the offering, or securing, of 
sponsorship, every effort is made to avoid conflict of interest or any 
possible suggestion of improper influence, however unfounded. 

 
9.3  How to Comply with the Standard 
 
 (a) In all dealings with persons or bodies offering (or being offered) sponsorship, 

you should ensure that impartial advice is given, and that there is no conflict of 
interest involved. 

 
 (b) If you have dealings with organisations offering sponsorship to the Council, you 

should report the matter to your Chief Officer  (Chief Officers  should inform the 
Chief Executive).  Chief Officers should ensure that they are recorded in the 
register of sponsorship maintained by theChief Officer Governance , which 
should include: 

 
(i) details of who offered the sponsorship; 

(ii) the service or event being sponsored; 

(iii) a brief description of the sponsorship, and estimated value if 
possible; 

Page 204



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 191 

(iv) details of whether the offer was accepted or not; 

(v) authorisation of the action taken (including the reasons) by the 
Chief Officer  or his/her authorised deputy. 

 (c) Should there be any doubt as to the acceptability of an offer of sponsorship, the 
advice of your Chief Officer  or the Chief Executive, or alternatively the 
Monitoring Officer should be sought. 

 
 (d) If the Council is proposing to sponsor an event or service, you should ensure 

that neither you, nor your partner, spouse, or any relative should benefit from it 
in any way.  You are required to report any potential benefit of this sort 
immediately to your Chief Officer  (Chief Officers should report to the Chief 
Executive) and to have it entered in the register of interests maintained by the 
Chief Officer Governance.. 

 
10 USE OF FINANCIAL RESOURCES 
 
10.1 Background 
 
 (a) Sound financial management covers all aspects of the Council's work so as to: 
 

i. safeguard its assets 

ii. promote operational efficiency in accordance with policies and 
directives 

iii. protect Officers at all levels 

 
10.2 Expected Standard 
 

Officers must strive to ensure that they use public funds entrusted to 
them in a responsible and lawful manner, and seek to secure value 
for money in the provision of their services. 

 
10.3 How to Comply with the Standard 
 
 (a) You are expected to ensure that public funds entrusted to you are used in a 

responsible and lawful manner.  You should strive to ensure value for money 
to the local community and to avoid any prospect of legal challenge to the 
Council.  You should therefore be aware of the Council's Financial Regulations 
and Financial Procedures, which define the rules for sound financial 
management.  These are available from Chief Officers  and the Chief Executive.  
You should also be familiar with all relevant sections of the more detailed 
corporate guidance on financial procedures, and also with any of your Service's 
own specific procedures and regulations.  Information regarding the corporate 
guidance on financial procedures is available from Chief Officers or the Chief 
Executive, or alternatively from Internal Audit. 

 
11 THE SELECTION OF DEVELOPERS, CONSULTANTS OR CONTRACTORS 
 
11.1 Expected Standard 
 

Page 205



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 192 

Officers involved in the selection of developers, consultants, 
contractors or suppliers should ensure that their actions are 
undertaken with openness and within the limits of authority 
delegated to them. 

 
11.2 How to Comply with the Standard 
 
 (a) If you are involved in the selection of developers, consultants, contractors or 

suppliers, you must adhere to the Council's stated procedures.  You should 
therefore be familiar with the rules set out in Financial Regulations, Financial 
Procedures and Contract Procedure Rules; be familiar with your own Service's 
procedures; and be aware of the limits of any authority delegated to you.  In 
particular, you should be aware of Contract Procedure Rules, corporate 
guidance on Contract and Project Management, and of the relevant Financial 
Regulations and Procedure Rules which deal with budgetary control and 
authority to incur expenditure. 

 
 (b) If you are involved in these arrangements and have any form of pecuniary, 

financial or personal interest or involvement with any contract or supply, you 
must declare that interest immediately to your Chief officer  (Chief Officers 
report to the Chief Executive).  

 
12 SEPARATION OF ROLES DURING TENDERING 
 
12.1 Expected Standard 
 

Officers involved in tendering processes should be clear as to their 
role, and act with openness in order to ensure the fair and impartial 
treatment of all interested parties. 

 
12.2 How to Comply with the Standard 
 
 (a) If you are involved in tendering processes, and in dealing with contractors, you 

should be familiar with the requirements of the Council's Standing Orders and 
Financial Regulations, and clear on the separation of client and contractor roles 
within the Council. 

 
 (b) As an employee in either a contractor or a client unit, you must exercise fairness 

and impartiality when dealing with all customers, suppliers, other contractors 
and sub-contractors. 

 
 (c) Should you have access to confidential information on tenders or costs for 

either internal or external contractors, you should not disclose that information 
to any unauthorised person or organisation. 

 
(d) If you have a direct connection with any company, contractor or tenderer, either 

personally or through any immediate relative or close personal friend, you 
should disclose this to your Chief Officers (Chief Officers  report to the Chief 
Executive) and have it entered in the register of interests maintained by the 
Chief Officer Governance before you become involved in the tendering or 
contract process. 

 

Page 206



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 193 

13. APPOINTMENTS AND OTHER EMPLOYMENT MATTERS 
 
13.1 Background 
 
 (a) Section 7 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 requires all local 

authority appointments to be made on the basis of merit.  It is therefore 
essential that Officers make appointments based solely on the ability of the 
candidate to undertake the duties of the post.  The Council's established 
Recruitment and Selection Procedures are designed to assist Officers and 
Councillors in fulfilling this responsibility, and should be closely adhered to.  
Further advice on the application of these procedures should be sought from 
Human Resources. 

 
 (b) Officers involved in making appointments will be expected to be aware of, and 

comply with the following: 
 

i. The National Conditions of Service, which provide that every Councillor 
and Senior Officer of the Council shall notify to the Chief Executive any 
relationship known to him to exist between himself and a candidate for 
an appointment of which he or she is aware.  It shall be the duty of the 
Chief Executive to the authority to report to the authority or appropriate 
committee any such disclosure made to him. (Note: 'Senior Officer' 
refers to an Officer paid at Senior Officer grade or above.)  

ii. The Council's Equal Opportunities in Employment Policy. 

 (c) Officers and Councillors are not allowed to canvass for a particular candidate 
to be appointed.  It is, however, in order for Officers and Councillors to provide 
references.  

 
13.2 Expected Standard 
 

Officers involved in making appointments should ensure that they 
are made solely on the basis of merit, and free from any possible 
allegation of discrimination, however unfounded. 

 

 
13.3 How to Comply with the Standard 
 
 (a) You are expected to ensure that appointments are made solely on the basis of 

merit.  In any involvement with appointments, you should therefore follow the 
Council's established Recruitment and Selection Procedures which are 
designed to assist in fulfilling this responsibility. 

 
 (b) If any attempt is made to canvass you, by an Officer or a Councillor, you must 

report the matter immediately to your Chief Officer  (Chief Officers report to the 
Chief Executive).  

 
 (c) To avoid any possible accusation of bias, you should not be involved in any 

appointment where you are related to, or have a close personal relationship 
outside work with, an applicant. 

 

Page 207



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 194 

 (d) Senior Officers are expected to notify their Chief Officer (Chief Officers  should 
notify the Chief Executive) of any relationship with a candidate for any 
appointment. 

 
 (e) You should not be involved in decisions relating to discipline, promotion, or pay 

adjustments for any employee who is a relative or partner, or with whom you 
have a close personal relationship outside work. 

  

Page 208



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 195 

PART 4 - SECTION 2 

Councillors’ Code of Conduct 
 
 

PREAMBLE TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
This Preamble provides an explanatory introduction to the Councillors’ Code of Conduct. It 
does not form part of the Code of Conduct, and in the event of any conflict between the 
Preamble and the Code, the Code shall take precedence. The Standards Committee are 
responsible for administering the Councillor's Code of Conduct. 
 
Introduction 
 
The City Council has adopted the following code dealing with the conduct that is expected of 
Councillors and co-opted members of the Council when they are acting in that capacity, as 
required by section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 (“the Act”). 
 
The Council has a statutory duty under the Act to promote and maintain high standards of 
conduct by Councillors, and the Code sets out the standards that the Council expects 
Councillors to observe. 
 
The Code is not intended to be an exhaustive list of all the obligations that are placed on 
Councillors.  It is the responsibility of individual Councillors to comply with the provisions of 
the Code and the Protocols contained in the Council’s Constitution, as well as such other legal 
obligations as may apply to them from time to time. Failure to do so may result in a sanction 
being applied by the Council.  Failure to take appropriate action in respect of a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest may result in a criminal conviction and an unlimited fine and/or 
disqualification from office for a period of up to 5 years. 
 
Councillors have a responsibility to ensure that they comply with the Code of Conduct in all 
respects. They should regularly review their personal circumstances and intended actions in 
the context of the Code. 
 
If in doubt, Councillors should seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or Deputy Monitoring 
Officers, but the final decision and responsibility on how to act rests with Councillors 
themselves. 
 
Councillors should not do anything in their capacity as councillors, which they could not justify 
to the public or could not justify by law. Councillors’ conduct and what the public believe about 
their conduct will affect the reputation and credibility of Councillors and the Council as a whole. 
 
It is not enough to avoid impropriety; perception is also important. Councillors should at all 
times avoid any occasion for suspicion and any appearance of improper conduct. 

Page 209



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 196 

SEVEN GENERAL PRINCIPLES OF PUBLIC LIFE 

 

The Code is intended to be consistent with the following seven principles, introduced by the 
Committee on Standards in Public Life, as required by the Localism Act 2011. 

 

1.       Selflessness 

 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

 

2.       Integrity 

 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people 

or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They 

should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for 

themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve any interests 

and relationships. 

 

3.       Objectivity 

 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using 

the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

 

4.       Accountability 

 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions to 

the public and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

 

5.       Openness 

 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 

manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and 

lawful reasons for so doing. 

 

6.      Honesty 

 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 

 

7. Leadership 

 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They 

should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge 

poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

 

 

 
  

Page 210



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 197 

CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
Part A 
 
General Provisions 
 
Introduction and interpretation 
 
1. — (1) This Code applies to you as a member of the Council  
 
(2) It is your responsibility to comply with the provisions of this Code. 
 
(3) In this Code— 
 
"meeting" means any meeting of— 

 
(a) the Council; 
 
(b) the Cabinet of the Council; 
 
(c) any of the Council's or its Cabinet Committees, Sub-Committees, Joint Committees, 
Joint Sub-Committees, or Area Committees; 
 

"member" includes a co-opted member and an appointed Councillor. 
 
Scope 
 
2. —(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2) you must comply with this Code whenever you— 

 
 
(a)  conduct the business of your Council (which, in this Code, includes the business of 
the office to which you are elected or appointed); or 
 
(b)  act, claim to act or give the impression you are acting as a representative of your 
Council, and references to your official capacity are construed accordingly. 
 
(2) This Code does not have effect in relation to your conduct other than where it is in 
your  official capacity.  

 
General obligations 
 
3. (1)  You must treat others with respect. 

 
(2)  You must not— 

 
 (a)  do anything which may cause your Council to breach the Equality Act 
2010   (or subsequent legislation) 

 
 (b)  bully1 any person; 
 (c) intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to be: 

                                                
1 Bullying definition: “Offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, abuse or misuse of power through 
means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient”. Examples of bullying include but are not 
limited to: spreading malicious rumours; unfair treatment; picking on someone. 
 

Page 211



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 198 

 
 (i) a complainant, 
 
 (ii) a witness, or 
 
 (iii) involved in the administration of any investigation or proceedings, 
 
in relation to an allegation that a Councillor (including yourself) has failed to 
comply with his or their Council's code of conduct; or 
 
 (d)  do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the 
impartiality of   those who work for, or on behalf of, the Council. 
 

(3)  The Chief Executive or the Monitoring Officer should be advised about any 
close personal relationship with an Officer or a close family member of an 
Officer, that goes beyond that of a simple friendship which might be expected 
to exist between colleagues, should such a relationship lead to an actual or 
potential conflict of interest. 

 
4. You must not— 
 

(a)  disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or information acquired 
by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a confidential 
nature, except where— 
 
(i) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it; 
 
(ii) you are required by law to do so; 
 
(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining professional 
advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose the information to any 
other person; or 
 
(iv) the disclosure is— 
 
(aa) reasonable and in the public interest; and 
 
(bb) made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable requirements of the 
Council; or 
 

(b)  prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that person is 
entitled by law. 
 

5.  You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as 
bringing the Council or the office of councillor into disrepute. 

 
6. You must: 
 
 (a) champion the needs of residents- the whole community and in a special way your 
 constituents, including those who did not vote for you - and put their interests first, 
and  
  
 (b) deal with representations or inquiries from residents and visitors, fairly, 
appropriately  and impartially 

Page 212



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 199 

 
7. You— 
 
(a) must not use or attempt to use your position as a Councillor improperly to confer on or 
secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage; and 
 
(b) must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the Council— 
 
(i) act in accordance with the Council’s reasonable requirements; 
 
(ii) ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political purposes (including party 
political purposes); and 
 

(c) must have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made under 
the Local Government Act 1986. 
 

8.  (1) When reaching decisions on any matter you must have regard to any relevant advice 
provided to you by— 
 

(a) the Council's Chief Finance Officer; or 
 
(b) the Council's Monitoring Officer, 
 
where that Officer is acting pursuant to his/her statutory duties. 

 
(2) You must give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory 
requirements and any reasonable additional requirements imposed by the Council. 
 

 
 

  

Page 213



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 200 

Part B 
 
Interests 
 
Section 1 
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 
This part explains the statutory requirements of the Localism Act 2011 (Sections 29-34) in 
relation to disclosable pecuniary interests. These are enforced by criminal sanction. 
 
1.  Notification of disclosable pecuniary interests 
 
Within 28 days of becoming a Councillor or co-opted member, you must notify the Monitoring 
Officer of any ‘disclosable pecuniary interests’. 
 
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself or your partner (which means 
spouse or civil partner, a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person 
with whom you are living as if you are civil partners) of the following descriptions: 

(a) Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or 
gain 

(b)  Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
relevant authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses. (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the 
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.  

(c) Details of any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body in which 
the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the relevant authority under which 
goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and which has not 
been fully discharged.  

(d) Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the relevant authority. 

(e) Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
relevant authority for a month or longer. 

(f) Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge) the landlord is the relevant authority; 
and the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest. 

(g) Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where that body (to your 
knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and 
either the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or if that share capital of that body is of more 
than one class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that class.  

For the purposes of the foregoing “relevant authority” means the Council; “relevant period” 
means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which you notify the Monitoring Officer 
of your disclosable pecuniary interest, and “relevant person” means you or your spouse or 
partner as defined above.  
 

Page 214



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 201 

2. Register of interests 
 

Any interests notified to the Monitoring Officer will be included in the register of interests. 
 
A copy of the register will be available for public inspection and will be published on the 
Council’s website. 
 
3. Sensitive interests 

 
Where you consider that disclosure of the details of a disclosable pecuniary interest could lead 
to you, or a person connected with you, being subject to violence or intimidation, and the 
Monitoring Officer agrees, if the interest is entered on the register, copies of the register that 
are made available for inspection and any published version of the register will exclude details 
of the interest, but may state that you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, the details of 
which are withheld under Section 32(2) of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
4. Non-participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 
 
a) If you are present at a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, or any Committee, Sub-

Committee, Joint Committee or Joint Sub-Committee of the Council, and you have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter to be considered or being considered at 
the meeting: 

 You may not participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting. 

 You may not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the meeting. 

 If the interest is not registered, you must disclose the interest to the meeting. 

 If the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a pending notification, you 
must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 days. 

 
In addition, the Council Procedure Rules require you to leave the room where the meeting is 
held while any discussion or voting takes place. 
 
b) Where a Cabinet member may discharge a function alone and becomes aware of a 

disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter being dealt with or to be dealt with by them, 
the Cabinet member must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not 
take any steps or further steps in the matter. 

 
5. Dispensations 
 
The Monitoring Officer may authorise the granting of dispensations pursuant to section 33 of 
the Localism Act 2011. 
 
6. Offences 
 
It is a criminal offence to: 
 
(a) Fail to notify the Monitoring Officer within twenty-eight days of election of any disclosable 

pecuniary interest  

(b) Fail to disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest at a meeting if it is not on the register 

(c) Fail to notify the Monitoring Officer within twenty-eight days of a disclosable pecuniary 
interest that is not on the register that you have disclosed to a meeting 

(d) Participate in any discussion or vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest. 

Page 215



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 202 

(e) As a Cabinet member discharging a function acting alone, and having a disclosable 
pecuniary interest in such a matter, fail to notify the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the interest. 

(f) Knowingly or recklessly provide information that is false or misleading in notifying the 
Monitoring Officer of a disclosable pecuniary interest or in disclosing such interest to a 
meeting 

The criminal penalties available to a court are to impose an unlimited fine and disqualification 
from being a councillor for up to 5 years. 
 
7. Notification of changes 
 
Whilst not a requirement of the statute, the Council under this Code of Conduct requires you 
to notify the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of any new disclosable pecuniary interest, or 
any change to a disclosable pecuniary interest already notified/registered. 
 
Section 2 
 
Other Interests 
 
8. Notification of Other Interests 
 
(1)  In addition to the foregoing, you must, within 28 days of this Code being adopted by 

or applied to your Council; or your election or appointment to office (where that is 
later), notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of the details of your other interests within 
the following categories, for inclusion in the register of interests: 

  

(a) Details of any body of which you are a member or in a position of general 
control or management and to which you are appointed or nominated by the 
Council; 

(b)  Details of any body exercising functions of a public nature, any body directed 
to charitable purposes or any body one of whose principal purposes includes 
the influence of public opinion or policy (including any political party or trade 
union), of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 
management; 

(c)  Details of any gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50 that 
you have received in connection with your role as a Councillor, and details 
of the donor. 

(2)  You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new interest or change to any 
interest registered under this paragraph notify the Monitoring Officer of the details of 
that new interest or change. 

9. Disclosure of Other Interests 

(1)  Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), where you have an interest described in 
paragraph 8(1) above or in paragraph (2) below in any business of the Council, and 
where you are aware or ought reasonably to be aware of the existence of that interest, 
and you attend a meeting of your authority at which the business is considered, you 
must disclose to that meeting the existence and nature of that interest at the 
commencement of that consideration, or when the interest becomes apparent. 

(2)  You have an interest in any business of the Council where a decision in relation to 
that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting your well-being or financial 

Page 216



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 203 

position or the well-being or financial position of a member of your family or any 
person with whom you have a close association, to a greater extent than the majority 
of other Council Tax payers. 

(3)  Where you have an interest in any business of the Council of the type mentioned in 
paragraph 8(1)(c), (gifts and hospitality) you need not disclose the nature or existence 
of that interest to the meeting if the interest was registered more than three years 
before the date of the meeting. 

(4) Where you have an interest by virtue of paragraph 8(1) but, by virtue of paragraph 
11, sensitive information relating to it is not registered in the register of Councillors’ 
interests, you must indicate to the meeting that you have an interest, but need not 
disclose the sensitive information to the meeting. 

(5)  Where you have an interest in any business of the Council by virtue of paragraph 8(1) 
or 9(2), and you have made an executive decision in relation to that business, you 
must ensure that any written statement of that decision records the existence and 
nature of that interest. 

10. Register of interests 

(1)  Any interests notified to the Monitoring Officer under paragraph 8 above will be 
included in the register of interests. 

 
(2)  A copy of the register will be available for public inspection and will be published on 

the Council's website. 
 
(3)  Where a disclosable pecuniary interest is notified to the Monitoring Officer it need not 

be separately notified or separately registered as an interest under this section of the 
Code. 

11. Sensitive interests 

Where you consider that disclosure of the details of an interest could lead to you, or a person 
connected with you, being subject to violence or intimidation, and the Monitoring Officer's 
agrees, if the interest is entered on the register, copies of the register that are made available 
for inspection and any published version of the register will exclude details of the interest, but 
may state that you have an interest, the details of which are withheld. 
 
12. Non participation in case of certain other interests 
 
(1)  Subject to paragraphs (2) and (3) below, where you have an interest in any business 

of the Council by virtue of paragraph 8(1) or 9(2) AND the interest is one which a 
member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard 
as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest AND 
where that business— 

 
(a)  affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body 

through whom the interest arises; or 

(b)  relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or 
registration in relation to you or any person through whom the interest arises, 

you may not participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting, and you may 
not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the meeting. 

In addition, the Council Procedure Rules require you to leave the room where the 
meeting is held while any discussion or voting takes place. 

Page 217



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 204 

(2)  Where you have an interest in any business of the Council to which paragraph 12(1) 
applies, you may attend a meeting but only for the purpose of making 
representations, answering questions or giving evidence relating to the business, 
provided that the public are also allowed to attend the meeting for the same purpose, 
whether under a statutory right or otherwise, and provided that you leave the room 
where the meeting is held immediately after making representations, answering 
questions or giving evidence. 

(3)  Subject to you disclosing the interest at the meeting, you may attend a meeting and 
vote on a matter where you have an interest under paragraph 12(1) that relates to 
the functions of the Council in respect of— 

(i)  housing, where you are a tenant of your Council provided that those functions 
do not relate particularly to your tenancy or lease; 

(ii)        an allowance, payment or indemnity given to Councillors; 

(iii)  any ceremonial honour given to Councillors; and 

(iv)  setting Council Tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 
1992. 

(v) Where, as a Cabinet member, you may discharge a function alone, and you 
become aware of an interest under paragraph 12(1) in a matter being dealt 
with, or to be dealt with by you, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the 
interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter, or seek 
improperly to influence a decision about the matter 

  

Page 218



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 205 

Part 4 - Section 3 

  
ARRANGEMENTS FOR DEALING WITH ALLEGATIONS THAT A MEMBER OF THE 
CITY COUNCIL OR A MEMBER OF A PARISH COUNCIL WITHIN THE DISTRICT OF 

THE COUNCIL HAS FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE RELEVANT CODE OF CONDUCT. 
LOCALISM ACT 2011 SECTION 28 

 
These arrangements are made under Sections 28(6) and (7) of the Localism Act 2011, and 
set out how the City Council will deal with allegations that a city or parish councillor has failed 
to comply with the relevant Code of Conduct. These arrangements provide for the Council to 
appoint at least one Independent Person, whose views must be sought by the Council before 
it takes a decision on an allegation which it has decided should be investigated, and whose 
views can be sought by the Council at any other stage, or by a Councillor against whom an 
allegation has been made. The City Council has appointed an Independent Person and a 
reserve. It is envisaged that a Councillor complained of will not consult with the same 
Independent Person who is advising the Monitoring Officer or the Standards Committee. 
 

1. Making an Allegation 

(1) An allegation that a city councillor or parish councillor has failed to comply with the 

requirements of the relevant Code of Conduct must be made to: 

(a) The Monitoring Officer, Lancaster City Council, Town Hall, Lancaster LA1 

1PJ. 

(2) An allegation may be sent by email, or other any other media with any supporting 

information to the Monitoring Officer.  A form for this purpose is available on the 

Council’s website https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/information/complaints-comments-

and-questions/complaining-about-a-councillor 

 
(3) The allegation must be about one or more named members of the following 

authorities: Lancaster City Council or a parish or town council within its District. 

These are Aldcliffe-with-Stodday, Arkholme-with-Cawood, Bolton-le-Sands, 

Carnforth, Caton-with-Littledale,Cockerham, Ellel, Gressingham, Halton-with-

Aughton, Heaton-with-Oxcliffe, Hornby-with-Farleton, Ireby and Leck, Melling-with-

Wrayton, Middleton, Morecambe, Nether Kellet, Over Kellet, Over Wyresdale, 

Overton, Quernmore, Scotforth, Silverdale, Slyne-with-Hest, Tatham, Thurnham, 

Warton, Wennington, Whittington, Wray-with-Botton, Yealand Conyers and Yealand 

Redmayne. 

 
(4) The allegation must be that the Councillor(s) has, or may have, breached the relevant 

Code of Conduct. The Code of Conduct adopted by a parish or town council is 

available on that council’s website or from the relevant parish or town council clerk. 

 

(5) Anyone making an allegation should provide full details of the conduct complained of 

and how it is alleged to constitute a breach of the relevant Code of Conduct. Details of 

the person making the allegation will generally be provided to the Councillor, unless 

the Monitoring Officer considers that there are special reasons for keeping this 

information confidential. 

2. Procedure once an allegation is received 

(1) Once an allegation is received the Monitoring Officer will provide a copy of the 

allegation or a summary of the circumstances to the Councillor complained of, and 

Page 219

http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/draft-constitution/draft-constitution-draft-2#Councillors code
http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/draft-constitution/draft-constitution-draft-2#Standards Committee
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/information/complaints-comments-and-questions/complaining-about-a-councillor
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/information/complaints-comments-and-questions/complaining-about-a-councillor


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 206 

advise that the Councillor may submit any comments to the Monitoring Officer if the 

Councillor wishes to do so. 

 

(2) In appropriate cases, the Monitoring Officer may seek to resolve the matter informally. 

This may involve the Councillor accepting that his/her conduct was unacceptable and 

offering an apology. 

 

(3) If informal resolution is not possible, the Monitoring Officer will, in consultation with the 

Independent Person, the Chair of the Standards Committee (or the Vice-Chair if the 

Chair is a member of the same group within the City Council as the Councillor 

complained of), and, if appropriate the Chief Executive, determine whether the 

complaint merits formal investigation, or whether no further action should be taken. 

 

(4) The Monitoring Officer may refer particular complaints to the Standards Committee if 

they feel that it would be inappropriate for them to take the decision, and will generally 

do so where the complainant is the Chief Executive or a Chief Officer , or where the 

complainant or the Councillor complained of is the Leader of the Council or a Group 

Leader. There may be other circumstances where the Monitoring Officer considers that 

it would not be appropriate for them to take the decision. 

 

(5) Whilst each allegation will be considered on its own facts, the assessment criteria (Part 

4 - Section 3 (A)) will be applied in considering whether or not an allegation should be 

investigated. 

 
(6) If an allegation is not referred for investigation, the complainant has no right of appeal. 

The Monitoring Officer will report to each scheduled Standards Committee meeting on 

the complaints received and decisions taken on them. The report will not be open to 

the press and public as it will contain information relating to named individuals. 

 

3.  Investigation 

(1) Where a complaint is referred for investigation, the Monitoring Officer will arrange for 

the investigation to be undertaken by an Officer of the Council, or by an external 

investigator. The Investigation Procedure is set out in Part 4 – Section 3 (B). 

 

(2) lf the investigating Officer finds no evidence of failure to comply with the Code, the 

Monitoring Officer is authorised to close the matter, in consultation with the 

Independent Person, Chair (or Vice-Chair if the Chair is a member of the same group 

within the City Council as the Councillor complained of) and, if appropriate, the Chief 

Executive. However, the Monitoring Officer may refer the matter to the Standards 

Committee if they considers this would be appropriate. The Monitoring Officer will in 

any event provide a summary to the next meeting of the Standards Committee. 

 

(3) Where a formal investigation finds evidence of failure to comply with the Code of 

Conduct, there may yet be an opportunity for local resolution, avoiding the need for a 

hearing. Sometimes the investigation report can cause a Councillor to recognise that 

the conduct was at least capable of giving offence, and the complainant may be 

satisfied by recognition of fault or an apology. The Monitoring Officer has authority to 

agree a local resolution, in consultation with the Independent Person, the Chair (or 

Vice-Chair if the Chair is a member of the same group within the City Council as the 

Councillor complained of) and, if appropriate, the Chief Executive, subject to the 

Page 220



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 207 

complainant being satisfied with the outcome, and subject to a summary report to the 

Standards Committee. 

 
(4) In all other cases where the formal investigation finds evidence of a failure to comply 

with the Code of Conduct, the Standards Committee will hold a hearing at which the 

Councillor complained of may respond to the investigation report and the Committee 

will determine whether the Councillor did fail to comply with the Code of Conduct and 

what action, if any, is appropriate. The Committee’s Pre-hearing and Hearing 

Procedures is set out in Part 4 – Section 3 (C) and (D). The Hearing Committee will 

be advised by an Independent Person and by the Monitoring Officer. 

 

(5) The sanctions open to the Standards Committee are: 

i.  to censure, to report the findings to Full Council, (in effect “naming and 

shaming”), 

ii. to recommend the Councillor’s Group Leader to remove the Councillor from 

any or all Committees,  

iii. to withdraw Council facilities, such as a computer, or to exclude the Councillor 

from the Council’s offices with the exception of meeting rooms as necessary 

for attending meetings of Council/Committee.  

There is no right of appeal. 

 

(6) With regard to parish councillors, the Standards Committee may make a 

recommendation to the parish council on action to be taken in respect of the councillor. 

Parish councils will be under no obligation to accept any such recommendation. 

4. Conflict of Interest 

(1) It should be noted that the above arrangements provide for the Vice-Chair rather than 

the Chair to be consulted at all stages of the process if the Chair is of the same group 

within the City Council as the Councillor complained of. This is because it is recognised 

that the greatest likelihood of a perception of conflict of interest arises in this situation. 

 

(2) Where a complaint is made by a City Councillor about another City Councillor, there 

could also be a perception of conflict of interest where the Chair (or Vice-Chair) is 

consulted and is of the same group as the complainant. It is impossible to cover all the 

possible scenarios, but in such circumstances the Monitoring Officer will discuss with 

both the Chair and the Vice-Chair any possible perceived conflicts of interest so that 

the procedure is as transparent as possible. 

 
  

Page 221



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 208 

Part 4 Section 3 (A) 
 
LANCASTER CITY COUNCIL STANDARDS COMMITEE – ASSESSMENT CRITERIA 

 

1. The Monitoring Officer will reject a complaint if it fails to meet one or more of the 

following tests: 

a. The complaint is against one or more named Councillors or co-opted members 

of the City Council or a parish or town council within the District. 

b. The Councillor complained of was in office at the time of the alleged conduct 

and the Code of Conduct was in force at the time. 

c. The complaint, if proven, would be a breach of the Code of Conduct under 

which the Councillor was operating at the time of the alleged misconduct. 

2. The Monitoring Officer (following consultation with the Independent Person, the Chair 

(or Vice-Chair of the Committee) and the Chief Executive, if appropriate) or the 

Standards Committee may decide to refer a complaint for investigation where the 

complaint discloses a potential breach of the Code of Conduct sufficiently serious, if 

proven, to warrant a sanction, and where it would be in the public interest to 

investigate. 

3.  Circumstances where the Monitoring Officer (following consultation with the 

Independent Person, the Chair (or Vice-Chair of the Committee) and the Chief 

Executive, if appropriate) or the Standards Committee may decide that no action 

should be taken in respect of a complaint: 

a. Where the complaint is about someone who is no longer a member of the City 

Council or a parish or town council 

b. Where a substantially similar allegation has previously been made by the 

complainant to the Standards Committee, or the complaint has been the subject 

of an investigation by another regulatory authority 

c. Where the complaint is about something that happened so long ago that those 

involved are unlikely to remember it clearly enough to provide credible 

evidence, or where the lapse of time means there would be little benefit or point 

in taking action now. It is acknowledged, however, that where a delay has 

arisen as a result of criminal or other legal proceedings, it may be appropriate 

to refer the complaint for investigation or other action. 

4. Where the allegation is anonymous, unless it includes documentary or photographic 

evidence indicating an exceptionally serious or significant matter. 

5. When the allegation discloses a potential breach of the Code of Conduct, but the 

complaint does not appear serious enough to warrant further action. 

6.  Where the complaint appears to be malicious, politically motivated or tit-for-tat, unless 

a serious matter is raised in the complaint. 

  
 
 
  

Page 222



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 209 

Part 4 – Section 3 (B) 
 
LANCASTER CITY COUNCIL STANDARDS COMMITTEE PROCEDURE FOR CASES 
REFERRED FOR INVESTIGATION 

 

1. When an allegation is referred by the Monitoring Officer or the Standards Committee 

for investigation, the Monitoring Officer will within five working days or as soon as 

reasonably practical, inform the Councillor who is the subject of the allegation of failure 

to comply with the Code of Conduct, (“the Subject Councillor”), the person who made 

the allegation (“the Complainant”), and the clerk to any parish council concerned that 

the matter has been referred for investigation. 

2. The Monitoring Officer may appoint an Investigating Officer who may be an Officer of 

the Council, or an external investigating Officer. The Investigating Officer may appoint 

persons to assist him/her in the conduct of the investigation, and may obtain such 

professional advice as may be necessary. The Monitoring Officer will advise the 

Subject Councillor and the Complainant of the appointment of the Investigating Officer. 

3. The Investigating Officer may make such inquiries as they think necessary or 

expedient for the purposes of conducting the investigation, and may request any 

person to give such information or explanation as the Investigating Officer thinks 

necessary or expedient for the purpose of conducting the investigation. The 

Investigating Officer may require any of the relevant authorities concerned to provide 

such advice and assistance as may reasonably be needed to assist in the 

investigation, and to provide reasonable access to such documents in the possession 

of that authority as appear to the Investigating Officer to be necessary for the purpose 

of conducting the investigation. 

4. Statements will be prepared and agreed with each person interviewed during an 

investigation, including the Subject Councillor. The Subject Councillor will be advised 

that they may be accompanied by a professional representative or advisor, a Group 

colleague or friend during the interview. Any other person interviewed may be 

accompanied by a friend or representative if they so wish. Any accompanying person 

must either be under a professional duty of confidentiality (a solicitor or legal 

representative) or have signed a confidentiality agreement in respect of any 

information disclosed during the interview or hearing that is not in the public domain. 

5. The Investigating Officer will complete the investigation within a reasonable period of 

time according to the nature of the complaint and the extent of the investigation 

required. 

6. The Investigating Officer, having concluded the investigation, will consider whether to 

produce a draft report before the final report. A draft report may be appropriate where 

the facts are complex or ambiguous, or where the facts are disputed. Any draft report 

will be issued to the Subject Councillor and the Complainant for review and comment, 

and will indicate that it does not necessarily represent the Investigating Officer’s final 

finding. 

7. If the Investigating Officer issues a draft report, he/she will consider whether the 

responses reveal a need for further investigation or for changes to the report. In some 

complex cases, the Investigating Officer may wish to issue a second draft report before 

the final report. 

Page 223



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 210 

8. The Investigating Officer’s final report will include all relevant documents, and copies 

of all witness statements obtained during the course of the investigation. The report 

will commence with a statement of the Investigating Officer’s finding. The finding will 

be either that there has been a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct of the 

authority concerned, or as the case may be any other authority concerned (“a finding 

of failure”), or that there has not been a failure to comply with the code of conduct of 

the authority concerned, or as the case may be, of any other authority concerned (“a 

finding of no failure”). 

9. The Investigating Officer will submit the final report to the Monitoring Officer. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 224



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 211 

Part 4 – Section 3 (C) 
 
PRE-HEARING PROCEDURE 

 

1. Where an investigation report has found that there has been a breach of the Code of 

Conduct, and the matter cannot otherwise be resolved by local resolution, for example 

by the Subject Councillor admitting the breach and apologising, a hearing will be 

arranged. The hearing will generally be a meeting of the Committee convened 

specifically for that purpose. 

2. A copy of the investigation report will be sent to the Subject Councillor, the 

complainant, the clerk to the parish council if the complaint relates to the Subject 

Councillor’s conduct as a parish councillor, and to the Independent Person. 

3. The Subject Councillor will be asked for a written response within 15 working days, 

which response shall set out the Subject Councillor’s reply to the Investigating Officer’s 

report and shall state whether he/she: 

a. disagrees with any of the findings of fact in the report, giving the reasons for 

any disagreement 

b. wishes to be represented by a solicitor or barrister, or by any other person 

c. wishes to give evidence to the Committee, either orally or in writing 

d. wishes to call relevant witnesses to give evidence to the Committee 

e. wishes any part of the hearing to be held in private 

f. wishes any part of the Investigating Officer’s report or other relevant documents 

to be withheld from the public. 

4. The Subject Councillor shall be informed that if, at the meeting of the Committee, they 

seek to dispute any matter contained in the Investigating Officer’s report without having 

previously notified the intention to do so, the Committee may refuse to allow the 

disputed matters to be raised unless satisfied that there are good reasons why they 

have not been raised beforehand. 

5. Upon receipt of the Subject Councillor’s response, the Investigating Officer shall be 

invited to comment on it within ten working days, and to say whether or not they:  

a. wishes to call relevant witnesses to give evidence or submit written or other 

evidence to the Committee 

b. wishes any part of the hearing to be held in private 

c. wishes any part of the report or other relevant documents to be withheld from 

the public 

6. Upon receipt of the Investigating Officer’s response, the Monitoring Officer or other 

legal adviser will consider the responses of the Subject Councillor and the Investigating 

Officer and set a date for the hearing in consultation with the Chair of the Committee. 

7. The Subject Councillor and the Investigating Officer are entitled to request that any 

witnesses they want should be called. However, the Chair of the Committee may limit 

the number of witnesses to be called, if he/she believes the number requested is 

unreasonable and that some witnesses will simply be repeating the evidence of earlier 

Page 225



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 212 

witnesses, or else not providing evidence that will assist the Committee to reach its 

decision. 

8. Nothing in this procedure shall limit the Chair of the hearing from requesting the 

attendance of any additional witnesses whose evidence he/she considers would assist 

the Committee to reach its decision. 

9. The Monitoring Officer/Legal Adviser, in consultation with the Chair and the 

Independent Person, will: 

a. confirm a date, time and place for the hearing 

b. confirm the main facts of the case that are agreed 

c. confirm the main facts that are not agreed 

d. provide copies of any written evidence to the relevant parties 

e. confirm which witnesses will be called by the parties 

f. provide the parties with copies of the proposed procedure for the hearing, 

specifying which parts of the matter, if any, may be considered in private 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 226



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 213 

 
Part 4 – Section 3 (D) 
 
HEARING PROCEDURE 

 

1. The Hearing Committee shall decide, on a balance of probabilities, on the evidence 

presented to it, whether the complaint is upheld. 

2. All matters shall be decided by a simple majority of votes cast. If there are equal 

numbers, the Chair shall have a second and casting vote. 

3. The Independent Person shall attend the hearing in an advisory, non-voting capacity. 

4. The meeting will be open to the press and public unless confidential or exempt 

information is likely to be disclosed. 

5. The procedure for the hearing shall be as set out below, but the Chair may agree to 

vary this procedure in any particular instance where he/she is of the opinion that such 

variation is necessary in the interests of fairness. 

6. The Subject Councillor may be represented or accompanied during the meeting by a 

solicitor or barrister, or with the permission of the Committee, another person. It is the 

responsibility of the Subject Councillor to arrange any representation. 

7. The Committee may take legal advice from its legal adviser at any time during the 

hearing or during its deliberations. The substance of any advice given to the Committee 

will be shared with the Subject Councillor and Investigating Officer if they are present 

at the hearing. 

8. At the start of the hearing, the Chair shall introduce each of the members of the 

Committee, the Independent Person, the Subject Councillor (if present), the 

Investigating Officer (if present) and any other Officers present, and shall then explain 

the procedure which the Committee will follow in the conduct of the hearing. 

9. The Committee shall then confirm that it is quorate, and deal with any disclosures of 

interests. 

10. If the Subject Councillor is not present at the start of the hearing: 

a. The Chair will ask the Monitoring Officer/Legal Adviser whether the Subject 

Councillor has indicated his/her intention not to attend the hearing 

b. The Committee shall then consider any reasons which the Subject Councillor 

has provided for not attending the hearing and shall decide whether it is 

satisfied that there is sufficient reason for such failure to attend 

c. If the Committee is satisfied with such reasons, it shall adjourn the hearing to 

another date 

d. If the Committee is not satisfied with such reasons, or if the Subject Councillor 

has not given any such reasons, the Committee shall decide whether to 

consider the matter and make a determination in the absence of the Subject 

Councillor, or to adjourn the hearing to another date. 

Page 227



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 214 

11. After the preliminary procedures, the Committee will consider whether or not there are 

any significant disagreements about the facts contained in the Investigating Officer’s 

report. 

12. If there is disagreement, the Investigating Officer will present the evidence which is 

relevant to the facts in dispute. With the permission of the Committee, witnesses can 

be called to give relevant evidence. The Subject Councillor, the Committee members 

and the Independent Person may ask questions of the Investigating Officer or any 

witness. 

13. The Subject Councillor or his/her representative will then present the evidence that is 

relevant to the facts in dispute. With the permission of the Committee, witnesses can 

be called to give relevant evidence. The Investigating Officer, the Committee members 

and the Independent Person may ask questions of the Subject Councillor or any 

witnesses. 

14. If the Subject Councillor disagrees with any relevant fact in the report without having 

given prior notice, he/she must give good reasons for not mentioning it before the 

hearing. After considering the Subject Councillor’s explanation, the Committee may 

continue with the hearing, relying on the information in the report, may allow the 

Subject Councillor to make representations about the issue and invite the Investigating 

Officer to respond and call any witnesses as necessary, or may postpone the hearing 

to arrange for appropriate witnesses to be present. 

15. The Committee will consider in private, with the Independent Person, all the evidence 

which it has heard in order to establish its findings of fact, and to reach a conclusion 

as to whether there has been a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. Depending 

on the complexity of the case, this may be done in two stages, with the Committee first 

hearing evidence and making findings of fact, and then hearing representations as to 

whether, on those facts, there has been a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct 

and making a finding on that issue. 

16. At any stage in the consideration of the matter, the Committee may return to ask further 

questions of the Investigating Officer or the Subject Councillor or seek further 

information. The other party will be given an opportunity to comment upon the 

questions asked or the responses made. 

17. At the conclusion of the Committee’s deliberations, the Chair will advise the Subject 

Member and the Investigating Officer of their findings. 

18. If the Committee concludes that the Subject Member has failed to comply with the 

Code of Conduct, the Chair will invite representations from the Investigating Officer 

and the Subject Member as to what action, if any, it should take, and will take advice 

also from the Independent Person. The Committee may ask questions of the Subject 

Member and the Investigating Officer. The Subject Member will be invited to make any 

final relevant points. 

19. The Committee shall then consider in private, with the Independent Person, whether 

to impose a sanction, and, if so, what sanction to impose and when that sanction 

should take effect. 

20. The sanctions open to the Committee are: 

 to censure the Subject Member 

Page 228



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 215 

 to report its findings to full Council 

 to recommend the Subject Member’s Group Leader to remove the Member 

from any or all Committees, or, if appropriate, to recommend the Leader to 

remove the Member from Cabinet 

 to withdraw facilities, such as a computer, or exclude the member from the 

Council’s offices with the exception of meetings rooms as necessary for 

attending meetings of Council/Committees 

21. If the finding relates to the Subject Member’s conduct in his/her capacity as a parish 

councillor, the Committee will report its findings to the parish council, and may make 

recommendations to the parish council on sanctions. 

22. In deciding to impose a sanction, the Committee shall consider all the relevant 

circumstances.  

23. The Chair will announce the decision of the Committee. Written notice of the findings 

of the Committee will be given as soon as is reasonably practicable to the Subject 

Member. If the complaint was against the Subject Member as a parish councillor, 

written notice of the findings of the Committee will be sent to the clerk to the parish 

council. 

24. The Committee may consider making any recommendations to the authority 

concerned with a view to promoting higher standards of conduct among its members. 

25. The decision of the Committee, whether or not there has been a finding of breach of 

the Code of Conduct, will be made public. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 229



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 216 

PART 4 - SECTION 4 

Protocol on Councillor/Officer Relations 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 The purpose of this protocol is to guide Councillors and Officers in their relations 

with one another, to define their respective roles and to provide guidance for 

dealing with particular issues that may most commonly arise or cause concern. 

1.2 However, given the variety and complexity of such relations, this protocol does 

not seek to be either prescriptive or exhaustive.  It is hoped that the general 

approach set out in the protocol will serve as a guide in dealing with other issues 

that may not be specifically covered. 

1.3 The protocol also seeks to reflect the principles underlying the respective Codes 

of Conduct which apply to Councillors and Officers.  The shared object of these 

Codes is to enhance and maintain the integrity of local government and they 

therefore demand very high standards of personal conduct. 

2. ROLE OF COUNCILLORS AND OFFICERS 

2.1 Both Councillors and Officers are servants of the public and they are 

indispensable to one another, but their responsibilities are distinct.  Councillors 

are responsible to the electorate and serve only so long as their term of office 

lasts.  Officers are responsible to the Council as a whole, and they are 

accountable to the Chief Executive.  Their job is to give advice to Councillors and 

the Council, and to carry out the Council’s work under the direction and control 

of the Council and Cabinet, and the various Committees. 

2.2 The Council’s Constitution sets out the clear distinction between the roles of 

Councillors and Officers.   Councillors will perform roles on the Cabinet, and on 

the Regulatory and Overview and Scrutiny and other Committees, in addition to 

sitting as members of the Full Council.  They may also represent the Council on 

outside bodies.  Officers are employed by and serve the whole Council, and are 

accountable to the Chief Executive.  They provide support to the Cabinet, the 

Regulatory Committees and Overview and Scrutiny functions of the Council, 

providing impartial advice and implementing the decisions of the Council, the 

Cabinet and Committees.  They may also make decisions under powers 

delegated to them.  

2.3 Councillors should not get involved in the day to day operational management of 

services.  Equally, Officers should not get involved in politics. 

2.4 Officers are responsible for advising on and implementing policies, and for the 

delivery of services in the manner that they consider is most appropriate given 

their managerial and professional expertise. Councillors would not be expected 

to be involved in the detail of implementation, but can expect reports on progress, 

and in certain circumstances, at Overview and Scrutiny meetings, can require 

Chief Officers to account for their decisions. 

2.5 It is appropriate, however, for Councillors to propose initiatives and ideas about 

how things can be done better.  It is essential that existing ways of doing things 

are challenged and reviewed.  This needs to be done in a professional and 

constructive environment.  The Constitution sets out the procedures for both the 

Page 230



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 217 

Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny to review existing policies and bring forward 

new policy initiatives.  The Procedure Rules in Part 3 also set out the process 

for Officer involvement with the Cabinet, the Regulatory Committees and the 

Overview and Scrutiny. 

2.6 Mutual respect between Councillors and Officers is essential to good local 

government.  It is important in all dealings between Councillors and Officers that 

both should observe reasonable and consistent standards of courtesy and that 

neither party should seek to take advantage of their position. Close personal 

familiarity between individual Councillors and Officers can damage this 

relationship and prove embarrassing to other Councillors and Officers. 

2.7 The general obligations in the Councillors’ Code of Conduct include a 

requirement to treat others with respect, and not to do anything which 

compromises or is likely to compromise the impartiality of those who work for or 

on behalf of the Council. There is also a requirement for Councillors in making 

decisions to have regard to any advice provided by the Council’s Chief Finance 

Officer and the Monitoring Officer. Any allegation by an Officer that a Councillor 

has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct will be dealt with under the 

Standards Committee’s procedure for dealing with Code of Conduct complaints. 

As with any such complaint, the first stage will be for the Monitoring Officer to 

seek to resolve the matter informally. 

3. OFFICER ADVICE TO GROUPS OF COUNCILLORS 

3.1 It is common practice for political groups to give preliminary consideration to 

matters of Council business in advance of such matters being considered.  As 

an example, the Council’s monthly Notice of Forthcoming Key Decisions will 

identify the Key Decisions that the Cabinet will be considering.  Individual 

Councillors and/or groups of Councillors may properly call upon Officers to 

support and provide factual advice to their deliberations.  The support provided 

by Officers can take many forms, ranging from a briefing meeting prior to a 

committee meeting, to a presentation to a full group meeting.  Briefing of political 

groups should only be undertaken by the Chief Executive or Chief Officers , or 

otherwise with the approval of the Chief Executive and any information provided 

to the group will not as a matter of routine be passed on to other groups. 

However, briefing information provided to a political group, whether or not it 

contains confidential information, may, at the written request of that group, be 

passed on by the relevant Officer to other groups also. 

3.2 Certain points must, however, be clearly understood by all those participating in 

this type of process, Councillors and Officers alike.  In particular: 

(a)    Officer support in these circumstances must not extend beyond 

providing information and advice in relation to matters of Council 

business.  Officers must not be involved in advising on matters of a 

‘political’ nature.  Officers are not expected to be present at meetings, 

or parts of meetings, where matters of political business are to be 

discussed. 

(b)       Similarly, where Officers provide information and advice to a group 

of Councillors meeting in relation to a matter of Council business, this 

cannot act as a substitute for providing all necessary information and 

Page 231



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 218 

advice to the Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny or other Committee 

meeting when the matter in question is considered. 

3.3 Officers must respect the confidentiality of any group discussions at which they 

are present in the sense that they should not relay the content of any such 

discussion to another group of Councillors, unless specifically asked to do so. 

3.4 Any particular cases of difficulty or uncertainty in this area of Officer advice to 

groups of Councillors should be raised with the Chief Executive or, in his 

absence, the Council’s Monitoring Officer, who will discuss them with the relevant 

Group Leader(s). 

 4. OFFICER/COUNCILLOR RELATIONSHIPS 

4.1 It is clearly important that there should be a close working relationship between 

Cabinet members and Committee members, including their Chairs, and the 

relevant Chief Officers.  However, such relationships should never be allowed to 

become so close, or appear to be so close, as to bring into question an Officer’s 

ability to deal impartially with other Councillors. 

4.2 Whilst the Cabinet Leader and Committee Chairs will routinely be consulted as 

part of the process of drawing up agenda items for a forthcoming meeting, it must 

be recognised that in some situations an Officer will consider it his/her duty to 

submit a report on a particular matter.  In these circumstances, an Officer will 

always be fully responsible for the contents of any report submitted in his/her 

name.  Similarly, a Councillor will also be fully responsible for that part of any 

report submitted in his/her name.  Any issues arising between a Councillor and 

an Officer in this area should be referred to the Chief Executive for his resolution.  

Where individual Councillors wish to place an item on a Cabinet agenda, they 

should notify the Chief Executive in accordance with Part 4 Section 4 of the 

Constitution. 

4.3 In relation to action between meetings, it is important to remember that the 

Council’s Constitution allows not only for decisions (relating to the discharge of 

any of the Council’s functions) to be taken by the Cabinet, Committees of Council 

or an Officer, but also allows for an individual Cabinet member to take Key 

Decisions. 

4.4 It must be remembered that Officers within a Service are accountable to their 

Chief Officer  and ultimately to the Chief Executive, and that whilst Officers 

should always seek to assist any Councillor, they must not, in so doing, go 

beyond the bounds of whatever authority they have been given by their Chief 

Officer .  Officers should also refer to Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) and 

Part 7, Section 1 (Officers’ Code of Conduct) in the Council’s Constitution for 

clarification about the bounds of their responsibility. 

5. UNDUE PRESSURE 

5.1 A Councillor should not apply undue pressure on an Officer to do anything which 

he/she is not empowered to do, or which is against the Officer’s professional 

judgement, or to undertake work outside normal duties or normal hours. 

5.2 Similarly, an Officer must not seek to influence an individual Councillor to make 

a decision in his/her favour, nor raise personal matters relating to his/her job, nor 

make claims or allegations about other Officers, except in accordance with any 

Page 232



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 219 

agreed Council procedure or in accordance with law.  Councillors who receive 

any such approach from an Officer should advise the Chief Executive 

immediately.   

6. CRITICISM/COMPLAINTS 

6.1 It is important that there should be mutual courtesy between Councillors and 

Officers. 

6.2 Councillors and Officers should not criticise or undermine respect for each other 

at Council meetings or at any other meeting they attend in their capacity as a 

Councillor or Officer, or in any other public forum. 

6.3 Councillors should not raise matters relating to the conduct or capability of an 

individual Officer or Officers collectively at meetings or in any other public forum.  

Any such complaints should be made to the Chief Executive.  

7. SUPPORT SERVICES TO COUNCILLORS AND PARTY GROUPS 

7.1 Previously, the only basis on which the Council could lawfully provide support 

services (e.g. stationery, typing, printing, email, internet, photocopying, transport, 

etc.) to Councillors was to assist them in discharging their role as members of 

the Council.  However, the current Code of Conduct does allow limited private 

use of Council resources by Councillors provided that when using or authorising 

the use by others of the resources they must - 

(i)         act in accordance with the Council’s reasonable requirements; and 

(ii)     ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political 

purposes (including party political purposes)   

Any uncertainty about compliance with these requirements should be referred to 

the Council’s Monitoring Officer for determination. 

7.2       Democratic Support should be the first point of contact in all aspects relating to 

Councillor support.  

8. COUNCILLORS’ ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND TO COUNCIL DOCUMENTS  

8.1 Subject to the Access to Information Procedure Rules, Councillors are free to 

approach the appropriate Service to provide them with such information, 

explanation and advice as they may reasonably need in order to assist them in 

discharging their role as members of the Council.  This can range from a request 

for general information about some aspect of a Service’s activities to a request 

for specific information on behalf of a constituent.  Such approaches should be 

directed to the Chief Officer, Service Manager or other nominated representative.  

If Councillors wish to visit Officers, they should contact the Chief Officer  or 

Service Manager to make arrangements whenever possible. 

8.2 With respect to the legal rights of Councillors to inspect Council documents, 

these are covered partly by statute and partly by the common law and subject to 

the Access to Information Procedure Rules.   

8.3 Under Section 100F of the Local Government Act 1972, any Councillor may 

inspect any document in the possession or control of the Council which contains 

material relating to any business to be transacted at a meeting of the Council, 

Page 233

http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/draft-constitution/draft-constitution-draft-2#3.4
http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/draft-constitution/draft-constitution-draft-2#3.4


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 220 

Cabinet, a Committee or Sub-Committee.  This right applies irrespective of 

whether the Councillor is a member of the relevant committee, and extends not 

only to reports but also to background papers. However, the right does not apply 

if a document discloses “exempt” information as defined in   Schedule 12A of the 

Local Government Act 1972, unless the information falls within paragraph 3 (the 

financial and business affairs of any particular person), except to the extent    that 

it relates to any terms proposed by or to the Council in the course of negotiations 

for a contract, or within paragraph 6 (that the Council proposes to give a notice 

or order under any enactment, by virtue of which conditions or requirements are 

imposed on a person). These exceptions mean that a Councillor’s right of access 

to information under the Local Government Act 1972 is slightly wider than the 

public right under that Act. 

Further details, including information about the particular rights of Overview and 

Scrutiny members, are set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in 

Part 3 Section 4. 

8.4 The common law right of Councillors is much broader and is based on the 

principle that any Councillor has a prima facie right to inspect council documents 

so far as his/her access to the documents is reasonably necessary to enable the 

Councillor to carry out his/her duties as a Councillor.  This is referred to as the 

“need to know” principle.  If a Councillor is a member of Cabinet or a Committee, 

then he/she has the right to inspect documents relating to the business of 

Cabinet or the committee.  If a Councillor is not a member of the relevant 

Committee, then he/she has to demonstrate why sight of the document is 

necessary to enable the performance of his/her duties as a Councillor. This could 

be by reference to the role as Ward Councillor.  Councillors have no right to a 

“roving commission” to examine documents of the Council.  Mere curiosity is not 

sufficient. If the Councillor’s motive for seeing the documents is indirect, improper 

or ulterior, then there would be no right of access at common law. 

8.5 A Councillor has the same rights of access to information under the Freedom of 

I Information Act 2000 as any member of the public.  A request must be in writing 

and describe specifically   the information requested.  The exemptions set out in 

the Act would be applied whoever is requesting the information.  Once 

information has been made available in response to a Freedom of Information 

request, it becomes public. 

8.6 From a procedural point of view, if a Councillor makes a request for information 

that is not routine, the request should be made to the relevant Chief Officer , who 

will consider first whether all the information would be made available as a matter 

of course to a member of the public making a similar request.  If so, the 

information will be provided to the Councillor. 

8.7 If the request is such that the information would not automatically be provided to 

a member of the public, the Chief Officer will consider whether the information 

can be provided under Section 100F of the Local Government Act 1972 or under 

the common law “need to know”. The Chief Officer should consult with the 

Monitoring Officer. The final determination as to whether there is a “need to 

know” will be made by the Monitoring Officer.  The Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee may hold the Monitoring Officer to account in accordance with the 

Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules. 

Page 234

http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/draft-constitution/draft-constitution-draft-2#3.4


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 221 

8.8 If neither Section 100F nor the “need to know” are met, then the request will be 

dealt with as a Freedom of Information Act request, but without the need for the 

Councillor to make a specific Freedom of Information request.  The Freedom of 

Information request will be dealt with in the normal way with advice from Legal 

Services.  This may result in the information being provided in part, with an 

exemption applying to the remainder, or the request being refused in its entirety 

as a result of an      exemption.  The Councillor will be informed that the request 

has been considered under the Freedom of Information Act and that there is a 

right of internal review which will be carried out by the Monitoring Officer.  

Following such a review, the Councillor will be advised of the right to pursue the 

matter with the Information Commissioner. 

8.9 Any information provided under the Freedom of Information Act can be made 

public by the Councillor.  Information provided under the “need to know” will be 

provided with the caveat that it is provided to the Councillor in his/her capacity 

as Councillor, and is only to be used for the purpose of exercising his/her 

functions, and should not be made public.    

8.10 The Code of Conduct provides that a Councillor must not disclose information 

given to the Councillor in confidence by anyone, or information which the 

Councillor believes, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a confidential nature 

except where: 

a. the Councillor has the consent of a person authorised to give it; 

b. the Councillor is required by law to do so; 

c. the disclosure is made to a third party for the purposes of obtaining 

professional advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose 

the information to any other person; or 

d. the disclosure is reasonable and in the public interest and made in good 

faith and in accordance with the law. 

9. CORRESPONDENCE 

9.1 Correspondence between an individual Councillor and an Officer should not 

normally be copied (by the Officer) to any other Councillor.  Where exceptionally 

it is necessary to copy the correspondence to another Councillor, this should be 

made clear to the original Councillor. 

9.2 Official letters on behalf of the Council should normally be sent out in the name 

of the appropriate Officer, rather than in the name of a Councillor.  It may be 

appropriate in certain circumstances (e.g. representations to a Government 

Minister) for a letter to appear over the name of a Councillor, but this should be 

the exception rather than the norm.  Letters which, for example, create 

obligations or give instructions on behalf of the Council should never be sent out 

in the name of a Councillor. 

 10. INVOLVEMENT OF WARD COUNCILLORS 

10.1 Whenever a public meeting is organised either by the Council or where the 

Council has been invited to attend, to consider a local issue, all the Councillors 

representing the Ward or Wards affected should as a matter of course be invited 

to attend the meeting.  Similarly, whenever the Council undertakes any form of 

Page 235



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 222 

consultative exercise on a local issue, the Ward Councillors should be notified at 

the outset of the exercise.  In addition, whenever significant Council organised 

events or works or other activity are taking place in a locality, all the Councillors 

representing the Ward or Wards should as a matter of course be notified. 

10.2 If an individual contacts the Council about a general Council service, for example 

leisure, food safety, taxi licensing or a housing benefit or Council Tax issue, such 

contact is unlikely to be a Ward issue, as the address of the individual is unlikely 

to be significant to the particular contact or complaint. In these circumstances, 

Officers will not generally involve the Ward Councillor. 

10.3 If an individual contacts the Council about a location related issues, for example, 

noise from particular premises, difficulties with refuse collection in a particular 

street, an overhanging tree, or uneven access to council housing 

accommodation, then, unless the issue is ‘de minimis’ and can be resolved at 

once, the Ward Councillors will be advised of the problem and what action is 

being or has been taken to resolve it. It should be possible to do this on a general 

basis and without revealing the identity of the individual who has raised the issue. 

The details of the individual will not be passed on to Ward Councillors without 

the individual’s consent. 

 10.4 In no circumstances will correspondence from an individual or business, or from 

a third party representing an individual, be disclosed to a Ward Councillor if it is 

marked confidential or contains personal data. If, in these circumstances, an 

Officer is of the view that a Ward Councillor’s involvement would be valuable or 

that there is a need for the Ward Councillor to know of the issue, and it is not 

possible to do so in general terms without disclosing confidential or personal 

information, then the relevant individual’s consent will first be obtained. 

10.5 If an individual has sought assistance from one Ward Councillor in a multi-

Councillor Ward, and an Officer is in contact with that Ward Councillor who is 

acting on the individual’s behalf, information about the issue will not be shared 

with another Ward Councillor without the consent of the individual or the Ward 

Councillor who first raised the issue.  

 
11. MEETINGS WITH THIRD PARTIES 

11.1 On occasions, Councillors may be approached by individuals or companies who 

have proposals affecting the area or functions of the Council, and which they 

wish to discuss with Councillors.  Councillors are reminded that, as individual 

Councillors, they cannot commit the Council to any contract or other agreement 

or course of action.  Councillors are advised to make this clear to any third party 

with which they may have contact.  Should Councillors be asked to attend a 

meeting with third parties, they are recommended to arrange for the meeting to 

take place at Council offices and with a relevant Officer present.  This will enable 

the Officer to explain to the third party the proper decision-making process, and 

will protect Councillors against any subsequent claim by the third party.  Normal 

routine activities are not intended to be subject to this recommendation. 

11.2 More detailed guidance about meetings relating to planning issues is set out in 

the Protocol on Planning. 

Page 236

http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/draft-constitution/draft-constitution-draft-2#Protocol on planning


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 223 

12. MEDIA RELATIONS 

12.1 The Council has agreed Press and Media Guidelines which set out the Council’s 
procedures for dealing with the press and media.  The guidelines are subject to 
review from time to time.  

 
13. ARBITRATION 

13.1 The Protocol is intended to act as a guide for both Councillors and Officers.  The 

relevant Chief Officer should deal with difficulties that arise in the first instance 

with the Councillor(s) concerned.   The Monitoring Officer and then the Chief 

Executive should then consider any continuing difficulties. 

13.2 Serious difficulties or breakdowns in relations that cannot be resolved through 

the above route should be referred to the Standards Committee for determination 

in accordance with the protocol.  This will be very much a last resort.  Every effort 

should be made to resolve difficulties at any early stage.  

14. REVIEW OF PROTOCOL 

14.1 The protocol is intended to provide Councillors and Officers with guidelines to 
determine their roles and their relations with each other. 

 
14.2 It is intended to be a “live” document and will be reviewed from time to time to 

reflect changing circumstances. The Standards Committee is the lead 
Committee. 

 
14.3 Councillors or Officers with queries about the Protocol should contact the 

Council’s Monitoring Officer. 
  
  

Page 237

http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/assets/attach/5088/Media%20Guidelines.pdf


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 224 

PART 4 SECTION 5 
 

Press and Media Guidelines 
 
Aims and Objectives 
  

1. The long-term aim of the Council’s Communications Strategy is to build and maintain 

a positive reputation for Lancaster City Council in the eyes of the public, its Councillors 

and Officers as well as key partners in the public, private and voluntary sectors. 

2. In order to achieve this aim a key area of our focus is on the local media. 

3. Research carried out by MVA in the Lancaster District in 2002 found: 

a. 71% of residents cited the local press as the main way in which they currently 

received information about the Council 

b. 22% cited local radio. 

4. When asked how they would like to receive information about the Council the local 

media was the most popular choice, followed closely by Council leaflets through the 

door and a Council newspaper 

5. The media therefore plays a huge role in informing residents about what the Council 

does and how it spends their money. In return, it is important the City Council 

communicates effectively with this key provider of public information. 

6. In doing so our objectives are to:- 

a. enable the Council to be one which is open, accountable, accessible and which 

listens; 

b. give information about the Council’s policies and services and the democratic 

process so people feel more informed about the work of the Council; 

c. build up the Council’s role as community leader and advocate for the 

community; 

d. handle negative issues clearly and decisively. Where we feel criticism of the 

Council is unfair we should use opportunities available to explain our case, 

either to the editors or to the readers/listeners. In cases where we are wrong 

we should hold our hands up and move the story forwards e.g. explain how we 

have already addressed the issues; 

e. improve the Officers’ view of the Council. Many Officers base their views of the 

Council on what they read in the paper. We recognise our staff can be our best 

ambassadors. Therefore, in addition to improvements in internal 

communications, it is vital that all external communication regarding the Council 

bears this factor in mind. 

7. Of course, this will require input on various fronts and ties in with the wider 

Communications Strategy as well as the Consultation Strategy. 

8. This document sets out guidelines for:- 

a. Dealing with media enquiries 

b. Generating media interest 

Page 238



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 225 

c. Developing relationships with the local media 

d. Managing negative issues 

e. Monitoring and evaluating the media coverage of the Council 

f. Providing media support to our partners 

9. Co-ordinating Media Enquiries 

1. The Council should ensure that local citizens are informed about the Council’s policies, 

services and decisions.  It must be open and transparent in its dealings with the press. 

2. The Council receives approximately 1,200 enquiries from the media every year and 

issues approximately 500 press releases. It also organises dozens of press launches 

and photo opportunities. In order to co-ordinate and manage all of this activity it is 

important that it is all channelled through a central point, the Communications Office. 

 Media Enquiries – Officers 
 

3. The Communications and Media Relations Manager and team will act as one-stop 

shop for all media enquiries. This will involve taking the enquiry, working with relevant 

Officers/Councillors to agree a response and then the Communications Team passing 

that response back to the relevant journalist. 

4. Occasionally, the Communications Team will ask an Officer to talk directly with the 

media, for example to explain a technical issue or to give an in-depth background for 

a feature. 

If you are approached for a comment by the media, other than on an occasion agreed 

with the Communications Team, please refer the journalist to the Communications and 

Media Relations Manager. 

Media Enquiries – Councillors 
 

5. Where the journalist requires a quote from a politician, the Communications and Media 

Relations Manager will inform them of the appropriate Cabinet member/Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee Chair, Task Group Chairs or Committee Chairs.  

2. Generating Media Interest 
 

There are a number of ways of generating media interest – press releases, press 

launches, photo opportunities etc. The most commonly used form is the press release. 

(A) Press Releases 

1. In co-operation with the Communications and Media Relations Manager, Services 

should adopt a proactive approach to issuing service-specific press releases. 

2. Press release writers should follow the Press Release Writing Guide available on the 

intranet. 

3. Other than in exceptional circumstances all press releases should include just one 

quote (see below for guidance on who to quote). 

4. Other than in exceptional circumstances all press releases should be emailed to the 

Communications and Media Relations Manager who will place them on the corporate 

template and issue them to the relevant media via the Newsflash Media Monitoring 

Page 239



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 226 

system. The Communications and Media Relations Manager will also place them on 

the website and intranet. 

5. All press releases, and any other form of communication with the media, should be 

cleared with the Communications and Media Relations Manager and, if appropriate, 

relevant Cabinet members. In the case of matters relating to the Overview and Scrutiny 

Function, Planning, Licensing and the Standards Committee, they should be cleared 

with the Communications and Media Relations Manager and relevant Chair. 

6. All media enquiries relating to that press release should be channelled through the 

Communications Office who will work with the appropriate Officer to put together an 

agreed response.  

Press Releases Ahead of Cabinet/Committee/Council Consideration 
 

7. The media "pick up" many stories from agendas and reports ahead of meetings. Whilst 

it would be inappropriate to offer a "comment" by the Council ahead of quasi judicial 

meetings, such as Licensing and Planning, it is appropriate for: 

8. A Cabinet member who has submitted a report for the public part of a Cabinet meeting 

to issue a release or statement ahead of that meeting as long as it does not prejudge 

the decision. 

9. For the Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Budget and Performance 

Panel and Task Groups to issue a release or statement ahead of one of these meetings 

as long as it does not prejudge the decision. 

10. However, these comments should be limited to providing information rather than 

anticipating an outcome or expressing a view as to a preferred outcome from the 

meeting. 

11. It is also appropriate for Officers to issue a statement outlining a summary of a report. 

In this way reporters will be more likely to use the readily provided Council statement 

which provides a brief and accurate summary of a report or clarification of an issue. 

12. Of course, there is no reason why a political group or political representative should 

not make a comment, should they wish to do so, which will not be on Council headed 

paper. 

13. The Communications and Media Relations Manager and Senior Leadership Team will 

liaise before agendas and reports are issued to the media to discuss whether such an 

approach is required regarding specific items. 

14. Press Releases following Cabinet/Overview and Scrutiny Committee/Task 

Group/Committee and Council Meetings. 

15. When relevant, Chief Officers , appropriate Cabinet members, Chairs of Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee, Budget and Performance, Task Groups and Committees and the 

Communications and Media Relations Manager will liaise at the report deadline stage 

to discuss issuing positive press releases following a meeting. It is important that press 

releases are issued to the media as soon as possible after the conclusion of a meeting 

- not normally more than 24 hours after the conclusion of a meeting. (See below for 

who should act as spokesperson.). 

Press Releases Requested by Councillors 
 

Page 240



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 227 

16. It is perfectly acceptable for a Cabinet member/Overview and Scrutiny Chair, Task 

Group Chair or Committee Chair to request an Officer to produce a press release 

relating to their role outlined above. 

17. However, Officers should not produce press releases for Councillors on individual 

Ward or party political issues prejudging a decision of a properly constituted councillor 

meeting. 

Logos 
 

18. The City Council Logo forms part of the Press Release template and therefore all 

Council press releases carry the Council logo and crest. However, when issuing a 

press release with a partner it may be appropriate to create another press release 

template carrying both the Council logo and the logo(s) of the other partner(s) involved.  

Equal Opportunities and Race Equality Policies 
 

19. When drafting press releases or selecting photographs, all Officers should be mindful 

of the Council’s Equal Opportunities and Race Equality Policies.  Publicity should avoid 

stereotyping of roles and should demonstrate the Council’s commitment to providing 

equality of services and opportunities to people of sex, any colour, sexuality, all races 

and people with disabilities.  Advertisements and information about services should be 

circulated widely and, wherever necessary, communicated in appropriate community 

languages.  

(B) Who should act as Official Spokesperson? 
 
Technical/Factual Information 
 

1. When providing information of a technical/factual nature (such as planning 

technicalities, new Benefits policies) on a topic yet to go to Cabinet/Overview and 

Scrutiny/Council/Committee of Council,  which has been to one of the above or which 

does not go to any of them, it is appropriate to use an Officer. 

Commenting on an Issue 
 

2. Where a comment is required on a subject that has been to Cabinet/Overview and 

Scrutiny/Task Group/Committee of Council/Council then the relevant Cabinet member, 

Overview and Scrutiny Chair/ Committee Chair, Task Group Chair or Council Chair will 

normally act as the Council’s Spokesperson. 

3. If the appropriate Councillor is not available/contactable for interview at the requested 

time it may be appropriate to use an Officer. In these circumstances Officers must clear 

this with the Communications Team before giving any interviews. 

Partners 
 

4. Where the Council is involved in issuing a press release as part of a partnership 

arrangement e.g. the Community Safety Partnership, the Partnership’s arrangements 

for who to quote should be followed. This would normally be the Chair of that 

organisation. In the case of a press release being prepared on behalf of a number of 

partners it may be appropriate to offer each partner an opportunity to be quoted. 

Political 
 

Page 241



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 228 

5. If it is necessary, from a factual point of view, for a press release to identify by name 

one or more of the political Groups on the Council, then either a spokesperson for that 

political group(s) should be provided with the opportunity to comment in the press 

release issued on behalf of the Council or no politicians should be quoted at all. Group 

Leaders contact details will normally be provided to the media on request and political 

groups will determine their own spokespersons.  

(C) Media Events/Launches/Receptions  
 

1. Anyone organising an event to which the media is to be invited should liaise with the 

Communications Team in the first instance, providing details of times, venues and who 

is being invited. This will ensure that no two events are taking place at the same time. 

In this way the risk of spreading the media too thinly will be reduced and the 

opportunities of gaining positive publicity will be maximised. In addition it will ensure 

the Communications Team is fully up-to-speed in the event of any media enquiries. 

2. Each occasion will require a different audience but, in general, one or more of a 

combination of the following would normally be invited: Cabinet member, Chair of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Chair of the Regulatory Committees, Ward 

Councillor(s). 

3. Guidelines to assist Officers setting up a media reception etc are available on the 

intranet. The Communications Team is also happy to help. 

(D) Photo Opportunities 
 
Creating Photo Opportunities 
 

1. The general rule is that where photo opportunities arise the relevant Councillors are 

invited. Depending on the issue this could be one of a combination of the following: 

Cabinet member, Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Chair of the Regulatory 

Committees, Ward Councillor(s). 

2. However, our goal is to achieve positive publicity for the Council as a whole and 

therefore some degree of flexibility is necessary in order to achieve that goal. 

3. For example, photographic opportunities often arise at short notice. By needing to 

contact the relevant Councillors to arrange a time when all can be present, there are 

times when a photo opportunity and therefore positive publicity may be lost. 

4. There are also times when it is appropriate to include Officers for photo opportunities 

(see examples below). 

5. There are also times, depending on the story, when the photographer may wish to 

reduce or increase the number of people who would normally be invited to take part in 

a photo opportunity. 

6. Anyone organising a photo opportunity should liaise with the Communications and 

Media Relations Manager to discuss how it should be handled. 

Example a:  
     
Photograph as a result of a Cabinet/Committee/Overview and Scrutiny/Regulatory 
Committee Meeting: 
The appropriate Cabinet member/s and Overview and Scrutiny Chairs/Task 
Group/Regulatory Committee Chairs would normally be invited. 

Page 242



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 229 

 
Example b: 
 
Large/high profile events e.g. Bus Station Launch, Millennium Bridge Launch etc. 
Appropriate Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny Chairs and Regulatory Committee Chairs 
and Ward Councillor(s) would normally be invited. 
 
Example c:  
 
Civic-related photo opportunities e.g. Council signing up to a 
charter/declaration/handing over a cheque/receiving a cheque etc. The Leader of the 
Council or appropriate Cabinet member and the Mayor or Deputy Mayor should be 
invited to act as representative of the Council. 
 
Example d:  
 
Quirky photo opportunity to highlight a Council story/not high profile issue e.g. 
Environment Co-ordinator distributing Local Agenda 21 Consultation by bike or launch 
of Town Hall Tours, Children's Festival – Officers and/or Leader of the Council or 
appropriate Cabinet member would normally be invited. 
 

7. Details of any photo opportunities should also be cleared with the Communications 

and Media Relations Manager ahead of any invites being sent out to the media. 

Taking Photos for the Media 
 

8. On occasions, the media will not be able to turn up to a photo opportunity but will 

accept contributed photographs. For advice about taking photographs for the media 

please contact the Communications Office. Similarly, photographs should be 

submitted to the media via the Communications Office.  

(E) Recording/Filming of Council Meetings 
 

9. In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 24, the press and media will be allowed to 

film and record meetings of Council, Cabinet, Audit Committee, Council Business 

Committee, Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Budget and Performance Panel, 

which are open to the press and public, so long as notice is given in advance to the 

Communications and Media Relations Manager . 

(F) Campaigns/Sustained Coverage of Topic 
 

10. The relevant Chief Officer  and the Communications and Media Relations Manager will 

liaise to discuss the potential for sustained coverage of topics e.g. Recycling, 

Regeneration etc.  

11. By drawing up a media strategy/campaign on a particular topic the Council can pinpoint 

what particular aspect it wants coverage of and more accurately time when it wants 

any coverage to appear in the media. 

12. Such a campaign can be targeted generally at all/majority of the local media locally or 

it can be targeted at a specific newspaper/radio as a ‘joint’ Council/newspaper and/or 

radio campaign.  

(G) Success Stories 
 

Page 243



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 230 

All Officers should play their part in keeping the Communications and Media Relations 
Manager up-to-date on success stories e.g. successful grant bid, completion of a project, 
employee development etc. 
 
(H) Human Interest Stories 
 

1. The media is always interested in ‘human interest’ stories. These might not relate 

specifically to Council issues but are nevertheless an important tool in building up a 

positive image of the Council, its Councillors and Officers and making them appear 

‘human’ to those outside the Council. 

2. Examples of human interest stories: Unusual hobbies of individuals, special 

achievement of an individual e.g. first woman refuse collector, member of staff 

marrying another member of staff, bizarre holiday location/experience, two sets of 

twins born to staff on same day etc. 

3. Officers and Councillors should take the initiative to inform the Communications and 

Media Relations Manager  of relevant stories. 

(I) Mayoral Publicity 
 

1. The Communications and Media Relations Manager  and Democratic Support will work 

closely to encourage increased publicity for mayoral activities. This will include: 

2. The continued publication of the Weekly Mayoral List. 

3. A weekly press release highlighting the key events in greater detail - to be sent to all 

media. 

4. Asking the Mayor to alert us to any unusual/interesting experiences/incidents/events 

he/she comes across in his/her duties. 

5. Enabling the Mayor to become more "interactive" in terms of photo opportunities whilst 

always recognising the need to maintain and follow the Mayoral protocol. 

3. Developing Relationships with the Media 
 

1. The City Council’s Communications Team is in contact with a vast array of media from 

local papers to national and international television stations. However, the main day-

to-day contact is with the local media: 

a. Lancaster Guardian 

b. Morecambe Visitor 

c. Lancashire Evening Post 

d. Westmorland Gazette 

e. Beyond Radio instead and Lancs Live 

f. Radio Lancashire 

g. Granada Television 

h. BBC North West 

i. Virtual Net (local web based newspaper) 

Page 244



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 231 

2. The Council’s relationships with the local media are generally good. Take up of press 

releases is high and the percentage of media requests for Council comments is, on 

the whole, good and improving. However, it is important to maintain and develop 

relations with the media and to be responsive to their changing needs. 

i) Deadlines 
 

If we want a chance of getting our side of the story included in the media it is imperative 
that we meet the deadlines we are given. Further information on the local media 
deadlines is available from the Communications Section of the Intranet, but a basic 
rule of thumb is that all Officers contacted by the Communications Team regarding a 
media enquiry should treat it as a priority. 
 
 

ii) Media Briefings/Press Launches 
 

When relevant, media briefings should be arranged, to brief the press on an issue of 
importance to the public e.g. new Licensing Regulations, Budget, etc. This will also 
provide an opportunity for lead Officers and Councillors to build relations with the 
media. Officers organising a media briefing or press launch should liaise with the 
Communications and Media Relations Manager regarding the organisation of the 
event. 
 

iii) Annual Media Survey 
 
 An annual survey of the local media will continue to be carried out to ascertain the 

media’s views on the level of service the Council provides and to learn how they feel 
we could improve that service. 

 
iv) Councillor Contacts 
 

A Council ‘contacts’ list of the Leader of the Council, Cabinet members, Overview and 
Scrutiny Chairs and Committee Chairs will be prepared and circulated to the local 
media. Photographs of all Councillors will also be provided to the photography 
departments of the local media. 
 

v) Media Awareness Training 
 

In-house Media Awareness Training courses are provided to all interested staff (please 
contact Human Resources for more details). This helps to improve the overall quality 
of service provided by the Council to the media. 
 

 4. Managing Negative Issues 
 

From time-to-time the Council has to respond to negative issues. It is important that 
we ‘manage’ these situations so as to limit the potential for negative publicity. 
 

i) Alerting the Communications Team 
 

a. When the Chief Officers become aware of a potentially damaging/negative issue they 

should immediately alert the Communications and  Media Relations Manager . 

b. Chief Officers  and the Communications and Media Relations Manager  should work 

together to prepare an appropriate position statement/response. Wherever possible 

this should be done ahead of a story breaking. The response can then be used, if the 

Page 245



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 232 

potentially damaging issue is to be used by the media. In order to ensure that the 

Council’s position is outlined to Councillors, briefings on difficult issues should be 

circulated to appropriate Councillors and staff. 

ii) Developing Database of Briefing Material 
 

A database with briefing material on a wide range of issues will continue to be 
developed to assist this process. 
 

iii) Briefing the Media 
 

On occasion it may be necessary to brief the media personally or to hold a press 
briefing to ‘manage’ a breaking story. The Communications and Media Relations 
Manager will take a decision on this in conjunction with other relevant Officers. 
 

iv) Correcting Inaccurate Reporting 
 

a. The Council should make every effort to correct inaccurate reporting of Council issues. 

Discussion with the Communications and Media Relations Manager should take place 

in order to examine the most appropriate form of action e.g. personal contact, personal 

letter to the editor, open letter, legal advice. 

b. Officers should act as spokesperson on any factual information and the relevant 

Cabinet member should act as spokesperson should a comment be required. 

c. Officers need to respond quickly to requests for information from the Communications 

and Media Relations Manager to provide an accurate and full briefing of an inaccurate 

report. 

v) When the Council gets it wrong 
 

a. Occasionally the Council will get something wrong. In terms of damage limitation the 

best policy is generally to hold our hands up, apologise and draw a line under the 

episode by moving the story forward, outlining how we are going to/are already learning 

from error/how we are putting it right. This kind of situation should be handled in 

consultation with the Communications and Media Relations Manager. 

vi) Leaked Items 
a. Occasionally ‘confidential’ Council items are ‘leaked’ to the media. 

b. The Council policy is that normally it does not comment on leaked or confidential items. 

c. However, if an item which is not ‘confidential’, but which has yet to go into the official 

public forum e.g. Cabinet/Overview and Scrutiny/Council, is ‘leaked’ it may be 

appropriate for the Council to issue a comment. Each case will be judged individually. 

d. In both scenarios the Communications and Marketing Team Leader should be made 

aware and be involved in discussions on how to/whether to respond. 

vii) Political Issues 
 
There are occasions where an issue becomes `political’.  In these circumstances an official 
Council response will not be given but Political Groups can comment directly. 
 
 5. Monitoring and Evaluating  
 

Page 246



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 233 

1. The Communications Team will continually monitor the media perception of the 

Council using the aims and objectives set out under aims and objectives section and 

a media monitoring software system, Newsflash. 

2. Reports of news coverage, how enquiries and releases have been used (positive, 

neutral or negative) will be circulated electronically to all Group Leaders, Group 

Administrators, Cabinet members/Overview and Scrutiny Chair and Committee Chairs, 

individual Councillors upon request, the Chief Executive and Chief Officers  on a twice 

weekly basis. 

3. A more comprehensive report evaluating media coverage will be produced annually. 

4. Detailed monitoring reports, specific to a service or subject, can be provided on 

request. 

5. Press releases will also be circulated to the above list via email regularly. 

6. All press releases will continue to be posted on the Intranet and website as soon as 

they are issued. 

7. Copies of all newspapers are available for viewing in the Communications Office. 

Cuttings of any national coverage or reports of any radio or television interviews should 

be passed to the Communications Office. 

8. The Communications Office supports all Council related media issues.  However, it is 

unable to support Officer requests for support for non-Council related press releases 

and media enquiries. 

  

Page 247



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 234 

PART 4 - SECTION 6  
PROTOCOL ON PLANNING 
 
1 Introduction 

1.1` The purpose of this Protocol is to provide Councillors with guidance regarding their 

role in determining planning applications, in particular, when interacting with 

applicants, objectors or developers.  Ward Councillors, who are not members of the 

Planning Regulatory Committee, but who want to address the Committee, also 

require guidance on interaction over their contact with applicants’ developers and 

objectors. 

1.2 The protocol is designed to offer that guidance and help Councillors understand 

their role and the responsibilities associated with that role, and to ensure that in the 

planning process there are no grounds for suggesting that a decision has been 

biased, partial or not well founded in any way.  

1.3 In addition, the LGA has produced a protocol on “Probity in Planning”.   This protocol 

sets out detailed guidance for Councillors, but, in summary, the most important 

issues for Councillors to consider are as follows: 

a. The Code of Conduct, and in particular whether a Councillor has a personal 

interest, and if so whether that personal interest is also a prejudicial interest 

b. Aside from the Code of Conduct, whether there is any legal reason why a 

Councillor should not participate in a particular decision   

c. The need to exercise care and caution in any contact with applicants, 

developers and objectors 

d. The dangers of lobbying or being lobbied 

2 Natural Justice 
 

2.1 These principles apply throughout public administration.  They are fundamental 

principles of administrative law and should be adhered to when determining any 

planning application. 

2.2 The two principles of Natural Justice are:- 

            (a)     The rule against bias 
 
            (b)     The duty to act fairly/duty to hear both sides or the other side. 
  
 (a) The Rule Against Bias 

 
I. The first principle means that no Councillor should remain and be a party to a decision 

which affects their own interests.  This is largely covered by the process by which 

Councillors declare interests.  

II. In addition to the common law rule against bias, Councillors must be mindful of the 

provisions of the Council’s Code of Conduct with regard to personal and prejudicial 

interests, referred to below. 

III. If Councillors are in any doubt about the application of the Code of Conduct, they 

should seek advice early, from the Monitoring Officer or Deputy Monitoring Officers –

or one of their staff.  Failure to comply with the Code of Conduct may have implications 

Page 248



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 235 

for the individual Councillor, as there may be a complaint to the Standards Committee.    

There may also be implications for the decision-making process, with criticism of the 

Planning Regulatory Committee and possible challenge to the decision on the basis 

that a Councillor with an interest remained within the meeting room and tainted the 

integrity of the decision. 

(b) The duty to act fairly/hear both sides or the other side - Predetermination and 

Predisposition 

i. “Predetermination” is where a Councillor is closed to the merits of any arguments 

relating to a particular application, and makes a decision without taking them into 

account. 

ii. “Predisposition” is where a Councillor holds a view in favour of or against an 

application, but has an open mind to the merits of the argument before making a 

final decision. 

iii. Predisposition is acceptable; predetermination is not. 

 

iv. The decision making body decision-making body must consider all relevant 

information before coming to its decision.  The Councillor’s mind should not be 

closed until the final decision is made.  A Councillor’s mind will be closed if they 

have already come to a decision on an application prior to entering the meeting 

room.  This is predetermination.  A decision will be open to challenge if a Councillor 

appears to have already decided how they will vote at the meeting so that nothing 

will change their mind.  This impression can be created in a number of different 

ways such as quotes given in the press, and what they have said at meetings or 

written in correspondence. 

 

v. However, simply listening to or receiving viewpoints from residents or other 

interested parties, seeking information through appropriate channels, or making 

comments to residents, interested parties or other Councillors or appropriate 

Officers will not constitute predetermination, provided that the Councillor makes it 

clear that they are keeping an open mind. 

 

vi. It is not a problem for Councillors to be “predisposed”, holding a view but having 

an open mind and being open to persuasion against that view.    This includes 

having formed a preliminary view about how they will vote before they attend the 

meeting, and/or expressing that view publicly, provided it is clear that their mind is 

not closed to countervailing arguments. 

 

(3) Example of Maladministration 

 
3.1 The Local Government Ombudsman some time ago made a finding of 

maladministration against a council because a Councillor failed to declare an 

interest and leave the meeting.  The Councillor had a house that was situated 

near to and affected by a planning proposal.  The Councillor did not declare an 

interest and remained in the meeting room and voted on the application. 

3.2 It is important to the integrity of the planning process and to open and honest 

governance that justice must not only be done to the planning application – but 

Page 249



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 236 

also that it is seen to be done, thereby giving the public confidence in the 

system. 

3.3 There have also been examples of maladministration where Councillors have 

encouraged their colleagues to set aside the advice of professional Officers by 

introducing factors which do not amount to material planning considerations.  

These can include personal circumstances, or land ownership issues.  

Councillors should always stick only to valid planning considerations. 

 4       Declarations of Interest and Leaving the Meeting Room 
 

4.1 Personal interests and prejudicial interests are defined in Part 2 of the Councillors’ 

Code of Conduct in Part 4 Section 2.  It is important to note that if an interest does 

not fall within the definition of a personal interest, it cannot be a prejudicial interest. 

4.2 Under the  Code of Conduct, where a decision might reasonably be regarded as 

affecting  the well-being or financial position of a Councillor, or that of a  relative or 

close associate of theirs, or of a body to which the Councillor is appointed by the 

Council, or a body of which the Councillor is a member which exercises functions 

of a public nature, is directed to charitable purposes, or whose principal purposes 

are the influence of public opinion or policy the Councillor must declare a personal 

interest.  The phrase “close associate” is not defined in the Code of Conduct both 

social and business associations.  The Code of Conduct also requires Councillors 

to declare a personal interest in any matter that relates to an interest included in 

their register of interests.   

4.3 Where a Councillor has a personal interest as set out in the Code of Conduct, they 

must give careful consideration as to whether that interest is also a prejudicial 

interest (that is, one which a member of the public with knowledge of the facts would 

reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice the Councillor’s 

judgement of the public interest).  In other words, the interest must be perceived as 

likely to harm or impair the Councillor’s ability to judge the public interest.   Simply 

knowing the applicant does not necessarily equate to a prejudicial interest. 

4.4 The Code of Conduct provides that a prejudicial interest does not arise where the 

decision does not affect the financial position of the Councillor or their interests, or 

does not relate to a Licensing or regulatory matter affecting the Councillor or a 

person or body in which they have a personal interest. 

4.5 If the personal interest is not a prejudicial interest, the existence and nature of the 

interest must be disclosed to the meeting. 

4.6 Where a Councillor has a personal interest which is also a prejudicial interest under 

the Code of Conduct, the general rule is that they must leave the chamber – they 

are not permitted to return to the public gallery for the debate and they should not 

be seen by other Councillors when they are making the decision.  This is a 

requirement of the Code of Conduct.   If a Councillor who had declared an interest 

was present or could be seen to watch the proceedings, this could be sufficient to 

taint the process. 

4.7 However, as an exception to the general rule, the Code of Conduct allows a 

Councillor who has a personal and prejudicial interest to participate in the same 

manner that would apply to an ordinary member of the public, that is, in the public 

Page 250



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 237 

participation part of the meeting, but the Councillor must then leave the room 

immediately after making such representations.   

4.8 Dispensations from the Standards Committee may be available in limited 

circumstances. Advice on this should be sought from the Monitoring Officer. 

4.9 When declaring interests at meetings, Councillors should make it clear what level 

of interest they are declaring, and whether the interest prevents them from taking 

part in the decision-making process.  

5 Party Politics 
 
5.1 A Councillor must not blindly follow the recommendations of their political party.  A 

decision on a particular planning application should not be dictated by party politics.  
Party whips should never be used.  The Councillor is part of the decision-making 
body. As far as planning applications are concerned the decision-making body is 
the Planning Regulatory Committee.  That Committee sits in a quasi-judicial manner 
and each decision is made on its own merits, within the Development Plan 
framework, supported by legislation, government advice and other Council land use 
policies.  Therefore, each decision has to be made on the information put before the 
Committee and should take into account the development plan, the impact of the 
individual development and any individual site characteristics – not party politics.  

 
6 Allegations of Bias 

 
6.1 In the Planning Regulatory Committee the time for decision-making is after the 

Councillors have heard all relevant considerations i.e. after the application has been 

presented to the Councillors in the Committee meeting and when the presentation 

of the application is completed.  Therefore, a decision should not be made before 

the agenda is sent out, at a site visit or immediately before the meeting begins. If a 

Councillor has made their mind up before the application is fully presented then this 

renders the decision open to challenge.  This would be on the basis that the 

application was predetermined, was not considered fairly and that the Councillor’s 

conduct showed bias.  To predetermine an application flies in the face of the 

principle of the rule ‘to hear both sides’. 

6.2 Council, at its meeting on the 19th November 2008, resolved that Cabinet members 

should leave the Committee meeting for items directly related to those which have 

been previously considered at Cabinet (whether they attended the Cabinet meeting 

to consider that particular item or not).  

6.3 The rationale for this is that where the Council is the applicant or the landowner, 

and a Councillor is both a member of the Planning Regulatory Committee and also 

a Cabinet member with ongoing land-owning responsibilities, it is arguable that the 

issue of predetermination and bias might arise as a result of the Councillor’s 

perceived proximity to the proposal through discussions in Cabinet. The Council 

resolution removes this risk. 

6.4 However, the simple fact that a Councillor has been involved in a decision to 

promote the development of land in the public interest, does not necessarily prevent 

them from making decisions on the matters of detail.  Councillors approving specific 

land use allocations in a Local Development Framework for example, would not be 

prevented from deciding subsequent planning applications.  They would be 

Page 251



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 238 

expected to use their decision-making abilities to ensure that schemes conform with 

the requirements of the Framework. 

7 Media Exposure 
 

7.1 A member of the Planning Regulatory Committee should never make any public 
declaration on an application until the application has been determined.  If a 
Councillor makes a statement that is one sided prior to the application being 
determined, then that Councillor is at risk from an allegation of bias i.e. they have 
not kept their mind open until all matters are before them.  In these circumstances 
it may be inappropriate for the Councillor to take part in the decision-making 
process to ensure the decision is not tainted.  This will be particularly important 
where there is adverse public reaction to a planning application in the local press 
some time before the application has received a recommendation from Officers. 

  
8 Parish Councillors 

 

8.1 A member of the Planning Regulatory Committee who is also a parish councillor 

may speak and vote at both parish and City Council level on the same planning 

issue (unless the application has been made by the parish council).  Councillors 

who take this course of action will need to declare membership of the parish 

council as a personal interest at City Council level. 

8.2 As indicated above, members of the Planning Regulatory Committee are under an 

obligation to approach decision-making with an open mind, prepared to listen to 

all sides of the argument.  Dual-hatted members of the Planning Regulatory 

Committee who choose to speak and vote at parish and City Council level will 

need to make it very clear that their vote at parish level represents a preliminary 

view and that they will reconsider the matter afresh at City Council level.  Failure 

to do so may result in a challenge on the grounds of predetermination. 

8.3 Different considerations will apply if the parish council is the applicant in relation 

to a particular planning application.  In that situation a parish councillor would be 

likely to have a prejudicial interest at the Planning Regulatory Committee. 

8.4 It must always be remembered that debate at parish council meetings takes place 

without professional advice from a Chartered Town Planner.  It is likely, therefore, 

that considerations may involve matters not properly restricted to planning 

considerations.  Councillors involved in such discussions should take specific care 

to qualify their views accordingly.  

9 Lobby Groups  
 

9.1 A member of the Planning Regulatory Committee who is a member of a lobbying 

group which has publicly expressed support for or against a planning application 

will need to consider whether they have a personal and prejudicial interest, and 

whether there is any other reason outside the Code of Conduct (such as bias or 

predetermination) why they should not participate in the decision.  

9.2 Members of the Planning Regulatory Committee are required to declare a personal 

interest if they are a member of a group that lobbies or campaigns about an issue 

that comes up for discussion or decision.  However, a member of the Planning 

Regulatory Committee will not have a prejudicial interest in a developer’s planning 

proposals against which they and their lobby group campaigned if they or any other 

Page 252



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 239 

person or body in which they have a personal interest are not affected financially 

by the matter.  It is not relevant for the purposes of the revised Code of Conduct 

that the planning proposal will impact on the aims of the lobby or campaign group 

the member of the Planning Regulatory Committee belongs to.  The Code of 

Conduct is focused on the actions of individuals and, as such, is about preventing 

improper personal advantage. 

9.3 A member of the Planning Regulatory Committee who belongs to a general interest 

group, such as a local civic society, should disclose a personal interest where that 

organisation has made representations on a particular proposal, and should make 

it clear that the member of the Planning Regulatory Committee has reserved 

judgement and the independence to make up their own mind on each separate 

proposal. 

9.4 Further guidance can be obtained from a Standards Board publication “Lobby 

groups, dual-hatted Councillors and the Code of Conduct”, and the Standards 

Board Occasional Paper “Predisposition, Predetermination or Bias, and the Code” 

and the Monitoring Officer. 

10 Contact by an Applicant Agent or Developer   
 

10.1 It is inevitable that Planning Regulatory Committee members will be approached 

frequently by a variety of people during the planning process.  It is therefore 

important that members of the Planning Regulatory Committee are clear on the 

nature of the advice and the comments that they give. 

10.2 Members of the Planning Regulatory Committee should avoid giving any 

commitment or the impression of any commitment or view that is held regarding any 

particular planning application yet to be determined or any matter that may result in 

the submission of a planning application.  It is inappropriate for a Committee 

member to meet with the Applicant or Developer to discuss the proposals.  Instead 

they should be directed to the Chief Officer, Planning and Climate Change and his 

staff.  Equally, any member of the Planning Regulatory Committee requiring further 

information about the application should contact the Chief Officer, Planning and 

Climate Change and his staff. 

10.3 If a meeting or telephone call does takes place then members of the Planning 

Regulatory Committee are advised to avoid comments which infer predetermination 

such as: 

a. ‘I am completely against any development there’ 

b. ‘I am all for any kind of economic regeneration’ 

c. ‘The developer X normally builds to a high standard’ 

10.4 Any significant contact with the applicant or other parties should be reported to the 

Chief Officer Planning and Climate Change , explaining the nature and purpose of 

the contacts and the Councillor’s involvement in them. 

10.5 National changes in the planning system have led the Government to encourage 

Councillor involvement in major planning applications. The Department for 

Communities and Local Government stated in 2008 that “for large, complex 

development of strategic importance, Councillors should be engaged in the 

process”. 

Page 253



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 240 

10.6 There may therefore be circumstances where Officers from the planning service 

invite Councillors to participate in meetings regarding major, complex, planning 

applications. These will be minuted by Planning Officers and will be likely to involve 

not just Councillors and the applicant/developer, but statutory planning consultees 

too. 

10.7 During such meetings, it is important that the decision-making function of 

Councillors is not compromised. Therefore, Councillors should not express views 

about the planning merits of the proposal that would lead to allegations of 

predetermination, nor should they engage separately with the Developer. Their 

attendance at the meeting is to enable them to be informed in the proposals and 

make suggestions (where necessary) about matters that they would like the future 

planning application to address. Any suggestions must be referred to the Chief 

Officer Planning and Climate Change, so that these may be incorporated in Officers’ 

negotiations with the developer. To ensure that the final decision-making process 

remains unfettered, under no circumstances should suggestions be made by 

Councillors direct to the developer. 

11       Presentations by Applicants/Developers 
 

11.1 Where a meeting has been arranged by the planning service in respect of proposals 

of major, strategic importance, there is nothing to prevent Councillors from 

attending. However, this attendance must be in accordance with paragraph 12 of 

this Protocol. 

11.2 Where planning proposals do not involve major, strategic development, a meeting 

between a member or members of the Planning Regulatory Committee and the 

applicant or developer is unlikely to be facilitated by the planning service , and will 

almost certainly be unnecessary. In the rare circumstances where a meeting does 

take place between a Councillor and the applicant or developer, or where the 

developer makes a presentation specifically for members of the Planning 

Regulatory Committee, it is essential that an Officer is present and the meeting 

properly minuted. Any feedback from members of the Committee should be to 

Officers and not to the developer. The minutes of any such meeting or presentation 

should be reported to the Planning Regulatory Committee prior to any decision 

being made. 

11.3 Where a public meeting is arranged by a developer to present a proposal to local 

residents or the local community, it is likely that an Officer will not be present. 

Members of the Planning Regulatory Committee may attend, but should do so only 

as observers, and should not express any formal or definitive views, whether asked 

to do so by the developer or by a member of the public. 

 

 

12 Approach by a Constituent 

 
12.1 If a constituent approaches a member of the Planning Regulatory Committee 

about an application, he/she can give advice on Planning Procedure Rules and 
policy so far as they are able but it is always advisable to direct the constituent 
to staff of the planning service in any event.  When speaking to constituents, 

Page 254



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 241 

members of the Planning Regulatory Committee must not give any impression 
of any commitment to the application itself.  

 
13        Approach by a Non-Constituent 

 
13.1 If a non-constituent approaches a member of the Planning Regulatory 

Committee, members of the Planning Regulatory Committee can advise the 
person on Planning Procedure Rules and policy as far as they are able or 
alternatively ask them to contact their own Ward Councillor or the Chief Officer 
Planning and Climate Change and his/her staff.  

 
14        Disclosure of Information  

 
14.1 It is important that members of the Planning Regulatory Committee are clear on 

what information is a matter of public record and what information is not.   Details 
contained within the planning application are open to the public and the planning 
process and planning policies are all within the public domain.  However, informal 
observations of planning service staff will not be information available to the 
public.  If a Councillor wishes to rely on the observations or comments of the 
Officer then the Councillor must ask the Officer if the information is of a public or 
confidential nature.  If the Councillor intends to refer such information to a 
member of the public, i.e. not a Council member, they must make this clear to 
the Officer.  

 
15        Hospitality Offered to Councillors 

 
15.1 It is advisable in all circumstances to simply refuse any hospitality.  To accept 

creates the risk that there has been undue influence on the planning process.  In 
the rare event that the hospitality of an estimated value in excess of £50 is 
accepted it must be registered as a personal interest under Paragraph 8 of the 
Council’s Code of Conduct.  It must also be declared as a personal interest at 
any meeting within the next three years where an item of business relating to the 
source of the hospitality is considered. 

 
16 Lobbying of Planning Officers 

 
16.1 Councillors must recognise that they are part of the organisation which employs 

professional staff who will make their recommendations on planning applications.   
Public confidence in the planning system is dependent on Planning Officers 
being able to reach open and impartial recommendations on applications, based 
on lawful planning considerations only, without being improperly influenced in 
reaching their conclusions by political pressure.  Whilst it is entirely proper for 
members of the Planning Regulatory Committee to enquire about progress on 
applications and to ask for clarification about the reasons for any 
recommendation, they must take particular care to ensure that they do not give 
the impression of applying pressure to Officers to make any changes to their 
recommendations.  To do so would leave them open to accusations of applying 
inappropriate pressure in the form of lobbying.  

 
17       Lobbying of the Planning Regulatory Committee by other Councillors 

 
17.1 Councillors should not give an impression of any commitment or view on the 

application itself and Planning Regulatory Committee members must consider all 
matters before forming a view.  If the lobbying Councillor is an applicant the 
Committee member must critically assess their relationship to the Applicant-

Page 255



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 242 

Councillor. The test is to ask yourself 'is the relationship such that a reasonable 
person would consider that remaining in the Planning Regulatory Committee 
meeting when the decision is made would give the impression of bias'.  Simply being 
a member of the same political party does not necessarily equate to a personal or 
prejudicial interest but Councillors must ask themselves about their relationship, e.g. 
“Are they close associates outside the political arena?”  “Do they socialise with each 
other?”  

 
18       Social Contact 
 

18.1 Members of the Planning Regulatory Committee should minimise their direct social 
contact with known developers and agents, especially when developments are 
contemplated or applications are being proposed or when controversial decisions 
are likely to be needed.  

 
19.       Site Visits – Informal or Formal 
 

19.1 Again, if members of the Planning Regulatory Committee, whether or not on a site 

visit, enter any premises which: – 

a. are the subject of/ affected by a planning application or 

b. are known to be likely to become subject to or affected by a planning 

application 

c. for any purpose in connection with such an application/proposed application, 

the member of Planning Regulatory Committee should be careful to use the 

inspection purely as a fact-finding exercise and not express any opinion on 

the merits of the application.  Members of the Planning Regulatory 

Committee must not give any kind of indication of what their views of the 

application are at this stage as they would be at risk of predetermining the 

issue. 

19.2 It is recommended that a member of the Planning Regulatory Committee should 

not enter a site which is subject to a proposal, other than as part of an official site 

visit, unless the member feels that it is essential to visit the site other than through 

attending the official site visit, and the member has first spoken to the Planning 

Officer about their intention to do so and why (which will be recorded on the file).  

20        Purpose of Formal Visits 
 

20.1 The purpose of a Planning Regulatory Committee site visit is to give members of 

the Planning Regulatory Committee the opportunity to see the prospective 

development site and to see it in context, in relation to the surrounding areas and 

the neighbouring uses.  The Planning Officer will normally identify the site and 

make a short factual presentation explaining the proposed development and 

perhaps highlighting issues which initially prompted the site visit.  The Planning 

Officer will answer, where possible, questions raised by Councillors. 

20.2 Site visits are not intended to pre-empt the debate. Questions should therefore 

relate to matters of factual information about the site, the development and the 

surrounding area rather than a detailed debate regarding the principle or merits of 

the proposal.  Any detailed debate regarding the above should await the formal 

Committee meeting when all members of the Planning Regulatory Committee and 

members of the public who attend can hear the arguments in a proper setting.  

Page 256



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 243 

21       Public Attendance at Formal Site Visits 
 
21.1 Members of the Planning Regulatory Committee will often be met by numbers of 

local residents at a site visit as they are often high profile cases which are under 

consideration.  It is important that the Planning Officer or the Democratic Support 

Officer explains clearly the purpose of the site visit to residents before the site visit 

commences.  Members of the public can listen to the Officers’ presentation but 

should not join in any subsequent discussion.  Public views or objections will be 

fully presented or reported at the Committee meeting and should properly form 

part of the overall debate and discussion at that time. 

21.2 Members of the Planning Regulatory Committee should avoid getting into 

individual dialogue with local residents, although it is appreciated this can be 

difficult to avoid.  The Chair can invite a spokesperson for the residents to answer 

any specific questions Councillors may have, but this should not become a general 

debate about the proposal. If there is a request to visit the site from a particular 

position or location this can be undertaken at the Chair’s discretion.  If it is agreed, 

all members of the Planning Regulatory Committee should accompany the Chair 

if possible. 

21.3 The applicant or his representative will also be invited to attend the site visit.  They 

are present simply to answer any questions the Committee members may have 

but should not address the Councillors on the general merits of the case.  Again, 

the Planning Officer or Chair should explain this situation to the applicant or 

representative if necessary. 

21.4 None of the above text on site visits is intended to stifle debate or prevent local 

residents from having their say.  The proper place for such a debate is however at 

the Committee meeting when neighbour/local views will be properly reported and 

a proper discussion in a public forum can take place.   

22 Ward Councillors Speaking at Planning Regulatory Committee who are not 
members of the Planning Regulatory Committee – Contact by the Applicant, 
Developer or Objector 

 
22.1 When a Ward Councillor speaks at a Committee it is important that they make it 

clear whose views they are expressing.  Are they speaking for themselves only?  

Are they speaking on behalf of their Ward?  Are they speaking on behalf of a group 

of residents?  An important difference between Planning Regulatory Committee 

members and Ward Councillors who are not members of the Planning Regulatory 

Committee is that Ward Councillors are permitted to express a view prior to 

entering the meeting room.  Also, a Ward Councillor can inform other Councillors 

of their own view.  If they are asked to meet with a party who has an interest in an 

application it should be made clear to that party that the Ward Councillor cannot 

lobby members of the Planning Regulatory Committee – they can inform the 

members of the Planning Regulatory Committee of their concerns etc, but they 

cannot lobby. 

22.3 If the applicant/objector/third party asks for information Councillors should advise 

them to contact the planning service staff.  The Ward Councillor can comment on 

how they would like the decision to be determined but must not give any 

impression of interfering with the normal democratic process.  Comments like ‘I 

will have a quiet word with the Chair’ ‘the Group will all vote together’ or ‘it will be 

Page 257



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 244 

sorted’ are unacceptable.  They infer predetermination and interference, which at 

the very least is against an open and transparent planning system. 

22.3 Instead the member of Planning Regulatory Committee should make it quite clear 

that they are able to express an opinion to the Committee but the final decision 

will be made by the Councillors when they have considered all matters including 

the Local Development Plan. 

22.4 When a non-Planning Regulatory Committee member addresses the Committee, 

it is advisable that they disclose to the Committee any contact they have had with 

the applicant and/or agent and/or interested party.  For example if a Ward 

Councillor meets with a developer and is in favour of an application they should 

state ‘I am the Ward Councillor and I am here to represent my own views on this 

matter.  I have spoken to the developer and I have looked at the plans in detail.  I 

am for the application and consider the benefits are …‘.  Or ‘I am the local Ward 

Councillor and I am here to represent the views of what I consider is the majority 

of the residents of my Ward.  I have had numerous telephone calls and letters 

complaining about this. I have met with local resident groups and I am unhappy 

with the proposal before Councillors because …’ 

22.5 A member of the Planning Regulatory Committee may take the opportunity to 

exercise separate rights as a Ward Councillor where the Councillor has fettered 

his/her discretion to participate in the decision-making.  However, the Councillor 

should make it clear before commencement of the item that they are speaking in 

this capacity, and should remove themselves from the Committee seating area for 

the duration of that item.  

23       The Public Participation Process 
 
23.1 With the introduction of the public participation process members of the public now 

have the opportunity to address the Planning Regulatory Committee.  Each 

individual has 3 minutes to speak.  Ideally the person would refer only to planning 

issues.  However, realistically speaking, this is unlikely to occur and in practice 

they may refer to non-planning and development matters.  

23.2 Planning Regulatory Committee members need to sift through such presentations 

and concentrate on the planning and development considerations, distinguishing 

between issues that are and are not relevant to the planning decision.  Issues that 

are not planning matters need to be dismissed or given very little weight, while 

planning and development issues should be taken into account and given great 

weight.   Personal circumstances and financial details are rarely, if ever, 

determining issues.  Councillors have to give proper weight to the Development 

Plan and other material considerations. 

23.4 As indicated above, a Councillor with a personal and prejudicial interest may take 

part in the public participation process, but must withdraw from the meeting 

immediately after they have addressed the Committee. 

24       The Decision Itself 
 
24.1 In accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004 a planning application made under the Planning Acts shall be determined in 

accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate 

otherwise.  

Page 258



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 245 

24.2 Material considerations are anything that relates to the use and the development 

of land.  “Material considerations must be genuine planning considerations, i.e. 

they must be related to the purpose of planning legislation, which is to regulate the 

development and use of land in the public interest.” PPG1 para. 50.  ‘In the public 

interest’ does not mean determining planning applications on the view of the local 

residents.  Local opposition or support for a proposal is not in itself a ground for 

refusing or granting planning permission, unless that opposition or support is 

founded upon valid planning reasons which can be substantiated”  para. 60 of 

PPG1. 

24.3 If there is public opinion against an application then Councillors must ask 

themselves “are the objections based on planning grounds?” and if they are “is 

there evidence to support them?”  If the answer to one or both of these questions 

is 'no', then Councillors should not permit the objections to determine the outcome. 

24.4 A Councillor who is proposing, seconding or supporting a decision contrary to 

Officer recommendations or the Development Plan should clearly identify and 

understand the planning reasons leading to this conclusion/decision.  These 

reasons must be given prior to the vote and be recorded.  It may be necessary to 

justify the resulting decision by giving evidence in the event of any challenge. 

25       Code of Conduct  
 
25.1 This guide is ancillary to the Council’s Codes of Conduct and is designed to help 

Councillors understand their role in the planning process. Its production is 

recommended by the LGA (‘Probity in Planning’).  

26        Enforcement of the Protocol 
 
26.1 Councillors need to be aware that this Protocol is for guidance.  The breach of its 

terms will not necessarily result in the decision being invalidated, but may well lead 

to a decision being challenged.   A breach of the Council’s Code of Conduct may 

lead to a complaint to the Council’s Standards Committee and will be dealt with in 

accordance with the statutory procedure under the Localism Act 2011 and 

Regulations thereunder.   A breach of this Protocol is not in itself a breach of the 

Council’s Code of Conduct Code but any complaint of a breach of the Protocol 

would be investigated by the Monitoring Officer and subsequently reported to the 

Standards Committee. 

26.2 If Councillors have any concerns about the above they should contact the Chief 

Officer Planning and Climate Change. 

 

Page 259



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 246 

  
PART 4 SECTION 7 
 

Protocol on Licensing Procedure 
  
1         Introduction 
 

1.1 The purpose of this Protocol is to provide Councillors with guidance regarding 

their role in determining licensing applications and other related issues in the 

Licensing Committee.  It also provides guidance to Ward Councillors, who are 

not members of the Licensing Committee. 

1.2 The Protocol is designed to offer guidance to help Councillors understand their 

role and the responsibilities associated with that role, and to ensure that in the 

licensing process there are no grounds for suggesting that a decision has been 

biased, partial or not well founded in any way.  

1.3 In summary, the most important issues for Councillors to consider are as 

follows: 

a. The Code of Conduct and, in particular, whether a Councillor has an 

interest as defined in the Code, and if so whether that  interest precludes 

the Councillor from participating in a particular item of business. 

b. Aside from the Code of Conduct, whether there is any other reason why a 

Councillor should not participate in a particular decision.   

c. The need to exercise care and caution in any contact with applicants and 

objectors. 

d. The dangers of lobbying or being lobbied. 

1.4 The Protocol is a public document, forming part of the Council’s Constitution, 

and is available on the Council’s website. When contacted on licensing issues, 

Councillors may wish to consider providing a copy of the Protocol to the person 

who has contacted them, if that would assist in explaining their role in the 

licensing process.  

2        Natural Justice 
 

2.1 These principles apply throughout public administration.  They are fundamental 

principles of administrative law and should be adhered to when determining any 

licensing application, to ensure that there is no procedural impropriety. 

2.2 The two principles of Natural Justice are :- 

            (a)     The rule against bias. 
 
            (b)     The duty to act fairly/duty to hear both sides or the other side.  

 
3          The Rule Against Bias 
 

3.1 Bias is an attitude of mind which prevents the decision-maker from making an 

objective determination of the issue to be decided.  Procedural impropriety does 

not require actual bias; an appearance of bias is sufficient.  The test is whether a 

fair minded and informed observer, having considered the facts, would conclude 

Page 260



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 247 

that there was a real possibility of bias.   Bias may arise by virtue of a Councillor 

being closely connected with a person who has a vested interest in a licensing 

application or matter.  

3.2 In addition to the common law rule against bias, Councillors must be mindful of 

the provisions of the Council’s Code of Conduct with regard to interests, referred 

to below.  

3.3 If Councillors are in any doubt about the application of the Code of Conduct, they 

should seek advice early, from the Monitoring Officer, Deputy Monitoring Officer(s) 

or one of their staff.  Failure to comply with the Code of Conduct may have 

implications for the individual Councillor, as there may be a complaint to the 

Standards Committee.    There may also be implications for the decision-making 

process, with criticism of the relevant Committee and possible challenge to the 

decision on the basis that a Councillor with an interest remained within the meeting 

room and tainted the integrity of the decision. 

4. The duty to act fairly/hear both sides or the other side - Predetermination and 
Predisposition 
 

4.1 “Predetermination” is where a Councillor is closed to the merits of any arguments 

relating to a particular application, and makes a decision without taking them into 

account. 

4.2 “Predisposition” is where a Councillor holds a view in favour of or against an 

application, but has an open mind to the merits of the argument before making a 

final decision. 

4.3 Predisposition is acceptable; predetermination is not. 

4.4 The decision-making body must consider all relevant information before coming to 

its decision.  The Councillor’s mind should not be closed until the final decision is 

made.  A Councillor’s mind will be closed if they have already come to a decision 

on an application prior to entering the meeting room.  This is predetermination.  

4.5 A decision will be open to challenge if a Councillor appears to have already decided 

how they will vote at the meeting so that nothing will change their mind.  This 

impression can be created in a number of different ways such as quotes given in 

the press, and what Councillors have said at meetings or written in 

correspondence.  However, it should be noted that Section 25 of the Localism Act 

2011 provides that in the event that a decision is challenged, the court will not find 

that a Councillor had a closed mind when making the decision just because of any 

previous conduct which might have indicated what view the Councillor took, or 

would or might take, in relation to the matter.  Simply listening to or receiving 

viewpoints from interested parties, seeking information through appropriate 

channels, or making comments, will not necessarily constitute predetermination, 

provided that the Councillor makes it clear that they are keeping an open mind.  

4.6 It is not a problem for Councillors to be “predisposed”, holding a view but having 

an open mind and being open to persuasion against that view.    This includes 

having formed a preliminary view about how they will vote before they attend the 

meeting, and/or expressing that view publicly, provided it is clear that their mind is 

not closed to countervailing arguments.  

5 Declarations of Interest and Leaving the Meeting Room 

Page 261



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 248 

 
5.1 Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined in Regulations made under the 

Localism Act 2011, and the statutory provisions regarding such interests are 

reflected in Section 1 of Part B of the Councillors’ Code of Conduct in Part 4 

Section 2 of the Constitution.  If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest 

in any item of business before the Committee, the law requires the Councillor not 

to participate.  The Council Procedure Rules require the Councillor to leave the 

meeting. This applies whether or not the Councillor is a member of the Committee, 

a Ward Councillor or an applicant or objector.  If a Councillor with a DPI wishes to 

attend a meeting, the Councillor must obtain a dispensation.    

5.2 Section 2 of Part B of the Council’s Code of Conduct defines “other” interests which 

Councillors are required to register.  These include details of any body to which the 

Councillor is appointed by the Council, and details of any body exercising functions 

of a public nature or directed to charitable purposes or whose principal purpose 

includes the influencing of public opinion or policy, of which the Councillor is a 

member or holds a position of general control or management.  Where an item for 

consideration by the Committee relates to such a registered interest, the interest 

must be declared at the meeting. 

5.3 In addition, where a decision might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-

being or financial position of a Councillor, or that of a relative or close associate of 

theirs, the Councillor must declare an “other” interest at the meeting.  The phrase 

“close associate” is not defined in the Code, but covers both social and business 

associations.  Simply knowing the applicant does not necessarily equate to an 

interest. 

5.4 Where a Councillor has an “other” interest as set out in Section 2 of Part B of the 

Code of Conduct, in a licensing application  being considered by a Committee, the 

Councillor must give careful consideration as to whether that interest is one which 

precludes them from participating in the debate and decision-making. This will be 

the case if the interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the 

facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice the 

Councillor’s judgement of the public interest    In other words, the interest must be 

perceived as likely to harm or impair the Councillor’s ability to judge the public 

interest.  However, a Councillor will only be precluded from participating if the item 

of business affects the financial position of the Councillor or the person or body 

through whom the interest arises, or relates to a licensing application by or on 

behalf of such a person. 

5.5 Under the Council Procedure Rules, a Councillor who is precluded from 

participating in a decision must leave the chamber – the Councillor is not permitted 

to return to the public gallery for the debate and should not be seen by other 

Councillors when they are making the decision.     If a Councillor with such an 

interest was present or could be seen to watch the proceedings, this could be 

sufficient to taint the process. 

5.6 When declaring interests at meetings, Councillors should make it clear what level 

of interest they are declaring, and whether the interest prevents them from taking 

part in the decision-making process.  

5.7 Councillors who have licensing interests or other interests that would prevent them 

from voting on a regular basis should avoid serving on a Licensing Committee.  

Page 262



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 249 

 

 

6         Party Politics 
 

6.1 A Councillor must not blindly follow the recommendations of their political party.  A 
decision on a particular licensing application should not be dictated by party 
politics.  Party whips should never be used.  The Licensing Committee sits in a 
quasi-judicial manner and each decision is made on its own merits, within the 
legislation and any licensing policy or guidelines adopted by the Committee. Each 
decision has to be made on the information put before the Committee.  

 
7.         Media Exposure 
 

7.1 A Councillor of the Licensing Committee should never make any public declaration 
on an application. If a Councillor makes a statement that is one sided prior to the 
application being determined, then that Councillor is at risk from an allegation of 
bias, i.e. they have not kept their mind open until all matters are before them.  In 
these circumstances it may be inappropriate for the Councillor to take part in the 
decision-making process to ensure the decision is not tainted.   

 
8         Lobbying    
 

8.1 Those who may be promoting or be affected by a licensing decision may often seek 

to influence it.  Whilst lobbying of Councillors is legitimate, and certain Councillors 

may make representations on behalf of applicants or other interested persons, 

there must be neither actual bias nor an appearance of bias in decision-making. 

8.2 If a member of the Licensing Committee is lobbied, that Councillor can: 

a. listen to what is being said 

b. give procedural advice (e.g. where and when any meeting is to be held, 

advise which Licensing Officer to approach, or how to make representations) 

c. refer the lobbyist to a Ward Councillor who does not sit on the Licensing 

Committee or to a Licensing Officer 

d. report instances of significant, substantial or persistent lobbying to the 

Monitoring Officer 

9 The Role of Councillors and Officers 
 

9.1 All Councillors and Officers must ensure that contact between them in connection 

with licensing matters accords with the requirement of mutual respect and should 

not undermine the good working relationships which are critical to the success of 

the City Council and good local government. 

9.2 Officers are available to discuss the issues relating to licensing applications with 

Councillors and to inform them of all the facts and circumstances relating to the 

application.  

10 Ward Councillors/Committee Members 
 

10.1 It should be noted that a member of the Licensing Committee who is the Councillor 

for a Ward which would be directly affected by a licensing application, or who is the 

Page 263



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 250 

Ward Councillor for an individual who has an application or other matter for 

consideration by one of the Committees, is most at risk of allegations of bias, and 

is most likely to be put under pressure to represent those interests in the decision-

making process.  When a Councillor participates in making a licensing decision, 

their overriding duty is to the community as a whole, and a Councillor should not 

favour or appear to favour any person, company, group or locality.  

10.2 It is for this reason that the Council’s Statement of Policy under the Licensing Act 

2003 provides that any sub-committee which deals with individual applications will 

not include any Councillor who represents the Ward in which the premises, which 

are the subject of the application, are situated. 

10.3 For the same reason, it is strongly recommended that where the Licensing 

Committee or a sub-committee of the Licensing Committee is considering an 

application or matter relating to an individual, a Councillor for the Ward in which 

that individual resides and who has had contact with that individual on the matter 

should not sit as a member of the Committee for that item. 

10.4 If a member of the Licensing Committee wishes to represent an applicant or other 

interested party, the Councillor may do so, but should do so as a representative, 

and should not sit as a member of the Committee for that item. 

11 Speaking at Licensing Committee by Councillors who are not Members of the 
Licensing Committee  
 

11.1 A Councillor who is not a member of a Licensing Committee may speak on an 

application or matter  if the Councillor has made relevant representations in their 

own right, or may speak as the representative of or witness for any party to the 

proceedings. 

11.2 At Licensing Committee, agenda items which relate to individual licence holders or 

applicants are generally held in private because the matters include exempt or 

confidential information. A Councillor who is not sitting as a member of the 

Licensing Committee may act as a representative or witness in any such item 

before the Committee. However, no other Councillor is permitted to attend for such 

items when the press and public are excluded.   

11.3 Public speaking is permitted at meetings of the Licensing Committee on public 

reports. A Councillor who is not a member of the Committee and who wishes to 

speak on such an item may do so, but must register in accordance with the 

Committee’s arrangements for public speaking. 

11.4 Councillors who do not sit on the Licensing Committee need to be careful when 
discussing with Committee members issues relating to matters which may come 
before the Committee.  It is unacceptable for the non-licensing Councillor to 
attempt to obtain a commitment as to how another Councillor might vote. 

 
12 Membership of other Committees 
 

12.1 There is acceptance that a Councillor may legitimately consider matters in several 
capacities, as different factors may apply to different decisions.  For example, 
where premises require both a licence and planning permission, Councillors may 
sit on the Licensing Committee and the Planning Regulatory Committee.  While 
the statutory regimes in such cases are different, the considerations to be taken 
into account may be similar, and Councillors should carefully consider whether 

Page 264



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 251 

anything they have said in making the earlier decision would demonstrate a pre-
determination of the second decision. 

 
13 Contact with Applicants and other Interested Persons 

 
13.1 Councillors should refer those who approach them for assistance on procedural 

or technical licensing matters to relevant Officers. 

13.2 Councillors who wish to consider a licensing application should not attend formal 

or informal meetings with applicants or other interested persons.   

14 Hospitality Offered to Councillors 
 

14.1 It is advisable in all circumstances to simply refuse any hospitality.  To accept 
creates the risk that there has been undue influence on the licensing process.  In 
the rare event that the hospitality of an estimated value in excess of £50 is 
accepted it must be registered in the register of interests under Paragraph 8 of 
Section 2 of Part B of the Council’s Code of Conduct.  It must also be declared as 
an “other” interest at any meeting where an item of business relating to the source 
of the hospitality is considered.  

 
15 Site Visits / Vehicle Inspections 

 
15.1 Site visits by members of the Licensing Committee are generally unnecessary.  

However, in exceptional cases members of the Licensing Committee may not be 

able to appreciate points being put to them at a hearing without a site inspection.  

In matters relating to taxis, members of the Licensing Committee may need to 

undertake a vehicle inspection. 

15.2 A site visit/vehicle inspection is a formal part of the licensing hearing process, and 

may be made either prior to the hearing or at the conclusion of the evidence.   All 

members of the relevant Committee must attend and will be accompanied by an 

Officer.  

15.3 Members of the Licensing Committee should keep together as a group and not 

engage individually in discussions with any applicant, objector or third party who 

may be present.  It is acceptable for members of the Licensing Committee to ask 

questions to seek clarification on matters relevant to the site visit / vehicle 

inspection.  

17       Training 
 

17.1 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, Councillors should not participate in 
decision-making meetings dealing with licensing matters unless they have 
attended training provided for members of the relevant Committee. 

 
18        Enforcement of the Protocol 

 
18.1 This Protocol is ancillary to the Council’s Code of Conduct and is designed to help 

Councillors understand their role in the licensing process. It is intended to minimise 

the prospect of legal or other challenge to decisions. 

18.2 Councillors should note that this Protocol is for guidance.  The breach of its terms 

will not necessarily result in the decision being invalidated, but may well lead to a 

decision being challenged.   A breach of the Council’s Code of Conduct may lead 

Page 265



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 252 

to a complaint to the Council’s Standards Committee and will be dealt with in 

accordance with the Standards Committee’s arrangements under the Localism Act 

2011 for dealing with such complaints.   A breach of this Protocol is not in itself a 

breach of the Council’s Code of Conduct Code but any complaint of a breach of 

the Protocol would be investigated by the Monitoring Officer and subsequently 

reported to the Standards Committee. 

18.3 If Councillors have any concerns about the above they should contact the Chief 

Officer Governance.  

Page 266



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 253 

PART 5 
 

Councillors' Allowances Scheme 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 The scheme outlined in this document was adopted following a full review by the 

Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) in accordance with the Local Authorities 

(Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003. The Panel carried out the 

review in 2022 and the Panel’s recommendations were accepted by Council on 

25th January 2023.  

 

1.2 The next full review by the IRP will be carried out before the scheduled elections 

in 2027 for implementation no later than 1st May 2027.  

 

2.0 BASIC ALLOWANCE 

 

2.1 A basic allowance is to be paid to all Councillors, and is intended to recognise a 

time commitment expected of all Councillors, including such inevitable calls on 

their time as meetings with Officers and constituents and attendance at political 

group meetings. It is also intended to cover incidental costs such as the use of 

homes, private telephones and internet connections. 

2.2 Each Councillor is entitled to £4,200 per annum, which will be paid monthly. The 

basic allowance will be increased year on year, in line with any Employee Pay 

Awards, unless the IRP recommends otherwise. Should the IRP recommend 

otherwise, it’s recommendation will be put to the Council at the appropriate time. 

2.3   In addition to the Basic Allowance, all Councillors will be offered a council laptop 

or similar device to enable them to access the Council network. 

2.4 In order to comply with the requirements of Data Protection legislation, the Council 

pay for the registration of each Councillor under the Data Protection Act. 

 

3.0 SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCE 

8.2 A special responsibility allowance will be paid in addition to any entitlement to basic 

allowance for those Councillors who have significant responsibilities. 

8.3 The Councillors receiving special responsibility allowance and the allowances 

payable are as follows:-  

 

 

 

ROLE  

Leader of the Council and Chair of the Cabinet  £11,281.20 

Page 267



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 254 

Deputy Leader of the Council                                                       £6,660.60 

Cabinet Members                                                                          £5,640.60 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair                                £4,227.90 

Budget and Performance Panel Chair                                    £3,381.30 

Planning Regulatory Committee Chair                                                      £4,370.70 

Licensing Committee Chair                                                          £4,370.70 

Licensing Sub-Committee Chairs                           £443.70 

People and Organisational Development Committee Chair                                                    £3,335.40 

Audit Committee Chair                                                            £2,325.60 

Appeals Committee Chair                                                          £295.80 

Standards Committee Chair                                                    £1,234.20 

Council Business Committee Chair                                        £1,428.00 

Leader(s) of Opposition Group(s) (to be allocated to leaders of groups who 
are “in opposition”, i.e who are not represented on Cabinet. The sum 
specified is to be divided between the leaders of any such groups which have 
four or more Councillors, in proportion to the size of their respective 
groups.)    

£5,640.60 

£1000 (maximum) allowance to be divided equally between serving 
‘Champions’ to a cap of £250 each Champion per annum.  At time of 
introduction of this allowance there were two Champions (Veterans’ 
Champion and Champion for Disabilities) 

£1,000 max 

 

3.3  No Councillor is entitled to more than one payment from the Scales identified above. 

3.4 It will be for individual Councillors who would qualify for more than one special 

responsibility allowance to inform the Senior Manager, Democratic Support and 

Elections as to which allowance they would wish to be allocated, otherwise it will be 

assumed that the highest allowance is to be paid. 

4.0 CARERS’ ALLOWANCE 

The Council will make reasonable payments for the reimbursement of the care of dependent 

relatives living with the Councillor. Full details of the Carers’ Allowance Scheme are attached 

at Appendix A. 

5.0 PART PAYMENTS 

 

In the case of basic and special responsibility allowances, payment will only be made for the 

period during which a person performs the duties for which these allowances are payable. 

Where a Councillor (or co-optee) is suspended or partially suspended from his/her 

responsibilities or duties as a member of the Council, in accordance with Part III of the Local 

Government Act 2000 or regulations thereunder, the part of basic allowance or special 

responsibility allowance payable to him/her in respect of the period for which he/she is 

suspended or partially suspended may be withheld by the Council. 

 

6.0 REPAYMENTS 

 

Where payment of any allowance has already been made in respect of any period during 

which the Councillor concerned is suspended or partially suspended from his/her 

responsibilities or duties as a member of the Council in accordance with Part III of the Local 

Government Act 2000 or regulations made thereunder, or ceases to be a member of the 

Council or is in any other way not entitled to receive the allowance in respect of that period, 

Page 268

http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/draft-constitution/draft-constitution-draft-2#app a carers scheme


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 255 

the Councillor (or co-optee) shall repay to the Council on demand such part of the allowance 

as relates to any such period. 

 

7.0 REVOCATION 

 

Basic and special responsibility allowances will be paid automatically unless notice is received 

in writing from the Councillor concerned revoking the entitlement. All such notices should be 

delivered to the Senior Manager, Democratic Support and Elections who will inform payroll 

accordingly. 

 

8.0 CLAIMS 

8.1 Claims for travel and subsistence allowances should be submitted monthly after the end 

of the month in which the entitlement to the allowance arose and in any event no later 

than 3 months from that date. Claims must be made on the official claim form available 

from Democratic Support. 

8.2 Completed claim forms should be forwarded to Democratic Support. Claims will be 

checked on receipt in Democratic Support and, when verified, forwarded to Financial 

Services for payment. Those received in Democratic Support by the 20th of a month will 

be paid on the 15th of the following month. Claims received in Democratic Support after 

the 20th cannot be guaranteed to be paid the following month. 

8.3   Payments are made net of income tax, through the PAYE system used for salaried 

Officers. Bank details are, therefore, required for each Councillor. If a Councillor 

changes their bank details, the revised details should be provided to Democratic 

Support. 

9.0 TRAVEL AND SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCES 

9.1 In addition to the Councillors’ Allowances Scheme, travel and subsistence allowances 

are payable. 

9.2  A full schedule of rates payable for travel and subsistence and eligible duties is 

attached at Appendix B, and the approved duties for which travel and subsistence 

allowances are payable are set out in Annexes 1-2. 

9.3 For the purposes of the payment of travel expenses, all travel will be deemed to have 

commenced from the Councillor’s current address or, if this is not within the 

administrative area of the Council, from the address through which the Councillor 

qualified to stand for election. However, for the purposes of attending one meeting of 

the Full Council only and during the summer vacation only, travel from an address 

within the UK mainland will be reimbursed to a Councillor who is registered as a full 

time student and who does not at the time of the meeting have an address within the 

administrative area of the Council. No subsistence or overnight allowances will be paid. 

 

10.0 LGA ALLOWANCES 

 

10.1  For those members of the Council who have accepted political appointments on the 

LGA the Council’s policy for the payment of Carers Allowances and Travel and 

Subsistence Allowances is set out at Appendix C. 

 

11.0 PUBLICATION 

 

Page 269

http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/draft-constitution/draft-constitution-draft-2#App B rates
http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/draft-constitution/draft-constitution-draft-2#eligible duties
http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/draft-constitution/draft-constitution-draft-2#APP C LGA SCHEME


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 256 

11.1  The Council is required to publish details of the Councillors’ Allowances Scheme and 

the total amounts received by each Councillor. The Senior Manager Democratic Support 

is responsible for this matter. 

 

12.0 MAYORAL AND DEPUTY MAYORAL EXPENSES 

12.1  These expenses are paid to the Mayor and Deputy Mayor to reflect the additional 

expenditure that arises with these positions. 

12.2 The level of Mayoral allowances will be:-  

 

2019/20  

Mayor    £6,720 

Deputy Mayor                                                        £1,335 

 

13.0 REVIEW OF SCHEME 

 

13.1  The Independent Remuneration Panel will review the Scheme as and when requested, 

and in any event will undertake a full review before May 2027. 

 

13.2 The Independent Remuneration Panel will monitor the Scheme. 

 

13.3 Minor revisions are the responsibility of the Chief Executive in consultation with the 

Chair of the Independent Remuneration Panel. 

 

13.4 Any queries or matters of clarification or determination as to Councillors’ entitlement to 

any provisions of this Scheme shall be ultimately determined by the Chief Executive. 

 

14.0 QUERIES 

 

14.1 Any specific queries regarding the entitlement to the Scheme should, in the first 

instance, be addressed to the Senior Manager, Democratic Support and Elections. 

Queries regarding claims and payments should be addressed to the Exchequer 

Payments Team in Financial Services. 

Page 270



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 257 

APPENDIX A 
CARERS’ ALLOWANCE SCHEME 

 

1.0 Legality 

a. The Scheme is established by the Council under the Local Authorities (Members 

Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003. The Carers’ Allowance is payable in respect 

of the approved duties set out in Annexes 1-3 of Appendix B. The scheme requires 

Councillors claiming the allowance to demonstrate and certify that carer expenses are 

actually and necessarily incurred in the conduct of their official duties. 

2.0 Entitlement 

b. The Scheme provides for payments to be made to Councillors in respect of care for 

“dependent relatives” living with the Councillor. For the purposes of the scheme, 

“dependent relatives” are defined as: 

(i) children aged 15 or under; 

(ii) elderly relatives requiring full-time care; and 

(iii) relatives with disabilities who require full-time care. 

c. The allowance is payable for care provided by carers registered by a Councillor with 

the Council (see paragraph 6. for details). In the case of (i) above, under no 

circumstances will the allowance be payable to another parent, the parent’s spouse 

or partner. In the case of (ii) and (iii) above, under no circumstances will the allowance 

be payable in respect of care provided by a member of the Councillor’s household. 

d. For meetings or duties within the Council’s boundaries as set out in Annexes 1, 2 and 

3, the allowance will be paid for the duration of the meeting or otherwise approved 

duty plus an allowance for up to one hour’s travelling time before and after the 

meeting. For duties outside the Council’s boundaries, the allowance will be paid for 

the duration of the duty plus the actual travelling time to and from the venue. In all 

instances, total time claimed should be rounded to the nearest half-hour. 

3.0 Rates of Allowance 

e. The actual cost of care will be reimbursed, up to a maximum of the Foundation Living 

Wage (currently £9.90 per hour, due to rise to £10.90 per hour in April 2023),  

irrespective of the number of dependants. 

f. Where a dependent relative requires specialist professional care, the full cost of care 

will be allowed, with the prior written approval of the Senior Manager, Democratic 

Support and Elections see paragraph 6.0 (m). 

4.0 Claims Procedures 

g. Councillors wishing to apply for Carers’ Allowance must submit an application form to 

the Senior Manager Democratic Support, declaring that: 

(i) claims made will only be made in respect of a named dependent relative 

(or relatives) as defined in the scheme; 

(ii) claims will only be made in respect of the entitlements set out in 2.0 

above; 

(iii) receipts will be provided in support of all claims; and 

(iv) where a specialist professional carer is to be engaged, that this is a 

Page 271

http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/draft-constitution/draft-constitution-draft-2#App B rates


Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 258 

necessary expense for which full reimbursement will be claimed. 

h. Councillors are required to notify Democratic Support in the event of their entitlement 

to Carers’ Allowance ending. 

i. All claims will be processed by Financial Services through the Council’s payroll system. 

In exceptional circumstances, and with the approval of the Chief Finance Officer, 

advance payments may be made in cash and subsequently adjusted through the 

payroll. 

5.0 Taxation and National Insurance Contributions 

j. Advice from the Council’s taxation consultants is that payments made under such a 

scheme will be subject to Income Tax and NIC’s unless an arrangement can be 

reached with the Inland Revenue and dispensation not to tax obtained on the basis 

that the payments are reimbursement of costs actually and necessarily incurred. 

k. Because of the potential taxation and NIC implications, all payments must be 

processed through the Council’s payroll system. 

6.0 Administration 

l. The scheme is an integral element of the Councillors’ Allowances Scheme, and 

responsibility for supervising, maintaining and reviewing the scheme is assumed by 

the Senior Manager, Democratic Support and Elections in conjunction with the Chief 

Executive and the Independent Remuneration Panel. 

m. Signed applications for registration of a carer are to be submitted by Councillors for 

approval by the Senior Manager, Democratic Support and Elections. Approved 

applications will be retained by Democratic Support and a copy forwarded to Financial 

Services. 

n. Claims for payment of the allowance should be submitted by Councillors to Financial 

Services on the revised standard Councillors’ Allowances Forms. All claims must be 

supported by a signed pro-forma receipt (in the case of care provided by a non-

professional carer) or a receipted official invoice in the case of a specialist carer. 

Financial Services will check all claims for approval of entitlement, accuracy and 

reasonableness of duties and times claimed, and submission of supporting receipts 

and invoices. 

o. Any queries regarding entitlement to the allowance, or individual claims, will be referred 

in the first instance to Democratic Support. Should a dispute arise as to the eligibility 

of a claim, this will be referred to the Chief Executive for decision. Should agreement 

not be reached the matter will then be referred to the Independent Remuneration Panel 

for arbitration. 

7.0 Audit 

Internal Audit will review the systems for payment of Councillors’ Allowances on a 

cyclical basis and include sample testing of Councillors’ Allowances transactions in 

annual probity programmes. 

  

Page 272



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 259 

APPENDIX B 

TRAVEL AND SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCES PAYABLE 

Travelling Allowances 

 

(A) Public Transport (except taxis and aircraft) 

1. The rate must not exceed the ordinary standard class fare or any available saver fare, 

but the Council may generally or specially determine to substitute first for standard 

class fare. 

2. Supplementary allowance may be paid for expenses actually incurred on Pullman Car 

or a similar supplement, reservation of seats, deposit or portage of luggage and 

sleeping accommodation for overnight journeys, but in this last case the maximum 

overnight subsistence allowance is reduced by one-third. 

3. All long distance rail journeys and sea-travel bookings must be made by Democratic 

Support on behalf of Councillors, to seek the most cost-effective deal within current 

parameters. 

4. For journeys by public transport the cost of any private vehicle travel to and from the 

point of public transport may also be reimbursed at the rate set out in B below. 

5. For journeys within the Council’s administrative area valid receipts must be produced. 

6. For journeys outside the Council’s administrative area where the journey has been 

undertaken by car, the equivalent of a standard class rail fare as determined by 

Democratic Support on receipt of the claim shall be payable, subject to this being less 

than the payable rate set out in (B) below. 

 

(B) Private Vehicle – for journeys within the City Council’s administrative area: 

1. By motor cycle 24p per mile and by motor car - 45p per mile. (The rates payable are 

those recommended by the HM Revenue & Customs and will be increased in line with 

their guidance.) 

2. Cycling/other non-motorised transport allowance (in all cases) - 20p per mile. 

3. For journeys outside the Council’s administrative area, the lower of the above mileage 

allowance or the relevant standard class rail fare will be paid. However, the cost of any 

private vehicle travel to and from the point of public transport may also be reimbursed 

at the rates set out above. 

4. Car parking charges may be reimbursed on production of a valid receipt. However, 

where a Councillor chooses to purchase a Councillor Car Parking Permit, the Council 

will not make any reimbursement towards the cost of parking within the District. 

Supplementary payments may be made for tolls and ferries actually incurred, on 

production of a valid receipt. 

(C) Taxis and Hire Vehicles 

1. Taxis: in cases of urgency or where there is no reasonably available public transport, 

the fare plus any reasonable gratuity paid. In other cases, the fare by appropriate public 

transport. 

Page 273



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 260 

2. Hire Vehicles: the rate appropriate if the Councillor had owned the vehicles, unless the 

Council approves additional amounts up to the actual hiring cost. 

 

(D) Aircraft 

1. The rate applicable to travel by appropriate alternative transport plus any amount of 

attendance or financial loss or subsistence allowance saved by travelling by air. 

2. But if the Council generally or specially resolves that the saving in time is so 

substantial, then: – 

(a) the ordinary or available cheap fare by regular service; or 

(b) where no such service is available or in the case of emergency, the fare 

actually paid. 

3. The Chief Executive has discretion to authorise air travel. 

4. All bookings must be made by Democratic Support on behalf of Councillors. 

Subsistence Allowance 

1. In case of an absence, other than an overnight absence from home, subsistence 

allowance is payable as follows:  

Breakfast (when more than 4 hours away from normal place of residence) 
Councillors on approved duties who leave home before 7.00 a.m. to 
attend a location outside the Council’s boundary, may claim breakfast 
expenses as follows - 

 

Breakfast, on production of a valid receipt  Up to £5.85 

Breakfast, (in London), on production of a valid receipt  Up to £8.50 

Breakfast, (in or out of London), where unable to produce a receipt  £3.20 

  

Lunch (when more than 4 hours away from normal place of residence) 
Councillors on approved duties outside the Council’s boundary from 11.45 
a.m. to 1.30 p.m. may claim lunch expenses as follows – 

 

Lunch, on production of a valid receipt  Up to £5.85 

Lunch, (in London), on production of a valid receipt  Up to £8.50 

Lunch, (in or out of London), where unable to produce a receipt  £3.20 

  

Evening Meal (when more than 4 hours away from normal place of 
residence) 
Councillors on approved duties who have not returned home by 7.30 p.m. 
may claim an evening meal as follows – 

 

Evening meal, on production of a valid receipt  Up to £11.45 

Evening meal, (in London), on production of a valid receipt  Up to £17.00 

Evening meal, (in or out of London), where unable to produce a receipt £5.85 

In the case of an overnight absence -  £90.60 

For an overnight absence in Central London  £103.40 
 

2.  The value of free meals must be deducted from the allowance. Where main meals are 

taken on trains during which there is an entitlement to a day subsistence allowance, 

the reasonable cost of meals (including VAT) may be reimbursed in full. In such 

Page 274



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 261 

circumstances, reimbursement for the cost of a meal would replace the entitlement to 

the day subsistence allowance for the appropriate meal period. 

3. All accommodation bookings should be made by Democratic Support. 

4. Where pre-booked the cost of hotel meals will be paid by the Council. 

Eligible Duties 

 

When a Councillor is appointed to an outside body by Council, Cabinet or Overview and 

Scrutiny, attendance at those meetings is an approved duty eligible for claiming travel and 

subsistence allowances. Other approved duties are shown at Annexes 1 and 2. 
 

Annex 1 

Approved Duties - Meetings of the Council 
 

Council 

Committees established by Council and any sub-committees established by those Committees, 
currently: 

People and Organisational Development Committee 

Audit Committee 

Appraisal Panel 

Appeals Committee 

Licensing Committee 

Licensing Sub-Committees 

Planning Regulatory Committee 

Scheduled Planning Briefings 

Standards Committee 

Standards Sub-Committees 

Council Business Committee 

Cabinet 

Committees established by Cabinet 

Advisory Groups established by Cabinet 

Scheduled Cabinet Briefings 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Task Groups established by Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Budget and Performance Panel 

Joint Committees: 

Joint Committee for Revenues and Benefits 

 

 

  

Page 275



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 262 

 

Annex 2 

Approved Duties - Other Duties 
 

Attendance at Conferences/Seminars to which the Council or Cabinet has nominated a delegate 

Media Receptions 

Scheduled, Formal Meetings with Chief Executive/ Chief Officers  

Mayoral and other public ceremonies/launches etc approved by the Council or Committee of the 
Council 

Scheduled, Formal Meetings with Trade Unions 

Scheduled, Formal Meetings of Cabinet / Overview and Scrutiny meetings / Working Groups 

 

 

Notes: 

The essential criteria for these, and any other such duties that may arise, is that they must be 

formally structured and diarised elements of Council business. The inclusion of other duties 

within this definition will be at the discretion of the Senior Manager, Democratic Support and 

Elections.  

Page 276



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 263 

 

Page 277



Lancaster City Council  

CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 264 

APPENDIX C                             LGA Scheme of Members’ Allowances - City Council Policy  

Appendix C LGA Scheme of Members Allowances - City Council Policy  
The LGA's current scheme of members' allowances became effective from September 2010 (updated January 2015). The main features of the scheme are:  

 Members of all Executives are paid an annual lump sum 'Responsibility Allowance' reflecting both the time which might be spent and the level of responsibility 

involved in carrying out these posts; no other attendance allowance is paid;  

 The LGA pays travel and subsistence for meetings at which a Member has been appointed in a representative role on behalf of the LGA. The City Council pays the 

travel and subsistence costs for other meetings.  

 The LGA pays carers allowance in respect of all approved duties and to members representing the LGA on outside bodies.  

 Allowances paid by the association are index-linked to the principal local government pay settlement.  

Type of Meeting  Travel & Subsistence  Carers Allowance  Attendance  

All standing committees, panels, forums 
and task groups of the LGA.  

Reasonable travel and subsistence costs 
will be paid by the authority according to 
the current scheme of Members' 
Allowances. Wherever possible, travel 
and accommodation arrangements 
should be made through Member 
Services.  

Actual expenditure up to a maximum 
(currently £4.50 per hour per dependant) 
is paid by the LGA. This is payable for a 
maximum of the duration of the approved 
duty plus reasonable travelling time.  
Expenses incurred by Members are 
claimed in the first instance from the 
authority. The authority will submit a 
quarterly reclaim to the LGA.  

Members of the LGA Executive, LGA 
Executives with Forums, and Other 
Executives receive a lump sum amount 
paid directly from the LGA to reflect the 
time which may be spent and the level of 
responsibility involved in carrying out 
these posts.  
No other payment regarding attendance 
is made.  

Attendance at meetings with Ministers, Government Departments or consultations with 
other bodies where Members have been appointed by the LGA.  

The LGA will pay travel and subsistence costs at the rates currently specified by the 
Secretary of State, subject to reimbursement of rail fares on the basis of the standard 
fare. The LGA requires receipts to be provided in support of travel and subsistence 
claims.  
Expenses incurred by Members should be claimed in the first instance from the 
authority. The authority will submit a quarterly reclaim to the LGA.  

Attendance at receptions, visits, conferences, seminars, or other functions where Members have been appointed by the LGA to attend in a representative role on behalf of the 
LGA.  

Attendance as the LGA's appointed representative on any public body, charity, voluntary body or other organisation formed for a public purpose (and not for the benefit of its 
members).  

One Party meetings or duties.  Any travel & subsistence to be funded by 
the political fund of the relevant party.  

Any carers allowance to be funded by the 
political fund of the relevant party.  

Any attendance allowance to be funded 
by the political fund of the relevant party.  

Non-Approved Duties:  
Including General Assembly, Special 
Interest Groups, Conferences where the 
authority pays a fee for attendance.  

Reasonable travel and subsistence costs 
will be paid by the authority according to 
the current scheme of Members' 
Allowances. Wherever possible, travel 
and accommodation arrangements 
should be made through Member 
Services.  

Carers allowance will be paid by the 
authority according to the current scheme 
for Members' Allowances.  

To be covered by the basic allowance 
currently paid to all Members.  

P
age 278



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 265 

 

 

 
PART 6 

 
 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
  

Page 279



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 266 

Part 6  
Glossary of Terms 
 
In this Constitution, unless the context otherwise demands, the following terms have the meaning 
assigned to them: 
 
“authority” – the Lancaster City Council acting by any means which the Council may lawfully adopt; 
 
“Budget and Performance Panel” – an Overview and Scrutiny Committee established by Full 
Council under Section 9F of the 2000 Act; 
 
“best consideration” – the duty to obtain the best price in money or money’s worth for land and 
property disposed of by the Council where the disposal is freehold or leasehold with more than 7 
years left to run; 
 
“best value” – the duty to secure continuous improvement in the way in which the Council’s functions 
are exercised having regard to economy, efficiency and effectiveness under the Local Government 
Act 1999; 
 
“Cabinet” – the executive decision-making body of the Council; 
 
“Call-in” – the consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee of an executive decision made 
but not yet implemented, which may result in the recommendation that the decision be reconsidered 
by the person or persons who made that decision or that Full Council be recommended that that 
decision be reconsidered in accordance with Section 9F of the 2000 Act. 
  
“Chair” – the person appointed to preside at any meeting, and in connection with a Council meeting, 
the Mayor, Deputy Mayor or other person appointed to preside; 
 
“Chief Executive” – the Chief Executive for the time being or such person as he or she may appoint 
to represent him/her for the purpose of this Constitution; 
 
“Chief Finance Officer” – the Officer appointed by the Council to have responsibility for the proper 
management of the Council’s financial affairs under Section 151 Local Government Act 1972 and 
the Local Government Finance Act 1988; 
 
“CIPFA” – the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy; 
 
“confidential” – information given to the Council by a Government Department on terms which forbid 
its public disclosure or information which cannot be publicly disclosed by Court Order, or by virtue of 
any enactment as defined in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 3 Section 4; 
 
“Committee” – a Committee of the Council or possibly a joint committee with other councils; 
 
“controllable expenditure” – to be defined in relation to carry forward and virement arrangements 
making it clear that determination of what is controllable lies with the Chief Finance Officer; 
 
“Co-optee” – a person who is appointed onto a Committee or Sub-Committee or Task/Working 
Group who may speak at the invitation of the Chair and who may or may not have voting rights; 
 
“Council” – the Lancaster City Council; 
 
"Councillor" – an elected Councillor of Lancaster City Council in relation to any other body means 
a person appointed as a member of that body, whether or not the person is entitled to vote; 
 

Page 280



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 267 

“Councillor Call for Action” or “CCfA” – the right under Section 9F Local Government Act 2000 to 
place an item on an agenda of an Overview and Scrutiny meeting to be discussed in accordance 
with Council rules and protocols; 
 
“day” – a whole calendar working day, i.e. a full 24 hour day excluding Saturday, Sunday and bank 
and public holidays; 
 
“Deputy Mayor” – the Vice Chair of the Council; 
 
“Executive” – in local government means the Council’s Cabinet or functions that are performed by 
the Leader or Cabinet or a committee of Cabinet or delegated to Officers; 
 
“Father/Mother of the Council” – the Councillor with the longest unbroken service with the Council 
will be appointed as the Mother/Father of the Council at the first meeting of Council following the 
post becoming vacant and the appointee will support the civic and ceremonial functions of the 
Council; 
 
“exempt” – information that is not available for disclosure to the public as defined by Schedule 12A 
of the 1972 Act and the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 3 Section 4 of the 
Constitution; 
 
“group” – two or more Councillors who notify the Head of Paid Service that they have formed a 
group; 
 
“group spokesperson” – designated representative of a political group having two or more 
Councillors; 
 
“Head of Paid Service” – the Chief Executive, who may report to Full Council on staffing 
requirements pursuant to Section 4 Local Government and Housing Act 1989; 
 
“Invitee” – a person who is invited to a meeting of Cabinet, a Committee, Sub-Committee or 
Task/Working Group, who may speak at the invitation of the Chair; 
 
“Key Decision” – a decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on 
communities in two or more Wards; and/or is over a financial threshold as defined in Regulation 8 of 
the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012/2089, as follows: 

 
A decision which is likely— 
 
“(a) to result in the relevant local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of 
savings which are, significant having regard to the relevant local authority's budget for the 
service or function to which the decision relates; or 
 

(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area 
comprising two or more Wards or electoral divisions in the area of the relevant local 
authority. Significant includes reputation of the Council, environment, local economy, 
community safety, human rights, equal opportunity or racial equality. 
 

In determining the meaning of “significant” the local authority must have regard to any guidance 
for the time being issued by the Secretary of State in accordance with section 9Q of the Local 
Government Act 2000.” 
 

The Council has agreed the financial threshold for a key decision is £250,000; 
 

Page 281



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 268 

"Key Decision Notice" - a public notice published on the City Council's website for any decision of a 
value over £250,000 or significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area 
comprising two or more Wards or electoral divisions in the area of the relevant local authority. 
 
“Leader of a political group” – the leader of a political group as defined in the Local Government 
(Committee etc.) Regulations 1990; 
 
“Leader of the Council” – such person as the council shall elect to be Leader of the Council (and 
who is then able to appoint the Cabinet); 
 
“local choice functions” – as defined by Regulation 3 and Schedule 2 to the Local Authority 
(Functions and Responsibilities)(England) Regulations 2000, where the Council has a choice to 
decide which functions are to be the responsibility of Cabinet or the Council; 
 
“Mayor” – the Chair of the Council and civic and ceremonial representative of the Council; 
 
“meeting” – a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, a Committee, Overview and Scrutiny, Budget and 
Performance Panel, Task Group, Panel or Sub-Committee as the case may be; 
 
“member” – in relation to the Council is a Councillor; and in relation to any other body means a 
person appointed as a member of that body, whether or not the person is entitled to vote; 
 
“Monitoring Officer” – the Chief Officer Governance or, if he/she is unable to act owing to conflict, 
absence or illness, the person nominated as his/her deputy, who has a role in respect of legality and 
maladministration (complaints of injustice considered by the Ombudsman); 
 
“Mother/Father of the Council” – the Councillor with the longest unbroken service with the Council 
will be appointed as the Mother/Father of the Council at the first meeting of Council following the 
post becoming vacant and the appointee will support the civic and ceremonial functions of the 
Council; 
 
“number of members” – in relation to the Council, the number of persons who may act at the time 
in question as Councillors and in relation to any other body, the number of persons who may act at 
the time in question as voting members of that body; 
 
“Officer” – an employee of the Council or the holder of a paid office under the Council other than the 
Mayor, Chair or Vice Chair and any local Officer of dignity appointed by the Council under powers 
conferred by a Royal Charter; 
 
“Overview and Scrutiny Committees” – are Committees of the Council established in accordance 
with Section 9F of the 2000 Act, being the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Budget and 
Performance Panel; 
 
“Overview and Scrutiny Meetings" - are any meetings of Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
Budget and Performance Panel or any associated sub group or task group. 
 
“person presiding” – the person entitled, or appointed, to Chair and preside at any meeting; 
 
“political balance rules” – as defined in the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and Local 
Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990/1553 which require the Council to 
allocate seats on committees in accordance with rules (broadly in line with proportional 
representation) – unless the body is an area committee, or no Councillor votes against; 
 
“political groups” – a political group as defined in the Local Government (Committee etc.) 
Regulations 1990: 

Page 282



Lancaster City Council  
CONSTITUTION 

 

May 2023 – Page 269 

 
“referendum” – as defined in the Referendum Act 2000; 
 
“Regulatory Committee” – a committee undertaking “quasi-judicial” functions of the Council (such 
as licencing and planning); 
 
“SOLACE” – the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers; 
 
“Task Group” – a time-limited working group established by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 2; 
 
“the 1972 Act” – the Local Government Act 1972; 
 
“the 1989 Act” – the Local Government and Housing Act 1989; 
 
“the 2000 Act” – the Local Government Act 2000; 
 
“Vice Chair” – the person appointed to preside, in the absence of the Chair, at meetings of any 
properly constituted body - other than Council where it will be the Deputy Mayor. 
 
 
Note that:  
 
- Copies of Acts, Orders and Regulations are available at: legislation.gov.uk 
 
- Any reference in this Constitution to legislation that is repealed and re-enacted is to the 
subsequent legislation that replaced it (in accordance with section 17 Interpretation Act 1978). 

Page 283

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


Lancaster City Council Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 

1. Introduction and Purpose 

 

1.1 In accordance with the requirements of Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011, this Pay 

Policy statement has been produced to reflect the Council’s approach to pay policy 

for the year 2023/2024. 

 

1.2 This statement sets out the Council’s policies in relation to the remuneration of our 

Chief Officers and all other employees.  It also clarifies the relationship between Chief 

Officer remuneration and the remuneration of our lowest paid employees. 

 
1.3 The purpose of this statement is to demonstrate transparency with regards to setting 

the pay of Council employees. 

 

2. Setting Terms and Conditions  

 

2.1 The Council’s Chief Officers, including the Chief Executive, are employed under the 

nationally agreed Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) terms and conditions.  All other 

employees are employed under the nationally agreed National Joint Council (NJC) 

terms and conditions.  

 

2.2 Pay increases relating to cost of living are agreed nationally by the NJC and JNC 

negotiating bodies. 

 

3. Definitions of Chief Officers within Lancaster City Council  

3.1 Chief Officers (in senior positions) within this Council are currently defined as the 

Chief Executive, and: 

• Senior Chief Officer 

• Chief Officer – Resources (S151) 

• Chief Officer – Governance (Monitoring Officer) 

• Chief Officer – People and Policy 

• Chief Officer – Planning and Climate Change 

• Chief Officer – Sustainable Growth 

• Chief Officer – Environment and Place 

• Chief Office – Housing and Property 

 

3.2 In addition to the above, the Council has further posts which may fall into the wider 

statutory definition of Chief Officer posts via reporting lines, although they are not 

designated as such within this Council. These other posts are as follows 

 

• Senior Manager – Democratic Services 

• Senior Manager - ICT 

• Senior Manager – Community & Leisure 

3.3 All the posts named at 3.2 above fall into a pay grade which currently starts from 

£55,558 up to a maximum pay point of £69,221 (grade 14). The terms of service for 

these posts are governed by the National Joint Council for Local Government 

National Agreement on Terms and Conditions of Service (the NJC Green Book) and 

accordance with the new pay and grading structure 2020. 

 

Page 284



3.4 The Monitoring Officer function attached to the Chief Officer – Governance post, and 

the Section 151 Officer role attached to the Chief Officer – Resources posts are paid 

an allowance for this responsibility.  

 

An allowance of £9000 (per annum) is made for the Monitoring Officer and 151 

Officer functions. An allowance of £6000 per annum is divided up and awarded pro 

rata to Deputies carrying out these statutory functions (e.g. 1 Deputy for each role 

would attract £6000, 2 Deputies £3000). 

 

4. Remuneration of the Chief Executive  

4.1 The post of Chief Executive (which also acts as Head of Paid Service) was paid on a 

fixed salary of £123,725 as at 1 April 2022. This currently remains the same in 2023-

2024, pending any pay award agreement. 

 

5. Remuneration of other Chief Officers 

5.1  Chief Officers are paid within a band which starts from £71,070 up to a maximum of 

£77,985. There has not been an agreement of pay award for 2023/2024, therefore 

the salary will remain the same as 2022/2023, pending any national pay award 

agreement.  

 

Statutory Chief Officers are remunerated in accordance with their technical expertise 

and background  

 

6. Policy on Other Aspects of Chief Officer Remuneration 

6.1 Aside from ‘pay’ there are other aspects of Chief Officer remuneration which are 

outlined below:  

6.1.1 Travel and other expenses: reimbursed through normal Council policies and 

procedures in the same way for all staff. 

6.1.2 Bonuses: The terms of employment do not provide for the payment of any bonuses. 

6.1.3 Honoraria: through normal Council policies and procedures in the same way for all 

staff. 

6.1.4 Severance arrangements (for Chief Officers ceasing to hold office): 

 The Council’s normal policies in relation to redundancy and early retirement apply to 

these posts, in line with relevant regulations.  

 Any payments falling outside the provisions above or the relevant periods of notice 

within the contract of employment shall be subject to formal decision made by 

Personnel Committee, as per the constitution. 

6.2 There are no provisions for any other increases or additions to Chief Officer 

remuneration, other than as outlined in this policy. 

 

7. Returning Officer Fees 

7.1 Fees for Returning Officers and other electoral duties are identified and paid 

separately for local government elections, elections to the UK Parliament and EU 

Parliament and other electoral processes such as referenda.  As these relate to 

performance and delivery of specific election duties as and when they arise, they are 

distinct from the process for the determination of pay for Chief Officers. 

 

Page 285



8 Other Chief Officer Conditions of Service  

 

8.1 The other terms and conditions of service are set out in the relevant conditions of 

service handbooks, as follows:  

 Chief Executive: The Joint Negotiating Committee for Local Authority Chief 

Executives – Conditions of Service  

 All other Chief Officers: The Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers in 

Local Authorities – Conditions of Service  

 

9. Pension Contributions 

9.1 For all employees, including Chief Officers, where employees have exercised their 

right to be a member of the Local Government Pension Scheme, the Council will 

make contributions to the Pension Fund in line with the Employer contribution rates 

determined by the Actuary. 

 

10. Recruitment of Chief Officers  

10.1 The Council’s policy and procedures in relation to the recruitment of Chief Officers is 

set out within the Council’s Constitution.  

10.2 When recruiting for all posts, the Council will take full and proper account of all 

provisions of employment legislation and its own agreed policies. 

10.3 The remuneration offered to any newly appointed Chief Officer will be in accordance 

with the pay structure and relevant policies in place at the time of recruitment.  New 

appointments for staff up to and including Chief Officers are normally made at the 

minimum of the grade for the post, although this can be varied if necessary, to ensure 

the best candidate can be appointed. 

10.4 Where the Council is unable to recruit Chief Officers, or there is a need for interim 

support to provide cover for a substantive Chief Officer post, the Council will, where 

necessary, consider engaging individuals under a ‘contract for service’ (rather than 

them being direct employees of the Council).  These will be sourced through a 

relevant recruitment process, under relevant Officer delegations, ensuring the Council 

is able to demonstrate the maximum value for money from securing the service. 

 

11. Approval of Salary Packages in Excess of £100K 

11.1 Before any offer of appointment is made, the Council will ensure that salary packages 

in excess of £100,000 will be considered by full Council.  This salary package will be 

defined as base salary, bonuses, fees, routinely payable allowances and any benefits 

in kind which are due under the contract. 

 

12. Re- Employment of Former Chief Officers 

12.1 It is the Council’s policy not to re-employ any chief officer who was previously made 

redundant from the authority / received any other severance payment, or later engage 

them under a contract for service or interim contract except under exceptional 

circumstances 

 

13. Publication and Access to Information regarding Chief Officer Remuneration 
 
13.1 Upon approval by Council, the Pay Policy Statement will be published on the 

Council’s website.  In addition, relevant information will be reported in the Council’s 

Page 286



annual Statement of Accounts. 
 

14. Payment of Lower Paid Employees within the Council  

14.1 The Council uses the NJC negotiated pay spine (i.e. a nationally agreed and defined 
list of salary points) as the basis for its local pay structure, which determines the 
salaries for most of its workforce. The Council uses the NJC payspine SCP 3 - 49.  

 
14.2 The Council operates a Job Evaluation Scheme to determine the pay grade for posts 

and uses the Willis Towers Watson Global Grading Scheme. 

14.3 The Council ensures that all staff (aside from Apprentices) are paid at least the ‘Real 

Living Wage’ rate.  Spinal Column Point (SCP) 3 automatically defaults to the Living 

Wage on 1st April each year and the Council uses this to define its ‘lowest paid’ 

employees. 

14.4 The Council employs Apprentices who are not considered within the definition of 

‘lowest paid employees’.  They are paid under the separate Apprentice Pay Rates, 

the highest of which equates to the real Living Wage rate. 

14.5 The Council does not have a policy on maintaining a specific pay ratio between its 

Chief Officers and its lowest paid staff, although it is conscious of the need to ensure 

that Chief Officer salaries are not excessive.   

 

15. Pension Contributions 

15.1 Where employees have exercised their right to join the Local Government Pension 

Scheme, the Council agrees to contribute to the Scheme at rates set by Actuaries.  

16. Payments on Termination  

16.1 The Council’s approach to statutory and discretionary payments on termination of 

employment of Chief Officers, prior to retirement, is set out within its policy statement 

and in accordance with: 

• Local Government (Early Termination of Employment Discretionary 

Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006.  

• Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) 

Regulations 2007.  

• Local Government Pension Scheme (Admin) Regulations 2008 (regulation 66).  

• The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013.   

• The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and 

Amendment) Regulations 2014.  

 

17. Changes to Pay Policy  

 

17.1 Should any amendments be required to this policy during the year, then matters will be 

reported to the Personnel Committee for consideration, for subsequent referral to 

Council. 

 

18. Accountability and Decision Making  

 

18.1 In accordance with the Constitution of the Council, Personnel Committee are 
responsible for decision making in relation to policies for recruitment, pay, terms and 
conditions and severance arrangements in relation to employees of the Council.  

Page 287



 

Page 288



 

 

PEOPLE AND ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE  
 

HR POLICY REVIEW 
 

13TH JULY 2023 
 

Report of the Chief Officer People and Policy 
 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
To enable the Committee to consider and approve a range of amendments and additions to 
existing policies and procedures.  
 

This report is public. 
 

 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS  

(1) That, in consideration of the comments of the Joint Consultative Committee on 5 July 
2023, the Committee approve the revisions to the policies referred to in this report. 

 
1.0 Introduction 
  
1.1 The council has undertaken a phase one review of HR Policies which fall into the category of 

leave, flexible working and recruitment and selection.  
 

1.2 The policy review also concentrates on standardising format and branding of all the HR 
policies; bringing them in line with the branding selected to produce the employee handbook 
last year.  
 

1.3 The policies where content have been amended are appended to this report, as well as a 
policy review tracker for ease of sight of which it is asked that the committee considers. 

 
2.0  Recruitment and Selection Policy 
 
2.1 The council’s Recruitment and Selection Policy was last reviewed in 2013 at which point the 

decision was made that rather than having a Recruitment and Selection Policy and 
Procedure, the council would adopt a Policy only and then have online guidance for 
managers and staff on the recruitment process. This was put in place to modernise and give 
ease of access to the procedural information and advice, which is lengthy with regards to 
recruitment. 

 
2.2 The recruitment policy has been amended as it was felt that the revised version was too 

stripped back and that further policy statements on key elements of the recruitment process, 
timescales and the council’s approach to all recruitment exercises was needed. 

 
2.3 Amendments have also been made considering our new People Plan and the Council’s 

Commitment to the Fair Work Charter. For example, the requirement to consider whether the 

Page 289 Agenda Item 7



 

 

post can be advertised with a flexibility in the way that the duties can be done (inviting early 
flexible working requests); and giving freedom to allow posts to be advertised internal only, to 
assist with development of existing staff and progression opportunities. 

 
2.4 As part of the review of this policy the existing outdated Recruitment of Ex Offenders policy, 

last reviewed in September 2006, has also been removed and sections referring to these 
matters added to the new Recruitment and Selection Policy. 

 
2.5 Please refer to the tracker and documents attached to the report for further information on the 

changes to be reviewed. 
  
 
3.0 Flexible Working Request Policy 
 
3.1 The flexible working request policy has been amended in line with legislation following 

government support for the Employee Relations (Flexible Working) Bill. 
 
3.2 Amendments to the right to request flexible working under the new legislation are as follows: 
 

 Removal of the 26-week qualifying period before employees can request flexible working, 
making it a day-one right. 

 Requirement for employers to consult with their employees, as a means of exploring the 
available options, before rejecting a flexible working request 

 allowing employees to make 2 flexible working requests in any 12-month period. 

 requirement for employers to respond to requests within 2 months, down from 3. 

 removal of the requirement for employees to set out how the effects of their flexible 
working request might be dealt with by their employer. 

 

3.3 The changes referenced in the policy tracker have been made considering this legislation. 

 

4.0 Flexible Working Hours Scheme 

 

4.1 During the pandemic in 2019 the provisions of the Flexible Working Hours scheme were 
amended to widen the bandwidth and to increase the deficit and credit amounts.  This was 
done to allow staff maximum flexibility at a very difficult time where caring responsibilities for 
children and other dependents were heightened. 

 

4.2 Further to the pandemic we now have hybrid working arrangements in place. To continue to 
facilitate staff the flexibility to work from home, at times that suit their work life balance, (within 
agreement of their line managers) the bandwidth hours are remaining as 6.00am to 10:30pm 

 

4.3 The deficit and credit hours however are causing some concern.  These concerns are related 
to the management of staff time being difficult with such wide parameters and the stress that 
managing working back large amounts of flexi time can put on staff themselves.  The council 
has a wide range of leave arrangements in place to assist staff who may have emergencies 
with dependents, which better control and facilitate this type of issue. 

 

4.4 The main proposed change is therefore to revert to closer to the arrangements that were held 
before the pandemic (-4 and +12). The credit hours are proposed to be reduced from 21 to 14 
and deficit hours from 21 to 7. 

Page 290



 

 

 

4.5 Amendments have also been made to employee and management responsibilities for 
recording and checking of timesheets as part of the normal end of period process as well as 
when staff are requesting flexi leave. This is to make this process more robust as there are 
concerns that not all staff and managers are recording/checking their time records in the spirit 
of the scheme. 

 

5.0 Time off for Public Duties 

 

5.1 This policy was extremely outdated with its last review being undertaken in 1999. It has been 
fully changed and therefore the section numbers referred to in the tracker document at those 
attached to the new policy. 

 

5.2 The legislation regarding Statutory Time Off for Public Duties remains unchanged from that of 
the Employment Rights Act 1996 however some changes have taken place around trade 
union facility time in line with the Trade Union Facility Time Regulations 2017 and therefore a 
section has been added regarding recording of time of for trade union duties (paid and unpaid) 
to ensure the Council meets its statutory responsibilities. 

 

5.3 Custom and practice arrangements have developed within the council over time regarding 
paid time off for election duties and blood donation which have been included in the new 
policy.  

 

5.4 Also included as new provisions, are time off for competing in national and international 
sporting events and time off for those who work in a voluntary emergency service. 

 

5.5 Provisions for time off for public duties such as volunteering and forces leave have been 
included and reference made to their originating policies, the Volunteering Policy, and Armed 
Forces Community Employment Policy. 

 

6.0 Early Termination of Employment Policy 

 

6.1 This Policy has already undergone some recent review due to organisational change 
exercises currently being conducted.   

 

6.2 As a follow up to these changes and in line with the new senior leadership structure, and 
existing appeals process in other council policies such as the disciplinary policy, an 
amendment has been made to who will hear appeals against dismissal on redundancy 
grounds. This change is from the full personnel committee to the more proportionate Chief 
Officer or the Chief Executive as the hearing officer. 

 
7.0 Comments and Amendments following the meeting of JCC on 5th July 2023 
 
7.1 Recruitment and Selection Policy 

Whilst amendments to the guaranteed interview scheme were not proposed as part of the 
policy review, it was raised that the JCC would like a widening of the scheme to other 
protected groups to be considered. This will be considered further and the policy brought back 
to committee for approval should changes be proposed to be made again in line with this 
feedback. 

Page 291



 

 

 
7.2 Flexible Working Request Policy 

It was proposed by JCC that the requirement for employers to respond to requests could be 
reduced to one month, down from 3. The government legislation stipulates a maximum of 2. 

 
7.3 Time off for Public Duties 

It was proposed by JCC that in clause 4.2 in the list of TU duties, “Training” should be added 
as a TU duty as per the Employment Rights Act, in addition to being covered as part of a 
Facilities Agreement. 

 
In 8.1 it was proposed to add a sentence to this clause to the effect of: “This time limit guide 
does not apply to Trade Union duties”. 

 
7.4 Early Termination of Employment Policy 

It was proposed by JCC to amend the wording in 2.1 on withdrawal of resignations, to be 
worded more positively. An example of the change in language could be; “An employee may 
request to withdraw a resignation and such requests will not be unreasonably refused”. 
 
JCC suggested the addition of a new section on “Phased retirements” to allow those seeking 
to retire to gradually reduce hours over a 12 month period leading up to their retirement date.  

 
It was pointed out that the Council already operates a separate Flexible Retirement Policy 
which will be reviewed at the time that pay and payments are looked at and in the planned 
policy review. At that point consideration can be given to whether amalgamation is 
appropriate and review the wording.   
 

 
8.0 Options  
 
8.1 The options available to the Committee are to approve the revised policies as drafted, to 

approve the policies with amendments, or not to approve the policies.  
 
 However, if substantial changes in respect of any Policy are proposed at the People and 

Organisational Development Committee meeting, it may be appropriate for consideration of 
that Policy to be deferred to a future meeting to enable Officers to consider the proposed 
amendment in more detail and to consult further with the trade unions.  

 
9.0 Conclusions  
 
9.1 Members are asked to consider and accept the Officer recommendations set out above in 

respect of the draft policies appended to this report.   
 
 

RELATIONSHIP TO POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 
The Council is committed to good standards of employment practice, and it is considered that 
the amended policies will augment our existing Human Resource Management arrangements. 
 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, Sustainability and Rural 
Proofing) 
 
Please see associated Equality Impact Assessment in respect of this policy.  
  

Page 292



 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Financial Services have been consulted and confirm there are no direct financial implications 
as a result of this report. 
 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
The Deputy Section 151 Officer has been consulted and has no comments to add. 
 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The appended policies are compliant with employment legislation and there are no further legal 
implications directly arising from this report.  
 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no further comments.  
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Policy Amendment Tracker 
Policies Documents for Review 

Contact Officer: Alex Kinch 
Telephone: 01524 582083 
E-mail: akinch@lancaster.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 293



HR Policy Amendments Tracker 

Policy 
Section 
Number 
(new 
number) 

Existing/New 
Section 

Section Heading Amendment/addition Notes 

 
Recruitment and Selection Policy 
N/A N/A Branding Policy rebranded to new format 

N/A N/A Generic Layout some amendments made to numbering and order of the sections to have general information at the front and 

then information on the policy relevant to each stage of the recruitment and selection process. 

3.2 Existing HR Responsibilities error corrected – existing policy read ‘probation/appointment review period.  Replaced with recruitment and 

selection process. 

4 Existing Authorisation to 
Recruit 

4.4 4.5 and 4.6. New information added to this section to reflect requirement to give consideration to flexible 
working arrangements (can the post be advertised as welcoming applications for job share and part time 
working?), possibility of the post being advertised as an apprenticeship and to ensure consideration of 
generic strategic fit and organisational priorities and financial resilience of the establishment (i.e. does the 
post need to be filled like for like or can it be adjusted to represent better value for money or a better 
organisational fit) when recruiting . 

6 Existing Job Evaluation section amended from GLPC scheme to Willis Towers Watson Global Grading System 
 

7 Existing Safeguarding Children 
and Vulnerable Adults 

section title amended to Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable adults and Rehabilitation of Ex-Offenders. 
 

 section amended to include aspects of the dated Rehabilitation of offender’s policy also to detail the council’s 
policy on management of DBS checks and unspent conviction disclosure under the Rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act.   

Removal and Amalgamation of information from the 
pre-existing Rehabilitation of Ex-Offenders Policy 

Rehabilitation of Ex-Offenders Policy which is very outdated to be removed and replaced by this section in 
the wider Recruitment and Selection Policy. Checks are now carried out by a third-party provider, much of the 
information contained in the previous policy was due to our own processing of data and umbrella body status 
which are now not in operation for recruitment purposes.  

8 Existing Permission to Work in 
the United Kingdom 

updated to include section 8.3 and the requirement for share code information from EU, EEA and Swiss 
Citizens following Brexit to confirm their right to work in the UK. 
 

9 Existing Equality Monitoring Section title amended to Equality and Diversity 

P
age 294



 section amended to a more generic ‘Equality and Diversity’ section to encompass the existing information 
about Equal Ops monitoring in 9.1 and then include information on the various existing guaranteed interview 
schemes in 9.2. 

10 Existing Advertising 10.1. clarity added that there will be a three day delay to advertising to ensure redeployees are given 

appropriate opportunity to respond first and express an interest 

 10.2 amended from internal and external concurrent advertising to ensuring prior consideration internal only 
for career development and progression reasons as a first instance where possible for higher graded posts 
(posts above grade 5 and apprenticeship level)  

10.3 Amendments made to update mode of advertising to current circulation list. 

10.4 section added to document internal advertisement process 

10.5 amended so that there is more freedom for managers to advertise externally within their own budgets 
upon advice from HR should they so wish and to highlight process for raising and processing purchase orders 
and invoices. 

11 New The Application 
Process 

Detail of the current application process, online only through JGP no CV’s.  For some specialist vacancies it 
may be discussed with Human Resources that a shortened version of the application can be used as another 
option. Confirmation that alternative options for application can be made for disabled applicants dependent on 
the individuals needs on request. 

12 New Shortlisting Shortlisting process only to be done using the application and the criteria for the role. Essential criteria used 
initially then desirable. Need to be consistent with other panel members on way in which shortlisting is 
conducted. Confirmation into policy of our current procedural timescales i.e. At the shortlisting stage 
applicants are not routinely offered feedback and should assume that they have not been shortlisted if they 
do not hear within 3 weeks of the closing date. Stipulation that shortlisting should be completed by managers 
within 10 working days of the closing date unless previously advised to HR this won’t be possible by virtue of 
likely popularity of the vacancy. 

13 New Declarations and 
Restriction 

Information included regarding some posts being politically restricted and their need to be advertised as such. 
Also, declarations of applicants and panel members should there be a personal relationship between parties 
to ensure there is no bias in the recruitment process. 

14 New Selection Methods Information included on different methods of selection encouraging managers to consider the method that 
may be best for the role and the individual to demonstrate their suitability. 

15 New Interviews Stipulation at least 2 on the panel, diverse, if possible, 3 is suitable for the level of vacancy. HR required to sit 
on any interviews with disabled guaranteed interview scheme candidates. Armed Forces Network on a 
Veteran interview – referral to armed forces employment policy.  

 Training for recruiting managers - removal of this as its own section as in the old policy and inclusion in the 
‘interviews’ section.  Now includes more options for learning and development rather than just a face-to-face 
(irregular) recruitment and selection training course such as online learning, use of recruitment and selection 
toolkit and shadowing or being accompanied by another more experienced manager. 
Information added regarding pre-employment check required at interview 

Information added regarding out current policy (unwritten) on notice of interview (5 working days) new 
stipulation added that recruiting managers muse ensure shortlisting information is with HR 7 working days 
before date of interview to allow time for administration of interview letters in a timely fashion.  

P
age 295



Reference to conducting interviews to include questions themed by the council’s values and behaviours and 
conducting second interviews. 

16 New Feedback and Offers 
of Employment 

Inclusion of the Council’s policy on how to make verbal and written offers of employment and what these 
offers are contingent on. Reference to the councils current advertised position that all candidates interviewed 
for a position will receive feedback within three working days of the interview and should they require written 
feedback this is provided within 10 working days. 

17 New Pre employment 
Checks and 
Probation/Appointment 
Review 

Inclusion as policy of the Council’s requirement for pre-employment checks and probationary/appointment 
reviews to be undertaken to the required standard. 

18 New Recruitment Difficulties Inclusion of current arrangements for revisiting the interview pool if a candidate subsequently gives 
backword/leaves a role within the probation appointment period. Recruiting managers can revisit the pool 
within 6 months. Encouragement of managers to discuss recruitment strategies for hard to fill roles with 
Human Resources.  Stipulation that established posts should not be filled with off payroll or agency workers 
without prior discussion with HR. 

19 New Recruitment 
Complaints 

Inclusion of the councils existing procedure for recruitment complaints as policy 

20 New Appointment of Staff 
who have previously 
left on the grounds of 
voluntary 
redundancy/early 
retirement 

Inclusion of reference to the council’s current policy on the re-employment of those who have previously left 
on VR/ER and reference to the Early Termination of Employment Policy where this resides. 

Document control added and footer with version reference.  

Flexible Working Hours Scheme 
n/a n/a Branding Policy re branded to new format. 

1.0 Existing Introduction Shortened introduction, too wordy some information on scope and not relevant to this section 

2.0 Existing Scope Some information moved on scope from the introduction. Information removed on the suspension of the 
scheme as already has its own section further on in the policy. Removal of reference to standard ‘office 
hours’ as these don’t exist anymore and premises opening hours to be referenced elsewhere. 

3.0 Existing Operation of the 
Scheme 

Re-titled ‘Responsibilities’ as this is a more appropriate heading. Further key management responsibilities 
added and employee responsibilities to submit and check flexi sheets at the end of each settlement period as 
well as when booking flexi leave.  Also, responsibility for ensuring excessive hours are not worked placed on 
both employee and manager to ensure workloads and time is managed effectively. 

4.0 Existing The Flexi Time 
Scheme 

This section appeared to be repeated in other areas of the policy and so has been re worded to minimise 
repetition and some other sections from later added into it. This section is now titled ‘Scheme Operation’ 
instead and includes all the relevant information on the main rules and operation of the scheme. 

4.1 Existing  Bandwidth Hours of 
the Scheme and 
Premises Opening 
Hours 

Section amended to reflect new premises opening hours and to state that whilst the bandwidth is longer it is 
not intended that employees should work on council premises before the hours of 7:30am and after 7:30pm. 
Longer bandwidths are to support work life balance for employees who are able to work from home in a 
hybrid way. 

P
age 296



4.3 Existing Credit and Deficit 
Hours 

Credit hours amended from 21 hours to 14 hours (roughly two working days) 
Deficit hours amended from 21 hours to 7 hours (roughly one working day) 
Increasing of the deficit and credit hours was made during the pandemic to 21 hours both for credit and 
deficit. As this time has now passed and the requirement for flexibility of hours due to childcare and other 
issues is less of an issue it is necessary for the hours to reduce to ensure services have a better control on 
staff hours. Management of the wide credit and deficit hours it is reported is proving difficult in some areas 
due to the time it takes for balances to return putting a strain on both individuals and operation of services.  
Previously to the pandemic the credit hours were 12 and the deficit minus 4.  These have been extended 
slightly to reflect nearer to a standard working day and nearer to two standard working days which is more 
manageable. Staff will be given three calendar months to bring balances in line with the new credit and deficit 
hours should this be formally approved. 

4.4 Existing Breaks Removal of the mandatory lunchbreak to be taken between 11 and 3pm. This does not fit with some start and 
finish times now and so it is removed and just a requirement for a break in line with working time regulations 
referred to. 

4.5 Existing Flexitime Leave Addition that Flexitime leave is only permitted to be booked up to one settlement period in advance. Employees 
must demonstrate to their manager utilising their flexi recording sheet that they have the required credit to book 
the days leave.  Leave will not be authorised in advance of the accrual of flexi time. 
 

5.0 Existing Recording Hours 
Worked 

Retitled to ‘Time Recording’ and other sections of the policy on recording in relation to breaks, authorised 
absences, travel time and training added to this section. 

6.0 Existing Relationship with 
overtime and standby 

Previously two sections now shortened and amalgamated to ensure that they are relevant to the flexible 
working hours scheme.  Separate overtime and standby policy to be reviewed at a later point.  

8.0 Existing Suspension of the 
Flexible hours working 
scheme 

Removal of the reference to suspension of the scheme if the employee is under a sickness absence 
attendance review period. These no longer apply cautions and the related attendance review periods have 
been removed and replaced with target review periods. Also, this is covered with regards to if the employee is 
failing to manage their time. Flexi time is also often helpful in relation to the management of medical 
conditions and appointments. 

9.0 Existing Further Information Retitled ‘Review’ to note when the policy should be reviewed regularly (after 3 years).  No need for a further 
information section. 

Early Termination of Employment Policy 
13.3 Existing Right of appeal against 

selection for 
redundancy 

Section amended to reflect the same appeals process as the disciplinary procedure.  Appeals below Chief 
Officer level are heard by a chief officer or the chief executive and appeals at chief officer level and above 
heard by Personnel Committee.  

Flexible Working Request Policy and Procedure 

n/a n/a Branding, titles Policy rebranded to new format; service head titles amended to Chief Officer to reflect new structure. 

2.1 Existing Scope Section amended to state that flexible working requests are accepted from employees from day one of 
employment rather than 26 weeks in line with legislative changes.   

2.2 Existing Scope Section amended in line with new legislation to allow employees to make 2 requests within a 12-month 
period. 

 Existing section 3 Aims and Objectives This section has been removed and some of its content included in the introduction. it was outdated due to 
reference to an earlier law change and the wording suited an introduction better. 

P
age 297



3 Existing Conditions and 
Arrangements 

Amended to from a 3 month end to end statutory process to 2 months in line with new legislation. 

4 Existing Requests for Flexible 
Working 

Examples of flexible working amended to reflect current hybrid working arrangements which altered the 
options listed a little.  
Reference to ‘requests to sometimes work from home’ in 4.1 removed as outdated with new arrangements 
also. 

5 Existing Application Process This section has been streamlined and employees are requested to fill in the flexible working application form.  
This ensures that all the relevant information is included in a request and therefore detail of this information 
does not need to be repeated in the policy. 

6 Existing  Action by line manager Change made to state that line managers should action their part of the request within 7 days to ensure chief 
officers have long enough to arrange a meeting, should they require to do so, to assess the application within 
the 21 day timescale that is required. 

6.5 New Action by line manager Line added to ask that managers discuss flexible working request considerations with their service 
accountant at this point where budget implications apply. 

7.3 Existing Action by the Chief 
Officer 

Amended to include new right that Chief Officers are also required by law to ensure that they consult with the 
employees as a means of exploring the available options, before rejecting a flexible working request, and 
must, in these cases, arrange a meeting. Timescales to inform of a decision in writing reduced to 5 days from 
10 days from the date of the meeting/decision date to meet new statutory timescales end to end of 2 months. 
  

8.4 Existing If the Chief Officer 
approves the 
application 

Procedure for sign off/production of amendment to contract letter amended.   
No longer a repetitive requirement to go through the approval process on my view as well as the paper form 
anymore.  Previously this was required to ensure service accountant could update budget.  Service 
accountant will be notified early on to advise financial implications and notified by the final signed form of the 
decision. 

9 Existing Home Working 
Requests 

Section deleted as outdated now that the council operates hybrid working and doesn’t require its own section 
will be incorporated into guidance/working arrangements framework. 

13 Existing Right of Appeal Previously appeals went from the service head to the director.  Under new flatter structure appeals are 
amended to go from the service Chief Officer to another Chief Officer. 
Timescale to submit appeal reduced from 10 to 5 days to meet new statutory timescales end to end of 2 
months. 

14 Existing Review Reference to review after the pandemic removed and review changed to every three years or sooner in the 
event of legislative changes. 

n/a n/a For information - 
Accompanying 
guidance and form. 

The Flexible Working Request form has been amended as above to ask line managers to discuss requests 
and potential budget implications with the service accountant. The section has also been removed which 
requires an employee to set out to the employer how the effects of their request might be dealt with in line 
with new legislation.  
 
The guidance document is very outdated and much of the document refers to home working requests. The 
guidance will be removed in its entirety in the short term and revised to be more fitting to the current policy 
inclusive of a flow chart for the procedure. This would be a more helpful at a glance document for managers 
and will be developed along with the enabled manager work. hybrid working is referenced heavily in the 
working arrangements framework and this will be cross referenced with this guidance document. 
 

P
age 298



Time off for Public Duties Policy 

n/b This policy was very outdated and was re drafted in its entirety section numbers referred below are those within the 
new policy for ease. 
n/a n/a Branding, titles Policy rebranded to new format; service head titles amended to Chief Officer to reflect new structure. 

  Policy Statement Existing policy statement removed, not in line with new format 

1,2 New Introduction, scope Sections added by way of introduction and scope  

3 New Statutory Public Duties Reference as in existing policy to those statutory public duties 

4 New Trade Union Facility 
Time 

New section added to specifically refer to trade union facility time linking into the process for recording and 
reporting on this and what time the council will grant paid (duties) and unpaid (activities). 

5 New Jury Service 
Magistrates and court 
witness summons 

New section added to address the process for payment for jury service, court witness and magistrates and 
requesting time off via my view.  

6 New Election and By-
Election Duties 

More detailed section added to explain our statutory duty as a council to deliver elections, encourage staff to 
take part and outline process for paid leave and payments in line with wider range of duties, postal voting 
count and by elections. 

7 New Leave for other public 
duties and services 

Forces leave retitled from territorial army reference in previous policy and signpost made to armed forces 
community employment policy. 

   The following sections added: Emergency Services Volunteers (new), Blood Donation (existing custom and 
practice is first blood donation leave is granted – extended to all donations, Participation in national and 
international sporting events (new), Community volunteering to reflect provisions of the volunteering policy.  

9 New Recording Change to reflect the need to record/request all types of time off for public duties on my view. 

10 New Review Section added to state that the policy will be reviewed every three years. 

Document control added and footer with version reference.  

 

P
age 299



 

Lancaster City Council’s Equality Impact Assessment Guidance and Form 

What is an equality impact assessment? 

An equality impact assessment is a way of understanding the impact that a new way of 

doing things might have on members of our community, in particular people from protected 

groups. This could be a new service, practice, policy, strategy, project or decision. 

Protected groups include age, disability, faith, religion or belief, gender (including marriage, 

pregnancy and maternity), gender reassignment, race and sexual orientation (including Civil 

Partnership). 

Please note: the impact on rural communities and people on low incomes must also to be 

considered.   

Why do I need to carry out an equality impact assessment? 

Part of the council’s core purpose is to ‘provide a range of customer focused services and 

offer value for money and meet the needs of people who live, work and visit the district’ and 

to ‘maintain a cohesive community by ensuring we understanding the needs of our 

communities and provide equality of access to our services and employment opportunities’.  

It is therefore important that we collect and use information about our community to help us 

to understand how service changes and decisions might impact on the local community.  

Our corporate Ethos makes it clear that in our stewardship role the council has a 

responsibility for ‘ensuring the social, economic and environmental wellbeing of the local 

area’ and that in terms of social justice that ‘the values of local government are founded on 

equality and meeting community needs’.   

Therefore we should consider how everything we do will impact on the communities that we 

serve. This should lead to more informed decision making, more customer focussed, cost 

effective, efficient services for local people.  

When delivering services and employment, the council has a general equality duty to 

consider the need to:  

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation or other unlawful conduct 

prohibited by the Act 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic 

and those who do not 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 

who do not.     

How do I carry out an equality impact assessment? 

A simple form has been developed to assist services with carrying out equality impact 

assessments.  

The form provides a consistent approach to equality impact assessment, however, it is more 

important that we consider how everything we do will impact on the local community and that 

action is taken to mitigate impact. The form provides a way of recording this.    

Page 300



The council’s ‘getting to know our communities’ data will help services to assess potential 

impact on protected groups. This provides both local and national statistics and is available 

on the Elsie equality and diversity page (via HR).  

All councils have to produce similar information, therefore it may be useful to do a web 

search rather than starting from scratch.  

An example of a completed form is also available on the Elsie equality and diversity page 

(via HR).  

When do I need to carry out equality impact assessment? 

Equality impact assessment should take place when considering doing something in a new 

way.  

For example: 

 A change in a current service or introduction of a new service 

 The review of a current policy/strategy or the development of a new policy/strategy 

 The start of a new project or when making a decision.  

A decision making flow chart is available on the Elsie equality and diversity page (via HR).  

An equality impact assessment form will need to be completed as an appendix to decision 

making committee reports eg Cabinet, Council. 

Please note: the outcomes of your equality impact assessment should be used to inform 

your reports.  

Please refer to the report writing guidelines on Elsie or contact democratic services for 

advice on this.   

Who should carry out equality impact assessment? 

An equality impact assessment should be carried out by the officer leading on above 

examples.  

Who can I contact for support and guidance? 

Equality impact assessment support is available from the HR and Organisational 

Development Team.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 301



Equality impact assessment form  

An equality impact assessment should take place when considering doing something in a 

new way.  

Please submit your completed form as an appendix to your committee reports for monitoring 
and publishing purposes to ‘report clearance’ (please refer to report writing guidance).  
 
Please keep your answers brief and to the point. Consideration needs to be reasonable and 
proportionate. 
 
Please also remember that this will be a public document – do not use jargon or 
abbreviations.  
 
Section 1: Details   

  

Service  People and Policy 

Title and brief description  
(if required) 
  

HR Policy Review July 2023 

New or existing  Revisions to Existing Policies 

Author/officer lead  
  

Clare Brown, Projects Delivery Lead 

Date  
  

20.06.23 

  

Does this affect staff, customers or other members of the public?  
  
Yes  Please complete the rest of the equality form. 

No  Please return the equality form as above.  

  

Section 2: Summary    

  

What is the purpose, aims and objectives?    

  

To review existing HR Policies and make changes in line with best practice and legislation.  

 

 

Who is intended to benefit and how? 

 

1. Existing members of staff and applicants– improving and developing our employment 

offer, ensuring our policies continue to be in line with legislation and best practice.  

 

2. Line Managers – providing a policy framework which is compliant and relevant and can 

assist them in managing people processes. 

 

3. Lancaster City Council – attracting and retaining talent in our workforce ensuring that 

policies link to other wider underpinning strategies such as the people plan and fair work 

charter aims. 

Page 302

mailto:reportclearance@lancaster.gov.uk


Section 3: Assessing impact  

 

Is there any potential or evidence that this will or could: 

 Affect people from any protected group differently to others? Yes No 

 Discriminate unlawfully against any protected group? Yes No 

 Affect the relations between protected groups and others? Yes No 

 Encourage protected groups to participate in activities if participation 
is disproportionately low (won’t always be applicable)? 

Yes No 

 Prevent the council from achieving the aims of its’ Equality and 
Diversity Policy?   

Yes No 

 

If yes, please provide more detail of potential impact and evidence including: 
- A brief description of what information you have and from where eg getting to know 

our communities data, service use monitoring, views of those affected ie 
discussions or consultation results? 

- What does this tell you ie negative or positive affect? 

 
Age 
 
including older 
and younger 
people and 
children 

 

 

 
Disability  
 

 

 
Faith, religion 
or belief   
 

 

 
Gender  
 
including 
marriage, 
pregnancy and 
maternity 
 

 

 
Gender 
reassignment 
 

 

 
Race 
 

 

 
Sexual 
orientation  
 
Including Civic 
Partnership  

 

 

Page 303



Rural 
communities   

 

People on 
low incomes  

 

 

Section 4: Next steps  

Do you need any more information/evidence eg statistics, consultation? If so, how 
do you plan to address this? 
No 
 

 

How have you taken/will you take the potential impact and evidence into account? 
N/A 
 

 

How do you plan to monitor the impact and effectiveness of this change or 
decision? 
 
Policies to be reviewed in line with regular cycle of review every 2-5 years. 

 

Thank you for completing this equality impact assessment form, please submit your completed 
form as an appendix to your committee reports for monitoring and publishing purposes to 
‘report clearance’ (please refer to report writing guidance).  

 

 

 
 

Page 304

mailto:reportclearance@lancaster.gov.uk


V.2.0 DATE 

 
 
 

Recruitment and Selection 
Policy 

1. Scope 
1.1 The Council’s Recruitment and Selection Policy applies to all Council Vacancies.  Any Council Employee 

involved in recruitment and selection has a duty to act in line with this policy. 

1.2 The exception to is this is Chief Officer Vacancies for which separate arrangements are in place, please refer to 

the council’s constitution for further information.   

2. Objectives and Principles 
 
2.1 Lancaster City Council recognises the need to ensure that a robust and efficient recruitment and selection 

process is in place for Council vacancies to ensure that the best employees are recruited and selected to 

contribute to the work of the Council in line with appropriate legislation and guidelines. 

2.2 The Council recognises the link that can develop between a poor recruitment and selection process and an 

employees’ inability to perform in a new role. It is therefore important to ensure that the selection process is 

appropriate to assess the skills and knowledge of the applicants and is fitting to the role. 

2.3 The objectives of this policy are: 

• To ensure that applicants are treated fairly and lawfully at all stages of the recruitment and selection process. 

• To ensure that safe selection is carried out for posts working with vulnerable groups. 

• To ensure that recruitment to council vacancies is carried out in line with Equalities legislation. 

2.4 The following principles apply to the Council’s procedures for dealing with recruitment: 

• The council will ensure that all recruitment is conducted in a fair and transparent way and that selection 

decisions are based on objective and justifiable criteria. 

• Recruitment will be undertaken in a cost efficient and effective way. 

• The process will promote the Council as an employer of choice in order to attract the best candidates. 

3. Responsibilities 

Page 305



V.2.0 DATE 

 
3.1 Management responsibilities 

• to apply objective and fair recruitment practices which comply with this policy. 

• recruit and select skilled people to ensure organisational success. 

• control staffing establishments and seek appropriate authorisations where applicable to recruit to vacant 

positions. 

3.2 HR responsibilities 

 
 The HR Team are responsible for providing advice and support to managers and employees during the 
 recruitment and selection process. 

 
 To this end HR will: 

 
• provide advice and guidance to managers, employees, and trade union representatives on the correct 

implementation of the policy and procedure. 

• Provide advice to managers to ensure that they treat all applicants in a fair and equitable manner through the 

consistent application of this procedure. 

• administer the recruitment process including corresponding with applicants shortlisted for interview, carrying out 

pre-employment checks, producing offer letters and processing DBS applications. 

• Monitor equal opportunities in line with council recruitment procedures. 

• Liaise with the Council’s advertising agency and ensure that vacancies are placed on Jobs Go Public and other 

relevant advertising medium. 

• keep records in line with the Data Protection Act. 

4. Authorisation to Recruit  
 
4.1 Prior to advertising a vacancy, recruiting managers must seek authorisation from the relevant Chief Officer and 

additional signatories when required if filling a new post.  

4.2 This should be done using the Councils Vacancy Authorisation Form 

4.3 Managers should confirm the duties of the role by revisiting the job description and person specification in line 

with section 6 prior to seeking authorisation to recruit. 

4.4 For all vacancies, particularly grade 5 and 6 roles, consideration should be given to whether the post could be 

converted into an apprenticeship or career graded role. 

4.5 All posts should also be considered for part time and flexible working arrangements that differ from the standard 

37-hour week, should the duties of the post allow it. For these vacancies It should be noted on the 

advertisement that alternative hours and working arrangements will be considered. Applicants should then state 

their preferred hours/patten of work in their application. 

4.6 In addition to the above two considerations, recruiting managers and Chief Officers should also consider that a 

like for like recruitment to an existing post is the best value for money and best decision for the service and the 

Council. Factors such as whether the post is still needed and if so could be done in a different way, e.g. is the 

Page 306



V.2.0 DATE 

job required on the same hours or the same duties or will the job be affected by current or future organisational 

objectives or restructuring, could it be done partnership with another organisation.  

5. Job Evaluation 
 
5.1 All of the council’s posts are graded in line with the Willis Towers Watson Global Grading System. 

5.2 Any new posts should be evaluated and moderated by Human Resources prior to the completion of the relevant 

vacancy authorisation process.  

5.3 Prior to advertisement recruiting managers should revisit the job description for existing posts and ensure that 

this is updated.  Should this mean any significant changes to the post, for example a reduction or increase in 

the number of staff that the post manages, the grade of the post should be re-evaluated by Human Resources. 

6. Record Keeping and Confidentiality 
 
6.1 Recruitment records will be retained by Human Resources and recruiting managers should ensure that all 

information is sent to the recruitment team with the selection information for the successful candidate.  This 

includes the short-listing scoring matrix, records of tests and interviews and any scoring sheets. 

6.2 Recruitment records will be kept for a maximum of 1 year at which point they will be destroyed in line with the 

council’s retention and disposal schedule. 

7. Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults and 
Rehabilitation of Ex-Offenders 

 
7.1 The council has a responsibility to safeguard children and vulnerable adults as well as ensuring that ex-

offenders are not unfairly discriminated against due to any previous convictions (Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 

1974). 

7.2 All applicants will be asked to declare whether they have any unspent criminal convictions on their application 

for employment.   

7.3 Having a criminal record will not necessarily be a bar to obtaining a position with the Council. This will depend 

upon the nature of the position and the circumstances and background of the offence/s.  

7.4 When an applicant has disclosed on their application form that they have a conviction that is not spent, 

consideration should be given to the seriousness of the offence, the length of time that has elapsed since the 

conviction and the age of the applicant at the time. Recruiting managers must consult with human resources 

and their Chief Officer when considering unspent convictions, and decisions relating to these documented. It 

should be noted that if the conviction will not have an adverse effect on the candidate’s ability to carry out the 

duties of the job, then they should be treated as any other candidate.  

7.5 If a furthermore detailed check is required on conditional offer of appointment the employee will be asked to 

complete a Disclosure and Barring Service application form through the councils DBS check provider, 

Personnel Checks.  Any posts that require a DBS check will clearly state that a clearance is required on the 

advert, person spec and job description. DBS checks may be standard or enhanced dependent on the level of 

contact with vulnerable adults and children. 

Page 307



V.2.0 DATE 

7.6 The Council requires DBS Disclosures for all individuals whom it wishes to employ in jobs which: 
 

• may potentially give them one to one access to children. 

• give them regular access to vulnerable adults in a one-to-one caring, training or supervisory role. 

• are otherwise eligible because of the nature of the post. 

7.7 Any matters revealed by Disclosures will be discussed with the candidates before any final recruitment decision 

is made. 

7.8 The Council will not retain any information with regards to disclosures only the certificate reference number and 

issue date, all data will be processed and retained by Personnel Checks in line with their Privacy Policy. 

7.9 Posts which require a DBS check will require the postholder to have regular DBS checks at 3-year intervals 

throughout their employment. Renewals should be monitored and arranged by Line managers. Renewals can 

be requested from Human Resources. 

8. Permission to work in the United Kingdom 
8.1 The Asylum and Immigration Act 1996 requires the council to ensure that all new employees are legally allowed 

to work in this country.  As such it is an offence to employ a person with no immigration entitlement to work in 

the United Kingdom.   

8.2 Applicants will be asked on the Application for Employment form to provide their national insurance number and 

to confirm that they are eligible to work in the UK.  Applicants shortlisted for interview will also be required to 

provide verification of their national insurance number at the interview stage. 

8.3 As of 01 July 2021 all EU, EEA and Swiss citizens are no longer be able to use their passport or national 

identity card to prove their right to work. The council are therefore required in these cases to check applicants 

your right to work status online. Applicants will be requested to provide the recruitment team with their online 

share code and date of birth to do so. 

9. Equality and Diversity  
 
9.1 Equality Monitoring 

The council will ask job applicants for information on a voluntary basis for equality monitoring purposes.  This 

information will not be made available to the recruitment panel.  

Human resources will monitor equality information to ensure recruitment and selection procedures comply in full 

with employment law and the Council’s Equality and Diversity Policy.  

9.2 Guaranteed Interview Schemes 

 The council operates guaranteed interview Schemes for those who declare a disability and those who have 

served in the Armed Forces.  This is because there are often barriers to employment for these applicants. The 

Council therefore seeks to remove any disadvantage they may face by making an adjustment to our recruitment 

process.  

 This approach to recruitment and selection is recognised in the Councils Disability Confident membership and 

Ministry of Defence Gold Employer Recognition Scheme Award.  

Those applicants who meet the minimum essential criteria for the role will be guaranteed an interview.  Should 

the minimum essential criteria not be met, recruiting managers will be asked to note which of the essential 

criteria have not been met and therefore justify why the applicant has not been selected for interview. 

Page 308



V.2.0 DATE 

HR will inform the recruiting manager of any adjustments required for the interview and it will be the managers 

responsibility to implement these. More information regarding interviewing through the guaranteed interview 

scheme can be found in section 12. 

It should be noted that it is unlawful to ask a disabled applicant, who has been shortlisted through the 

guaranteed interview scheme about their disability prior to any offer of employment being made. 

More information regarding Veteran Applicants through the guaranteed interview scheme can be found in the 
Armed Forces Community Employment Policy. 

10. Advertising 
 
10.1 Consideration will always be given in the first instance to any employees who are at risk of redundancy and are 

on the council’s redeployment register. Adverts will be held back until redeployees have had a minimum of three 

working days to express an interest.  

10.2 In order to support career progression opportunities for internal staff managers should consider carefully for all 

roles whether posts can be advertised internal only prior to external advertisement, except for Grade 5 and 

apprenticeship posts. 

10.3 All external vacancies should be advertised through the council’s advertising platform, Jobs Go Public. External 

Vacancies will also be advertised on Indeed job search recruitment board, DWP ‘find a Job’ Forces Families 

Jobs and the Career Transition Partnership. Adverts will also be boosted on social media. 

10.4 Internal only vacancies will be advertised on the council’s intranet site and internal applicants will be asked to 

complete a modified word version of the online application form, an expression of interest form.  

10.5 If wishing to advertise further Human Resources can assist with sourcing appropriate publications, upon advice 

from the Council’s advertising agency regarding factors such as readership, copy deadlines and number of hits 

on websites. Cost of further advertising should be met from service budgets. Services are responsible for 

arranging their own purchase orders and paying any subsequent invoices. 

11. The Application Process 

11.1 All external candidates will be required to apply using the council’s online application process hosted by Jobs 
Go Public. For most vacancies, a full application form should be completed. CV’s and paper applications will not 
be accepted. 

11.2 A shortened version of the application form which involves completion of key monitoring information and 
attachment of a CV can be made available should recruiting managers feel that a more streamlined application 
process would be preferable for a particular role e.g., specialist hard to recruit to roles. Recruiting Managers 
should discuss this option with their HR business partner should they wish to explore it. 

11.3 For applicants with disabilities alternative methods of application can be made available including paper formats 
as part of a reasonable adjustment to the recruitment process. Candidates are asked to request these 
alternatives from the Recruitment Team.  

12. Shortlisting 

12.1 The Recruiting Manager has a responsibility to ensure that only the criteria stated on the Job Description and 
Person Specification are used for shortlisting purposes and that the same criteria is applied to all applicants 
using a shortlisting matrix. Short-listing decisions must be based on the information contained in the application 
form only. 

Page 309



V.2.0 DATE 

12.2 The recruiting manager can make the decision, with agreement from all panel members, to re-advertise a post if 
it is not possible to form a shortlist from the applications received. 

12.3 Shortlisting panels will be a minimum of two employees and should be the same employees that form the 
interview panel. 

12.4 If many applicants meet the essential criteria, then the desirable criteria should be considered to reduce the 
shortlist. This can be all the desirable or certain specific desirable criteria which have priority. The important 
thing is that all panel members are consistent and that this is applied to all applicants. Any criteria used must be 
in the original person specification and be job related.  

12.5 Applicants are informed during the online application process that they should assume they are unsuccessful if 
they are not contacted within three weeks of the closing date. 

12.6 Shortlisting for all vacancies should be completed within 10 working days of the closing date if managers know 
that the shortlisting may take longer due to, for example, the likely popularity of a vacancy and number of 
resultant applications this should be discussed, before advertising, with Human Resources. 

13. Declarations and Restrictions 
13.1  Politically restricted posts 

The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 imposes restrictions on political activities by employees who hold 
certain posts. This includes the Chief Executive, Chief Officers, and any posts that are ‘politically sensitive’ i.e., 
giving advice on a regular basis to Elected Members or speaking on behalf of the Council on a regular basis to 
journalists or broadcasters. If a post is deemed politically restricted this should be indicated on the advertised job 
details and job description.  

13.1 Declaration of interests or relationships 

Applicants are required to declare any relationships to existing employees or Elected Members. Applicants also 
have a duty to declare any interests that they may have in respect of any aspect of the Council’s business. Further 
details are in the Code of Conduct. 

It is the recruiting manager’s responsibility to ensure that if an applicant declares an interest or relationship, that the 
person concerned does not take any part in the recruitment process. 

If the recruiting manager themselves or any member of the recruitment panel identify that they have an interest or 
relationship with an applicant they must declare the fact to Human Resources immediately and either remove 
themselves from the recruitment process or agree with the Human Resources appropriate measures and 
safeguards to ensure that the recruitment and selection process is fair and cannot be influenced by any personal 
interest or relationship. 

14 Selection Methods  

14.1  The Application Form and interview remain central to the selection process. To ensure the right fit for the role 
however other selection methods should also be considered that are relevant. Using a mixture of selection 
methods demonstrates the council’s commitment to trying to ensure that the best person is appointed as a more 
rounded view of individuals may be obtained. Additionally, all candidates are allowed the opportunity to 
demonstrate their suitability for the role in different situations.  

14.2  The purpose of any selection method is to gather information about candidates and to help predict their 
performance in the job. They should be fair, objective and add value to the selection process. Selection 
methods used may include:  

 
• Assessment Centres  

• Case studies  

• Group discussions  

• In-tray exercises  

Page 310



V.2.0 DATE 

• Presentations  

• Problem-solving  

• Tests  

• Work based tasks.  

14.3 Guidance on selection methods is available on the HR pages of the intranet or from the HR team itself. 

 15. Interviews 

15.1 The panel 

All recruitment interviews should be performed by employees who are competent and have previous experience in 
recruiting staff.  Where an employee is inexperienced, they should seek to have two other experienced managers 
on the panel.  

As with all management essential skills a variety of learning and development options are available to ensure 
those undertaking recruitment are suitably skilled to do so, ranging from online recruitment and selection toolkit 
guidance and e-learning to ad hoc face to face recruitment and selection training and coaching with the service 
HRBP/Advisors.  

Panels should be made up of a minimum of 2 employees however, where possible and appropriate to the vacancy, 
3 panel members are advised to ensure that there is a third party should the two panel members disagree.  

The council encourages the use of shortlisting and interview panels which represent a mix of gender and ethnic 
origin where possible and this should be considered when appointing panel members. 

If an applicant has been flagged as applying through the guaranteed interview scheme for reasons of disability a 
member of the HR team will attend the interview and shortlist for the role.  

If an applicant is flagged as having applied through the guaranteed interview scheme as an armed forces veteran, 
a member of the councils armed forces network can assist with interviews and shortlisting.  Manager should 
request the assistance of a network member by contacting HR.  

15.2 Pre employment checks on the day of the interview 

On the date of interview recruiting managers should conduct initial employment checks of candidates. 

This includes witnessing any essential qualifications for the role, taking copies and signing them to confirm the 
original has been witnessed and sending the relevant copies on to HR. 

Managers should also conduct right to work checks to ensure that the applicant has permission to work in the UK. 
Guidance on how to conduct these can be found on the Recruitment Pages of the HR intranet and will be sent to 
recruiting managers by the recruitment team prior to the interview.  

15.3 Appropriate Notice of an Interview 

All candidates should receive at least 5 working days’ notice of their interview.  To assist in the administration of 
this, recruiting managers should provide shortlisting information to HR at least 7 working days before the proposed 
interview date. 

15.4 Recruiting to Our Values 

Recruiting managers should ensure that recruitment is conducted in line with the councils Values of Pride, 
Ownership, Working Together and Ambition.  

Page 311



V.2.0 DATE 

It is essential that the interview questions include values-based questions and that the values are discussed at 
interview to ensure that employees with the correct values to drive the councils’ ambitions are recruited. 

15.5 Second Interviews 

If there is a substantial number of candidates shortlisted for interview it may be appropriate to conduct an initial 
short first stage interview followed by a more detailed interview with a shorter number of candidates. 

Additionally, if a recruitment panel is unsure of their decision or require further information then a second interview 
should be arranged. This is to ensure all candidates are asked the same questions and that the correct selection 
decision is made. 

16. Feedback and Offers of Employment 
16.1 The recruiting manager should contact the successful candidate to make a verbal offer of employment.  
 
16.2  When making the verbal offer the following should be confirmed:  
 

• The salary being offered.  

• That the offer is subject to satisfactory references, probation and any other checks (e.g. a DBS Disclosure, 
evidence of qualifications if for some reason this has not already been obtained) It should also should be 
confirmed with the candidate that they are happy for references now to be obtained. 

• A formal written offer will be sent from human resources. 

• That the candidate accepts the offer. 
 

16.3 All unsuccessful interviewed candidates must also be informed by the chair of the panel that they have not been 
selected for the position and given verbal feedback on their interview within three working days. Should 
applicants wish to receive their feedback in writing the chair of the panel should provide this to them within 10 
working days of the interview. 

17.  Pre-Employment Checks and Probation/Appointment 
Review 

 
17.1 Successful candidates will be required to undertake a number of pre-employment checks before they take up 

their post. The specific pre-employment checks will be determined by the nature of the role and could include 
references, medical, DBS, qualifications (including driving), professional registrations and right to work in the 
UK.  

17.2 In no circumstances must an employee begin work without the relevant checks being confirmed as completed 
by Human Resources. 

17.3 Internal applicants will still be required to have a modified number of pre-employments checks and provide the 
relevant documentation before they are able to transfer into their new role. 

17.3 All appointments are subject to a 6-month probation review (appointment review in the case of internal 
applicants) for an advertised vacancy. 

18. Recruitment Difficulties 

18.1 If a candidate accepts an offer and subsequently gives backword or leaves a post quickly upon appointment, 
and a similar or the same job in the same work area at the same grade was filled in the last six months, and 
there was more than one appointable applicant, it is permissible to offer the job to the next ranked applicant 
from that recruitment process. 

18.2 Where a recruiting manager is struggling to fill a vacancy, they should discuss this with their HR Business 
Partner who will be able to advise on further recruitment strategies and options. 

Page 312



V.2.0 DATE 

18.3 Under no circumstances should vacancies be temporarily filled by alternative means such as off payroll workers 
or agency staffing without prior discussion with Human Resources. 

19. Recruitment Complaints 

19.1 Applicants who have a complaint to make about the recruitment process can do so through the council’s 
complaints procedure or by writing directly to the Head of HR and OD.  

19.2 Internal employees who have a complaint about the recruitment process should use the council’s grievance 
procedure. 

20.  Appointment of staff who have previously left on the 
grounds of voluntary redundancy/early retirement 

20.1 In line with the provisions of the Councils’ early termination of employment policy applicants who have within the 
last 12 months left the council on the grounds of voluntary redundancy/early retirement will not be permitted to 
return until 1 year has elapsed. 

20.2 For those who have left the council at Chief Officer level on the same grounds it is the councils’ policy that only in 
exceptional circumstances will they be permitted to return. 

21. Review 
 
21.1 This policy will be reviewed 2 years after implementation or earlier in the event of changes in legislation. 

 
 

Document Control: 

Version 

no. 

Effective Date Reason Review due 

1.0 03.06.13 New Policy replacing old Recruitment of Selection code of 

Practice with shorter policy and accompanying guidance. 

03.06.15 

2.0  Policy revised and rebranded to new master policy template.  

 

Page 313



V.4.0 

 
 
 

Flexible Working Request 
Policy and Procedure  

1. Introduction 
1.1 The Council believes that flexible working can increase staff motivation, promote work-life balance, reduce 

employee stress, and improve performance and productivity. This policy and procedure is in place to 

ensure all eligible employees have their request considered seriously as required by law.  

1.2 The Council wishes, where practicable, to facilitate and support its employees in achieving a balance 

between their work and family life. The Council already has a range of measures in place, to assist 

employees in balancing their commitments, including but not limited to, flexi time or compressed shift 

patterns. This policy also ensures that Lancaster City Council complies with the law. 

1.3 This document should be read in conjunction with the Flexible Working (Right to Request) Application 

Form.  

2. Scope 
2.1 All employees have the right to request flexible working from day one of employment and to have their 

request seriously considered by their employer.   

2.2  Each employee has a statutory right to submit upto two requests in any 12-month period. 
 
2.3 The Flexible Working Request Policy does not apply to casual workers. 

3. Conditions and arrangements   
3.1 The timescales outlined within this document are those considered to be reasonable in normal 

circumstances by Lancaster City Council. The only statutory requirement regarding timescales is that the 
whole process, from the point that the employee has supplied full information, should be completed within 
2 months, including any appeal. Where it is not possible for the request to be fully considered in the 2-
month period, the period can be extended subject to the agreement of the employee. 

 
3.2 At all formal meetings, there is no statutory right to be accompanied. However, the Council will allow 

employees to have the right to be accompanied by a trade union representative or work colleague. A 
member of the HR Team should attend to provide advice to the manager conducting the meeting and 
ensure consistency of application of the policy and procedure.  

 
3.3 If the employee fails to attend a meeting, including an appeal hearing and subsequently fails to attend a 

second (rearranged) meeting, the flexible working request will be treated as having been withdrawn and 
the employee should be advised of this in writing. 

 
3.4 Each request will be considered on a case-by-case basis and in the order that requests are received. 

Agreeing to one request will not set a precedent or create the right for another employee to be granted a 

Page 314



V.4.0 

similar amendment to their working pattern. Equally, flexible working requests that are accommodated in 
one Service area will not create a right to a similar request being accommodated in another Service area. 

4. Requests for flexible working 
4.1 A request for flexible working could include: 
 

• a request to change the number of hours that an employee works. 

• a request to change the pattern of hours worked, including start and finish times. 

• a request to job share. 

• a request for permanent home working or the application of hybrid working to a role. 
 

4.2 A request for flexible working may be permanent or temporary. Where a request for flexible working is 
temporary, e.g., to cope with temporary caring responsibilities or a bereavement, the reason for the 
request should be clearly explained on the application form, which will include the dates when the 
temporary arrangement will be in place.  

 
4.3 Where an employee requests a variation in their hours, including a reduction in working hours, the change 

will be permanent following any agreed trial period. It is not possible to guarantee that if, at a future date 
the employee wished to increase their hours or return to their existing pattern of work, such a request 
could be granted since it would be dependent upon service need at that time.   

 
4.4 Where a request is made for a temporary change in hours, it will be the normal expectation that the 

employee will automatically return to their substantive hours or pattern of work at the end of the temporary 
period. Trial periods will not apply to temporary requests for flexible working of one year or less. 

5. Application Process 
5.1 All requests must be made in writing and submitted in the first instance to the relevant Line Manager. 

Employees are asked to complete the Flexible Working Application Form which is available from the 
HR Team or is accessible from the HR pages of the intranet. Completion of the form will assist in ensuring 
that employees put all the required detail in their request.  

 
5.2 Note should be taken of the date of receipt of the Flexible Working Application Form by the line manager 

to ensure statutory deadlines are adhered to and acknlowledgement of receipt the form and the date 
received should be provided to the employee by the line manager in writing by email or letter. 

6. Action by the Line Manager 
6.1 In order to comply with statutory timescales, it is important that the Line Manager reviews the application 

promptly, ideally within 7 days. 
 
6.2 If an application is received that does not contain sufficient information to enable the employee’s request 

to be properly considered, the Line Manager (with HR support if required) should explain to the employee 
where additional or amended information is required. 

 
6.3 The 2-month statutory period will not start until the employee has supplied full information to enable their 

request to be considered.  
 
6.4 Once the Line Manager has received and reviewed a fully completed application, containing all the 

necessary information to assist in making a decision, the Line Manager will complete the relevant section 
of the Flexible Working Application Form and pass it to the relevant HRBP to add their comments.  

 
6.5 Line managers should ensure that they discuss any changes which may affect the staffing budget with 

their service accountant at this point e.g., in the case of a reduction in hours. 
 
6.5 Once comments have been added by the line manager in consultation with finance and by the HRBP, the 

Flexible Working Application Form will be submitted to the Chief Officer for consideration, who may 
arrange a meeting with the employee to discuss the request.  

7. Action by the Chief Officer 

Page 315



V.4.0 

7.1 The Chief Officer must seriously consider the business case for accepting or rejecting an employee’s 
request for flexible working, by carefully weighing up the potential benefits to the employee and the 
Council, against any adverse impact of implementing the change(s). 

 
7.2 In most cases, it will be possible for the Chief Officer to consider and subsequently approve the request 

as submitted without meeting with the employee. However, in some cases, even where the matter appears 
relatively straightforward, it may be appropriate for the Chief Officer to meet with the employee to ensure 
that both sides understand the request and are clear on the implications of their request, prior to the 
arrangement being formalised.  

 
7.3 Chief Officers are also required by law to ensure that they consult with the employee as a means of 

exploring the available options, before rejecting a flexible working request. In these cases, a consultation 
meeting must take place. 

 
7.4 Consultation meeting.  

 
7.4.1 If the Chief Officer decides to hold a meeting to consider the employee’s request, the meeting must be 

held within 21 working days of a completed application (or other written request) being received by the 
Line Manager.  

 

7.4.2 There is no statutory right to be accompanied to the meeting to discuss a flexible working request. 

However, the Council will allow the employee to be accompanied at the meeting by a trade union 

representative or work colleague; 5 working days’ notice of the meeting should be given. However, if the 

employee is willing to waive their right to notice, the meeting can take place sooner.  

7.4.3 If, for any reason, it is not possible to meet the above timescale, the Chief Officer should explain this to 
the employee and propose an alternative agreed timescale.  

 
7.4.4 In addition to being accompanied by a member of the HR Team, the Chief Officer may ask the Line 

Manager to be present at the meeting to assist in the discussion around the employee’s request. 
 
7.4.5 The Chief Officer may: 
 

• approve the application as submitted. 

• approve a proposed amendment to the application. 

• reject the application.  

• adjourn the meeting to seek further clarification on any points raised.  
 

If the meeting is adjourned for another day, it should be reconvened as soon as practicable. 

 
7.4.6 After discussion has taken place, the Chief Officer may briefly adjourn the meeting, to consider the request 

and to make their decision. The Chief Officer may choose to reconvene the meeting to verbally advise the 
employee of their decision.  

 
7.4.7 In all cases, and regardless of whether the request is agreed, partially agreed or rejected, the decision be 

provided to the employee in writing within 5 working days.  

8. If the Chief Officer approves the application. 
8.1 The employee will receive written confirmation of the Chief Officers decision within 5 working days of the 

decision being made or within 5 working days of the date of the meeting, setting out any action on which 

the agreement is dependent and establish a start date. The Chief Officer should seek advice from HR 

over the content of the letter.  

8.2 Once the Chief Officer has agreed a change, this will, subject to paragraph 11.5.2 below be treated as 

permanent and the employee has no automatic right to revert to their previous pattern of work. 

Exceptions to this will include temporary changes, for a specified time or, for operational reasons, where 

the change cannot be agreed on a permanent basis. Equally, where it is agreed that a trial period should 

take place, to consider if the requested change is operationally viable, the trial period will not be treated 

as a permanent change.  

8.3 Where the change is a temporary, time limited, change the employee will automatically revert to their 

original working arrangements at the end of the temporary period.  

Page 316



V.4.0 

8.4 Where the flexible working request will result in a change to the employee’s contracted working hours, 

whether temporary or permanent, on receipt of the decision letter and flexible working application form 

HR will issue a relevant amendment to contract letter. 

9. If the Chief Officer partially accepts the 
application. 

9.1 In some circumstances the Chief Officer may be able to agree some, but not all, aspects of the employee’s 
request. In many cases, where the original request cannot be accommodated it may be possible for a 
compromise to be agreed and subsequently actioned. 

 
9.2  The employee still has the right to appeal against the Chief Officer’s decision, if their request is only 

partially upheld.  
 
9.3 Where the employee requests a reduction in working commitment, the Chief Officer may agree the request 

subject to the need to fill the remaining hours of the post. In such instances there is likely to be a delay 
caused by the need to recruit before the revised working arrangement can be put into practice. Where this 
is the case, the Chief Officer must explain their decision in writing and advise the employee that they may 
exercise their right to appeal against the delay should they wish. 

10 If the Chief Officer rejects the application. 
10.1 If the Chief Officer considers that there are business reasons for rejecting the request, they will outline 

those to the employee. The decision can be provided verbally and followed up in writing or provided solely 
in writing. The employee will receive written confirmation of the decision, setting out the reasons for 
declining the request, within 5 working days of the consultation meeting. The letter will also set out the 
right of appeal. Support is available for managers from HR regarding the content of the letter.  

 
10.2 Reasons for declining a request must be based on one or more of several legally specified grounds, these 

are: 
 

• the burden of additional costs. 

• detrimental effect to meet customer demand.  

• inability to reorganise work among existing staff. 

• inability to recruit additional staff. 

• detrimental impact on quality. 

• detrimental impact on performance. 

• insufficiency of work during the periods the employee proposes to work; or 

• planned structural changes. 

11. Trial periods 
11.1 In some cases the Chief Officer may decide to reserve their decision pending a trial period, to ascertain if 

the requested change is workable for both parties.  Trial periods will not be used for temporary working 
arrangements of a duration of one year or less. 

11.2 The trial period should be long enough to allow the likely effects of the changed working pattern on the 
business to be established. The length of a trial period will vary depending upon the nature of the flexible 
working request and the type of work that the employee normally undertakes. In most cases a trial period 
of 3 months should be sufficient.  

11.3 A trial period can be beneficial for both sides, especially where there is some doubt as to the viability of 
the working arrangements requested by the employee. It can give both the Chief Officer and the employee 
an opportunity to review how the new arrangements work in practice and whether they are likely to create 
any practical difficulties for the service or the Council as a whole. 

11.4 Arranging a trial period. 

11.4.1 If the Chief Officer agrees to a trial period, it is very important that the letter to confirm the trial period 
clearly states that changes to the employee's terms of employment have been agreed for a trial period 

Page 317



V.4.0 

only.  If this is not clear, the employee will, by default, have the right to regard the changed terms of 
employment as a permanent variation to his or her contract. The letter should also explain that the trial 
period can be cut short if there are concerns over the changed working arrangements. The Chief Officer 
should seek advice from HR regarding the content of the letter to confirm a trial period. 

11.4.2  Where the trial period will result in a change to the employee’s contracted working hours, the letter and 
flexible working request form must be forwarded to both HR and the service acountant so that the relevant 
amendments can be made to the HR system and to budgets. 

   
11.5 Changes/early termination during the trial period 

 
11.5.1  If for any reason, during the trial period the arrangement is not working, either side may request a meeting 

to review the working arrangements at any point during the trial period.  It is not in the interest of either 
party to delay an open discussion about any issues causing concern and to attempt to resolve them.  

 
11.5.2 If either party is finding the new working arrangements unworkable, the aim will be to reach a new flexible 

working arrangement that is suitable to all parties. Where a new arrangement is agreed, both sides may 
wish to agree to a further trial period, which should not exceed 3 months. For practical reasons it may be 
necessary to agree to a shorter timescale to trial the revised arrangements, so that the trial period is not 
overly extended.  

 
11.5.3 If it is not possible to agree to a new working arrangement, during the trial period, the Chief Officer will, in 

liaison with HR, write to the employee to advise them that the trial period will cease. Since the employee 
will have been fully aware that the trial period can be ended early, it is not a requirement to give the 
employee notice of this decision. However, from a practical point of view it may be helpful to the employee 
to give them a weeks’ notice of the decision to end the trial period.  

 
11.5.4 Where a trial period is cut short this is in effect a decision to refuse a request for flexible working. The 

Chief Officer must therefore advise the employee in writing of the decision and inform the employee of 
their right of appeal against this decision.  

 
11.6 End of trial period review  

 
12.6.1 Towards the end of the trial period, the Chief Officer and Line Manager will meet with the employee to 

discuss the success, or otherwise, of the new working arrangements. 
 
11.6.2  If the new arrangements are successful, the change will become permanent from that point.  The Chief 

Officer in liaison with HR should write to the employee to advise them of their decision. A copy of the letter 
must be forwarded to HR with the Flexible Working Application Form to ensure that the permanent change 
can be formally actioned on the HR system, and the relevant amendment to contract (where required), 
can sent to the employee. 

 
11.6.3 Alternatively the Chief Officer may decide, for business reasons, that the flexible working arrangements 

are not workable and will advise the employee of this in the meeting. If any other options are available 
these can be explored at this point. If no other options are available, then the employee’s working 
arrangements will revert to those in place under his/her contract of employment.  This decision and the 
employee’s right of appeal will be confirmed in writing within 5 working days of the meeting. 

12. Right of Appeal 
12.1 Employees wishing to appeal should do so by writing to the HR Team, stating their grounds for appeal, 

within 5 working days of receiving written notification of the rejection of their request. 
 
12.2 In line with the ACAS guidance, appeals will be considered if: 
 

• there is new information that was not available to the Chief Officer at the time they made their 
original decision, or  
 

• the employee thinks the application was not handled reasonably in line with the Council’s policy. 
 
12.3 Wherever possible another Chief Officer will hear appeals within 15 working days of the HR Team being 

informed in writing that the employee wishes to appeal. If it is not possible to convene a meeting with 
another Chief Officer within 15 working days, an extension of time may be agreed between the Council 

Page 318



V.4.0 

and employee. In these circumstances, the HR Team will write to the employee, specifying why the 
extension is required and a date when the appeal will be held. 

 
12.4 There is no statutory right for the employee to be accompanied at an appeal hearing. However, the Council 

will allow the employee to have the right to be accompanied at the appeal hearing by either a work 
colleague or trade union representative. 

 
12.5 The Appeal Hearing Officer will write to the employee within 5 working days of the appeal hearing to 

notify the employee of the decision. 
 
12.6 If the Appeal Hearing Officer upholds the appeal the original Chief Officer will be requested to reconsider 

the original request. 
 
12.7  If the Appeal Hearing Officer dismisses the appeal the notification from the appeal hearing officer will state 

the grounds for the decision and contain a sufficient explanation as to why those grounds apply.  There is 
no further right of appeal. 

13. Review 

13.1 This policy and procedure will be reviewed every three years or earlier in the event of changes in 
legislation.  

 
Document Control: 

Version 

no. 

Effective Date Reason Review due 

1.0 03.02.2015 New policy agreed by Personnel Committee 03.02.2017 

2.0 02.02.2016 Revisions agreed by Personnel Committee 02.02.2018 

3.0 21.07.2021 Amendment of job titles in accordance with 

constitution and delegations (please note further 

revision likely in line with Working Well project)   

21.07.2022 

4.0    

 

Page 319



 
 
 

Flexible Working Hours 
Scheme  

1. Introduction 
1.1 Lancaster City Council is committed to providing, where practical and operationally possible, employees 

with a greater degree of flexibility in arranging their working hours to meet the demands of their jobs whilst 

providing an element of flexibility to assist with meeting their domestic and personal commitments.  

1.2 The Flexible Working Hours Scheme aims to provide this flexibility by allowing some choice, with the 

agreement of employees’ line managers, in the start and finish times and working patterns available to 

employees in completing their work, whilst at the same time offering the City Council the flexibility to 

manage varied and fluctuating workloads.  

2. Scope  
2.1 The Flexible Working Hours Scheme can be applied to full time employees, part time employees, 

temporary employees, and those in their probationary period unless it is withdrawn for any reason in 
accordance with the provisions in the Scheme. If flexible working hours are in operation this will be noted 
in the individual employees’ contract of employment. 

  

2.2 The City Council also recognises that not all posts, owing to the nature of the type of work the employee 

is required to perform, will be suitable for this type of flexible working arrangement. Consideration will 

always be given to identifying the operational viability and the volume and type of work.  

2.3 If it is considered that the flexible working hours scheme should not apply, the Council will try to identify, 

where practically possible, ways of providing an employee with some flexibility in working practices to 

ensure that basic needs connected with balancing work and home life can be accommodated. 

3. Responsibilities 
3.1 Management Responsibilities 

Managers of each team will be responsible for the management of the Scheme for their staff. This 

includes checking of flexi time recording sheets at the end of each settlement period, and if any flexi 

leave is requested.  

Management of staff time to ensure adequate breaks from work and monitoring of workloads is a key 

management responsibility. High levels of flexi time may indicate a problem with workload or time 

management issue that should be further investigated. Flexi time recording sheets should be carefully 

monitored.  

Page 320



Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring the overall smooth running of the scheme within their service, 

considering the need for office/reception cover to meet the demands of our customers, both external 

and internal. 

3.2 Employee Responsibilities 

Employees are placed in a position of trust and are responsible for recording their own time on the forms 

accurately in accordance with the rules of the scheme below. 

Employees must submit their flexi recording sheet to their manager at the end of each settlement period 

and when requesting flexi leave. 

Flexi time is a system to allow flexibility of working hours and employees should not regularly accrue 

large amounts of flexi time or regularly take the maximum flexi leave allowance each settlement period.  

If employees find that they are regularly accruing excessive amounts of flexi time in addition to their 

normal contracted hours they should discuss this with their line manager.  

4. Scheme Operation 
4.1 Bandwidth hours of the scheme and Premises Opening Hours 
 

Subject to agreement, the earliest time an employee can start work is 6.00am and the latest finish time is 
10.30pm 

 
The bandwidth of hours in any day is therefore 16.5 hours – however we do not recommend employee 

works the full hours even with regular breaks. The wide bandwidth is in place to support work life balance 

and account for hybrid working undertaken from home alongside time in the office. 

Standard building opening hours for the main council work base locations at Lancaster and Morecambe 

Town Halls are:  7:30am until 7:30pm. Any hours worked outside of these standard opening hours should 

be done off premises i.e., hybrid workers should work from home outside of these hours, unless under 

prior agreement with an employee’s Chief Officer.  

Please note that staff access via the swipe system is not operational outside of premises opening times. 

Chief Officers when granting permission for employees to work in Council buildings outside of these hours 

should conduct the lone working risk assessment in line with the Councils Lone Working Policy and ensure 

that the relevant mitigations for the highlighted risks are in place. This includes arrangements for safe 

access and vacation of the building. 

4.2.   Settlement Period  

 The settlement period is four weeks.  At the end of every four-week period employees will be expected 

to have worked the required number of hours, i.e., 4 x 37 = 148 hours, for full time employees subject to 

the scheme credit and deficit hours permitted below. 

4.3. Credit Hours and Deficit Hours 

 Employees are allowed to carry over, from one flexitime period to the next, a maximum of 14 hours 

credit (pro rata for part time employees). If employees have more than 14 hours credit at the end of a 

settlement period, the excess will be forfeited.  

 Service Managers will have some discretion to allow greater amounts of carry over in situations where 

there are operational problems and business needs to be met. In such cases it is expected that Service 

Managers will discuss the need for the relaxation of this rule with their Chief Officer. There is no facility 

within the Scheme to transfer credit hours to time in lieu records or for payment.  

Page 321



 The maximum carry over of debit hours from one flexitime month to another is minus 7 hours (pro rata 

for part time employees).   

If an employee is in debit, they must arrange with their line manager to make up the required time within 

the next settlement period.  It is not envisaged that an employee will regularly carry over debit hours 

from one month to the next. 

If an employee consistently i.e., for three or more flexitime periods, carries over debit hours, they can be 

required to ‘pay off’ the debit using annual leave. These occasions are expected to be rare rather than 

the norm and regularly balancing flexitime records using annual leave will not be permitted.  

4.4 Mandatory Breaks and the Working Time Directive 

 
 All employees are required to take a minimum of a 30-minute break, on any day that they intend to 

work a total of 6 hours or more. This is a legal requirement under the working time directive in the interests 

of health, safety, and welfare.  

Employees will normally be expected to take no more than 1 hour at lunch break, without first seeking 

authorisation from their line manager, in advance.  Authorisation to take a longer lunch break will not be 

unreasonably withheld. 

It is not expected that any employee will work more than 48 hours in a single working week, again, in line 

with the working time directive, to ensure adequate rest from work. Employees who for any reason think 

they may exceed this amount should discuss this with their line manager. 

4.5 Flexitime Leave  

 The maximum flexitime leave an employee can request to take in a 4-week settlement period is 2 days 

i.e., 14 hours 48 minutes - pro rata for part time employees.  

All flexi-time leave must be requested by the employee on my view and authorised by the employees’ line 

manager.  

Flexitime leave is only permitted to be booked upto one settlement period in advance. Employees must 

demonstrate to their manager utilising their flexi recording sheet that they have the required credit to book 

the days leave.  Leave will not be authorised in advance of the accrual of flexi time. 

The granting of requests for flexi leave will normally depend on: 

• The operational needs of the Service 

• Satisfactory individual performance i.e., achievement of tasks/targets 

• The workload of the individual/team 

• Level of attendance in the previous 4-week period was as expected.  
 

4.6 Part Time Employees  

Part time employees who can participate in the Scheme must first seek guidance from their line manager 

as to what credit and debit hours that will apply pro rata in their individual case. For example, an employee 

who works 18½ hours per week will only be allowed to take a maximum of 7 hours 24 minutes flexi leave 

per flexi period and carry over a maximum of 7 hours credit or a maximum of 3.5 hours debit balance i.e., 

half the allowance of a full-time employee. 

5.  Time Recording 
5.1 Recording of hours-worked 

Page 322



All working time should be recorded on the flexitime recording spreadsheet or manual form provided by 

each service.  Employees must record accurately on this form the actual time they are at work. Flexi 

Sheets for each settlement period should be submitted to the employee’s line manager at the end of each 

period for review. 

5.2 Breaks 

 The open nature of this flexitime scheme requires all breaks, for whatever reason, to be recorded on the 

Flexi sheet. For example, this includes lunch breaks, smoking breaks, mid morning shopping or fitness 

training breaks and medical appointments. n/b the exception to this is for employees attending antenatal 

appointments or cancer screening appointments in these instances employees should inform their line 

manager and will be credited for the actual time away from work. 

5.3 Recording of Authorised Absence  

Employees who are absent from work due to authorised absence such as sickness or annual leave should 

record the reason on the flexitime recording form.  A ½ day will count as 3 hours 42 minutes and a full 

day as 7 hours 24 minutes (pro rata for part time employees).  

5.4 Travel Time  

On occasions where an employee is required to travel to a meeting at the request of their manager, the 

time taken to travel to and from the meeting may be included as part of the time during which flexitime 

can be accrued (i.e., part of the ‘working day’) even if this means extending the bandwidth hours on such 

days. This is providing that; 

• There is a legitimate reason for that employee to attend the planned meeting. 

• The amount of ‘travelling time’ claimed is reduced by the total amount of time that an employee would 
have spent travelling to and from work had they been attending the normal place of work. 

• Should the meeting times require an employee to travel the day before and stay overnight the accrual 
of flexitime is restricted to the actual time spent travelling to the place of overnight stay. 
 

5.5 Training 

The maximum number of hours that can be credited for attendance on a college course, other training 

course or conference is 7 hour 24 minutes.  If the absence is for a ½ day then the maximum that can be 

recorded is 3 hours 42 minutes. 

6. The Relationship with Overtime and Standby 
 
6.1 The relationship between Flexible Working Hours and Overtime 

 
Employees must have worked a minimum of 37 hours per week to qualify to receive an overtime payment 
for work conducted outside the standard bandwidth hours of 06.00 a.m. and 10.30 p.m. For part time 
employees working less than 37 hours, additional hours will be paid at the rate of plain time until 37 hours 
is exceeded. 

 
Overtime will normally only be authorised for time worked before 06.00 a.m. and after 10.30 p.m. Monday 
to Friday, but a Chief Officer is able to authorise overtime to commence (as an alternative to the accrual 
of flexitime) from 06.00 p.m. in circumstances where this can be justified. These occurrences are expected 
to be rare rather than the norm, and in all such cases the Chief Officer is expected to record the reasons 
for taking this course of action.  
 
As an alternative to claiming overtime, officers graded SCP 28 and below have the option to have the 
bandwidth times extended on the working day(s) in question. The effect of this is that these employees 
will have the option to be paid overtime for the work carried out or to accrue additional flexitime time 
outside the normal bandwidth. 

Page 323



 
In all cases the Chief Officer is directly responsible for ensuring that there is budgetary provision for the 
costs associated with the authorisation of overtime. The Council reserves the right to consider whether 
posts for which there is a regular requirement to work beyond the bandwidths provided for in this Scheme 
are suitable for participation in it.  
 

6.2 The relationship between Flexible Working Hours and Standby and Call Out  
 

On a working day when an employee is participating on a Standby and Callout rota, the opportunity to 
accrue flexitime will be limited to the hours of 08.00 a.m. and 06.00 p.m. (rather than 06.30 a.m. and 10.30 
p.m.). On such days, employees having ‘clocked off’ at or before 06.00 p.m. will continue to be paid a 
standby allowance at the agreed rate from 06.00 p.m. The standby payment will continue through the 
evening or night (depending on the in-service arrangement) until 08.00 a.m. the following morning, 
regardless of whether an employee has been called on to perform work. 
 
It is the responsibility of managers to ensure that where extended working is planned or necessary that 
those employees participating in that work take the appropriate rest breaks.  

7. Misuse of the Flexible Working Hours Scheme 
7.1 Under no circumstances must an employee abuse or misuse the flexible working hours scheme. This 

includes signing in or signing out for a colleague. Nor should any record be made in advance of starting 

and finishing times.   

7.2 Misuse of the Flexible Working Hours Scheme will be treated very seriously as it is potentially gross 

misconduct and may result in the consideration of disciplinary action including dismissal.  In addition, 

some incidents of misuse of the Scheme may constitute fraud. 

8. Suspension of the Flexible Working Hours Scheme 
8.1 Chief Officers (in consultation with Human Resources) are authorised to suspend the Flexible Working 

Hours Scheme for any of the following reasons: 

(i) Where an employee is finding it difficult to manage their time under the Scheme. 
(ii) Where an employee is found to be misusing the Scheme. 
(iii) Where the workload in their Service demands that fixed hours are introduced for a temporary 

period, because of either an increase or decrease in workload. 

9. Review 

9.1 This scheme will be reviewed every 3 years or earlier in the event of changes in legislation. 

  

Document Control: 

Version 

no. 

Effective Date Reason Review due 

1.0 31.05.2005 Revisions agreed by Personnel Committee 31.05.2007 

2.0 27.07.2020 Revisions Agreed by Personel Committee 27.07.2022 

3.0    

 

Page 324



V. 2.0 

 
 
 

Time Off for Public Duties 
Policy 

1. Introduction 
1.1 As defined by the Employment Rights Act 1996, section 50 an employer is obliged to permit employees 

who are members of certain bodies to take time off during their working hours to perform their duties.  

1.2 As local government employer, there are also additional public duties which the council is responsible for 

and supportive of, in the general spirit of public service. This policy exists to document these duties and 

the time off available to undertake them. 

2. Scope 
The Time off for Public Duties Policy applies to all employees excluding casual workers. 

3. Statutory Public Duties    
2.1 Where an employee holds a public office or public position, it is the Councils policy in line with legislation 

to grant a reasonable amount of time off work, so that the employee can perform the duties associated 

with that position. The employee will not be required to make up for the hours they are away from work. 

2.2. The amount of time which will be granted to an employee to perform public duties will be what is 

considered reasonable taking the following factors into account:  

• The duties to be undertaken. 

• The needs of the service. 

• The effect of the employee’s absence on the work of the section or service. 

• The total amount of time off already approved for the employee in respect of public duties. 
 

2.3 Time off for statutory public duties will be paid, at his/her normal rate of pay during periods of time off, 

subject to the deduction of any monies received from the relevant authority in respect of the public duties 

performed, which the employee must declare. 

2.4 Where, however, the amount of time off that the employee requires for public duties becomes excessive, 

or begins to cause operational difficulties, The Council has the right to refuse the employee further time 

off in the immediate future.  

2.5 Employees should request on my view any dates on which they wish to take time off work for statutory 

public duties, stating the expected length of their absence. This notification should be provided as far in 

advance as possible. 

Page 325



V. 2.0 

2.6 The above provision covers members of the following public bodies: 

• A magistrate, sometimes known as a justice of the peace. 

• A local councillor 

• A school governor 

• Member of any statutory tribunal (eg an Employment Tribunal) 

• a member of the managing or governing body of an educational establishment 

• Member of a health authority 

• Member of a school council  

• Member of the Environment Agency  

• a member of the prison independent monitoring boards (England or Wales) 

• Member of a Water Customer Consultation Panel 
 

4. Trade Union Facility Time 
4.1 Facility time is defined as time off from an individual's job, granted by the employer, to enable a 

representative to carry out their trade union role.  

4.2 Paid time off will be granted to trade union representatives for undertaking the following duties: 

• Negotiation and consultation with the council as ‘the employer’ 

• Representing their trade union members 

• Performing the duties of an accredited Health & Safety rep  

• Performing the duties of an accredited Union Learning Rep (ULRs) 
 

4.3 Unpaid time off will also be granted for union activities:  

• Attending meetings to discuss internal union business. 

• Attending meetings of union policy making bodies. 

• Attending workplace meetings to discuss union negotiations. 

• Meeting with other union officers to discuss workplace issues. 

• Voting in union elections. 

• Accessing the services of Union Learning representatives. 
 

4.4 The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017 requires the council as a 

public body to report annually on the amount of trade union facility time for that year.  Trade union 

representatives are therefore requested to ensure that all trade union facility time is recorded on my 

view. 

4.5 Union representatives are required when making requests to state the union that they are representative 

of and the type of duties or activities the facility time is required for.  

5. Jury Service, Magistrates and Court Witness 
Summons 

5.1 Jury Service 

5.1.1 When an employee receives a summons to serve on a jury, they must report this to their Chief Officer. 

Leave of absence should be granted unless exemption is secured.  

5.1.2  Jury service normally lasts upto two weeks however it can be longer dependent on the case/s assigned. 

Where longer than 2 weeks is required, permission will be sought from the courts for the employee to 

undertake a longer period. Employees should discuss any requests of this nature with their Chief Officer. 

Page 326



V. 2.0 

5.1.3 Where absence from work due to jury service will have a substantial impact on service provision the 

Council may ask the employee to apply for excusal from or deferral to their jury service. In these instances, 

the Chief Officer will provide a letter detailing the reasons for the application.  

5.1.4 Where an employee’s application to be excused from jury service/defer jury service is granted, the 

member of staff will be issued with a new summons for jury service within the next 12 months and there 

will be no option for further deferral. 

5.1.5 An employee serving as a juror shall claim the allowance for loss of earnings to which they are entitled 

under the Jurors’ Allowances Regulations currently in force. The Council shall then subsequently deduct 

from the employee’s full pay an amount equal to the allowance received.  

5.1.6 The employee will continue to be paid while on jury service at the normal rate of pay subject to the 

deduction of any monies received from the court in respect of loss of earnings. The employee will receive, 

with his/her jury summons, a Certificate of Loss of Earnings or Benefit, which the employee should 

complete (with assistance from their line manager and payroll) and submit to HM Courts and Tribunals 

Service (HMCTS) to receive reimbursement, up to a limit, for loss of earnings incurred due to being absent 

from work due to jury service. 

5.1.7 The employee will be paid as normal until his/her reimbursement has been processed, whereupon the 

employee should provide their line manager and payroll with the remittance for the reimbursement. Payroll 

will then make the appropriate deduction from the employee's pay in the next available pay run. 

5.1.8 Line managers are responsible for ensuring that an employee who has attended for Jury service provides 

this remittance documentation to Payroll within reasonable time after the service has been undertaken. 

5.1.9 In addition all jury service leave should be booked on my view, employees should book the full two weeks 

of jury service when they are called to service. If the actual time served is less than these two weeks or 

differs from day to day the employee should provide this information to their line manager, there is no 

requirement to amend the leave record. 

5.1.10 If the employee's services are not required for any part or whole court day, he/she will be expected to 

return to work for the remainder of the working day where possible. 

5.2 Court Witness 

5.2.1 Employees are required to provide supporting documentation of the requirement to attend Court as a 

witness to criminal proceedings. This supporting documentation will usually consist of a witness summons. 

5.2.2 Time off with pay will be granted to employees who are required to attend Court as a witness in line with 

the above procedure. The employee will be permitted to claim a loss of earnings allowance from the court 

which must be paid back to the council subsequent to the case being complete. 

5.3 Magistrates 

5.3.1 Employees, who are magistrates, have a statutory right to reasonable time off work to carry out their 

duties.  

5.3.2 Magistrates will have to be in court at least 13 days, or 26 half-days per year and will therefore be entitled 

to this amount of time off. Additional time off, in excess of 13 days per year, must be agreed in advance 

with the individual’s Chief Officer.  

5.3.3 Employees must notify their line manager of their magistrate rota as soon as possible for planning 

purposes. 

Page 327



V. 2.0 

5.3.4 Time off for magistrate duties will be unpaid, however, employees may claim an allowance from the court 

for loss of earnings. 

6 Election and By- Election duties 
6.1 There is a statutory duty placed upon local authorities to support the administration of elections and all 

Council Managers are encouraged to support their staff in volunteering to undertake election duties. 

6.2 Employees who undertake election day duties for the Local, National, and European election are entitled 

to paid leave, to enable them to carry out these duties.  This is in addition to the payment received for 

election day duties. This is in recognition of the additional unsocial hours worked. For information on 

payments for election duties worked please contact the Elections Team. 

6.3 Election leave should be requested on my view. Managers should make every effort to grant any leave 

requested and, assuming basic levels of service provision are able to be maintained, staff should be 

released from their substantive duties. 

6.4 Employees who additonally undertake duties on the count, postal vote opening and by-election duties 

must do so in their own time utilising flexi time or annual leave. Managers should again however make 

every effort to grant any leave requested for these duties.  

6.5 Should an employee volunteer for the count but not the election day itself they will be granted paid leave 

for the day of the count. The maximum paid additional leave that an employee will be able to take for 

election duties in their entirety per election is one day. The election day (or count day if not undertaking 

the election) must fall on an employees normal working day to allow employees to claim the paid leave.  

7. Leave for other public duties and services to the 
community 

7.1 Foster Carers 

7.1.1 Employees involved in fostering children will have additional demands made on their time. To support 

employees who provide this valuable service to the community, the Council will consider granting requests 

for time off with pay to employees who are required to attend meetings or training courses connected with 

this activity. 

7.1.2 Chief Officers considering requests in line with this provision will require evidence of the need to attend 

meetings or training in support of such requests. 

7.1.3. It is recommended that the granting of time off to foster carers be subject to the recommended maximum 

time outlined below. 

7.2 Forces Leave 

7.2.1 In line with the councils Armed Forces Community Employment policy provisions, paid leave will be 

given to Cadet Force Adult Volunteers and reservists to attend annual camp, usually 2 weeks (10 days) 

pro rata for part time workers. 

7.2.2 Reservists also may be granted additional unpaid leave or annual leave from the employee’s normal 

annual leave entitlement for short periods of training provided adequate notice is given and where such 

training cannot be undertaken outside of contractual working hours. Attendance at weekend training 

which cannot be undertaken during non-working hours will be subject to the same arrangements. 

Page 328



V. 2.0 

7.3 Emergency Service Volunteers 

7.3.1 Employees who are members of a listed Voluntary Emergency Service Organisation will be granted 

special leave with pay to attend actual emergencies during working hours. 

7.3.2 Approved bodies are: 

• British Red Cross Society 

• St John’s Ambulance Association 

• Voluntary Fire Service  

• HM Coastguard 

• Royal National Lifeboat Institution 

• Mountain Rescue Services (as recognised by the relevant police authority) 

• Special Police Constables 

 
7.3.2 Arrangements will be subject to the approval of the chief officer, who will be satisfied with provisions for 

service delivery in the absence of the employee during a call-out and will review the situation regularly. 

7.3.2 If an employee is considering volunteering at an emergency service organisation, they should discuss this 

prior with their Chief Officer to ensure that the role will not compromise service delivery for the post that 

the employee is employed in.  

7.3.2 Where payment is received for an emergency service organisation, paid leave will not be granted as this 

constitutes secondary employment. 

7.4 Blood Donation 

7.4.1. Paid leave to a maximum of ½ day may be given for the purpose of donating blood. Maximum permitted 

attendance for blood donation is once every 12 weeks. 

7.1.2. Employees are expected to make every effort to attend blood donation appointments outside of work time, 

however it is recognised that due to clinic times/ locations this may not be possible. Where an employee 

wishes to make a blood donation during work time, they should discuss this with their manager, giving at 

least 3 days notice. 

7.1.3 To minimise time off required, wherever possible employees are encouraged to donate at mobile units 

visiting their area rather than travelling to a Donor Centre. 

7.5 Participation in National and International Sporting Events 

7.5.1 The Council wishes to support the achievement those employees representing their county at a national 

or international sporting event. This also supports the council’s general commitment to promoting 

employee health and wellbeing.  

7.5.2 Employee’s who are members of an official national team and is invited to attend a national or international 

sporting event (e.g., as competitor, manager or coach) will be entitled to reasonable time off to attend the 

event, to be agreed with their Chief Officer. 

7.6 Community Volunteering 

7.6.1 The Council regognises the many benefits of volunteering within our communities both within the district 

and for the individual by way of development of new skills and employee wellbeing. 

Page 329



V. 2.0 

7.6.2 In line with the provisions of the councils Volunteering Policy paid leave will be given upto a maximum 

of 2 working days (pro rata) per leave year on the basis that the time will be matched by volunteering on 

an unpaid basis for at least the same duration as the time requested. 

7.4 Other internal and Local Authority job Interviews 

7.4.1 In the spirit of encouraging continued public sector service and development opportunities, employees 

are entitled to time off with pay to attend job interviews within the City Council. 

7.4.2 Employees who request time off to attend an interview with another local authority are also entitled to time 

off with pay, up to a maximum of three days per leave year. 

7.4.3 Those employees who have been placed ‘at risk’ due to organisational change are permitted to time off 

to attend all interviews including those with external non- local government organisations in addition to 

the above during the period they are at risk or on contractual notice of redundancy. 

8. Limits to Time off Allowed for Public Duties 
8.1 It is recommended as a guide, that the amount of time off with pay granted to employees in respect of 

public duties in their entirety be limited to a maximum of 37 hours per year, where other policy or 

statutory limits do not apply. 

9. Requests and Recording for Time off for Public 
Duties  

9.1 Employees must submit a request for time off for public duties to their Chief Officer/line Manager as far in 

advance as possible and in line with the above arrangements and those in the relevant additional policies.   

9.2 All leave should be recorded using the relevant leave type on My View.  

10. Review 
 The Time off for Public Duties Policy will be reviewed 3 years after implementation or earlier in the event 

of changes in legislation. 

 

Document Control: 

Version 

no. 

Effective Date Reason Review due 

1.0 01.04.1999 New policy 01.04.2002 

2.0 07.2023 Revised policy amended, rebranded. 07.2026 

 

Page 330



V.6.0 PC. 09.03.23 

 
 
 

Early Termination of 
Employment Policy and 

Arrangements 
1. Introduction 
1.1 This Policy sets out the Council’s approach to the early termination of an employee’s contract of 

employment. For the purposes of this Policy, termination occurs where an employee’s employment 

ceases as a result of actions taken by the Council or in response to a request made by an individual 

employee. 

1.2 This policy has been developed with due consideration given to the requirements of: 

• Local Government (Early Termination of Employment Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2006. 

• Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) Regulations 2007 

• Local Government Pension Scheme (Admin) Regulations 2008 (regulation 66). 

• The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013  

 

1.3 In formulating this Policy, the Council has given consideration to the extent to which it may exercise its 

discretionary powers, with appropriate safeguards to prevent a serious loss of confidence in the public 

service, and has satisfied itself that the policy is workable, affordable and reasonable having regard to the 

foreseeable costs. 

1.4 The Council’s view is that in relation to the early termination of employment this action should be seen as 

an exception rather than a norm, although it recognises that there may be circumstances where early 

termination of employment is unavoidable, and circumstances where early termination may benefit the 

Council and be acceptable to the employee.  

2 Resignation 
 
2.1 An employee of the Council may exercise their contractual right to resign at any time by giving proper 

notice under the contract of employment. Once a lawful resignation has been given it cannot be withdrawn 
other than with the Council’s express permission or where the resignation came in the heat of the moment 

and was retracted quickly. 

 

Page 331



V.6.0 PC. 09.03.23 

3 Retirement (Local Government Pension Scheme 
 Membership)  
 
3.1 The normal retirement age for Local Government Pension Scheme members is now aligned to the 

employee’s individual State Pension Age (normal retirement age). If an employee intends to leave the 
Council’s employment at normal retirement age, they are required to notify the Council of their intention 
to retire in line with their required contractual notice period. When a member reaches normal retirement 
age, an immediate pension becomes payable once the employee has left employment.  

 
3.2 A member of the LGPS may retire before normal retirement age but may be subject to reduction to their 

pension benefits (see early retirement section). 
 
3.3 Employees will continue to accrue service-related benefits after their normal retirement age as long as 

they remain in employment with an organisation that is a member of the LGPS. However, regulation 17(4) 
of the LGPS Benefit Regulations requires that a scheme member’s pension must come into payment no 
later than the day before the member's 75th birthday. 

 

4 Early Retirement with Reduced Pension Summary 
 
4.1 Under LGPS Regulations, on leaving employment, employees can elect to receive their pension benefits 

from age 55, provided that they have at least 3 months membership of the pension scheme.  
 
4.2 From age 55 employees can access their pension benefits without the Council’s consent.  
 
4.3 If the employee elects to receive their benefits before their normal retirement date the benefits will be 

reduced, to reflect the costs of the pension coming into payment early, subject to any transitional protection 
arrangements that may be applicable. 

 
4.4 An employee considering early retirement can obtain detailed advice from “Your Pension Service; 
 

• by telephone on 0300 323 0260, or 

• by email to Askpensions@localpensionspartnership.org.uk 
 

5 Ill-Health Retirement 
 
5.1 If, due to an employee’s ongoing ill health, the Council has no alternative but to terminate an employee’s 

contract of employment, he / she may request Ill Health Retirement, under the provisions of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme. In all cases the Council will follow the procedures defined by the LGPS 
regulations. 

  

6 Redundancy 
  

6.1 Under s.139 of the Employment Rights Act 1996, an employee is dismissed by reason of redundancy if 
the dismissal is wholly or mainly attributable to: 

 

• The fact that the employer has ceased or intends to cease to carry on the business for the purposes for 
which the employee was employed, or to carry on that business in the place where the employee was so 
employed, or 

• The fact that the requirements of the business for employees to carry out work of a particular kind, or for 
employees to carry out work of a particular kind, in the place where the employee was employed by the 
employer, have ceased or diminished or are expected to cease or diminish. 

Page 332

mailto:Askpensions@localpensionspartnership.org.uk


V.6.0 PC. 09.03.23 

 
6.2 The Council recognises that, on occasion, policy decisions will necessitate a reduction in the number of 

its employees below a level that can be achieved through natural turnover. In such circumstances, the 
Council will take all reasonable steps to avoid compulsory redundancy.  The Council’s Redeployment 
Policy is particularly relevant in this respect and should be read together with this Policy. 

7 Redundancy Pay  
 
7.1 Regardless of whether an employee is entitled to receive their pension or not, they are entitled to receive 

a compensatory lump sum payment in cases of redundancy, where they meet the statutory arrangements 
for a redundancy payment. 

 
7.2 Under the Employment Rights Act 1996, an employee dismissed due to redundancy after having 

completed at least two years’ continuous service with an employer is entitled to a redundancy payment.   

 

8 Statutory Redundancy Pay Calculations 
 
8.1 The Employment Rights Act 1996, section 162 sets out how a redundancy payment is calculated. In 

summary this is: 

 
• half a week's pay for each year of employment up to the age of 21 

• one week's pay for each year of employment in which the employee was aged between 22 and 40; and 

• one and a half weeks' pay for each year of employment in which the employee was aged 41 or over. 
 

 The maximum number of years of employment that can be taken into account is 20. The maximum weeks’ 
pay is a statutory calculation, that is increased annually in line with the Retail Prices Index (RPI), under 
the automatic indexation provisions of the Employment Relations Act 1999.  

 
8.2  The Council will calculate the redundancy pay for an employee, subject to compulsory redundancy, by 

using the national statutory formula. Any compulsory redundancy payment will be capped at the statutory 
maximum applicable at the time of dismissal. 

 

9 Calculation of Continuous Service  
 
9.1  For the purpose of the calculation, continuous employment will be the aggregation of all continuous local 

government and related employment defined within the Redundancy Payments (Continuity of 
Employment in Local Government etc.) (Modification) Order 1999 (as amended). 

 

10 Voluntary Redundancy (VR) 
 
10.1 Under the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England 

and Wales) (Miscellaneous) Regulations 2006 the Council may: 

 
• calculate redundancy pay on actual weekly pay rather than the statutory amount 

 

• enhance the compensation payment (Redundancy Pay) up to a maximum of 66 weeks 

 
 The Council will therefore exercise its discretion in relation to voluntary redundancy (VR) by: 

 

• using the employee’s normal weekly pay to calculate a VR compensation payment 

 
• using the statutory formula for the calculation of applicable weeks (as detailed in para 8.1 above) 

Page 333



V.6.0 PC. 09.03.23 

 
• capping the maximum VR compensation payment at the statutory maximum redundancy 

compensation payment multiplied by 2.2. 

 
10.2 The Council will always seek to mitigate the impact of any redundancy situation by endeavouring to 

redeploy displaced employees to other suitable employment within the Council or by seeking volunteers, 
before any compulsory redundancies are considered. 

 
10.3 Consultation documentation and communications will identify the posts, which it is proposed will be 

disestablished as part of any restructure. 

 
10.4 The arrangements which relate to a request for volunteers will be set out in the consultation arrangements 

relating to the relevant change/restructure taking place. 
 
10.5 The management and administration of redundancies will be carried out in such a way to ensure there is 

an objective, fair and non-discriminatory approach in place that is applied consistently to workforce 
reduction. This includes circumstances where there is a fair selection for voluntary redundancy in an effort 
to limit compulsory redundancies.  

 
10.6 The arrangements below outline the main criteria for VR selection. Managers will define the specific criteria 

required for the service area in order to release individuals under VR, whilst ensuring limited disruption for 
the service area and to deliver future Council priorities.  

 
 Service Managers and HR must ensure that any volunteer is aware that:  
 

• there is no guarantee that a Voluntary Redundancy will be granted  

• business needs of the Council take priority  

• volunteers will continue to work until a release date is agreed by their manager.  

 
10.7 Consideration will only be given to volunteers for redundancy if this is not detrimental to the Council.  The 

decision to accept applications for voluntary redundancy will be based on the need to ensure that there is 
a balanced workforce with the requisite skills to meet future business needs. 

 
10.8 The terms of the Redeployment Policy will not apply to any employee who applies for VR and does not 

express and interest in redeployment. Further, an employee who has unsuccessfully sought redeployment 
in a redundancy situation will not subsequently be eligible to apply for voluntary redundancy. 

 
10.9 If an application for voluntary redundancy is granted, the employee will receive an enhanced redundancy 

payment. This will be calculated using the national statutory redundancy formula, with the statutory 
maximum figure for weekly pay replaced by the employee’s actual weekly pay. The total of this calculations 
will be multiplied by 2.2 to produce a voluntary redundancy payment.  

 
10.10 Any enhanced redundancy pay will not exceed the sum of the maximum statutory redundancy pay 

multiplied by 2.2.  
 
 (For example: as at 6 April 2018 this was £15,240 x 2.2 = £33,528). 
 
10.11 If an employee accepts voluntary redundancy and therefore benefits from an enhanced redundancy 

payment, they will not be eligible to appeal against the selection process for voluntary redundancy.  

 

11 Redundancy or Efficiency Terminations - 
 Employees aged 55 and over (Pension Issues)    
 
11.1 In addition to the compensation payments specified above, for termination of employment on the grounds 

of redundancy (or efficiency), employees aged 55 or over, who have at least three months’ membership 
of the Local Government Pension Scheme, will receive immediate payment of an unreduced pension and 
lump sum based on their accrued contributory service at the date their employment is terminated.  

 

Page 334



V.6.0 PC. 09.03.23 

12 Consultation 
 
12.1 Before any decisions are taken which may affect the ongoing employment of any employee appropriate 

consultation will take place with both the affected employee(s) and the relevant trade union(s). The 
communication during the consultation process is designed to ensure the Council fully explains how any 
individual employee and/or groups may be affected and the timescale of any proposed actions. 

 
12.2 The Service Manager must be able to demonstrate that the selection for redundancy is made on the basis 

of objective criteria that is reasonable, fair and consistently applied. Once provisional selections for 
redundancy have been made, individual consultation with each employee will be arranged. At these 
meetings each employee has the right to be accompanied by a trade union representative or work 
colleague.  

 

13 Right of Appeal against selection for Redundancy   
 
13.1 As a means of maintaining an open dialogue during a consultation period, there is no provision for an 

employee who has been provisionally identified as displaced by a restructure to raise a grievance or 
appeal at this stage, based on the employee’s view that they disagree with: 

 

• the proposals which have been developed; or  

•  the provisional selection arrangements; or 

•  the pool of potentially at-risk employees.  
 
 For the process of consultation to be meaningful, it is expected that if there are issues to be raised then 

these would form part of the dialogue between management, affected employees and, where appropriate, 
their trade union representatives. 

 
13.2 However once an employee has been selected for redundancy and has been formally issued with notice 

of their selection for redundancy, and is therefore facing redeployment or dismissal, they do have the right 
to appeal the decision.  

 
Such appeals will be to the Council’s Personnel Committee. 
 
13.3 Appeals against selection for redundancy must be made in writing to the Head of HR within 5 working 

days of written notification. Appeals will be heard by a Chief Officer or the Chief Executive. For appeals 
relating to Chief Officer level employees and above the councils Personnel Committee will hear the appeal. 
Appeal hearings will normally be held within 20 working days of being lodged, other than by mutual 
agreement.  

 
 The grounds for appeal are either that: 

 
• the employee is dissatisfied with the way in which the Council has applied its redundancy 

selection criteria;  

 
 Or 
 

• the employee believes that he/she has been unfairly disadvantaged by the selection criteria or 
not given a fair opportunity to put forward representations. 

 

14 Termination in the Interests of efficiency  
 
14.1 Early termination of employment in the interests of the efficient exercise of the Council’s functions does 

not require a redundancy situation to exist; and does not require that a post be deleted from the Council’s 
Establishment. It is impossible to define conclusively “the interests of efficiency”. However, this might 
include circumstances where changes beyond the individual employee’s control have led to inefficient 
discharge of a function, or where the retention of an employee is preventing the introduction of changes 
in structure or practices that would improve efficiency.   

Page 335



V.6.0 PC. 09.03.23 

 
14.2 Early termination on the grounds of efficiency will not be granted as a substitute for disciplinary 

action, or for action on the grounds of capability where such action would be justified. 
 
14.3 The Council believes that termination in the interests of efficiency will be rare.  Generally, the Council will 

not exercise its discretion to pay compensation where employment is terminated early on efficiency 
grounds.  However, individual cases will be considered on their merits.  

 
14.4 If compensation is being considered or if there are other capital pension costs arising from the termination, 

Chief Officers must be able to demonstrate how they intend to make the required efficiency savings and 
fund the early termination. 

 

15 Process for applying for Early Termination 
 (Redundancy or Efficiency) 
 
15.1 Redundancy (or potential redundancy) situations will be identified initially by Service Heads and linked to 

the Council’s corporate and business planning arrangements, or other emerging changes in business 
needs.  In doing so, Service Heads will consult with Human Resources and Financial Services. Potential 
situations for terminating employment in the interest of efficiency will also be identified in this way.   

 
15.2 Subject to Human Resources’ confirmation of the situation, and Financial Services’ confirmation of the 

financial implications, Service Heads will then notify staff affected (or staff potentially affected) as part of 
a structured consultation process, and where appropriate, seek applications for voluntary termination on 
the relevant grounds.  Wherever possible, volunteers will be sought, rather than resorting to compulsory 
redundancy. 

 
15.3 An employee who is considering the possibility of applying for early termination on either redundancy or 

efficiency grounds should first speak to the appropriate senior Service Officer, who will speak with the 
Service Head on a confidential basis.  The Service Head will consult Human Resources and Financial 
Services as appropriate and a decision will be made as to whether or not the application would be 
supported in principle. 

 
15.4 Employees who are members of a recognised trade union are strongly advised to discuss an application 

for voluntary redundancy with their trade union representative at an early stage in the procedure. 
 
15.5 Employees may also wish to contact Human Resources for information about redundancy/compensatory 

pay and pension benefits (if appropriate).  
 
15.6 Human Resources staff are not able to advise on pension matters and further information regarding 

pension benefits may be obtained from “Your Pension Service” (at Lancashire County Council), as the 
administering body.  Seeking such information will not commit the employee, and the request or 
application may be withdrawn by the employee at any stage.  

 
15.7 In the event that an employee decides to formalise an application for early termination, whether on grounds 

of redundancy or efficiency, the request should in the first instance be made in writing to the Service Head 
stating the date on which it is requested that the employment should terminate.  A copy of the letter should 
also be sent to the HR Manager. 

 
15.8 All such formal applications, whether they include early payment of pension benefits or not, will be referred 

to the Chief Executive for consideration. 

16 Decision Making  
 
16.1 Applications which relate to minor changes to the Council’s establishment will be determined under the 

scheme of delegation by the Chief Executive. Minor changes are considered to be those which affect less 
than 20 employees. However, the Chief Executive may refer any case, to the Personnel Committee and/or 
Cabinet for consideration, irrespective of the number of employees affected by the change. Factors 
affecting this decision may be the type of posts that are disestablished or the potential impact on the way 
services are delivered following any changes. 

Page 336



V.6.0 PC. 09.03.23 

 
16.2 All changes that impact on more than 20 employees will be referred to members for consideration. 

 
16.3 In reaching a decision to allow an employee to leave the Council on redundancy or efficiency grounds, 

due consideration must be given to whether the costs can be paid back within the three-year period 
following termination of employment. Only in exceptional circumstances and where the termination 
supports the needs of the organisation will approval be given to termination of employment where the pay 
back period exceeds three years.  

17 Re-employment with Lancaster City Council 
 

17.1 It is the Council’s policy not to re-employ any Chief Officer who was previously made redundant from the 

authority, or later engage them under a contract for service or interim contract except under exceptional 

circumstances. 

17.2 All other employees, who: 

 
• was dismissed on redundancy grounds, and has received a voluntary (enhanced) redundancy 

payment, or 

• has received any payment in relation to the termination of their employment 

 
 may be considered for re-employment by the Council after a period of one calendar year has elapsed 

since the date of termination of employment. 
  
17.3 If an employee is dismissed on compulsory redundancy grounds, he/she may be considered for re-

employment to any post within the Council after the minimum statutory period of four weeks has elapsed. 

18 State Benefits 
 
18.1 The Council recommends that any employee whose employment with the Council is terminated should 

request information from the local office of the Department for Work and Pensions about state benefits. 
Entitlement to any benefits or support may be affected by a number of factors.  Individuals are advised to 
check their own personal position in relation to the claiming of benefit. 

 

19 Other Policies 
 
19.1 This Policy should be read in conjunction with the Council’s Redeployment Policy and Flexible Retirement 

Policy, which are available from Human Resources or accessible via the intranet. 

20 Discretionary benefits 
 
20.1 Under the regulations that govern the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) the Council is able to 

exercise a number of discretions. Full details of how the Council has determined it will exercise any 
discretions is detailed in the “Statement of Lancaster City Council – Employer Discretions”.  Further advice 
and guidance on this matter is available from Human Resources.   

21 Review of Policy 
 
21.1 This Policy will be regularly kept under review in the light of operating experience, changes in legislation, 

and the financial position of the Council.  If changes are made to the Policy in so far as it relates to 
discretionary compensation for the early termination of employment, a statement of the amended policy 
will be published, which will take effect one month after the date of publication. 

Page 337



V.6.0 PC. 09.03.23 

 
21.2 Changes which are required to apply any applicable legislation or regulation will be incorporated into the 

policy documents at the appropriate time and reported for information to the recognised trade unions and 
Personnel Committee. 

 

 

 

 

 

Document Control: 

Version 

no. 

Effective Date Reason Review due 

1.0 01.05.2007 New policy agreed by Personnel Committee - 

27.03.07 

 

2.0 30.07.2009 Revisions agreed by Personnel Committee - 

30.07.09 

 

3.0 05.04.2013 Revisions agreed by Personnel Committee - 

05.02.13 

05.04.2015 

4.0 03.03.2015 Revisions agreed by Personnel Committee - 

03.02.15 

03.03.2017 

5.0 02.10.2018 Revisions agreed by JCC & Personnel Committee 02.10.2020 

6.0 09.03.2023 Amendments agreed by Personnel Committee 09.03.2025 

 

Page 338



Document is Restricted

Page 339 Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 343
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 344
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Per Com mins 21.03.23

	6 Chief Executive Appraisal Process
	Constitution 15 June 2023
	Pay Policy Statement 23.24

	7 HR Policy Development and Review
	Policy Amendment Tracker
	EIA HR Policy Review
	Appendix - Recruitment and Selection Policy 2023
	Appendix - Flexible Working Request Policy & Procedure 2023
	Appendix - Flexible Working Hours Scheme (flexi-time) 2023
	Appendix - Time Off for Public Duties 2023
	Appendix -  Early Termination of Employment Policy & Arrangements

	9 Proposed Voluntary Redundancy requests
	Propose VR Costs Restricted
	EI Assessment


